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LUXEMBOURG 

U.S.$8,000,000,000 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

Any Notes issued under the Programme are issued subject to the provisions set out herein.  This does not affect Notes issued prior to the date hereof.  

Under this U.S.$8,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the Programme), Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg (the Issuer) may from time to 

time issue notes (the Notes, which expression shall include Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes (each as defined below)) denominated in any currency agreed between 

the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below).  The Notes will rank either as senior obligations of the Issuer (Senior Notes) or as subordinated obligations of the 

Issuer (Subordinated Notes). 

The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from time to time outstanding under the Programme will not exceed U.S.$8,00 0,000,000 (or its equivalent in other 

currencies calculated as described herein).   

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified on page 56 (and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to 

time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an on-going basis) (each a Dealer and together the Dealers).  References in this Prospectus to the relevant 

Dealer shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agree ing to subscribe for such Notes.  

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks.  For a discussion of these risks see "Risk Factors". 

 

This document has been approved by the CSSF in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities as 

amended (the Prospectus Act 2005) as a base prospectus.  By approving this Prospectus, the CSSF shall give no undertaking as to the economic and financial so undness of 

the operation or the quality or solvency of the Issuer in accordance with Article 7(7) of the Prospectus Act 2005.  Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on 

the EuroMTF market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this 

Prospectus in connection with Notes to be admitted to trading on the EuroMTF market.  

References in this Prospectus to Notes being listed (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to trad ing on the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange's regulated market and have been admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  The Luxembourg Sto ck Exchange's regulated market is a 

regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC). 

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive only applies to Notes which are to be admitted to trad ing on a regulated market in the European 

Economic Area (EEA) and/or offered to the public in the EEA other than in circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive 

(as implemented in the relevant Member State(s)).  References in this Prospectus to Exempt Notes are to Notes for which no prospectus is required to be published under 

the Prospectus Directive.  The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Prospectus in connection with Exempt Notes. 

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable to 

each Tranche (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") of Notes will (other than in the case of Exempt Notes, as defined above) be set forth in a final terms 

document (the Final Terms) which will be filed with the CSSF.  Copies of this Prospectus, the Final Terms with respect to Notes to be listed and admit ted to trading on 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and any documents incorporated by reference herein will be available from the official website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange at 

www.bourse.lu.  In the case of Exempt Notes, notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and 

certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche will be set out in a pricing supplement document (the Pricing Supplement). 

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or further stock exchange(s) or markets as may be agreed 

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.  The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market.  The Notes of each Tranche will 

initially be represented by a temporary global Note which will be deposited on the issue date thereof with a common depositary or, as the case may be, a common 

safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear), and Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg) and/or any other agreed clearance system 

which will be exchangeable, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, for either a permanent global Note or Notes in defini tive form, in each case upon certification as to 

non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulatio ns.  A permanent global Note will be exchangeable for definitive Notes, either upon request or in 

certain limited circumstances, all as further described in "Form of the Notes" below. 

The Programme has been rated Aa3 by Moody's France SAS (Moody's) and AA+ by Standard & Poor's Credit Market Services France SAS. (Standard & Poor's). Each 

of Moody's and Standard & Poor's is established in the European Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 ( as amended) (the CRA Regulation).  As 

such each of Moody's and Standard & Poor's is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on its website (at 

http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA Regulation.  Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated 

by either of the rating agencies referred to above.  Programmes rated "Aa" by Moody’s are considered to be of high quality and subject to very low credit risk. The 

modifier "1" indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of the "Aa" category.  For programmes rated "AA" by Standard & Poor’s, the Issuer  is considered to have 

a very strong capacity to meet financial commitments.  The modifiers "+" or "-" are appended to a rating to denote the relative status within major rating categories .  Where 

a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) and will not necessarily be the same as 

the rating assigned to the Programme by the relevant rating agency.  A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to 

suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.  Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to relevant Series of Notes will be 

issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the Final Terms.  
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

This Prospectus comprises a base prospectus in respect of all Notes other than Exempt Notes issued under 

the Programme for the purpose of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive.  When used in this Prospectus, 

Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and 

includes any relevant implementing measure in a Member State of the EEA. 

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus and the Final Terms for 

each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme.  To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer (having 

taken all reasonable care to ensure that this is the case) the information contained in this Prospectus is in 

accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

The Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that this Prospectus contains all information with 

respect to itself and any Notes which is material in the context of the Programme, that the information 

contained in this Prospectus is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that the 

opinions and intentions expressed in this Prospectus are honestly held and that there are no other facts the 

omission of which would make any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions 

misleading. 

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated in it by 

reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below).  This Prospectus shall be read and construed 

on the basis that those documents are incorporated by reference in and form part of this Prospectus. 

Apart from the Issuer, no other party has separately verified the information contained herein.  Accordingly, 

no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is 

accepted by the Dealers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Prospectus or 

any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme or any Notes or their 

distribution.  No Dealer accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by 

reference in this Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the 

Programme.  The statements made in this paragraph are made without prejudice to the responsibility of the 

Issuer under the Programme. 

No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in 

or not consistent with this Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or 

the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been 

authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers. 

Neither this Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes 

(a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a 

recommendation or constituting an invitation or offer by the Issuer or any of the Dealers that any recipient of 

this Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should 

purchase any Notes.  Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent 

investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the 

Issuer.  Neither this Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the 

issue of any Notes constitutes an offer by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers to any person to 

subscribe for or to purchase any Notes. 

Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any 

circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning the Issuer is correct at any time 

subsequent to its date or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as 

of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same.  The Dealers expressly do 

not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme or to 

advise any investor in Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their attention. 

Certain Tranches of Notes with a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other 

currency) may be offered in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under the 

Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus.  Any such offer is referred to as a Non-exempt Offer.  
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Investors should note that important information relating to Non-exempt Offers of Notes can be found on 

page 48. 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS PROSPECTUS AND OFFERS 

OF NOTES GENERALLY 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any 

jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.  The 

distribution of this Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions.  

The Issuer and the Dealers do not represent that this document may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes 

may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such 

jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating 

any such distribution or offering.  In particular, except for the approval of this Prospectus by the CSSF, no 

action has been taken by the Issuer or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes 

or distribution of this document in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.  Accordingly, 

no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Prospectus nor any advertisement or 

other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that 

will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations and the Dealers have represented that all 

offers and sales by them will be made on the same terms.  Persons into whose possession this Prospectus or 

any Notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions.  In particular, there are 

restrictions on the distribution of this Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, the EEA 

(including the United Kingdom) and Japan (see "Subscription and Sale" below). 

SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT 

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.  Each potential investor in the Notes must 

determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances.  In particular, each potential 

investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional 

advisers, whether it: 

(a) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits 

and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this 

Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(b) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 

particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its 

overall investment portfolio; 

(c) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, 

including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency 

for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency; 

(d) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant 

indices and financial markets; and 

(e) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its 

investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks. 

Some Notes are complex financial instruments.  Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not 

purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments.  They purchase complex financial 

instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of 

risk to their overall portfolios.  A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial 

instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes 

will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this 

investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio. 
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Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments.  The investment activities of certain 

investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities.  

Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes 

are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other 

restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes.  Financial institutions should consult their legal 

advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable 

risk-based capital or similar rules. 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended (the Securities Act), and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements.  Subject to certain exceptions, 

Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, 

U.S. persons (see "Subscription and Sale" below). 

Investors should consult the Issuer should they require a copy of the 2006 ISDA Definitions. 

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION 

In this Prospectus, all references to 

 U.S. dollars, U.S.$, $ and U.S. cent refer to the currency of the United States of America; 

 Japanese Yen and Yen refer to the currency of Japan; 

 £ and Sterling refer to the currency of the United Kingdom; and 

 euro, EUR and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European 

economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as 

amended. 
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STABILISATION 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the 

Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the 

applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view 

to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail.  

However, there is no assurance that the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a 

Stabilisation Manager) will undertake stabilisation action.  Any stabilisation action may begin on or 

after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of 

Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 

days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of 

the relevant Tranche of Notes.  Any stabilisation action or overallotment must be conducted by the 

relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in 

accordance with all applicable laws and rules. 
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SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME 

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements".  These Elements are numbered in 

Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7).   

This Summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for the Notes and the Issuer.  

Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of 

the Elements. 

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in a summary because of the type of securities and 

issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element.  In this case a short 

description of the Element should be included in the summary with the mention of not applicable. 

Section A – Introduction and warnings 

 

Element Title  

A.1 Introduction  This summary should be read as an introduction to the 

Prospectus. 

   Any decision to invest in any Notes should be based on a 

consideration of this Prospectus as a whole. 

   Where a claim relating to information contained in the Prospectus 

is brought before a court in a Member State of the European 

Economic Area, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of 

the Member State where the claim is brought, be required to bear 

the costs of translating the Prospectus before the legal proceedings 

are initiated. 

   Civil liability attaches to the Issuer solely on the basis of this 

summary, including any translation of it, but only if the summary 

is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with 

the other parts of this Prospectus or, following the implementation 

of the relevant provisions of Directive 2010/73/EU (as amended) in 

the relevant Member State, it does not provide, when read 

together with the other parts of the Prospectus, key information in 

order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in the 

Notes. 

A.2 Consent Certain Tranches of Notes with a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its 

equivalent in any other currency) may be offered in circumstances where there 

is no exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish 

a prospectus.  Any such offer is referred to as a Non-exempt Offer.1 

  [Not Applicable – the Notes are not being offered to the public as part of a 

Non-exempt Offer.] 

[Consent: Subject to the conditions set out below, the Issuer consents to the 

use of this Prospectus in connection with a Non-exempt Offer of Notes by the 

Managers, [names of specific financial intermediaries listed in final terms,] 

and each financial intermediary whose name is published on the Issuer's 

website (www.bcee.lu) and identified as an Authorised Offeror in respect of 

                                                   
1
  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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Element Title  

the relevant Non-exempt Offer and any financial intermediary which is 

authorised to make such offers under applicable legislation implementing the 

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) and 

publishes on its website the following statement (with the information in 

square brackets being duly completed): 

  "We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the [insert title of 

relevant Notes] (the Notes) described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] 

(the Final Terms) published by Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat (the 

Issuer).  In consideration of the Issuer offering to grant its consent to our use 

of the Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in connection with the offer 

of the Notes in [specify Member State(s)] during the Offer Period and subject 

to the other conditions to such consent, each as specified in the Prospectus, we 

hereby accept the offer by the Issuer in accordance with the Authorised 

Offeror Terms (as specified in the Prospectus) and we are using the 

Prospectus accordingly.", 

each such financial intermediary, an Authorised Offeror. 

  Offer period: The Issuer's consent referred to above is given for Non-exempt 

Offers of Notes during [offer period for the issue to be specified here] (the 

Offer Period). 

  Conditions to consent: The conditions to the Issuer's consent (in addition to 

the conditions referred to above) are that such consent: (a) is only valid during 

the Offer Period; and (b) only extends to the use of this Prospectus to make 

Non-exempt Offers of the relevant Tranche of Notes in Luxembourg. 

  AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO PURCHASE OR PURCHASING ANY 

NOTES IN A NON-EXEMPT OFFER FROM AN AUTHORISED 

OFFEROR WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH 

NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR 

WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS AND 

CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH 

AUTHORISED OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING 

ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS, 

EXPENSES AND SETTLEMENT.  THE RELEVANT INFORMATION 

WILL BE PROVIDED BY THE AUTHORISED OFFEROR AT THE 

TIME OF SUCH OFFER.] 

Section B – Issuer 

 

Element Title  

B.1 Legal and commercial name 

of the Issuer 

Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg (BCEE) 

B.2 Domicile/legal 

form/legislation/country of 

incorporation 

The Issuer is a public autonomous establishment having a legal 

personality incorporated and domiciled in the Grand Duchy of 

Luxembourg under the Luxembourg Act dated 21 February 1856 

concerning, inter alia, the creation of a savings bank, as 

amended and presently governed by the Luxembourg act dated 
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Element Title  

24 March 1989 relating to Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, 

Luxembourg, as amended. 

B.4b Trend information Not Applicable – There are no known trends, uncertainties, 

demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely to 

have a material effect on the Issuer's prospects for its current 

financial year. 

B.5 Description of the Group BCEE is the parent company of the Group.  It has direct or 

indirect control over the management and financial and 

operational policies of its subsidiaries and equity accounted for 

affiliates.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from their date of 

acquisition. 

B.9 Profit forecast or estimate Not Applicable – No profit forecasts or estimates have been 

made in the Prospectus. 

B.10 Audit report qualifications Not Applicable – No qualifications are contained in any audit 

report included in the Prospectus. 

B.12 Selected historical key financial information: 

 Income Statement 

 The table below sets out summary information extracted from the Issuer's audited income 

statement for each of the two years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014: 

Consolidated Income Statement 

      

  (in euros) 31 December 

2014 

31 December 

2015 

 

      

  Interest income 379,182,451 383,019,459  

  Income from variable-income securities 37,068,331 38,302,833  

  Fee and commission income 120,866,551 130,477,337  

  Income from Interest, Dividends and Fees 

and Commission 537,117,333 551,799,629 

 

      

  Income from financial instruments not 

recognised at fair value through profit or loss 27,541,412 45,653,542 

 

  Income from financial instruments held for 

trading 23,814,198  19,437,586  

 

  Income from hedging transactions 4,485,051 4,304,639  

  Exchange gains or losses 9,881,141 12,156,367 

 

 

 

  Other operating income 8,710,809 10,082,185  

  Other operating expenditure -1,654,096 -4,207,920  

  Banking Income 609,895,848 

 

639,226,028 
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Element Title  

  Personnel expenses -189,805,892 -197,548,725  

  Other general and administrative expenses -74,523,970 -78,023,759  

  Depreciation allowances for tangible and    

  intangible assets -24,796,312 -24,915,609  

  Income after General Expenses 320,769,674 338,737,935  

  Net allowances for impairment of individual 

and collective credit risks 

 

2,578,203 

 

20,831,981 

 

  Provisions 849,295 -42,393,174  

  Share in the profit of equity-accounted 

associates 7,586,075 21,830,076 
 

  Income before Taxes and Non-Current 

Assets 331,783,247 339,006,818 

 

  Tax on income from continuing operations -40,148,492 -64,241,363  

  Deferred taxes -16,546,942 222,711  

  Income for the Year 275,087,813 274,988,166  

  Of which:    

  Income for the Year Attributable To 

Minority Interests 1,338,877 

 

1,827,051 
 

  Income for the Year attributable to Equity    

  Holders of the Parent 273,748,936 273,161,115  

 Statement of Financial Position 

 The table below sets out summary information extracted from the Issuer's audited statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014: 

  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position   
 

      

  Assets in euros 31 December 

2014 

31 December 

2015 

 

      

  Cash and balances with central banks 901,368,001 1,313,328,229  

  Loans and advances at amortised cost – Credit 

institutions 5,377,819,431 

         

5,597,608,197 

 

  Loans and advances at amortised cost – 

Customers 18,311,255,394 

    

19,224,838,123 

 

  Financial instruments held for trading 322,571,774  201,115,555  

  Hedging derivatives 99,240,017         77,502,528  

  Available-for-sale securities – Fixed-income 

securities 9,750,181,015 9,998,539,565 

 

  Available-for-sale securities – Variable-

income securities 1,153,020,266 1,005,562,944 

 

  Held-to-maturity securities 4,699,397,776 4,683,501,426  

  Investments in associates accounted for using 

the equity method 309,971,611 

 

324,853,964 

 

  Change in fair value of a portfolio of financial 

instruments hedged against interest rate risk 76,670,572 52,453,419 

 

  Tangible assets for own use 175,226,447 290,643,556  
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Element Title  

  Investment property 16,114,382 15,214,799  

  Intangible assets 12,744,140 15,017,211  

  Other assets 5,464,146 11,292,644  

  Total Assets 41,211,044,972 42,811,472,160  

      

  Liabilities in euros    

      

  Deposits at amortised cost – Credit institutions 4,144,695,863 4,439,629,040  

  Deposits at amortised cost – Private customers 

and public sector 25,068,145,379 

 

26,923,488,031 

 

  Financial instruments held for trading 199,899,794 170,332,351  

  Hedging derivatives 991,242,634 892,476,947  

  Debt securities in issue 6,276,226,429 5,791,365,039  

  Change in fair value of a portfolio of financial 

instruments hedged against interest rate risk - 
- 

 

  Provisions 4,899,784 47,215,958  

  Other liabilities 40,713,785 29,644,261  

  Current tax liabilities 64,023,799 100,111,672  

  Deferred tax liabilities 117,747,479 86,149,649  

  Pension fund 139,320,951 179,190,062  

  Sub-total of Liabilities (before equity capital) 

to be carried forward 37,046,915,897 38,659,603,010 
 

      

  Equity in euros    

      

  Sub-total of Liabilities (before equity capital) 

carried forward 37,046,915,897 38,659,603,010 
 

      

  Share capital 173,525,467 173,525,467  

  Revaluation reserve 963,351,024 760,854,618  

  - Available-for-sale assets 957,700,507 760,720,239  

  Consolidated reserves 2,751,830,181 2,942,127,352  

  - Equity method adjustment 246,813,280 247,189,320  

  Income for the year 273,748,936 273,161,115  

  Sub-total of equity – attributable to equity 

holders of the parent 4,162,455,608 4,149,668,552 

 

  Minority interests 1,673,467 2,200,598  

  Total equity 4,164,129,075 4,151,869,150  

      

  Total Liabilities, including Equity 41,211,044,972 42,811,472,160  

 Statement of no material adverse change 

 There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 

2015. 

Significant Changes 

Not Applicable – There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the 

Issuer since 31 December 2015. 
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Element Title  

B.13 Events impacting the 

Issuer's solvency 

Not Applicable – There are no recent events particular to the 

Issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of 

the Issuer's solvency. 

B.14 Dependence upon other 

group entities 

Please also refer to Element B.5. 

Not Applicable – BCEE is not dependent upon other entities 

within the Group. 

B.15 Principal activities BCEE is entitled to carry out, alone or jointly, either on behalf of 

itself or for third parties, with any physical or legal person, any 

financial or banking operations as well as all operations 

analogous, connected or accessory thereto. 

  In addition, BCEE is entitled to carry out any other operations 

directly or indirectly related to its purpose or intended to 

facilitate the achievement thereof. 

  The activities of BCEE are focused on the retail market, the 

wealth management market, as well as the property market, and 

on small and medium-sized corporate customers in Luxembourg 

and the surrounding regions.  These activities include the 

traditional banking business areas of loans, deposits, investment 

in securities, payments handling (both in Luxembourg and 

abroad) and guarantees. 

B.16 Controlling shareholders BCEE's equity capital is owned entirely and directly by the 

Grand Duchy of Luxembourg 

B.17 Credit ratings The Programme has been rated Aa3 by Moody's France SAS 

(Moody's) and AA+ by Standard & Poor's Credit Market 

Services France SAS (Standard & Poor's).  Each of Moody's 

and Standard & Poor's is established in the European Union and 

is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as 

amended) (the CRA Regulation).  As such each of Moody's and 

Standard & Poor's is included in the list of credit rating agencies 

published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on 

its website (at http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-

and-certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA Regulation.  

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated by 

either of the rating agencies referred to above.  Where a Tranche 

of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as 

the rating assigned to the Programme by the relevant rating 

agency.2 

  [The Notes [have been/are expected to be] rated [specify 

rating(s) of Tranche being issued] by [specify rating agent(s)]. 

  A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 

securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or 

                                                   
2
  Delete the preceding wording in item B.17 when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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Element Title  

withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.]   

  [Not Applicable – No ratings have been assigned to the Issuer or 

its debt securities at the request of or with the co-operation of the 

Issuer in the rating process.] 

Section C – Securities 

Element Title  

C.1 Description of the type and 

class of Notes/ISIN 

The Notes described in this section are debt securities with a 

denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any 

other currency).  The Notes to be issued under the Programme 

may be Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon 

Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes, Range Accrual Notes, 

Dual Range Accrual Notes or a combination of the foregoing. 

The Issuer will only issue one class of Notes.3 

  The Notes are [£/€/U.S.$/other]  [%/Floating Rate/Zero 

Coupon/Inflation Linked Interest/Range Accrual/Dual Range 

Accrual/Equity Linked Redemption/Index Linked Redemption] 

Notes due .  International Securities Identification Number 

(ISIN): . The Notes are all of the same class. 

[The Notes will be consolidated and form a single series with 

[identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/exchange of the 

Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global 

Notes, which is expected to occur on or about [date]].] 

C.2 Currency Subject to compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and 

directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between 

the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue.4 

  The currency of this Series of Notes is [Pounds Sterling (£)/Euro 

(€)/U.S. dollars (U.S.$)/Other ()]. 

C.5 Restrictions on 

transferability 

Not Applicable – There are no restrictions on the free 

transferability of the Notes. 

C.8 Rights attached to the 

Notes, including ranking 

and limitations on those 

rights 

Notes issued under the Programme will have terms and 

conditions relating to, among other matters: 

Status and Subordination (Ranking) 

  Notes may be issued on either a senior basis (Senior Notes) or a 

subordinated basis (Subordinated Notes).  Notes issued on a 

senior basis constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and 

(subject to the provisions of the Issuer's negative pledge below) 

unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu 

among themselves and (save for certain obligations required to 

                                                   
3
  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 

4
  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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be preferred by law) equally with all other unsecured obligations 

(other than subordinated obligations, if any) of the Issuer, from 

time to time outstanding. 

Notes issued on a subordinated basis constitute direct, unsecured 

and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times 

rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. 

The rights and claims of the holders of Subordinated Notes and 

Coupons relating to them against the Issuer in respect of such 

Notes and related Coupons (including any damages (if payable)) 

are subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors.5 

  [This Series of Notes is issued on a [senior/subordinated] basis.] 

  Negative pledge 

  The terms of the Senior Notes contain a negative pledge 

provision which provides that so long as any of the Notes remain 

outstanding, the Issuer will not create or permit to be 

outstanding any pledge, mortgage, charge or other security 

interest for the benefit of the holders of any securities upon the 

Issuer's property or assets to secure any payments due in respect 

of those securities (including, inter alia, payments under any 

guarantee or indemnity), in any such case in which: 

  (a) either (i) such securities are originally denominated or 

payable, or confer a right to receive payment, in any 

currency other than euro; or (ii) all such securities are 

originally denominated or payable in euro and more than 

50% of such securities is initially distributed outside 

Luxembourg with the authorisation of the issuer thereof; 

and 

  (b) such Securities are, or are intended to be, quoted, listed, 

ordinarily dealt in or traded on any stock exchange, 

over-the-counter or similar securities market, 

  without in any such case at the same time according to the 

Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons the same security as is 

granted to or is outstanding in respect of such securities as shall 

be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders. 

  Events of default 

  The terms of the Notes will contain, amongst others, the 

following events of default: 

  (a) default in payment of any principal or interest due in 

respect of the Notes, continuing for a specified period of 

time; 

  (b) non-performance or non-observance by the Issuer of any 

of its other obligations under the conditions of the 

                                                   
5
  Delete the preceding wording in item C.8 when preparing an issue specific summary.  
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Notes, in certain cases continuing for a specified period 

of time; 

  (c) events relating to the insolvency or winding up of the 

Issuer; and 

  (d) the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg ceases to own, directly 

or indirectly, at least fifty one per cent. (51%) of the 

share capital of the Issuer, as fixed in article 37 of the 

Law dated 24 March 1989 on the Banque et Caisse 

d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg, as amended, of the 

Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. 

  Meetings 

  The terms of the Notes will contain provisions for calling 

meetings of holders of such Notes to consider matters affecting 

their interests generally.  These provisions permit defined 

majorities to bind all holders, including holders who did not 

attend and vote at the relevant meeting and holders who voted in 

a manner contrary to the majority. 

  Governing law 

  [English law][Luxembourg Law]. 

C.9 

 

Interest/Redemption 

 

Please also refer to Element C.8. 

Interest 

  Notes may or may not bear interest.  Interest-bearing Notes will 

either bear interest payable at a fixed rate, a floating rate or at a 

rate linked to inflation.6   

  [Fixed Rate: [The Notes bear interest [from their date of 

issue/from ] at the fixed rate of % per annum.]/[The Notes 

bear interest as from [their date of issue/from []] at a rate of: 

  []% per annum until (but excluding) [], and 

  [To be copied for further interest periods: []% per annum 

commencing on [] until (but excluding) [], and] 

  []% per annum commencing on [], until (but excluding) the 

Maturity Date.]  The yield of the Notes is %.  Interest will be 

paid [annually] in arrear on  in each year.  The first interest 

payment will be made on ]. 

  [Floating Rate: The Notes bear interest [from their date of 

issue/from ] at floating rates calculated by reference to 

[LIBOR/EURIBOR] [plus/minus] a margin of %.  Interest will 

be paid [semi-annually] in arrear on  and  in each year, 

subject to adjustment for non-business days.  The first interest 

                                                   
6
  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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payment will be made on .] 

  [Inflation-linked: The Notes bear interest [from their date of 

issue/from ] at floating rates calculated by reference to [specify 

inflation index] [plus/minus] a margin of %.  Interest will be 

paid [semi-annually] in arrear on  and  in each year, subject 

to adjustment for non-business days.  The first interest payment 

will be made on .] 

  [Zero Coupon: The Notes do not bear any interest [and will be 

offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount].] 

  [Range Accrual: The Notes will bear interest [from their date of 

issue/from ] [at the fixed rate of % per annum][at floating 

rates calculated by reference to [specify reference rate for Notes 

being issued] [plus/minus] a margin of  per cent], whereby 

interest will accrue only on the days in which [describe Range 

Accrual Reference Rate] is (a) equal or greater than [describe 

Lower Range] and (b) equal or less than [describe Upper 

Range]. [If the sum of each Rate of Interest paid (or payable) 

from (and including) the first Interest Payment Date to and 

including the next Interest Payment Date which has yet to occur 

reaches [specify Target Rate], the Rate of Interest applicable on 

any succeeding Interest Payment Date shall be [specify Switch 

Rate].]] 

  [Dual Range Accrual: The Notes will bear interest [from their 

date of issue/from ] [at the fixed rate of % per annum][at 

floating rates calculated by reference to [specify reference rates 

for Notes being issued] [plus/minus] a margin of  per cent], 

whereby interest will accrue only on the days in which [describe 

Range Accrual Reference Rate(s)] is (i) (a) equal or greater than 

[describe Lower Range1] and (b) equal or less than [describe 

Upper Range1]; and (ii) (a) equal or greater than [describe 

Lower Range2] and (b) equal or less than [describe Upper 

Range2]. [If the sum of each Rate of Interest paid (or payable) 

from (and including) the first Interest Payment Date to and 

including the next Interest Payment Date which has yet to occur 

reaches [specify Target Rate], the Rate of Interest applicable on 

any succeeding Interest Payment Date shall be [specify Switch 

Rate].]] 

  Redemption 

  The terms under which Notes may be redeemed (including the 

maturity date and the price at which they will be redeemed on 

the maturity date as well as any provisions relating to early 

redemption) will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant 

Dealer at the time of issue of the relevant Notes.7 

  Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption, 

the Notes will be redeemed on [] at [par]. 

                                                   
7
  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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  The Notes may be redeemed early for tax reasons [or [specify 

any other early redemption option applicable to the Notes being 

issued]] at [specify the early redemption price and any maximum 

or minimum redemption amounts, applicable to the Notes being 

issued]. 

  Representative of holders 

  Not Applicable – No representative of the Noteholders has been 

appointed by the Issuer. 

C.10 Derivative component in 

the interest payments 

Please also refer to Element C.9.  

[specify] [Not Applicable – There is no derivative component in 

the interest payments.] 

C.11 Admission to trading on a 

regulated market 

Notes issued under the Programme may be admitted to trading 

on the regulated market of Luxembourg Stock Exchange or such 

other stock exchange or market specified below.8 

  [Application [has been][is expected to be] made by the Issuer (or 

on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the 

regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.] [Not 

Applicable - The Notes are not intended to be admitted to 

trading on any market, including any regulated market.] 

[C.15  Any underlying which may 

affect the value of the Notes 

[Not Applicable – There are no underlying instruments which 

may affect the value of the Notes.] [The value of the Notes may 

be affected by the [performance of [for Equity Linked 

Redemption Notes: [the Shares of a company] [for Index Linked 

Redemption Notes: [an Index] [a Basket of Indices] [for Inflation 

Linked Interest Notes: [insert the relevant inflation index]]]. 

C.16 Exercise date/final 

reference date 

[Not Applicable – The Notes are not exercisable and the return 

on the Notes is not calculated by reference to any reference 

dates.] [insert date] 

C.17 Settlement procedure of 

derivative securities 

[The Notes are [not] physically settled.] 

C.18 Return on derivative 

securities  

[The Notes are (in the case of Index Linked Redemption Notes 

select the relevant formula for calculation from the following:) 

[Autocall]/[Spread]]/[[Short-term] Lookback]/[Double 

Win]/[Triple Index]/[Asian Call] /(in the case of Equity Linked 

Redemption Notes:) Reverse Convertible]/(in the case of 

Inflation Linked Interest Notes:) [Inflation Linked Interest 

Notes]  

C.19 Exercise price/final 

reference price of the 

underlying 

[Not Applicable – The Notes do not have an underlying.] [insert 

the relevant exercise price or final reference price of the 

relevant underlying] 

                                                   
8
  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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C.20 Underlying  [Not Applicable – The Notes do not have an underlying.]  

  [The underlying of the Notes [is/are] [in the case of Index Linked 

Redemption Notes insert the relevant index or indices and 

information on such index(ices) may be found on [insert relevant 

website, etc.]]/ 

  [in the case of Equity Linked Redemption Notes, insert the 

relevant share company and information on such share company 

may be found on [insert relevant website, etc.]]/ 

  [in the case of Inflation Linked Interest Notes, insert the relevant 

inflation index and information on such inflation index may be 

found on [insert relevant website, etc.]]] 

Section D – Risks 

Element Title  

D.2 Key risks regarding the 

Issuer 

In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer 

may become insolvent or otherwise be unable to make all 

payments due in respect of the Notes.  There is a wide range of 

factors which individually or together could result in the Issuer 

becoming unable to make all payments due.  It is not possible to 

identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most 

likely to occur, as the Issuer may not be aware of all relevant 

factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be 

material may become material as a result of the occurrence of 

events outside the Issuer's control.  The Issuer has identified a 

number of factors which could materially adversely affect its 

business and ability to make payments due under the Notes.  

These factors include: 

   Credit and market risks (e.g. creditworthiness, interest 

rate movements and currency movements), operational 

risks, risk management risks, liquidity risks and 

competition. 

   Regulatory risk – substantial regulation and regulatory 

oversight in the jurisdictions in which it operates, 

together with future regulatory developments, including 

changes to accounting standards and the amount of 

regulatory capital required to support the risk, fiscal and 

other policies that are adopted by the various regulatory 

authorities of the European Union, foreign governments 

and international agencies. 

 Uncertain economic conditions: the level of banking, 

finance and financial services required by its customers 

which is heavily dependent on customer confidence, 

market interest rates and other factors that affect the 

economy. 
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   The Issuer could be affected by financial market 

disruption particularly in the European Union. 

D.3 Key risks regarding the 

Notes 

There are also risks associated with the Notes, including a wide 

range of market risks, as follows9: 

   Certain Notes have highly complex structures and are 

most suitable as investments for sophisticated investors, 

as such Notes may involve a high degree of risk. The 

market value and return on these Notes are usually more 

volatile. 

   There may be no or only a limited secondary market in 

the Notes making it difficult for investors to sell their 

Notes at all, or to sell the Notes at a price that provides a 

yield comparable to other similar investments. 

   The value of an investor's investment may be adversely 

affected by exchange rate movements where the Notes 

are not denominated in the investor's own currency. 

   Any credit rating assigned to the Notes may not 

adequately reflect all the risks associated with an 

investment in the Notes as such ratings may not reflect 

the potential impact of all risks applicable to those 

Notes. Accordingly, investors should not treat a credit 

rating on a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the 

Notes. 

   Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the value 

of Notes which bear interest at a fixed rate if market 

interest rates subsequently rise, as holding the Notes will 

become less attractive). 

   The conditions of the Notes may be modified without 

the consent of the holder in certain circumstances. 

Where the Agent has discretion to make such 

modification, it may do so without regard for the 

individual interests of particular investors. 

   In certain circumstances the holder may not receive 

payment of the full amounts due in respect of the Notes 

as a result of amounts being withheld by the Issuer in 

order to comply with applicable tax law. 

   Notes will not represent a claim against any underlying 

reference amount. 

   The amount of interest payable in respect of certain 

Notes depends on a number of factors e.g. changes in 

the level of inflation. 

                                                   
9
  Delete such of the following bullet points as are not applicable when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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   Market disruption and adjustment provisions may affect 

the value and liquidity of Notes as well as postpone the 

due dates for certain payments. 

   The yield of certain Notes may be reduced or diminished 

due to a number of factors. 

   Investors are exposed to the risk that changes in law or 

regulation could adversely affect the value of Notes held 

by them (e.g. changes in the regulatory capital 

framework). 

   Investors in Subordinated Notes assume an enhanced 

risk of loss in the event of the Issuer's insolvency as the 

claims of such investors will rank behind those of Senior 

Creditors. 

D.6 Risk warning Please also refer to Element D.3.  

In the event of the insolvency of the Issuer or if it is otherwise 

unable or unwilling to repay the Notes when repayment falls 

due, an investor may lose all or part of his investment in the 

Notes. 

[Insert for Notes] [Investors may lose all or a substantial 

portion of their investment. The Notes are designed for 

specific investment objectives or strategies and, therefore, have a 

more limited secondary market and may experience more price 

volatility. Noteholders may not be able to sell the Notes readily 

or at prices that will enable them to realise their anticipated 

yield. No investor should purchase the Notes unless such 

investor understands and is able to bear the risk that the Notes 

may not be readily saleable, that the value of such Notes will 

fluctuate over time, that such fluctuations may be significant and 

that such investor may lose all or a substantial portion of the 

purchase price of the Notes.] 

Section E – Offer 

Element Title  

E.2b Use of proceeds  The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied 

by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes, which 

include making a profit, and may also be applied for 

particular uses, as determined by the Issuer.
10

  

  [The net proceeds from the issue of Notes will be applied by the 

Issuer for its general corporate purposes, which include making 

a profit [and[     ]]. 

E.3 Terms and conditions of the Under the programme, the Notes may be offered to the public in 

                                                   
10

  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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offer a Non-exempt Offer in Luxembourg.  

  The terms and conditions of each offer of Notes will be 

determined by agreement between the Issuer and the relevant 

Dealers at the time of issue and specified in the applicable Final 

Terms.  An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes 

in a Non-exempt Offer from an Authorised Offeror will do so, 

and offers and sales of such Notes to an Investor by such 

Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms 

and other arrangements in place between such Authorised 

Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocations and 

settlement arrangements.11 

  [Not applicable – the Notes are not being offered as part of a 

Non-exempt Offer ] 

  [This issue of Notes is being offered in a Non-exempt Offer in 

[specify particular country/ies.] 

  The issue price of the Notes is % of their nominal amount. 

  General Consent: [Applicable][Not Applicable] 

  Offer Period: [Specify date] until [specify 

date or a formula such as "the 

Issue Date" or "the date which 

falls [] Business Days 

thereafter"] 

  Financial intermediaries 

granted specific consent to use 

the Prospectus in accordance 

with the Conditions in it: 

[Insert names and addresses of 

financial intermediaries 

receiving consent (specific 

consent)] 

  Offer Price:  [] 

  [Conditions to which the offer 

is subject:]  

[] 

  [Description of the application 

process:]  

[] 

  [Details of the minimum 

and/or maximum amount of 

application:]  

[] 

  [Description of possibility to 

reduce subscriptions and 

manner for refunding excess 

amount paid by applicants:]  

[] 

  [Details of the method and 

time limits for paying up and 

[] 

                                                   
11

  Delete the preceding wording in item E.3 when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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delivering the Notes:]  

  [Manner in and date on which 

results of the offer are to be 

made public:]  

[] 

  [Procedure for exercise of any 

right of pre-emption, 

negotiability of subscription 

rights and treatment of 

subscription rights not 

exercised:]  

[] 

  [Categories of potential 

investors to which the Notes 

are offered and whether 

tranche(s) has/have been 

reserved for certain countries:]  

[] 

  [Process for notification to 

applicants of the amount 

allotted and the indication 

whether dealing may begin 

before notification is made:]  

[] 

  [Amount of any expenses and 

taxes specifically charged to 

the subscriber or purchaser:]  

[] 

  [Name(s)] and address(es), to 

the extent known to the Issuer, 

of the placers in the various 

countries where the offer takes 

place:]  

[] 

  [Name and address of the 

entities which have a firm 

commitment to act as 

intermediaries in secondary 

trading, providing liquidity 

through bid and offer rates and 

description of the main terms 

of their commitment:] 

[] 

E.4 Interest of natural and legal 

persons involved in the 

issue/offer 

The relevant Dealers may be paid fees in relation to any issue of 

Notes under the Programme.  Any such Dealer and its affiliates 

may also have engaged, and may in the future engage, in 

investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions 

with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its 

affiliates in the ordinary course of business.12 

  The [Dealers/Managers] will be paid aggregate commissions 

equal to  per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes.  Any 

                                                   
12

  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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[Dealer/Manager] and its affiliates may also have engaged, and 

may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or 

commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other 

services for, the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and [its/their 

respective] affiliates in the ordinary course of business. 

  [Other than as mentioned above,[ and save for ,] so far as the 

Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has 

an interest material to the offer, including conflicting interests.] 

E.7 Expenses charged to the 

investor by the Issuer 

The Issuer may charge expenses to investors.  Such expenses (if 

any) will be determined on a case by case basis but would be 

expected to be in the range of between 1% and 7% of the 

nominal amount of the Notes to be purchased by the relevant 

investor with respect to a specific issue of Notes.13 

  [No expenses will be charged to investors by the Issuer] 

  [Expenses may be charged by the Issuer in the range between 

% and % of the nominal amount of the Notes to be 

purchased by the relevant investor.] 

                                                   
13

  Delete this paragraph when preparing an issue specific summary. 
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RISK FACTORS 

In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be unable 

to make all payments due in respect of the Notes.  There is a wide range of factors which individually or 

together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due.  It is not possible to identify 

all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not be aware of all 

relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be material may become material as a 

result of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer's control.  The Issuer has identified in this Prospectus 

factors which could materially adversely affect its business and ability to make payments. 

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes 

issued under the Programme are also described below. 

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus 

(including any documents deemed to be incorporated in it by reference) and reach their own views prior to 

making any investment decision. 

1. Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the 

Programme 

Like all other banks the Issuer is mainly exposed to credit risk, operational risk and market risk (e.g. 

interest rate movements and currency movements). 

These risk factors are addressed by the Issuer's own risk management procedures and exposures are 

constantly measured and supervised. 

Credit risk 

As a credit institution, the Issuer is exposed to the creditworthiness of its customers and 

counterparties. The Issuer may suffer losses related to the inability of its customers or other 

counterparties to meet their financial obligations. Most of the commitment decisions concern 

customers in the local government sector, which is low risk and also subject to specific controls 

relating to its public nature. The Issuer cannot assume that its level of provisions will be adequate or 

that it will not have to make significant additional provisions for possible bad and doubtful debts in 

future periods. 

Market risk 

Market risks are all the risks linked to the fluctuations of market prices, including, principally, 

exposure to loss arising from adverse movements in interest rates, and, to a lesser extent, foreign 

exchange rates and equity prices, stemming from the Issuer’s capital market activities. Due to the 

nature of its activity, the Issuer is prevented from assuming significant exposure to market risk. It 

does not act as a market maker and therefore has exposure mainly on its short-term cash 

management and a portfolio of derivative products with customers that is managed on a market 

value basis. Market risks generated by the commercial businesses are generally hedged and residual 

risks are handled by the Asset and Liability Management function. 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of financial or non-financial impact resulting from inadequate or failed 

internal processes or systems, from people’s failings or from external events. The definition includes 

IT, legal and compliance risk but excludes strategic risk. The operational risk management (ORM) 

framework relies on several key components, which include the systematic collection of operational 

risk events, the yearly self-assessment of risks and controls in all activities, the management of 
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information security and business continuity, as well as the management of group common insurance 

policies. All of these activities regularly lead to the definition of improvement actions, which are 

monitored on a regular basis. Moreover the framework relies on strong governance with clearly 

defined roles and responsibilities for the ORM function, the Management Board, the line 

management and their operational risk correspondents. As with most other banks, the Issuer relies 

heavily on communications and information systems to conduct its business. Any failure or 

interruption or breach in security of these systems could result in failures or interruptions in the 

Issuer’s customer relationship management, general ledger, deposit, servicing and/or loan 

organisation systems. The Issuer cannot provide assurances that such failures or interruptions will 

not occur or, if they do occur, that they will be adequately addressed. The occurrence of any failures 

or interruptions could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial condition and results of 

operations.  

Soundness of other Financial Institutions – counterparty risks 

The Issuer is exposed to many different counterparties in the normal course of its business; hence its 

exposure to counterparties in the financial services industry is significant. This exposure can arise 

through trading, lending, deposit-taking, clearance and settlement and numerous other activities and 

relationships. These counterparties include institutional clients, brokers and dealers, commercial 

banks, investment banks and mutual funds. Many of these relationships expose the Issuer to credit 

risk in the event of default of a counterparty or client. In addition, the Issuer’s credit risk may be 

exacerbated when the collateral it holds cannot be realised at, or is liquidated at prices not sufficient 

to recover, the full amount of the loan or derivative exposure it is due to cover, which could in turn 

affect the Issuer’s ability to meet its payments under the Notes. Many of the hedging and other risk 

management strategies utilised by the Issuer also involve transactions with financial services 

counterparties. The risk of insolvency in relation to these counterparties may impair the effectiveness 

of the Issuer’s hedging and other risk management strategies, which could in turn affect the Issuer’s 

ability to meet its payments under the Notes. 

Liquidity risk 

The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that, at all times, the Issuer holds sufficient funds 

to meet its contracted and contingent commitments to customers and counterparties, at an economic 

price. All the main issues regarding liquidity risk are directly managed by the Issuer’s Asset and 

Liability Management function, which carefully manages the Issuer’s resources and their use, in 

particular, the adequacy of expected new lending production with the available resources and the 

Issuer’s liquidity needs. 

Risk Management 

Monitoring of the risks relating to the Issuer and its operations and the banking industry is performed 

jointly by the appropriate committees and the Risk Management department, with the help of tools 

that it develops, in compliance with all legal constraints and rules of prudence. As regards the 

supervision of risks in the subsidiaries and branches, each entity has its own local risk management 

structure. These structures are strictly independent of the front-offices and reporting to the Issuer’s 

Local Risk Management department either directly (branches) or functionally (subsidiaries). 

Regulatory risk 

The Issuer's business activities are subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight in the 

jurisdictions in which it operates. Current, together with future regulatory developments, including 

changes to accounting standards and the amount of regulatory capital required to support the risk, 

could have an adverse effect impacting on how the Issuer conducts its business and on the results of 

its operations. The Issuer's business and earnings are also affected by fiscal and other policies that 

are adopted by the various regulatory authorities of the European Union, foreign governments and 
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international agencies. The nature and impact of future changes in such policies are not predictable 

and are beyond the Issuer's control.  

Uncertain economic conditions  

The Issuer's business activities are dependent on the level of banking, finance and financial services 

required by its customers. In particular, levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer 

confidence, market interest rates and other factors that affect the economy. Although in recent years 

there have been significant adverse developments in world markets, the current outlook for the world 

economy is improving. The profitability of the Issuer's businesses could, therefore, be adversely 

affected by a worsening of general economic conditions in its markets, as well as by foreign and 

domestic trading market conditions and/or related factors, including governmental policies and 

initiatives. An economic downturn or significantly higher interest rates could increase the risk that a 

greater number of the Issuer's customers would default on their loans or other obligations to the 

Issuer, or would refrain from seeking additional borrowing.  

Increased Regulation  

Recent developments in the global markets have led to an increase in the involvement of various 

governmental and regulatory authorities in the financial sector and in the operations of financial 

institutions. In particular, governmental and regulatory authorities in France, the UK, the United 

States, Belgium, Luxembourg and elsewhere have provided additional capital and funding and 

already or may in the future be introducing a significantly more restrictive regulatory environment 

including new accounting and capital adequacy rules, restriction on termination payments for key 

personnel in addition to new regulation of derivative instruments. It is uncertain how the more 

rigorous regulatory climate will impact financial institutions including the Issuer but an adverse 

impact on their respective businesses cannot be excluded, which could in turn affect the Issuer's 

ability to meet its payments under the Notes. 

The Issuer may be impacted by financial market disruptions 

The Issuer's operating and financial performance is influenced by the economic conditions of the 

countries in which it operates, particularly in the European Union.  A continuation or worsening of 

the current strained global economic conditions and the volatility of the international markets could 

result in a general reduction of business activity and consequent loss of income for the Issuer.  

Competition 

The Issuer faces strong competition across all its markets from local and international financial 

institutions including banks, building societies, life insurance companies and mutual insurance 

organisations. While the Issuer believes it is positioned to compete effectively with these 

competitors, there can be no assurance that increased competition will not adversely affect the Issuer 

in one or more of the markets in which it operates. 

2. Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes 

issued under the Programme 

Global Financial Crisis and Eurozone Debt Crisis 

Since mid-2007, the global economy and financial markets have experienced serious difficulties, 

including extreme levels of instability, liquidity stress and disruption. There is substantial volatility 

in markets across asset classes, including (without limitation) stock markets, foreign exchange 

markets, commodity markets, fixed income markets and credit markets. 
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Concerns about credit risk (including that of sovereigns) and the eurozone crisis have recently 

intensified. The large sovereign debts and/or fiscal deficits of a number of European countries and 

the United States have raised concerns regarding the financial condition of financial institutions, 

insurers and other corporates (i) located in these countries; (ii) that have direct or indirect exposure 

to these countries; and/or (iii) whose banks, counterparties, custodians, customers, service providers, 

sources of funding and/or suppliers have direct or indirect exposure to these countries. These 

concerns have had (and may continue to have) a negative impact on the credit rating of certain 

sovereigns, financial institutions and corporates. 

These conditions exert downward pressure on asset prices and on credit availability, and upward 

pressure on funding costs. The impact of this, and the continuation of or deterioration in the 

condition of the global economy and financial markets could be detrimental to the Issuer and could 

adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Notes under its debt 

obligations more generally. 

There can be no assurance that the steps taken by governments to ameliorate the eurozone crisis or 

the global financial crisis will be successful or that these crises will not worsen. The structure, nature 

and regulation of financial markets in the future may be fundamentally altered as a consequence of 

these crises, possibly in unforeseen ways. 

There can be no assurance that similar or greater disruption to global markets and economies may 

not occur in the future for similar or other reasons. Equally, there can be no assurance as to how 

severe the global recession will be or as to how long it will last. Therefore, economic prospects are 

subject to considerable uncertainty. 

Prospective investors should ensure that they have the necessary knowledge and awareness of the 

current global financial and eurozone crises, and the economic situation and its uncertain outlook, to 

enable them to make their own evaluation of the risks and merits of an investment in the Notes. 

‘Brexit’ risk 

On 23 June 2016 the UK held a referendum to decide on the UK's membership of the European 

Union. The UK vote was to leave the European Union. There are a number of uncertainties in 

connection with the future of the UK and its relationship with the European Union. The negotiation 

of the UK’s exit terms is likely to take a number of years. Until the terms and timing of the UK’s 

exit from the European Union are clearer, it is not possible to determine the impact that the 

referendum, the UK’s departure from the European Union and/or any related matters may have on 

the business of the Issuer.  As such, no assurance can be given that such matters would not adversely 

affect the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Notes and/or the market value 

and/or the liquidity of the Notes in the secondary market. 

Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its 

own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or 

with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it: 

(a) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant 

Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained 

or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(b) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 

particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such 

investment will have on its overall investment portfolio; 
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(c) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 

relevant Notes, including where principal or interest is payable in one or more currencies, or 

where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential 

investor’s currency; 

(d) understands thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of 

any relevant indices and financial markets; and 

(e) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may 

affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of 

certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by 

certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and 

to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various 

types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial 

institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the 

appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 

Some Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to 

reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their 

overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial 

instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to 

evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of 

such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment 

portfolio. 

Risks related to the complex structure of certain Notes 

Some Notes are particularly complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors 

generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase 

complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, 

measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not 

invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or 

with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the 

resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential 

investor's overall investment portfolio. 

An investment in the Notes may involve a high degree of risk, including the risk that the entire 

amount invested may be lost. The Issuer, will invest in and trade securities and other financial 

instruments using a variety of investment techniques with significant risk characteristics, including 

the risks arising from the volatility of the equity and fixed-income markets, the risks of borrowings 

and short sales, the risks arising from leverage associated with trading in the equity, currency and 

OTC derivative markets, the illiquidity of derivative instruments and the risk of loss from 

counterparty defaults. No guarantee or representation is made that the investment in Notes will be a 

successful one. The Issuer may utilise investment techniques such as option transactions, margin 

transactions, short sales, leverage, derivatives trading and futures and forward contracts to hedge 

payments due under the Notes, which practices could adversely affect the value of the Notes. 

Short selling technique may be used to provide indexation of payments under the Note. Short selling 

involves selling securities which may or may not be owned and borrowing the same securities for 

delivery to the purchaser, with an obligation to replace the borrowed securities at a later date. Short 

selling allows the investor to benefit from declines in market prices to the extent such declines 

exceed the transaction costs and the costs of borrowing the securities. A short sale creates the risk of 

an unlimited loss, as the price of the underlying security could theoretically increase without limit, 



 

 30  

 

thus increasing the cost of buying those securities to cover the short position. There can be no 

assurance that the securities necessary to cover a short position will be available for purchase. 

Purchasing securities to close out the short position can itself cause the price of the securities to rise 

further, thereby exacerbating the loss. 

Structured Notes 

An investment in Notes, the premium and/or the interest on or principal of which is determined by 

reference to one or more values of interest rates, shares or other indices or formulae, either directly 

or inversely, may entail significant risks not associated with similar investments in a conventional 

debt security, including the risks that the resulting interest rate will be less than that payable on a 

conventional debt security at the same time and/or that an investor may lose the value of its entire 

investment or part of it, as the case may be. Neither the current nor the historical value of the 

relevant interest rates, shares or other indices or formulae should be taken as an indication of future 

performance of such interest rates, shares or other indices or formulae during the term of any Notes. 

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes 

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme.  A number of these Notes may have 

features which contain particular risks for potential investors.  Set out below is a description of the 

most common features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and 

those which might occur in relation to certain types of Exempt Notes: 

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the 

Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner 

which achieves a similar effective return 

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value.  During any period 

when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise 

substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed.  This also may be true prior to any 

redemption period. 

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest 

rate on the Notes.  At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption 

proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and 

may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate.  Potential investors should consider 

reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time. 

There are particular risks associated with an investment in certain types of Notes such as Index 

Linked Redemption Notes and Inflation Linked Interest Notes. In particular, an investor might 

receive less interest than expected or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of 

the principal amount invested by it 

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index (including 

an inflation index) or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements 

in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a Relevant Factor).  Potential investors should be 

aware that: 

(a) the market price of such Notes may be very volatile; 

(b) they may receive no interest; 

(c) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than 

expected; 
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(d) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal; 

(e) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with 

changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices or may cease to exist or be published; 

(f) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or 

contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal 

or interest payable likely will be magnified; and 

(g) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if 

the average level is consistent with their expectations.  In general, the earlier the change in 

the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield. 

The historical experience of an index should not be viewed as an indication of the future 

performance of such index during the term of any Index Linked Redemption Notes or Inflation 

Linked Interest Notes.  Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own financial and 

legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any Index Linked Redemption Notes or 

Inflation Linked Interest Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of their particular 

circumstances. 

No Claim against any Underlying Reference 

A Note will not represent a claim against any underlying reference asset(s) (Underlying 

Reference(s)) to which the amount of principal and/or interest payable or amount of specified assets 

deliverable in respect of the Notes is dependent and, in the event that the amount paid by the Issuer 

or value of the specified assets delivered on redemption of the Notes is less than the principal 

amount of the Notes, a Noteholder will not have recourse under a Note to any Underlying Reference. 

In addition, investing in a Note will not entitle the Noteholder to benefit from a voting right (if any) 

attached to an Underlying Reference. 

An investment in Notes linked to one or more Underlying Reference may entail significant risks not 

associated with investments in conventional debt securities, including but not limited to the risks set 

out in this section "Risks related to the structure of a particular issues of Notes". The amount paid or 

value of the specified assets delivered by the Issuer on redemption of such Notes may be less than 

the principal amount of the Notes, together with any accrued interest, and may in certain 

circumstances be zero. 

Limited Exposure to Underlying Reference 

If the applicable Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement in the case of Exempt Notes) provide that the 

exposure of any Index Linked Redemption Notes, Equity Linked Redemption Notes, Inflation 

Linked Interest Notes, and other Notes linked to one or more Underlying References is limited or 

capped to a certain level or amount, such Notes will not benefit from any upside in the value of any 

such Underlying References beyond such limit or cap. 

The particular risks involved in an investment in Index Linked Redemption Notes include volatility, 

effects of leverage and the loss of part of or all principal amount invested 

The Issuer may issue Notes where the amount of principal payable is dependent upon the level of an 

index or indices, or upon a formula encompassing a combination of a number of components, which 

can be indices or securities or derivatives or any other component (Index Linked Redemption 

Notes). 
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Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Index 

Linked Redemption Notes (i) payment of principal may occur at a different time than expected and 

(ii) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment. 

If the amount of principal payable is determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or 

by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the level of the index or the 

indices or the components of the formula on principal payable will be magnified. The market price 

of such Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the redemption date and the 

volatility of the level of the index or indices or of any component of the formula. The level of the 

index, indices, components or the formula may be affected by the economic, financial and political 

events in one or more jurisdictions, including but not limited to the stock exchange(s) or quotation 

system(s) on which any securities comprising the index, indices or the formula may be traded. 

Investors in Equity Linked Redemption Notes are exposed to volatility risks, leverage risks or 

performance of the share risks 

The Issuer may issue Notes where the amount of principal payable is dependent upon the price of, or 

changes in the price of, share(s) or where, depending on the price of or change in the price of shares, 

on redemption the Issuer's obligation is to deliver specified assets (Equity Linked Redemption 

Notes). 

Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Equity 

Linked Redemption Notes (i) payment of principal or delivery of any specified assets may occur at a 

different time than expected and (ii) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment.  

If the amount of principal payable is determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or 

by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the price of the share(s) on 

principal payable will be magnified. 

The market price of such Notes may be volatile and may be affected by the time remaining to the 

redemption date, the volatility of the share(s), the dividend rate (if any) and the financial results and 

prospects of the issuer or issuers of the relevant share(s) as well as economic, financial and political 

events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors affecting the stock exchange(s) or quotation 

system(s) on which any such shares may be traded. 

There are specific risks associated with an investment in Inflation Linked Interest Notes 

The Issuer may issue Notes where the amount of interest payable is dependent upon changes in the 

level of inflation (Inflation Linked Interest Notes). 

Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Inflation 

Linked Interest Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of interest 

may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their 

investment. In addition, the movements in the level of inflation or any component of the formula 

may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, 

currencies or other indices or similar components and the timing of changes in the relevant level of 

inflation or the components of the formula may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the 

average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the level of 

inflation or result of a formula, the greater the effect on yield. 

If the amount of interest payable is determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or 

by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the level of inflations or the 

components of the formula on interest payable will be magnified. The market price of such Notes 

may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the redemption date and the volatility of 

the level of inflation or of any component of the formula. The level of inflation, components or the 
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formula may be affected by the economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, 

including but not limited to the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any securities 

comprising the inflation level or the formula may be traded. 

In addition, the decision to purchase Inflation Linked Interest Notes involves complex financial 

appreciations and risks as the inflation cannot be foreseen with any degree of certainty. The yield of 

Inflation Linked Interest Notes may be lower than the yield of non-inflation linked interest notes. 

The Issuer makes no representation as to the tax treatment of such Notes or as to the lawfulness of 

the purchase of such Notes in any jurisdiction. 

Market Disruption and adjustments provisions may affect the value and liquidity of the Notes as well 

as postpone due dates for payment 

If an issue of Index Linked Redemption Notes, Equity Linked Redemption Notes, Inflation Linked 

Interest Notes or other notes linked to an Underlying Reference includes provisions dealing with the 

occurrence of a Market Disruption Event or any other event, however defined, set out under 

Conditions 19 to 21 and affecting such Note (a Disruption Event) on a Valuation Date, Observation 

Date, Averaging Date or any other relevant date and the Calculation Agent determines that a 

Disruption Event has occurred or exists on such Valuation Date, Observation Date, such Averaging 

Date, any consequential postponement of the Valuation Date, Observation Date or Averaging Date 

or any other relevant date, alternative provisions for valuation provided in any such Notes may have 

an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of such Notes. The timing of such dates (as scheduled or 

as so postponed or adjusted) may affect the value of the relevant Notes such that the Noteholder may 

receive a lower cash redemption amount and/or interest amount or other payment under the relevant 

Notes than otherwise would have been the case. The occurrence of such a Disruption Event in 

relation to any Underlying Reference comprising a basket may also have such an adverse effect on 

Notes related to such basket. In addition, any such consequential postponement may result in the 

postponement of the relevant due date for payment under the Notes and/or Maturity Date. 

Physical Delivery Notes involve specific risks linked to the occurrence of a Settlement Disruption 

Event 

The value of Notes to be settled by way of physical delivery may be affected and/or the settlement of 

such Notes may be delayed if in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, delivery of the Asset Amount 

(being the amount of relevant asset relating to each Note as set out in the Final Terms (or Pricing 

Supplement in the case of Exempt Notes)) using the method of delivery specified in the applicable 

Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement in the case of Exempt Notes), or such other commercially 

reasonable manner as the Calculation Agent has determined, is impracticable because a Settlement 

Disruption Event has occurred and is continuing on the Delivery Date. A Settlement Disruption 

Event is an event beyond the control of the Issuer as a result of which, in the opinion of the 

Calculation Agent, delivery of the specified assets to be delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer is not 

practicable. 

Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor 

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments.  If they are structured to include 

multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features, their 

market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features. 

If the Issuer has the right to convert the interest rate on any Notes from a fixed rate to a floating 

rate, or vice versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes 

concerned 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate 

to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate.  Where the Issuer has the right to effect such 
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a conversion, this will affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, the Notes since the 

Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to result in a lower overall cost of 

borrowing for the Issuer.  If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such 

circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then 

prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate.  In addition, 

the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes.  If the Issuer converts 

from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than then 

prevailing market rates. 

Investors will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Notes  

A key difference between (i) Floating Rate Notes and (ii) Fixed Rate Notes is that interest income on 

Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to 

determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them, so that their return 

on investment cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods. If 

the terms and conditions of the Notes provide for frequent interest payment dates, investors are 

exposed to the reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the 

interest income paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then prevailing. 

Risks in relation to the interest derived on Range Accrual Notes 

Investors should also note that the Coupon Amount payable in respect of Range Accrual Notes will 

depend on the frequency with which the Range Accrual Reference Rate falls between Lower Range 

and the Upper Range during the relevant Interest Period.  The fewer the number of days the Range 

Accrual Reference Rate falls in this range during the relevant Interest Period, the lower the relevant 

interest in respect of such Interest Period.  As a result, the interest amounts payable in respect of the 

Range Accrual Notes (and therefore the market value of the Range Accrual Notes) may be more 

volatile than for securities that do not include this feature. 

Range Accrual Notes bearing or paying a floating or other variable rate of interest either will pay or, 

depending on the fulfilment of certain conditions, may pay a variable amount of interest on specified 

interest payment dates. Range Accrual Notes which bear or pay floating or other variable interest 

rates can be volatile investments. Investors who purchase Range Accrual Notes with a floating or 

other variable rate of interest, will be exposed to the risk of a fluctuating rate of interest and 

consequently variable interest amounts. 

Zero Coupon Notes are subject to higher price fluctuations than non-discounted notes 

Changes in market interest rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero Coupon 

Notes than on the prices of ordinary notes because the discounted issue prices are substantially 

below par. If market interest rates increase, Zero Coupon Notes can suffer higher price losses than 

other notes having the same maturity and credit rating. Due to their leverage effect, Zero Coupon 

Notes are a type of investment associated with a particularly high price risk 

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to 

changes in market interest rates 

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or 

premium to their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest 

rates than do prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the 

remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional 

interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities. 
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A Noteholder’s actual yield on the Notes may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction costs 

When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees and 

commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs may 

significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the Notes. 

For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their clients for own commissions which are either 

fixed minimum commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on the order value. To the extent 

that additional – domestic or foreign – parties are involved in the execution of an order, including 

but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in foreign markets, Noteholders must take into account 

that they may also be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees and expenses of 

such parties (third party costs). 

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Noteholders must 

also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Investors should inform 

themselves about any additional costs incurred in connection with the purchase, custody or sale of 

the Notes before investing in the Notes. 

A Noteholder’s effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax impact on that Noteholder, 

as the case may be, of its investment in the Notes 

Payments of interest on the Notes, or profits realised by the Noteholder, as the case may be, upon the 

sale or repayment of the Notes, may be subject to taxation in its home jurisdiction or in other 

jurisdictions in which it is required to pay taxes. The tax impact on Noteholders generally is 

described under "Taxation" below; however, the tax impact on an individual Noteholder may differ 

from the situation described for Noteholders generally. The Issuer advises all investors to contact 

their own tax advisers for advice on the tax impact of an investment in the Notes. 

An investor in Subordinated Notes assumes an enhanced risk of loss in the event of the Issuer's 

insolvency 

The Issuer's obligations under the Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will 

rank junior in priority of payment to Senior Liabilities.  Senior Liabilities means all of the Issuer's 

liabilities which constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the 

Issuer.  Although Subordinated Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Notes which 

are not subordinated, there is an enhanced risk that an investor in Subordinated Notes will lose all or 

some of his investment should the Issuer become insolvent. 

The Subordinated Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity 

Unless the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing 

Supplement) specify otherwise, in the event that as a result of a change in law or regulations of 

Luxembourg, or in the official application of such laws or regulations or any political subdivision or 

any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application of such laws or 

regulations which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, which change 

the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Regulator was material and was not reasonably 
foreseeable as at the Issue Date (i) (A) the Issuer has or would become obliged to pay additional 

amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7 of the terms and conditions of the Subordinated 

Notes, and (B) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available 

to it; or (ii) the the Issuer would not be entitled to claim a deduction in respect of any payments in 

computing its taxation liabilities or the amount of the deduction would be materially reduced, 

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days  prior  to the earliest  

date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts or would not be entitled to 

claim a deduction were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. The Issuer may redeem all 
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outstanding Notes in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes, subject to 

the prior consent of the Regulator and satisfaction of certain requirements. 

In addition, unless the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable 

Pricing Supplement) specify otherwise, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes upon the 

occurrence of a Capital Event, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Subordinated 

Notes, subject to the consent of the Regulator and satisfaction of certain requirements. 

In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a 

comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the relevant Notes. 

See also "If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value 

of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a 

manner which achieves a similar effective return". 

Limited remedies for non-payment under Subordinated Notes 

The sole remedy against the Issuer available to the holders of Subordinated Notes for recovery of 

amounts owing in respect of any non-payment of principal or interest in respect of the Subordinated 

Notes will be to ask the relevant authorities to institute proceedings in Luxembourg (but not 

elsewhere) in accordance with Part III of the Resolution Law, to the extent set out in Condition 

9.2(a)(ii) under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".  As such, the remedies available to holders of 

Subordinated Notes are more limited than those typically available to holders of unsubordinated debt 

of the Issuer. 

In addition, holders of Subordinated Notes may only accelerate the maturity of such Subordinated 

Notes if an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the Liquidation (as defined under 

"Terms and Conditions of the Notes") of the Issuer in Luxembourg and, if accelerated, may claim 

payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes only in the Liquidation of the Issuer. 

There is no restriction on the amount or type of further instruments or indebtedness that the Issuer 

may issue, incur or guarantee 

There is no restriction on the amount or type of further instruments or indebtedness that the Issuer 

may issue, incur or guarantee, that rank senior to, or pari passu with, the Subordinated Notes.  As a 

result, this may reduce the amount recoverable by holders of Subordinated Notes on a Liquidation of 

the Issuer and may limit the Issuer's ability to meet its obligations under the Subordinated Notes. In 

addition, the Subordinated Notes do not contain any restriction on the Issuer's ability to issue 

securities that may have preferential rights to the Subordinated Notes or securities with similar or 

different provisions. 

Subordinated Notes may be subject to loss absorption on any application of the general bail-in tool 

or at the point of non-viability of the Issuer 

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive contemplates that Subordinated Notes may be subject 

to non-viability loss absorption, in addition to the application of the general bail-in tool. See "EU 

Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive". 

Risks applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes 
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Where Notes are issued on a partly paid basis, an investor who fails to pay any subsequent 

instalment of the issue price could lose all of his investment. 

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment.  Any 

failure by an investor to pay any subsequent instalment of the issue price in respect of his Notes 

could result in such investor losing all of his investment. 

Inverse Floating Rate Notes 

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a 

reference rate such as LIBOR.  The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than 

market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate 

(and with otherwise comparable terms).  Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an 

increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an 

increase in prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes. 

Risks related to Notes generally 

Set out below is a description of material risks relating to the Notes generally: 

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the 

consent of all investors and confer significant discretions on the Agent which may be exercised 

without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the individual interests of particular 

Noteholders 

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider 

matters affecting their interests generally.  These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all 

Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and 

Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Agent may, without the consent of Noteholders and 

without regard to the interests of particular Noteholders, agree to (a) any modification of any of the 

provisions of the Notes which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a 

manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law or (b) the substitution of another 

company as principal debtor under any Notes in place of the Issuer, in the circumstances described 

in Condition 14 or Condition 16, as the case may be. 

Basel Capital Requirements Regulation and Capital Requirements Directive 

On 16 December 2010 and on 13 January 2011, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the 

Basel Committee) issued its final guidance on a number of fundamental reforms to the regulatory 

capital framework (such reforms being commonly referred to as Basel III), including new capital 

requirements, higher capital ratios, more stringent eligibility requirements for capital instruments, a 

new leverage ratio and liquidity requirements intended to reinforce capital standards and to establish 

minimum liquidity standards for financial institutions. A revised version of the Basel III rules was 

published in June 2011. 

The Basel III reform package has been implemented in the European Economic Area (the EEA) 

through a regulation (the Capital Requirements Regulation) and as an associated directive (the 

Capital Requirements Directive) (together, CRD IV), which were published in the Official Journal 

of the European Union on 27 June 2013. The regulation establishes a single set of harmonised 

prudential rules which will apply directly to all credit institutions in the EEA with the directive 

containing less prescriptive provisions which will need to be transposed into national law. Full 

implementation began from 1 January 2014, with particular elements being phased in over a period 

of time, to be fully effective by 2024. 
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The Capital Requirements Directive has been implemented in Luxembourg by the law  of 23  July 

2015 (the CRD Law). The CRD Law entered into force and was applicable from 4 August 2015.  

The Luxembourg financial sector supervisory authority Commission de Surveillance du Secteur 

Financier (CSSF) has supplemented the CRD Law by adopting certain regulations. 

The CSSF has further published on 20 February 2014 in the Official Gazette (Mémorial A – N°23) 

and on its website the CSSF Regulation N° 14-01 on the implementation of certain discretions 

contained in the Capital Requirements Regulation (CSSF Regulation N° 14-01). 

Certain provisions of the CRD IV will be further specified by the European Banking Authority 

(EBA) through implementing technical standards. 

Key elements of CRD IV include: 

 Increased capital requirements – higher minimum common equity tier 1 ratios and the 

introduction of conservation, countercyclical and systemic risk buffers, which are to be 

phased in over the period January 2014 to December 2018; 

 Common equity tier 1 ratio – a risk-based capital ratio measure calculated as common equity 

tier 1 capital divided by risk weighted assets, as calculated on the basis set out in CRD IV. 

 Definition of capital – subordinated debt which does not meet CRD IV recognition criteria, 

will be phased out over the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2021; 

 Additional capital charges – an additional capital charge for credit valuation adjustment 

(CVA) risk is imposed. The capital charge for financial transactions with large 

counterparties also increases and deferred tax assets will be risk weighted at 250 per cent.; 

 Securitisation exposure – certain securitisation exposures can either be deducted 100 per 

cent. from common equity tier 1 capital or risk weighted 1,250 per cent.; 

 Deductions from capital – expected losses in excess of provisions are deducted in full from 

common equity tier 1 capital, gross of tax. Under Basel II, only 50 per cent. of the deduction 

was from core tier 1 capital and was net of tax. The common equity tier 1 capital pension 

adjustment (net deficit add-back) available under Basel II is removed; 

 New liquidity metrics – two new liquidity ratios will be introduced. These are a short-term 

liquidity stress ratio, referred to as the liquidity coverage ratio, and a longer-term ratio, 

referred to as the net stable funding ratio. Both ratios are required to be maintained at levels 

in excess of 100 per cent. when fully implemented; and 

 New ratio – a new ratio, calculated by dividing tier 1 capital by an institution's total 

exposure (the leverage ratio) is required to be maintained at a level of at least 3 per cent. 

This requirement will be harmonised at EU level from 1 January, 2018, until which date the 

Luxembourg regulators may apply such measures as they consider appropriate. 

Under CRD IV, institutions are required to hold a minimum amount of regulatory capital equal to 

8 per cent. of risk weighted assets. In addition to these so-called "own funds" requirements under 

CRD IV, supervisors may add extra capital to cover other risks (thereby increasing the regulatory 

minimum required under CRD IV) and Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg (BCEE 

or the Bank) may also decide to hold an additional amount of capital. CRD IV also introduces 

capital buffer requirements that are in addition to the minimum capital requirement and required to 

be met with common equity tier 1 capital: (i) the capital conservation buffer, (ii) the institution-

specific countercyclical buffer, (iii) the global systemically important institutions buffer, (iv) the 
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other systemically important institutions buffer, (v) the systemic risk buffer and, (vi) the institution-

specific countercyclical capital buffer. Some or all of these buffers may be applicable to BCEE as 

determined by relevant regulators. 

In line with the previous paragraph, according to CSSF Regulation N° 15-06 of 30 November 2015 

concerning systemically important institutions authorised in Luxembourg, BCEE has been qualified 

by the CSSF as another systemically important institution (O-SII) within the meaning of article 59-3 

of the law of 5 April 1993 on the financial sector (as amended) due to its contribution to the 

Luxembourg economy, its exposure to the real estate market and its large base of Luxembourg 

deposits. BCEE's buffer rate has been set at 0.125% applicable as from 1 January 2016 and at 0.5% 

as from 1 January 2019. 

The Luxembourg CSSF Regulation N° 14-01 makes use of the discretions conferred in this respect 

by the Capital Requirements Regulation to national regulators and applies a common equity tier 1 

ratio of 6 per cent (as from 1 January 2015 onwards). Additionally, in accordance with the Capital 

Requirements Directive, CSSF Regulation N° 14-01 foresees a capital conservation buffer of 2.5 per 

cent. 

The effective implementation of the Basel III requirements, as transposed within the EU legislation 

through the CRD IV, can be pointed out as a major step toward the overall risk management 

practices enhancement. These new requirements, in force since 1 January 2014 with a phase-in 

period running until 2019, have important repercussions on BCEE’s strategy and overall risk profile 

perception. 

The setting up on 4 November 2014 of the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), where the 

European Central Bank (ECB) took on – together with the National Competent Authorities (NCA) – 

the direct supervision of around 130 credit institutions within the euro area, including BCEE, is also 

an important change which will work towards improving the harmonization of practices and thus 

transparency at the European level. 

BCEE has continued to invest time and resources in 2015 in making sure that it is and will remain 

compliant with regulatory standards. Amongst others, it should be mentioned: 

1) SSM regulatory framework: In the context of the Banking Union and following the

setting up on November 4, 2014 of the SSM, the Bank has been subject this year to its first 

supervisory review exercise under the ECB. All along this year, regular meetings on various 

regulatory, governance and risk issues were held with the Bank’s Joint Supervisory Team 

(JST). Topics addressed during these meetings covered both general themes (e.g. Internal 

governance, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)) while others were 

related to more specific issues (e.g. Liquidity Risk). 

2) Along with the evolution of the supervisory practices, the on-going implementation

of both CRR (Regulation 575/2013/UE) and CRD IV requirements remained one of the 

most challenging tasks. Specifically, on the Liquidity Risk (LR) matters: 

In January, delegated Regulation 2015/61/UE on Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 

and delegated Regulation 2015/62/UE on Leverage Ratio have been published in the 

Official Journal of the European Union implying convergence of the Bank’s 

practices towards new standards. Subsequently, the European Banking Authority 

(EBA) published in June 2015 Implementing Technical Standards (ITS), submitted 

to the approval of the European Commission, related to the supervisory reporting of 

both LR and LCR. The implementation of the corresponding reports was part of the 

tasks undertaken at BCEE. 
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3) As previously mentioned the CRD IV has been transposed into Luxembourg law 

requiring the Bank to disclose for the first time its semi-annual Pillar III report. 

 

4) The Directive 2014/59/UE, also called Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive 

(BRRD, please refer to the following section for more details on this topic), has been fully 

implemented into Luxembourg law in December. In this context, the Bank has already 

participated in several exercises required by its supervisors in 2015. Among others, the 

Bank’s first Recovery Plan has been submitted to and approved by its Board of Directors. As 

a reminder, this exercise aims at ensuring that the Bank is well prepared to meet the 

challenges that may arise from potential future crises through several possible scenarios. 

Moreover and when it comes to the resolution side of the BRRD, the Bank has participated, 

through its response  to CSSF Circular 15/610 requirement, to an ad hoc exercise aiming at 

collecting information for the set-up of its Resolution Plan and the calculation of the 

Minimum Requirements for own funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL). Furthermore, a few 

meetings were held during the year with the Bank’s Resolution Authorities on these topics. 

It is worth mentioning that in 2016, an important element of the Supervisory Review and valuation 

Process (SREP) will be the SSM SREP stress testing exercise. The objectives of this exercise are: 

 Assess the resilience of financial institutions to adverse market developments; 

 Contribute to the overall SREP to ensure institutions’ capital and liquidity adequacy, as well 

as sound risk coverage and internal processes; 

 Ensure a consistent treatment of all institutions supervised by the SSM. 

In order to comply with different requirements and based on the previous experience (2014 EU- 

wide stress testing exercise), BCEE is currently working on this exercise.  The results will feed into 

each participating bank’s SREP assessment for 2016. 

Regulatory action in the event of a failure of the Issuer could materially adversely affect the value of 

the Notes  

EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive 

The directive establishing an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit 

institutions and investment firms (the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive or BRRD) entered 

into force in July 2014. The BRRD is designed to provide the relevant resolution authorities with a 

credible set of tools to intervene sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing institution so 

as to ensure the continuity of the institution's critical financial and economic functions, while 

minimising the impact of an institution's failure on the economy and financial system.  

The BRRD requires that the majority of its measures be implemented into national law by 1 January 

2015, with the general bail-in tool to apply from 1 January 2016, at the latest. As of the date of this 

Base Prospectus, the BRRD has not yet been implemented in all EU member states. 

The BRRD has been implemented in Luxembourg by the law of 18 December 2015 on the default of 

credit institutions and certain investment firms (the Resolution Law) which entered into force on 28 

December 2015, subject to limited exceptions and the transitional regime: In line with the BRRD, 

the Resolution Law gives power to the CSSF in its capacity as a supervisory authority to take certain 

early intervention measures and gives power to the CSSF as the Luxembourg resolution authority to 

implement resolution measures under the Resolution Law. 
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The BRRD (and accordingly in Luxembourg the Resolution Law) contains four resolution tools 

which may be used by the relevant resolution authorities alone or in combination where an 

institution  is considered as failing or likely to fail: 

(a) sale of business – which enables resolution authorities to direct the sale of the firm or the 

whole or part of its business on commercial terms; 

(b) bridge institution – which enables resolution authorities to transfer all or part of the business 

of the firm to a "bridge institution" (an entity created for this purpose that is wholly or 

partially in public control); 

(c) asset separation – which enables resolution authorities to transfer impaired or problem assets 

to one or more publicly owned asset management vehicles to allow them to be managed and 

with a view to maximising their value through eventual sale or orderly wind-down (this can 

be used together with another resolution tool only); and 

(d) bail-in – which gives resolution authorities the power to write-down certain claims of 

unsecured creditors of a failing institution and/or to convert certain unsecured debt claims 

including Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes to equity (the general bail-in tool), which 

equity could also be subject to any future write-down. See further "Bail-in tool under the 

BRRD" below. 

The BRRD also provides for a Member State as a last resort, after having assessed and exploited the 

above resolution tools to the maximum extent possible whilst maintaining financial stability, to be 

able to provide extraordinary public financial support through additional financial stabilisation tools. 

These consist of the public equity support and temporary public ownership tools. Any such 

extraordinary financial support must be provided in accordance with the EU state aid framework. 

The BRRD also grants powers to enable the relevant resolution authorities to implement the 

resolution tools, including the power to replace or substitute the relevant institution as obligor in 

respect of debt instruments, the power to modify the terms of debt instruments (including altering the 

maturity and/or the amount of interest payable and/or imposing a temporary suspension on 

payments), and/or the power to discontinue the listing and admission to trading of financial 

instruments. 

An institution will be considered as failing or likely to fail when: it is, or is likely in the near future 

to be, in breach of its requirements for continuing authorisation; when its assets are, or are likely in 

the near future to be, less than its liabilities; when it is, or is likely in the near future to be, unable to 

pay its debts as they fall due; or when it requires extraordinary public financial support (except in 

limited circumstances). 

The resolution tools are intended to be used prior to the point at which any insolvency proceedings 

with respect to the relevant institution could have been initiated and only upon the relevant 

resolution authorities, i.e. the CSSF, acting in its capacity as resolution authority for Luxembourg, 

being satisfied that the relevant conditions for resolution contained in the BRRD have been met. 

Bail-in tool under the BRRD and the Resolution Law 

A bail-in tool (which comprises a general power for resolution authorities to write-down the claims 

of certain unsecured creditors (which may include holders of Notes, whether unsubordinated or 

subordinated) of a failing institution or to convert such debt claims to equity, which may itself be 

subject to subsequent write-down) is required to be implemented under the BRRD by 1 January 

2016 at the latest. The bail-in tool has been implemented in time by the Resolution Law in 

Luxembourg. The bail-in tool can be used to recapitalise an institution that is failing or about to fail, 

allowing resolution authorities (including the CSSF in Luxembourg under the Resolution Law) to 
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restructure it through the resolution process and restore its viability after reorganisation and 

restructuring. The bail-in tool could be used to impose losses on holders of Notes by effecting the 

cancellation of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, interest on, or any other amounts payable 

on, the Notes, as applicable, and/or the conversion of all or a portion of the principal amount of, 

interest on, or any other amounts payable on the Notes, as applicable into shares or other securities 

or other obligations of the Issuer or another person, including by means of a variation to the terms of 

the Notes, in each case, to give effect to the exercise by the relevant resolution authority of such bail-

in tool. This may result in holders of Notes losing some or all of their investment. 

Loss absorption at the point of non-viability under the BRRD and the Resolution Law 

The powers provided in the BRRD to the relevant resolution authorities (including the CSSF in 

Luxembourg under the Resolution Law) include mandatory write-down and conversion powers in 

respect of capital instruments, to ensure that relevant capital instruments (including tier 2 capital 

instruments such as the Subordinated Notes) fully absorb losses at the point of non-viability of the 

issuing institution and before any other resolution action is taken. 

For the purposes of the application of the mandatory write-down and conversion power, the point of 

non-viability is the point at which the relevant resolution authority determines that the institution 

meets the conditions for resolution (but no resolution action has yet been taken) and/or will no 

longer be viable unless the relevant capital instruments are written down or converted into ordinary 

shares and/or extraordinary public support is required by the institution. 

Holders of Subordinated Notes may be subject to write-down or conversion into equity on 

application of such mandatory write-down or conversion powers (without requiring such holders' 

consent), which may result in such holders losing some or all of their investment. 

Single Resolution Mechanism 

The BRRD (implemented in Luxembourg by the Resolution Law) is complemented by the directly 

binding regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014 establishing 

uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment 

firms in the framework of a Single Resolution Mechanism and a Single Resolution Fund (the SRM). 

The SRM applies to banks covered by the SSM. According to the selection criteria of the ECB, 

BCEE has been identified as a "significant bank" and is thus centrally supervised under the SSM. 

The SRM applies to BCEE as a primary recovery and resolution code instead of the (future) 

Luxembourg implementation measures relating to the BRRD, including in particular the Resolution 

Law. The SRM establishes a single European resolution board (consisting of representatives from 

the ECB, the European Commission and the relevant national resolution authorities) (the Resolution 

Board) having resolution powers over the entities that are subject to the SRM, thus replacing or 

exceeding the powers of the national resolution authorities. The Resolution Board will draw up and 

adopt a resolution plan for the entities subject to its powers, including BCEE. It will also determine, 

after consultation with competent authorities, a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible 

liabilities subject to write-down and conversion powers which BCEE will be required to meet at all 

times (see "Minimum requirement for eligible liabilities (MREL) below). The Resolution Board will 

also use the powers of early intervention as set forth in the SRM, including the power to require an 

institution to contact potential purchasers in order to prepare for resolution of institution. 

The Resolution Board will have the authority to exercise the specific resolution powers pursuant to 

the SRM similar to those of the national resolution authorities under the BRRD (i.e. for Luxembourg 

the CSSF in accordance with the Resolution Law). These specific resolution powers include the sale 

of business tool, the bridge institution tool, the asset separation tool, the bail-in tool and the 

mandatory write-down and conversion power in respect of capital instruments. The use of one or 



 

 43  

 

more of these tools will be included in a resolution scheme to be adopted by the Resolution Board. 

National resolution authorities (i.e. for Luxembourg the CSSF in accordance with the Resolution 

Law) will remain responsible for the execution of the resolution scheme according to the instructions 

of the Resolution Board. 

The provisions relating to resolution plans and cooperation between the Resolution Board and the 

national resolution authorities apply as of 1 January 2015. The resolution powers of the Resolution 

Board apply from 1 January 2016. 

Effect of the resolution powers under the BRRD and the SRM  

The resolution powers under the BRRD (as implemented in the relevant EU member state, notably 

for the Issuer in Luxembourg by the Resolution Law) and the SRM impact on how credit institutions 

and investment firms in the EU are managed as well as, in certain circumstances, the rights of 

creditors. The exercise of any such resolution power, including the power of the bail-in tool in 

respect of BRRD, the Issuer and any Notes issued by the Issuer or any suggestion, or perceived 

suggestion, of such exercise could adversely affect the rights of the holders of such Notes, the price 

or the value of any Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under such  Notes 

and could lead to the holders of the Notes losing some or all of their investment in the Notes. 

Prospective investors in the Notes should consult their own advisors as to the consequences of the 

SRM and the implementation of the BRRD, in particular in Luxembourg by the Resolution Law. 

Minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) 

In order to ensure the effectiveness of bail-in and other resolution tools, the BRRD and the SRM 

require that all institutions must meet an individual MREL requirement calculated as a percentage of 

total liabilities and own funds and set by the relevant resolution authorities (including the Resolution 

Board). Items eligible for inclusion in MREL will include an institution's own funds along with 

"eligible liabilities". 

The European Banking Authority (the EBA) and the European Commission are required under the 

BRRD to develop the criteria for determining MREL, the calculation methodologies and related 

measures. Although the EBA has published and submitted to the European Commission the final 

draft regulatory technical standards on the criteria for determining MREL, the precise impact of the 

MREL requirements on individual firms will remain a matter of some uncertainty until the final 

measures are fully adopted and specific requirements imposed on institutions. It is also unclear 

whether the proposals published in November 2014 by the Financial Stability Board (FSB) for a new 

international standard on total loss absorbing capacity (TLAC) for globally systemically important 

banks (GSIBs) (albeit BCEE is not classified as a G-SIB based on the latest FSB list published in 

November 2014) as well as the final TLAC Principles and Term Sheet published by the FSB on 9 

November 2015 will affect the way in which the authorities implement the MREL regime. Under the 

SRM, the Resolution Board will determine, after consultation with competent authorities, the MREL 

requirement for BCEE. 

Until these measures are finally adopted and applied to the Issuer, it is not possible to determine the 

ultimate scope and nature of any resulting obligations for the Issuer, nor the impact that they will 

have on the Issuer. It is possible that the Issuer may have to issue MREL eligible liabilities in order 

to meet the new requirements within the required timeframes and/or that the MREL requirements 

would impose operational restrictions on the Issuer, increase the Issuer's expenses and/or otherwise 

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and/or 

prospects of the Issuer and, in turn, adversely affect the value of the Notes. 
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Depositor Preference 

The BRRD establishes a preference in the insolvency hierarchy firstly, for insured deposits and 

secondly, for certain other deposits of individuals and micro, small and medium sized enterprises 

held in EEA or non-EEA branches of an EEA bank ("other preferred deposits"). In addition, a new 

EU deposit guarantee schemes directive (Directive 2014/49/EU), which has been implemented in 

Luxembourg by the Resolution Law, increases the nature and quantum of insured deposits to include 

a wide range of deposits, including corporate deposits (unless the depositor is a public authority or 

financial institution) and some temporary high value deposits. The effect of these changes is 

generally to increase the size of the class of preferred creditors. All such preferred deposits rank in 

the insolvency hierarchy ahead of all other unsecured senior creditors of the Issuer, including the 

holders of the Senior Notes. Furthermore, insured deposits are excluded from the scope of the bail-in 

tool. As a result, the Notes issued by the Issuer would be more likely to be bailed-in than certain 

other unsubordinated liabilities of the Issuer such as other preferred deposits. 

The trading market for debt securities may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many 

events 

The market for debt securities issued by banks is influenced by economic and market conditions and, 

to varying degrees, market conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in 

other European and other industrialised countries. There can be no assurance that events in Europe 

or elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the price 

of Notes or that economic and market conditions will not have any other adverse effect. 

The Notes may be subject to withholding taxes in circumstances where the Issuer is not obliged to 

make gross up payments and this would result in holders receiving less interest than expected and 

could significantly adversely affect their return on the Notes 

The proposed Financial Transaction Tax (FTT) 

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the Commission's 

Proposal) for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, 
Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the participating Member States). However, 

Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.  

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings 
in Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. The issuance and 
subscription of Notes should, however, be exempt.  

Under the Commission's proposal, the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both 
within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings 
in Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a 

participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a 

participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a 
person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is 
subject to the financial transaction is issued in a participating Member State. 

The FTT proposal remains subject to negotiations between participating Member States. It may 
therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU 
member states may decide to participate.  

Prospective holders of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT. 
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U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act Withholding 

Certain provisions commonly referred to as the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (or 

FATCA) require certain non-U.S. financial institutions to report to the U.S. Internal Revenue 

Service (the IRS) payments to non-U.S. financial institutions that do not comply with FATCA and 

U.S. persons’ direct and indirect ownership of certain non-U.S. accounts and non-U.S. entities. 

Failure to provide the requested information may lead to a 30% withholding tax applying to certain 

U.S. source income (including dividends and interest), gross proceeds from the sale or other disposal 

of property that can produce U.S. source interest or dividends and "foreign passthru payments" (a 

term not yet defined). 

Whilst the Notes are in global form and held within the clearing systems, in all but the most remote 

circumstances, it is not expected that FATCA will affect the amount of any payment received by the 

clearing systems (see "Taxation – Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act").  However, FATCA may 

affect payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the subsequent payment chain leading to the 

ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is unable to receive payments free 

of FATCA withholding.  It also may affect payment to any ultimate investor that is a financial 

institution that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under FATCA, or an ultimate 

investor that fails to provide its broker (or other custodian or intermediary from which it receives 

payment) with any information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be necessary for 

the payments to be made free of FATCA withholding.  Investors should choose the custodians or 

intermediaries with care (to ensure each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or agreements 

related to FATCA) and provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, forms, other 

documentation or consents that may be necessary for such custodian or intermediary to make a 

payment free of FATCA withholding.  Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a 

more detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may affect them. The Issuer's obligations 

under the Notes are discharged once the Paying Agent has made payment to, or to the order of, the 

clearing systems and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted 

through the clearing systems and custodians or intermediaries.  Further, foreign financial institutions 

in a jurisdiction which has entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the United States (an 

IGA) are generally not expected to be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law 

implementing an IGA) from payments they make.  Prospective investors should refer to the section 

"Taxation – Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act." 

Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act withholding may affect payments on the Notes  

The U.S. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act imposes a 30 per cent. withholding tax on 

amounts attributable to U.S. source dividends that are paid or "deemed paid" under certain financial 

instruments if certain conditions are met.  If the Issuer or any withholding agent determines that 

withholding is required, neither the Issuer nor any withholding agent will be required to pay any 

additional amounts with respect to amounts so withheld.  Prospective investors should refer to the 

section "Taxation – Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act". 

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative 

practice 

The conditions of the Notes are based on English law and Luxembourg law in effect as at the date of 

this Prospectus.  No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or 

change to English or Luxembourg law or administrative practice after the date of this Prospectus and 

any such change could materially adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it. 

Investors who hold less than the minimum the Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their 

Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued 
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In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified 

Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible 

that such Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that 

are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination.  In such a case a holder who, as 

a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified 

Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the 

remainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the 

minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.  

Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the 

minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant 

time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) 

and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified 

Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination. 

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have 

a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be 

illiquid and difficult to trade. 

Risks related to the market generally 

Set out below is a description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, 

interest rate risk and credit risk: 

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and 

this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Notes 

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop.  If a market 

for the Notes does develop, it may not be very liquid.  Therefore, investors may not be able to sell 

their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments 

that have a developed secondary market.  This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially 

sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or 

strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of 

investors.  These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more 

price volatility than conventional debt securities. 

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, he will be 

exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of his holding.  In addition, 

the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving 

payments on those Notes 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency.  This presents 

certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated 

principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor's Currency) other than the Specified 

Currency.  These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes 

due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk 

that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange 

controls.  An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency 

would decrease (a) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (b) the Investor's 

Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (c) the Investor's Currency-

equivalent market value of the Notes. 

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange 

controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make 

payments in respect of the Notes.  As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than 

expected, or no interest or principal. 
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The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates 

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase 

above the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate 

Notes. 

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an 

investment in those Notes 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or the Notes.  

The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional 

factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes.  A credit rating is 

not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by 

the rating agency at any time. 

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit 

ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in 

the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or 

suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the 

registration application is pending).  Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit 

ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an 

EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance 

with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not 

been withdrawn or suspended).  The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by 

ESMA on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the 

status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain 

supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated 

ESMA list.  Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on 

the cover of this Prospectus. 

Interests of the Dealers 

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment 

banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer and 

its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may 

make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related 

derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for 

the accounts of their customers.  Such investments and securities activities may involve securities 

and/or instruments of the Issuer or Issuer's affiliates.  Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that 

have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer 

consistent with their customary risk management policies.  Typically, such Dealers and their 

affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the 

purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially 

the Notes issued under the Programme.  Any such short positions could adversely affect future 

trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme.  The Dealers and their affiliates may also make 

investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of 

such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, 

long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. 

Potential conflicts of Interest 

Potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent (if any) and Noteholders 

(including where a Dealer acts as a calculation agent), including with respect to certain 
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determinations and judgments that such Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Conditions that 

may influence amounts receivable by the Noteholders during the term of the Notes and upon their 

redemption. 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF NOTES 

Restrictions on Non-exempt Offers of Notes in relevant Member States 

This Prospectus has been prepared on a basis that permits Non-exempt Offers of Notes in each Member State 

in relation to which the Issuer has given its consent as specified in the applicable Final Terms (each specified 

Member State a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction and together the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions).  Any 

person making or intending to make a Non-exempt Offer of Notes on the basis of this Prospectus must do so 

only with the Issuer's consent to the use of this Prospectus as provided under "Consent given in accordance 

with Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive" below and provided such person complies with the conditions 

attached to that consent. 

Save as provided above, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making 

of any Non-exempt Offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer 

to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. 

Consent given in accordance with Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive 

In the context of a Non-exempt Offer of Notes, the Issuer accepts responsibility, in each of the Non-exempt 

Offer Jurisdictions, for the content of this Prospectus in relation to any person (an Investor) who purchases 

any Notes in a Non-exempt Offer made by a Dealer or an Authorised Offeror (as defined below), where that 

offer is made during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms and provided that the 

conditions attached to the giving of consent for the use of this Prospectus are complied with.  The consent 

and conditions attached to it are set out under "Consent" and "Common Conditions to Consent" below. 

None of the Issuer or any Dealer makes any representation as to the compliance by an Authorised Offeror 

with any applicable conduct of business rules or other applicable regulatory or securities law requirements in 

relation to any Non-exempt Offer and none of the Issuer or any Dealer has any responsibility or liability for 

the actions of that Authorised Offeror. 

Except in the circumstances set out in the following paragraphs, neither the Issuer nor, for the 

avoidance of doubt, any Dealer has authorised the making of any Non-exempt Offer by any offeror 

and the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Prospectus by any other person in connection with 

any Non-exempt Offer of Notes.  Any Non-exempt Offer made without the consent of the Issuer is 

unauthorised and neither the Issuer nor, for the avoidance of doubt, any Dealer accepts any 

responsibility or liability for the actions of the persons making any such unauthorised offer.    

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, an Investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an Authorised 

Offeror, the Investor should check with that person whether anyone is responsible for this Prospectus for the 

purposes of the relevant Non-exempt Offer and, if so, who that person is.  If the Investor is in any doubt 

about whether it can rely on this Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal 

advice. 

The financial intermediaries referred to in paragraphs (a)(ii), (a)(iii) and (b) below are together the 

Authorised Offerors and each an Authorised Offeror. 
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Consent 

In connection with each Tranche of Notes and subject to the conditions set out below under "Common 

Conditions to Consent": 

Specific Consent 

(a) the Issuer consents to the use of this Prospectus (as supplemented as at the relevant time, if 

applicable) in connection with a Non-exempt Offer of such Notes during the relevant Offer Period 

stated in the applicable Final Terms by: 

(i) the relevant Dealer(s) or Manager(s) stated in the applicable Final Terms; 

(ii) any financial intermediaries specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(iii) any other financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms and 

whose name is published on the Issuer's website (www.bcee.lu) and identified as an 

Authorised Offeror in respect of the relevant Non-exempt Offer; and 

General Consent 

(b) if (and only if) Part B of the applicable Final Terms specifies General Consent as Applicable, the 

Issuer hereby offers to grant its consent to the use of this Prospectus (as supplemented as at the 

relevant time, if applicable) in connection with a Non-exempt Offer of Notes during the relevant 

Offer Period stated in the applicable Final Terms by any other financial intermediary which satisfies 

the following conditions: 

(i) it is authorised to make such offers under applicable legislation implementing the Markets in 

Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC); and 

(ii) it accepts the Issuer's offer to grant consent to the use of this Prospectus by publishing on its 

website the following statement (with the information in square brackets duly completed) 

(the Acceptance Statement): 

"We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the [insert title of relevant Notes] 

(the Notes) described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] (the Final Terms) published by 

Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg (the Issuer).  In consideration of the 

Issuer offering to grant its consent to our use of the Prospectus (as defined in the Final 

Terms) in connection with the offer of the Notes in [specify Member State(s)] during the 

Offer Period and subject to the other conditions to such consent, each as specified in the 

Prospectus, we hereby accept the offer by the Issuer in accordance with the Authorised 

Offeror Terms (as specified in the Prospectus) and we are using the Prospectus accordingly." 

The Authorised Offeror Terms, being the terms to which the relevant financial 

intermediary agrees in connection with using this Prospectus, are that the relevant financial 

intermediary: 

(A) will, and it agrees, represents, warrants and undertakes for the benefit of the Issuer 

and the relevant Dealer that it will, at all times in connection with the relevant 

Non-exempt Offer: 

I. act in accordance with, and be solely responsible for complying with, all 

applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance of any applicable regulatory 

bodies (the Rules) from time to time including, without limitation and in 

each case, Rules relating to both the appropriateness or suitability of any 
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investment in the Notes by any person and disclosure to any potential 

Investor; 

II. comply with the restrictions set out under "Subscription and Sale" in this 

Prospectus which would apply as if the relevant financial intermediary were 

a Dealer; 

III. ensure that any fee (and any other commissions or benefits of any kind) 

received or paid by that the relevant financial intermediary in relation to the 

offer or sale of the Notes does not violate the Rules and, to the extent 

required by the Rules, is fully and clearly disclosed to Investors or potential 

Investors; 

IV. hold all licences, consents, approvals and permissions required in 

connection with solicitation of interest in, or offers or sales of, the Notes 

under the Rules; 

V. comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption 

and "know your client" Rules (including, without limitation, taking 

appropriate steps, in compliance with such Rules, to establish and document 

the identity of each potential Investor prior to initial investment in any 

Notes by the Investor), and will not permit any application for Notes in 

circumstances where the financial intermediary has any suspicions as to the 

source of the application monies; 

VI. retain Investor identification records for at least the minimum period 

required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested and to the extent 

permitted by the Rules, make such records available to the relevant Dealer, 

the Issuer or directly to the appropriate authorities with jurisdiction over the 

Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer in order to enable the Issuer and/or the 

relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, anti-

corruption and "know your client" Rules applying to the Issuer and the 

relevant Dealer, as the case may be; 

VII. ensure that it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant 

Dealer to breach any Rule or subject the Issuer or the relevant Dealer to any 

requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in any 

jurisdiction; 

VIII. immediately inform the Issuer and the relevant Dealer if at any time it 

becomes aware, or suspects, that it is or may be in violation of any Rules 

and take all appropriate steps to remedy such violation and comply with 

such Rules in all respects; 

IX. comply with the conditions to the consent referred to under "Common 

conditions to consent" below and any further requirements or other 

Authorised Offeror Terms relevant to the Non-exempt Offer as specified in 

the applicable Final Terms; 

X. make available to each potential Investor in the Notes this Prospectus (as 

supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable), the applicable Final 

Terms and any applicable information booklet provided by the Issuer for 

such purpose, and not convey or publish any information that is not 

contained in or entirely consistent with the Prospectus and the applicable 

Final Terms; 
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XI. if it conveys or publishes any communication (other than this Prospectus or 

any other materials provided to such financial intermediary by or on behalf 

of the Issuer for the purposes of the relevant Non-exempt Offer) in 

connection with the relevant Non-exempt Offer, it will ensure that such 

communication (a) is fair, clear and not misleading and complies with the 

Rules, (b) states that such financial intermediary has provided such 

communication independently of the Issuer, that such financial intermediary 

is solely responsible for such communication and that none of the Issuer and 

the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for such communication and 

(c) does not, without the prior written consent of the Issuer, or the relevant 

Dealer (as applicable), use the legal or publicity names of the Issuer or the 

relevant Dealer or any other name, brand or logo registered by an entity 

within their respective groups or any material over which any such entity 

retains a proprietary interest, except to describe the Issuer as issuer of the 

relevant Notes on the basis set out in this Prospectus; 

XII. ensure that no holder of Notes or potential Investor in Notes shall become 

an indirect or direct client of the Issuer or the relevant Dealer for the 

purposes of any applicable Rules from time to time, and to the extent that 

any client obligations are created by the relevant financial intermediary 

under any applicable Rules, then such financial intermediary shall perform 

any such obligations so arising; 

XIII. co-operate with the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in providing relevant 

information (including, without limitation, documents and records 

maintained pursuant to paragraph (VI) above) and such further assistance as 

is reasonably requested upon written request from the Issuer or the relevant 

Dealer in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, 

within any time frame set by any such regulator or regulatory process.  For 

this purpose, relevant information is information that is available to or can 

be acquired by the relevant financial intermediary: 

(a) in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator in 

relation to the Notes, the Issuer or the relevant Dealer; and/or 

(b) in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer and/or the 

relevant Dealer relating to the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or 

another Authorised Offeror including, without limitation, 

complaints as defined in the Rules; and/or 

(c) which the Issuer or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require from 

time to time in relation to the Notes and/or as to allow the Issuer or 

the relevant Dealer fully to comply with its own legal, tax and 

regulatory requirements; 

XIV. during the period of the initial offering of the Notes:  

(a) only sell the Notes at the Issue Price specified in the applicable 

Final Terms (unless otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer);  

(b) only sell the Notes for settlement on the Issue Date specified in the 

applicable Final Terms;  

(c) not appoint any sub-distributors (unless otherwise agreed with the 

relevant Dealer);  
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(d) not pay any fee or remuneration or commissions or benefits to any 

third parties in relation to the offering or sale of the Notes (unless 

otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer); and  

(e) comply with such other rules of conduct as may be reasonably 

required and specified by the relevant Dealer; and 

XV. either (a) obtain from each potential Investor an executed application for the 

Notes, or (b) keep a record of all requests the relevant financial intermediary 

(x) makes for its discretionary management clients, (y) receives from its 

advisory clients and (z) receives from its execution-only clients, in each 

case prior to making any order for the Notes on their behalf, and in each 

case maintain the same on its files for so long as is required by any 

applicable Rules; 

(B) agrees and undertakes to each of the Issuer and the relevant Dealer that if it or any of 

its respective directors, officers, employees, agents, affiliates and controlling 

persons (each a Relevant Party) incurs any losses, liabilities, costs, claims, charges, 

expenses, actions or demands (including reasonable costs of investigation and any 

defence raised thereto and counsel's fees and disbursements associated with any 

such investigation or defence) (a Loss) arising out of or in relation to, or in 

connection with, any breach of any of the foregoing agreements, representations, 

warranties or undertakings by the relevant financial intermediary, including (without 

limitation) any unauthorised action by the relevant financial intermediary or failure 

by it to observe any of the above restrictions or requirements or the making by it of 

any unauthorised representation or the giving or use by it of any information which 

has not been authorised for such purposes by the Issuer or the relevant Dealer, the 

relevant financial intermediary shall pay to the Issuer or the relevant Dealer, as the 

case may be, an amount equal to the Loss. None of the Issuer nor any Dealer shall 

have any duty or obligation, whether as fiduciary or trustee for any Relevant Party 

or otherwise, to recover any such payment or to account to any other person for any 

amounts paid to it under this provision; and 

(C) agrees and accepts that: 

I. the contract between the Issuer and the relevant financial intermediary 

formed upon acceptance by the relevant financial intermediary of the 

Issuer's offer to use the Prospectus with its consent in connection with the 

relevant Non-exempt Offer (the Authorised Offeror Contract), and any 

non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the 

Authorised Offeror Contract, shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with, English law; 

II. subject to (IV) below, the English courts have exclusive jurisdiction to settle 

any dispute arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror 

Contract (including any dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations 

arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror Contract) 

(a Dispute) and the Issuer and the relevant financial intermediary submit to 

the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts; 

III. for the purposes of (C)(II) and (IV), the relevant financial intermediary 

waive any objection to the English courts on the grounds that they are an 

inconvenient or inappropriate forum to settle any dispute; 
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IV. to the extent allowed by law, the Issuer and each relevant Dealer may, in 

respect of any Dispute or Disputes, take (a) proceedings in any other court 

with jurisdiction; and (b) concurrent proceedings in any number of 

jurisdictions; and 

V. each relevant Dealer will, pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

Act 1999, be entitled to enforce those provisions of the Authorised Offeror 

Contract which are, or are expressed to be, for their benefit, including the 

agreements, representations, warranties, undertakings and indemnity given 

by the financial intermediary pursuant to the Authorised Offeror Terms. 

Any Authorised Offeror falling within (a) above who meets the conditions set out in (b) and the other 

conditions stated in Common Conditions to Consent below and who wishes to use this Prospectus in 

connection with a Non-exempt Offer is required, for the duration of the relevant Offer Period, to 

publish on its website the Acceptance Statement. 

Common Conditions to Consent 

The conditions to the Issuer's consent to the use of this Prospectus in the context of the relevant Non-exempt 

Offer are (in addition to the conditions described in paragraph (b) above if Part B of the applicable Final 

Terms specifies "General Consent" as "Applicable") that such consent: 

(a) is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(b) only extends to the use of this Prospectus to make Non-exempt Offers of the relevant Tranche of 

Notes in Luxembourg, as specified in the applicable Final Terms;  

The consent referred to above only relates to Offer Periods (if any) occurring within 12 months from the date 

of this Prospectus. 

The only Relevant Member States which may, in respect of any Tranche of Notes, be specified in the 

applicable Final Terms (if any Relevant Member States are so specified) as indicated in (b) above, will be 

Luxembourg and accordingly each Tranche of Notes may only be offered to Investors as part of a Non-

exempt Offer in Luxembourg, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, or otherwise in circumstances in 

which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. 

ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS 

AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO PURCHASE OR PURCHASING ANY NOTES IN A NON-

EXEMPT OFFER FROM AN AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND 

SALES OF SUCH NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE 

MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER IN PLACE 

BETWEEN SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING 

ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS, EXPENSES AND 

SETTLEMENT.  THE ISSUER WILL NOT BE A PARTY TO ANY SUCH ARRANGEMENTS 

WITH SUCH INVESTORS IN CONNECTION WITH THE NON-EXEMPT OFFER OR SALE OF 

THE NOTES CONCERNED AND, ACCORDINGLY, THIS PROSPECTUS AND ANY FINAL 

TERMS WILL NOT CONTAIN SUCH INFORMATION.  THE RELEVANT INFORMATION 

WILL BE PROVIDED BY THE AUTHORISED OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER.  

NONE OF THE ISSUER OR, FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, ANY DEALER HAS ANY 

RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF THE INFORMATION 

DESCRIBED ABOVE. 
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OVERVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The following information presents an overview of relevant financial consolidated data in relation to the 

Issuer extracted without material adjustments from its audited consolidated annual accounts for the financial 

years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS).  These financial consolidated data should be read in 

conjunction with the respective annual accounts which are incorporated in this Prospectus by reference. 

Overview of Consolidated Financial Information of the Issuer 

(amounts in thousands of euro) 

 

 31 December 2014 31 December 2015 

Total Assets 41,211,045 42,811,472 

Deposits measured at amortised cost – Customers and public 

sector 

25,068,145 26,923,488 

Total Equity – Group share 4,162,456 4,149,669 

Debt Certificates issued 6,276,226 5,791,365 

Operating Income 609,896 639,226 

Net Income 275,088 274,988 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

The following documents which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this 

Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this 

Prospectus: 

(a) the audited consolidated annual accounts of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 

2015 (in French), together with the independent auditor's report thereon, including the information 

set out at the following pages in particular: 

 

Balance Sheet Pages 23 to 24 

Income Statement Pages 25 

Comprehensive Income Statement Page 26 

Changes in Equity Statement Page 27 

Cash Flow Statements Pages 28 to 30 

Notes to the Annual Accounts Pages 32 to 129 

Independent Auditor's Report Pages 20 to 21 

List of subsidiaries included in the consolidation scope Pages 35 to 36 

Any other information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list above 

is considered to be additional information to be disclosed to investors rather than information 

required by the relevant Annexes of the Prospectus Regulation (as defined below); 

(b) the audited consolidated annual accounts of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 

2014 (in French), together with the independent auditor's report thereon, including the information 

set out at the following pages in particular: 

 

Balance Sheet Pages 22 to 23 

Income Statement Pages 24 

Comprehensive Income Statement Page 25 

Changes in Equity Statement Page 26 

Cash Flow Statements Pages 27 to 29 

Notes to the Annual Accounts Pages 31 to 126 

Independent Auditor's Report Pages 19 to 20 

List of subsidiaries included in the consolidation scope Pages 34 to 35 

Any other information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list above 

is considered to be additional information to be disclosed to investors rather than information 

required by the relevant Annexes of the Prospectus Regulation; 

(c) an English translation of the original version in French of the audited consolidated annual accounts 

of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, together with the independent auditor's 

report thereon, including the information set out at the following pages in particular: 

 

Balance Sheet Pages 19 to 20 

Income Statement Pages 21 

Comprehensive Income Statement Page 22 

Changes in Equity Statement Page 23 

Cash Flow Statements Pages 24 to 26 

Notes to the Annual Accounts Pages 27 to 116 

Independent Auditor's Report Page 18 

List of subsidiaries included in the consolidation scope Pages 28 to 29 
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Any other information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list above 

is considered to be additional information to be disclosed to investors rather than information 

required by the relevant Annexes of the Prospectus Regulation. The Issuer takes responsibility for 

the accuracy of the translation; 

(d) an English translation of the original version in French of the audited consolidated annual accounts 

of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2014, together with the independent auditor's 

report thereon, including the information set out at the following pages in particular: 

 

Balance Sheet Pages 17 to 18 

Income Statement Pages 19 

Comprehensive Income Statement Page 20 

Changes in Equity Statement Page 21 

Cash Flow Statements Pages 22 to 24 

Notes to the Annual Accounts Pages 25 to 112 

Independent Auditor's Report Page 16 

List of subsidiaries included in the consolidation scope Pages 26 to 27 

Any other information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list above 

is considered to be additional information to be disclosed to investors rather than information 

required by the relevant Annexes of the Prospectus Regulation. The Issuer takes responsibility for 

the accuracy of the translation; 

(e) the Terms and Conditions of the Notes contained in the Base Prospectus dated 30 June 2014 on 

pages 137 to 212 (inclusive) prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Programme; and 

(f) the Terms and Conditions of the Notes contained in the Base Prospectus dated 30 June 2015 on 

pages 143 to 219 (inclusive) prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Programme. 

Following the publication of this Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and 

approved by the CSSF in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.  Statements 

contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) 

shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify 

or supersede statements contained in this Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by 

reference in this Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so 

modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. 

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus can be obtained free of charge 

from the specified office of the Issuer. This Prospectus and each document incorporated by reference 

will also be published on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's website (www.bourse.lu). 

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for an 

investor or are otherwise covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus. 

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 

information included in this Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, 

prepare a supplement to this Prospectus or publish a new Prospectus for use in connection with any 

subsequent issue of Notes. 

http://www.bourse.lu/
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME 

The following general description of the Programme does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its 

entirety by the remainder of this Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of a particular 

Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing 

Supplement).  The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than 

that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions, in which event, in the case of Notes other than Exempt Notes 

and, if appropriate, a supplement to the Prospectus or a new Prospectus will be published.  This General 

Description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of 

Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive (the Prospectus 

Regulation). Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the 

Notes" shall have the same meanings in this general description. 

 

Issuer: Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg 

Description of the Programme: Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

Arranger: Citigroup Global Markets Limited 

Dealers: Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. 

 BNP Paribas 

 Citigroup Global Markets Limited 

 Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank 

 Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch 

 Goldman Sachs International 

 J.P. Morgan Securities plc 

 Merrill Lynch International 

 Mizuho International plc 

 Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc 

 UBS Limited 

Principal Paying Agent and Agent 

Bank: 

Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg 

Issuing Agent and Paying Agent: Citibank, N.A., London Branch 

Distribution: Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement 

and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. 

Currencies: Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, Notes 

may be denominated in such currencies as may be agreed between 

the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, including, without limitation, 

U.S. dollars, euro, Sterling and Japanese Yen (as indicated in the 

applicable Final Terms or, in the case of Exempt Notes, Pricing 

Supplement). 

Form of Notes: The Notes will be issued in bearer form as described in "Form of 

the Notes". 

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be 

agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in 

the applicable Final Terms or, in the case of Exempt Notes, Pricing 

Supplement) and on redemption, and will be calculated on the 

basis of such Fixed Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between 
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the Issuer and the relevant Dealer. 

 Fixed Rate Notes may also include an interest step-up provision 

whereby the Rate of Interest payable increases at pre-determined 

periods to a pre-determined percentage per annum as indicated in 

the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, 

Pricing Supplement). 

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined: 

 (a) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional 

interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified 

Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 

2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International 

Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended 

and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the 

Notes of the relevant Series); or 

 (b) on the basis of a reference rate (being either LIBOR or 

EURIBOR) indicated in the applicable Final Terms (or, in 

the case of Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement). 

 The Margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed 

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each series of 

Floating Rate Notes. 

Index Linked Redemption Notes, 

Equity Linked Redemption Notes and 

Inflation Linked Interest Notes: 

Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked Redemption 

Notes or of interest in respect of Inflation Linked Interest Notes 

will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula or to 

changes in the prices of securities or commodities or to such other 

factors as indicated in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of 

Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement). 

Other provisions in relation to Floating 

Rate Notes: 

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a 

minimum interest rate or both. 

 Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, 

as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will 

be payable on such Interest Payment Dates and will be calculated 

on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed 

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer. 

Range Accrual and Dual Range 

Accrual Notes: 

Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes bear interest if a 

certain reference rate or a combination of reference rates does not 

equal or exceed or fall below certain parameters, as indicated in 

the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, 

Pricing Supplement). 

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their 

nominal amount and will not bear interest other than in the case of 

late payment. 
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FORM OF THE NOTES 

Any reference in this section to "applicable Final Terms" shall be deemed to include a reference to 

"applicable Pricing Supplement" where relevant. 

Each Tranche of Notes will initially be represented by a temporary global Note (a Temporary Global Note) 

without receipts, interest coupons or talons or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a permanent 

global Note (a Permanent Global Note and, together with a Temporary Global Note, each a Global Note) 

which, in either case will be: 

(a) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the 

applicable Final Terms, delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common 

safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear SA/NV (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking 

S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg); or 

(b) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, delivered on or prior to the original 

issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for Euroclear and 

Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Where the Global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are in NGN form, the applicable Final Terms will 

also indicate whether or not such Global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would allow 

Eurosystem eligibility.  Any indication that the Global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily mean that 

the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy 

and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times during their life as such 

recognition depends upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.  The Common Safekeeper for 

NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved by Euroclear and 

Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal and interest (if any) due 

prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global 

Note if the Temporary Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that 

certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in the Temporary 

Global Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required 

by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and 

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the 

certifications it has received) to the Principal Paying Agent.  Any reference in this section "Form of the 

Notes" to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to 

include a reference to any additional or alternative clearance system approved by the Issuer, the Issuing 

Agent and the Agent. 

On and after the date (the Exchange Date) which is 40 days after the date on which any Temporary Global 

Note is issued, interests in such Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request 

as described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Global Note of the same Series or (ii) for definitive 

Notes of the same Series, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons attached (as indicated in the 

applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the 

applicable Final Terms) in each case against certification of beneficial ownership as described above unless 

such certification has already been given.  The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to 

collect any payment of interest or principal due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, 

exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for definitive Notes is 

improperly withheld or refused.   

Payments of principal and interest (if any) on a Permanent Global Note will be made through Euroclear 

and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent 



 

 61  

 

Global Note (if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form)) without any 

requirement for certification. 

The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), 

in whole (but not in part), for definitive Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons 

attached either (a) upon not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Global Note) to the 

Principal Paying Agent or (b) only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event, in each case as described 

therein and as specified in the applicable Final Terms.  Exchange Event means (a) an Event of Default has 

occurred and is continuing, (b) the Issuer has been notified that Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 

have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory 

or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no 

alternative clearing system is available or (c) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts 

as provided for or referred to in Condition 7 which would not be required were the Notes represented by the 

Permanent Global Note in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance 

with Condition 13 if an Exchange Event occurs.  In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, 

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such 

Permanent Global Note) may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange and in the event 

of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (c) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the 

Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange.  Any such exchange shall occur not later than 60 days after the 

date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent.  Global Notes and definitive Notes 

will be issued pursuant to the Agency Agreement. 

The following legend will appear on all Notes (other than Temporary Global Notes) and definitive Notes 

which have an original maturity of more than one year and on all receipts, interest coupons and talons 

relating to such Notes: 

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO 

LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE 

LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE 

CODE." 

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to 

deduct any loss on Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment in 

respect of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes, receipts 

or interest coupons. 

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and 

procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be. 

General 

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below) the 

Issuing Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued, the Notes of such Tranche shall  

be assigned a common code and ISIN by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg which are different from 

the common code and ISIN assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until at least 40 days 

(as notified by the Issuing Agent to the relevant Dealer(s)) after the completion of the distribution of the 

Notes of such Tranche. 

A Senior Note may be accelerated automatically by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in 

Condition 9. In such circumstances, where any Senior Note is governed by English law and is still 

represented by a Global Note and a holder of such Note so represented and credited to his securities account 

with Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg gives notice that it wishes to accelerate such Note, unless within 

a period of seven days from the giving of such notice payment has been made in full of the amount due in 

accordance with the terms of such Global Note, such Global Note will become void.  At the same time, 
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holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg, as the case may be, will become entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of 

statements of account provided by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on and subject to the terms of 

a deed of covenant (the Deed of Covenant) dated 28 June 2013, executed by the Issuer. 

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, 

be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the applicable 

Final Terms. 

Under Luxembourg law, owners of interests in a Global Note governed by Luxembourg law will, subject to 

proof of ownership of such interest, be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer either individually or, 

following the appointment of a Noteholders' representative, collectively through such representative, 

pursuant to articles 86 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg act dated 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as 

amended (the Companies Act 1915) and the law of 1 August 2001 on the circulation of securities and other 

fungible instruments.  

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes, in which event, other than where such Notes are Exempt Notes, a new Prospectus or 

a supplement to the Prospectus will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement 

reached in relation to such Notes. 
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APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS (RETAIL) 

NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF LESS THAN €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY 

OTHER CURRENCY), OTHER THAN EXEMPT NOTES 

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes which are not 

Exempt Notes and which have a denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other 

currency) issued under the Programme. 

[Date] 

BANQUE ET CAISSE D'EPARGNE DE L'ETAT, LUXEMBOURG 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 

under the U.S.$8,000,000,000 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

 

 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the 

Notes (the Conditions) set forth in the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016 [and the supplement[s] to the 

Prospectus dated [date[s]]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of 

the Prospectus Directive (the Prospectus).  This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes 

described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction 

with the Prospectus [as so supplemented].  Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only 

available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Prospectus.  A summary of the Notes 

(which comprises the summary in the Prospectus as amended to reflect the provisions of these Final Terms) 

is annexed to these Final Terms.  The Prospectus is available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange (www.bourse.lu), and copies may be obtained from the Issuer's registered office at, 1-2 Place de 

Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg and from Citibank, N.A., London Branch at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, 

Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB. 

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was 

issued under a Prospectus with an earlier date. 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the 

Notes (the Conditions) set forth in the Prospectus dated [30 June 2015]/[30 June 2014] which are 

incorporated by reference in the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016.  This document constitutes the Final Terms 

of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in 

conjunction with the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016 [and the supplement[s] to the Prospectus dated 

[date[s]]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus 

Directive (the Prospectus).  Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the 

basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Prospectus.  A summary of the Notes (which 

comprises the summary in the Prospectus as amended to reflect the provisions of these Final Terms) is 

annexed to these Final Terms.  The Prospectus is available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and copies may be obtained from the Issuer's registered office at, 1-2 Place de 

Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg and from Citibank, N.A., London Branch at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, 

Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB.] 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable".  Note that the numbering should 

remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs 

(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted).  Italics 

denote directions for completing the Final Terms.] 
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[When adding any other final terms or information consideration should be given as to whether such terms 

or information constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the 

Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.] 

 

1. (a) Series Number:  [         ] 

(b) Tranche Number:  [         ] 

(c) Date on which the Notes will be 

consolidated and form a single 

Series: 

The Notes will be consolidated and form a single 

Series with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue 

Date/the date that is 40 days after the Issue 

Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for 

interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred 

to in paragraph 27 below, which is expected to 

occur on or about [   ]][Not Applicable] 

2. Specified Currency or Currencies:  [         ] 

3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:   

(a) Series:  [         ] 

(b) Tranche:  [         ] 

(c) Units:  [         ] Units (being the equivalent of [insert 

currency]; [insert amount])][Not Applicable] 

4. Issue Price:  [         ]% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus 

accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)] 

5. (a) Specified Denominations:  [         ] 

(b) Calculation Amount (in relation to 

calculation of interest in global form 

see Conditions):  

[         ] 

 (If only one Specified Denomination, insert the 

Specified Denomination.  If more than one Specified 

Denomination, insert the highest common factor.  

N.B.: There must be a common factor in the case of 

two or more Specified Denominations)  

6. (a) Issue Date:  [         ] 

(b) Interest Commencement Date:  [specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable] 

 (N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be 

relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero 

Coupon Notes)  

7. Maturity Date:  [Fixed Rate Note – specify date/Floating Rate Note 

or any other Note where the Interest Period end 

date(s) are adjusted – Interest Payment Date falling 

in or nearest to [specify month]] 
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8. Interest Basis: [[         ]% Fixed Rate] [subject to interest rate step-

up as specified in subparagraph 13(h) below] 

 [[[         ]month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] +/-[         ]% Floating Rate]  

 [Zero Coupon] 

 [[         ]% Fixed Rate] [[_] month 

[LIBOR/EURIBOR] [+/–][_] per cent. Floating 

Rate] Range Accrual/Dual Range Accrual]  

 [Inflation Linked Interest]  

 See paragraph [13/14/15/16/17] below 

9. Redemption/Payment Basis:  [Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early 

redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the 

Maturity Date at [    ]% of their nominal amount] 

 [Index Linked Redemption]  

 [Equity Linked Redemption] 

 (N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 

100%. of the nominal value the Notes will be 

derivative securities for the purposes of the 

Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex 

XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulation will 

apply)  

10. Change of Interest Basis or 

Redemption/Payment Basis:  

[Specify the date when e.g. any fixed to floating rate 

change occurs or cross refer to paragraphs 13 and 

14 below and identify there] [Not Applicable]  

11. Put/Call Options:   

 [Investor Put] 

 [Issuer Call] 

 [(see paragraph 21/22)] 

 [Not Applicable] 

12. (a) Status of the Notes:  [Senior/Subordinated] 

 (Issues of Subordinated Notes are subject to the 

prior written consent of the Ministry of Treasury of 

Luxembourg) 

(b) Date [Board] approval for issuance 

of Notes obtained:  

[[        ] [and [         ], respectively]] [Not 

Applicable] 

 (N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) 

authorisation is required for the particular tranche 

of Notes) 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 
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(a) Rate(s) of Interest:  [        ]% per annum payable [in arrear on each 

Interest Payment Date]  

 [For interest step–up Notes: [        ]% per annum 

commencing on (and including) the Interest 

Commencement Date until (but not including) 

[date] 

 [        ]% per annum commencing on (and 

including) [date] until (but not including) [date]14 

 [        ]% per annum commencing on (and 

including) [date] until (but not including) the 

Maturity Date]]] 

(b) Interest Payment Date(s):  [         ] in each year up to and including the 

Maturity Date] 

 (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular 

coupons) 

(c) Interest Period End Date(s): [         ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified 

Following Business Day Convention/Preceding 

Business Day Convention] specify any applicable 

Additional Business Centre(s) for the definition of 

Business Day]/[not adjusted] 

(d) Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for Notes 

in definitive form (and in relation to 

Notes in global form see 

Conditions):  

[         ] per Calculation Amount  

(e) [Initial/Final] Broken Amount(s) for 

Notes in definitive form (and in 

relation to Notes in global form see 

Conditions):  

[[         ] per Calculation Amount, payable on the 

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [         ]/[Not 

Applicable] 

(f) Fixed Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/360, 30/360, 360/360, Bond Basis, 

30E/360, Eurobond Basis, Actual/365 (Fixed), 

Actual/Actual (ICMA)] (Note that if interest is not 

payable on a regular basis (for example, if there are 

Broken Amounts specified) Actual/Actual (ICMA) 

will not be a suitable Fixed Day Count Fraction) 

(g) Determination Date(s):  [[         ] in each year] [Not Applicable] 

 (Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is 

Actual/Actual (ICMA).  In such a case, insert 

regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date 

or maturity date in the case of a long or short first 

or last coupon)  

(h) Interest rate step-up: [Applicable, for further details see paragraph 13(a) 

                                                   
14

  Further periods to be inserted as necessary. 
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above /Not Applicable] 

14. Floating Rate Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Interest Period End Dates:  [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/[not adjusted] 

(b) Interest Payment Dates:  [          ] 

(c) Additional Business Centre(s):   

(i) For fixing:  [          ] [Not Applicable] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates:  

[          ] [Not Applicable] 

(d) Manner in which the Rate of Interest 

and Interest Amount is to be 

determined:  

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA 

Determination/CMS Rate Determination] 

(e) Party responsible for calculating the 

Rate of Interest and Interest Amount 

(if not the Agent):  

[          ] 

(f) Screen Rate Determination:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Reference Rate:  [          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR] 

(ii) Interest Determination 

Date(s):  

[          ] 

 (Second London business day prior to the start of 

each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling 

or euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if 

Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the 

TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 

Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)  

(iii) Relevant Screen Page:  [          ] 

 (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters 

EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a 

composite rate or amend the fallback provisions 

appropriately) 

(g) ISDA Determination:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Floating Rate Option:  [          ] 

(ii) Designated Maturity:  [          ] 
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(iii) Reset Date:  [          ] 

 (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, 

the first day of the Interest Period) 

(h) CMS Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) CMS Screen Page: [Condition 4.2(b)(iii) applies/[        ]] 

(ii) Interest Determination Date: [Condition 4.2(b)(iii) applies/[        ]/] 

(iii) Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States dollar/Yen] 

(iv) Designated Maturity: [[        ]] 

(v) Calculation Agent: [Agent/named Manager/other] 

(i) Linear Interpolation: [Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of interest 

for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall 

be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for 

each short or long interest period)]  

(j) Margin(s):  [+/-] [          ]% per annum  

(k) Minimum Rate of Interest:  [[          ]% per annum] [Not Applicable]  

(l) Maximum Rate of Interest:  [[          ]% per annum] [Not Applicable] 

(m) Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/Actual  

 Actual/Actual (ISDA)  

 Actual/365 (Fixed)  

 Actual/Actual (ICMA)  

 Actual/360  

 30/360  

 360/360  

 Bond Basis  

 30E/360  

 Eurobond Basis  

 30E/360 (ISDA)] 

15. Zero Coupon Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Accrual Yield:  [        ]% per annum  

(b) Reference Price:  [        ] 

(c) Day Count Fraction in relation to 

Early Redemption Amounts:  

[30/360] 

[Actual/360] 

[Actual/365] 

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)] 

16. Inflation Linked Interest Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
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 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Screen Page: [         ] 

(b) Cap Level 

(c) Floor Level 

(d) Multiplier 

[ ]% 

[ ]% 

[ ]% 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating the interest due: 

[         ] (N.B. Specify name and, if the Notes are 

derivative securities to which Annex XII of the 

Prospectus Directive Regulation applies, address) 

(f) Interest Period End Dates:  [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/not adjusted] 

(g) Interest Payment Dates: [         ] 

(h) Interest Determination Date(s): [         ] 

(i) Additional Business Centre(s): [         ] 

(j) Minimum Rate of Interest: [         ]% per annum]/[Not Applicable] 

(k) Maximum Rate of Interest: [     ]% per annum]/[Not Applicable] 

(l) Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  

 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis]  

 [30E/360 (ISDA)] 

(m) Cut-Off Date: [         ]/[Not Applicable] 

(n) Related Bond: [         ]/[Fall Back Bond] 

(o) Issuer of Related Bond: [         ]/[Not Applicable] 

(p) Fall Back Bond: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(q) Index Sponsor: [         ] 

(r) Related Bond Redemption Event: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
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(s) Scheduled Trading Day: [         ] 

17. Range Accrual Note Provisions: [Fixed Rate Range Accrual Note] 

[Floating Rate Range Accrual Note] 

[Fixed Rate Dual Range Accrual Note] 

[Floating Rate Dual Range Accrual Note] 

[CMS Range Accrual Note] 

[Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(The following is applicable in relation to Fixed Rate Range Accrual Notes, Fixed Rate Dual Range Accrual 

Notes or CMS Range Accrual Notes that bear fixed rate interest) 

(a) Fixed Rate: [         ]% per annum payable in arrear on each 

Interest Payment Date 

(b) Interest Payment Date(s): [         ] in each year up to and including the 

Maturity Date [adjusted in accordance with 

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified 

Following Business Day Convention/Preceding 

Business Day Convention] specify any applicable 

Additional Business Centre(s) for the definition of 

Business Day]/[not adjusted] 

 (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular 

coupons) 

(c) Interest Period End Date(s): [        ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified 

Following Business Day Convention/Preceding 

Business Day Convention] specify any applicable 

Additional Business Centre (s)/not adjusted] 

(d) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/360, 30/360, Bond Basis, 30E/360, 

Eurobond Basis, Actual/365 (Fixed), Actual/Actual 

(ICMA)] 

(e) Determination Dates: [[         ] in each year] [Not Applicable] (insert 

regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date 

or maturity date in the case of a long or short first 

or last coupon.  N.B. only relevant where Day 

Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)) 

(The following is applicable in relation to Floating Rate Range Accrual Notes, Floating Rate Dual Range 

Accrual Notes or CMS Range Accrual Notes that bear floating rate interest) 

(f) Interest Period End Dates: [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 
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Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/[not adjusted] 

(g) Interest Payment Dates: [         ] 

(h) Additional Business Centre(s): [         ] 

(i) For fixing: [          ] [Not Applicable] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates: 

[          ] [Not Applicable] 

(i) Manner in which the Rate(s) of 

Interest and Interest Amount to be 

determined: 

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(j) Screen Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Reference Rate: 
[         ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] 

(ii) Interest Determination 

Date(s): 

[         ] 

 (Second London business day prior to the start of 

each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling 

or euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if 

Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the 

TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 

Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR) 

(iii) Relevant Screen Page: [         ] 

 (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters 

EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a 

composite rate or amend the fallback provisions 

appropriately) 

(k) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Floating Rate Option: [          ] 

(ii) Designated Maturity: [          ] 

(iii) Reset Date: [          ] 

 (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, 

the first day of the Interest Period) 

(l) Margin(s): [+/-][         ]% per annum 

(m) Minimum Rate of Interest: [         ]% per annum 

(n) Maximum Rate of Interest: [         ]% per annum 
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(o) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual  

 Actual/Actual (ISDA)  

 Actual/365 (Fixed)  

 Actual/Actual (ICMA)  

 Actual/360  

 30/360  

 360/360  

 Bond Basis  

 30E/360  

 Eurobond Basis  

 30E/360 (ISDA)] 

(The following must be completed in relation to all Range Accrual Notes (other than Dual Range Accrual 

Notes)) 

(p) Additional Business Centre(s): [  ] 

(q) Upper Range: [         ]% 

 (If the Upper Range adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(r) Lower Range: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(s) Range Accrual Reference Rate: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(A) Screen Rate Determination:  

 Reference Rate: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 
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 Range Accrual 

Reference Rate 

Determination 

Date(s): 

[Observation Date/specify other period] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(B) ISDA Determination:  

 Floating Rate 

Option: 

[         ] 

 Designated 

Maturity: 

[         ] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(t) Calculation Agent:  [give name (and, if the Notes are derivative 

securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus 

Directive Regulation applies, address)]  

(u) Autoswitch: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs) 

(i) Target Rate: [         ]% 

(ii) Switch Rate: [         ]% 

(The following must be completed in relation to Dual Range Accrual Notes) 

(v) Additional Business Centre(s): [  ] 

(w) Upper Range1: [         ]% 

 (If the Upper Range1 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range1 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(x) Lower Range1: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range1 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range1 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(y) Upper Range2: [         ]% 
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 (If the Upper Range2 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range2 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(z) Lower Range2: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range2 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range2 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(aa) Range Accrual Reference Rate: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(A) Screen Rate Determination:  

 Reference Rate1: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page for Reference 

Rate1: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Reference Rate2: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate/CMS Formula Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Formula Rate) 

 Reference Currency1: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity1: [          ] 
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 Reference Currency2: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity2: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page Reference 

Rate2: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Range Accrual 

Reference Rate 

Determination 

Date(s): 

[Observation Date/specify other period] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(B) ISDA Determination:  

 Floating Rate 

Option: 

[         ] 

 Designated 

Maturity: 

[         ] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(bb) Calculation Agent:  [give name (and, if the Notes are derivative 

securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus 

Directive Regulation applies, address)]  

(cc) Autoswitch: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs) 

(i) Target Rate: [         ]% 

(ii) Switch Rate: [         ]% 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

18. Index Linked Redemption Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Index/Indices: [         ] 

 (If more than one, refer to as Index1, Index2 etc.) 

(b) Screen Page: (Specify if applicable, or give the sources of 

observation for each index) 

(c) Component Transactions: [         ] 
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(d) Formula: [Autocall [In the case of Autocall specify Autocall 

Trigger Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, 

Percentage Multiplier: [         ]% for Observation 

Date(1), [         ]% for Observation Date(2) etc.  Lower 

Threshold Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, 

Lower Threshold Multiplier: [         ]%, Threshold 

Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, Threshold 

Multiplier: [         ]% and Final Percentage 

Multiplier: [         ]%]/[Autocall with Spread [In the 

case of Autocall with Spread specify: Autocall 

Trigger Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, 

Multiplier: [         ]% and Final Percentage 

Multiplier: [         ]%/[Lookback [In the case of 

Lookback specify Multiplier: [         ]%, Floor 

Level: [         ] and x: [         ]] [Short-term Lookback 

[In the case of Short-term Lookback specify 

Multiplier: [         ]%, Short-term Lookback 

Multiplier: [         ]%, Cap Level: [         ], Floor 

Level: [         ] and x:[          ]] [Double Win [In the 

case of Double Win specify. Barrier Level 

Multiplier: [         ]%, Cap Level: [         ]%, Floor 

Level: [         ] and Final Valuation Date: [         ]] 

[Triple Index [In the case of Triple Index specify 

Multiplier: [         ]%] [Asian Call [In the case of 

Asian Call specify Multiplier: [         ]%, Cap Level: 

[         ]% and Floor Level: [         ]%] 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating the redemption amount 

due: 

[         ] (N.B. Specify name and, if the Notes are 

derivative securities to which Annex XII of the 

Prospectus Directive Regulation applies, address) 

(f) Settlement Price: 

 

(g) Relevant Level: 

[         ] 

Index Currency: [         ] 

[The official closing level for the  Index/Indices] 

[the official fixing eventually calculated and/or 

published by the Index Sponsor] [the Valuation 

Method] 

(h) Valuation Date: [         ] 

(i) Valuation Method:  [Highest]/[Average Highest]/[Market Value] 

(j) Quotation Method: [Bid]/[Mid]/[Ask] 

(k) Quotation Amount: [         ]/[As set out in Condition 19] 

(l) Averaging: Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes. 

 [The Averaging Dates are [         ].] 

 [In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted 

Day [Omission/Postponement/Modified 
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Postponement] will apply.] 

 [Modified Postponement is applicable] 

 (only applicable if Modified Postponement is 

applicable as an Averaging election) 

 [Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to: [         ]/[eight]] 

 (if no Specified Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(m) Observation Date(s): [Observation Date(1): [         ], Observation Date(2): 

[         ] etc.] [Not Applicable].] [In the event that an 

Observation Date is a Disrupted Day 

[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply.] 

(n) Early Redemption Date(s) 

corresponding to Observation 

Date(s): 

[Early Redemption Date(1): [         ], Early 

Redemption Date(2): [         ] etc.] 

(o) Observation Period: [Specify/Not Applicable] 

(p) Exchange Business Day: [         ] 

(q) Scheduled Trading Day: [         ] 

(r) Exchange(s) and Index Sponsor: (i) the relevant Exchange[s] [is/are] [         ] 

and 

 (ii) the relevant Index Sponsor is [         ]. 

(s) Related Exchange: [Specify/Each exchange or quotation system on 

which option contracts or futures contracts relating 

such Index is traded/All Exchanges] 

(t) Relevant Time: [Scheduled Closing Time/Any time [on the 

Valuation Date/during the Observation Period.] 

[The relevant time is [         ], being the time 

specified on the Valuation Date or an Averaging 

Date, as the case may be, for the calculation of the 

Settlement Price.] 

 (N.B. if no Relevant Time is specified, the Valuation 

Time will be the Scheduled Closing Time). 

(u) Additional Disruption Events: [(i)] The following Additional Disruption Events 

apply to the Notes: 

 (Specify each of the following which 

applies.) 

 [Change of Law] 

 [Hedging Disruption] 
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 [Increased Cost of Hedging] 

 [Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] 

 [Loss of Stock Borrow] 

 [(ii)] [The Trade Date is [         ].  [If no Trade 

Date is specified, Issue Date will be the 

Trade Date] 

 (N.B. only applicable if Change of Law 

and/or Increased Cost of Hedging is 

applicable)] 

 [(iii)] [The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect 

of [specify in relation to each 

security/commodity comprised in an Index] 

is [         ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Loss of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)] 

 [(iv)] [The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of 

[specify in relation to each 

security/commodity comprised in an Index] 

is [         ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Increased Cost of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)]] 

(v) Market Disruption:  Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to [         ]/[eight] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(w) Knock-in Event: [Not Applicable/[         ]/["greater than"/"greater 

than or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to" 

Knock-in Level]] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 [In the event that a Knock-in Determination Day is a 

Disrupted Day, [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply.] 

(i) Knock-in Level: [Specify] 

(ii) Knock-in Determination 

Day(s): 

[Specify/Each Scheduled Trading Day in the Knock-

in Determination Period] 

(iii) Knock-in Period Beginning 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(iv) Knock-in Period Ending [Not Applicable/specify] 
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Date: 

(v) Knock-in Valuation Time: [Scheduled Closing Time]/[Any time on a Knock-in 

Determination Day.] 

(x) Knock-out Event:  [Not Applicable/[         ]/["greater than"/"greater 

than or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to" 

Knock-out Level]] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 [In the event that a Knock-out Determination Day is 

a Disrupted Day, 

 [Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply] 

(i) Knock-out Level: [Specify] 

(ii) Knock-out Determination 

Day(s): 

[Specify/Each Scheduled Trading Day in the Knock-

out Determination Period] 

(iii) Knock-out Period Beginning 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(iv) Knock-out Period Ending 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(v) Knock-out Valuation Time: [Scheduled Closing Time]/[Any time on a Knock-

out Determination Day] 

(y) Automatic Early Redemption Event: [Not Applicable/[         ]/["greater than"/"greater 

than or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to"] 

Automatic Early Redemption Level] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(i) Automatic Early Redemption 

Amount: 

[Specify/See definition in Condition 19] 

(ii) Automatic Early Redemption 

Date(s): 

 

[Specify] [adjusted in accordance with [Following 

Business Day Convention/Modified Following 

Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention] specify any applicable Additional 

Business Centre (s)/not adjusted] 

(iii) Automatic Early Redemption 

Level: 

[Specify] 

(iv) Automatic Early Redemption 

Rate: 

[Specify] 

(v) Automatic Early Redemption 

Valuation Date(s): 

[Specify] 
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[In the event that Automatic Early Redemption Date 

is a Disrupted Day, 

[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply] 

19. Equity Linked Redemption Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

sub­paragraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Share(s): [         ] 

(b) ISIN of Share(s): [         ] 

(c) Strike: [         ]% of the Initial Price 

(d) Settlement Price: [         ] [As set out in Condition 20] 

 [Exchange Rate: [         ]] 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating any amount due under the 

Notes: 

[         ] (N.B. Specify name and address) 

(f) Valuation Date: [         ] 

(g) Averaging: Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes.  

[The Averaging Dates are [         ]] 

 [In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted 

Day [Omission/ Postponement/ Modified 

Postponement] will apply] 

 [Modified Postponement is applicable] 

 (only applicable if Modified Postponement is 

applicable as an Averaging election) 

 [Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to: [         ]/[eight]] 

 (if no Specified Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(h) Observation Date(s): [The Observation Date(s) is/are [         ]/Not 

Applicable]. [In the event that an Observation Date 

is a Disrupted Date 

[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply] 

(i) Observation Period: [         ] [Not Applicable] 

(j) Exchange Business Day:  [         ] 
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(k) Scheduled Trading Day:  [         ] 

(l) Exchange(s): The relevant Exchange[s] [is/are] [         ] 

(m) Related Exchange(s): [         ]/[Each exchange or quotation system on 

which option contracts or futures contracts relating 

to such Share are traded/All Exchanges] 

(n) Relevant Time: [Scheduled Closing Time/Any time [on the 

Valuation Date/during the Observation Period.]  

[The relevant time is [         ], being the time 

specified on the Valuation Date or an Averaging 

Date, as the case may be, for the calculation of the 

Settlement Price.] 

 (N.B. if no Relevant Time is specified, the Valuation 

Time will be the Scheduled Closing Time). 

(o) Additional Disruption Events: [(i)] The following Additional Disruption Events 

apply to the Notes: 

 (Specify each of the following which 

applies.) 

 [Change of Law] 

 [Hedging Disruption] 

 [Insolvency Filing] 

 [Failure to Deliver] 

 [Increased Cost of Hedging] 

 [Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] 

 [Loss of Stock Borrow] 

 [(ii)] [The Trade Date is [         ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Change of Law 

and/or Increased Cost of Hedging is 

applicable)] 

 [(iii)] [The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect 

of [specify in relation to each relevant 

Share] is [         ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Loss of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)] 

 [(iv)] [The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of 

[specify in relation to each relevant Share] 

is [         ] 

 (N.B. only applicable if Increased Cost of 

Stock Borrow is applicable)] 

(p) Market Disruption: Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to [         ]/[eight]: 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption is 
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stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(q) Delayed Redemption on Occurrence 

of Extraordinary Events: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(if not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraph of this paragraph) 

 [Rate for accrual of interest [         ]/as specified in 

Condition 20.2(c)(iii)] 

(r) Delayed Redemption on Occurrence 

of Additional Disruption Event: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(if not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraph of this paragraph) 

 [Rate for accrual of interest [         ]/as specified in 

Condition 20.5(a)(iii)] 

20. Notice periods for Condition 6.2: Minimum period: [[30] days] 

 Maximum period: [[60] days]  

21. Issuer Call: [Applicable/Not Applicable]  

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):  [          ] 

(b) Optional Redemption Amount:  [          ] per Calculation Amount  

 (N.B: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other 

than a specified amount per Calculation Amount, 

the Notes will need to be Exempt Notes) 

(c) If redeemable in part:  [Not Applicable] 

(i) Minimum Redemption 

Amount:  

[          ]  

(ii) Maximum Redemption 

Amount:  

[          ]  

(d) Notice periods:  Minimum period: [[15] days]  

 Maximum period: [[30] days]  

 (N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is 

advised to consider the practicalities of distribution 

of information through intermediaries, for example, 

clearing systems (which require a minimum of five 

clearing system business days' notice for a call) and 

custodians, as well as any other notice requirements 

which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 

and the Agent) 

22. Investor Put:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
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 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):  [         ] 

(b) Optional Redemption Amount:  [         ] per Calculation Amount 

 (N.B: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other 

than a specified amount per Calculation Amount, 

the Notes will need to be Exempt Notes) 

(c) Notice periods:  Minimum period: [[15] days] [Not Applicable] 

 Maximum period: [[30] days] [Not Applicable] 

 (N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is 

advised to consider the practicalities of distribution 

of information through intermediaries, for example, 

clearing systems (which require a minimum of 15 

clearing system business days' notice for a call) and 

custodians, as well as any other notice requirements 

which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 

and the Agent) 

23. Final Redemption Amount:  [[see paragraph [18/19] above] [         ] per 

Calculation Amount] 

 (N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 

100% of the nominal value the Notes may be 

derivative securities for the purposes of the 

Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex 

XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulation will 

apply) 

24. Early Redemption Amount payable on 

redemption for taxation reasons or on event 

of default:  

[An amount determined by the Calculation Agent, in 

its sole and absolute discretion, to be equal to the 

fair market value of the Notes immediately prior to 

the date of redemption, or minus any related 

hedging gains or costs/[         ] per Calculation 

Amount]  

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 

25. Provisions applicable to Physical Delivery: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Asset Amount: [         ] 

(b) Relevant Asset(s): [As specified above]/The relevant asset[s] to which 

the Notes relate [is/are] [         ] 

(c) Settlement Business Day(s): [         ] 
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26. Variation of Settlement: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Issuer’s option to vary settlement: The Issuer [has/does not have] the option to vary 

settlement in respect of the Notes 

(b) Variation of Settlement of Physical 

Delivery Notes: 

[Notwithstanding the fact that the Notes are 

Physical Delivery Notes, the Issuer may make 

payment of the Redemption Amount on the 

Maturity Date/The Issuer will procure delivery of 

the Asset Amount in respect of the Notes] 

27. Form of Notes:   

(a) Form:  [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a 

Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any 

time/only upon an Exchange Event]]  

 [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]  

 [Permanent Global Note exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any 

time/only upon an Exchange Event]]  

 (N.B. The exchange upon notice option should not 

be expressed to be applicable if the Specified 

Denomination of the Notes in paragraph 5 includes 

language substantially to the following effect: 

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in 

excess thereof up to and including [€199,000]." 

Furthermore, such Specified Denomination 

construction is not permitted in relation to any issue 

of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 

Notes.) 

(b) New Global Note:  [Yes] [No] 

28. Additional Financial Centre(s):  [Not Applicable/give details] 

 (Note that this paragraph relates to the date of 

payment and not Interest Period End Dates to 

which subparagraphs 14(c) and 17(e) relate) 

29. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to 

Definitive Notes:  

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon 

payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange 

into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments 

are still to be made/No] 

30. Governing law:  [English/Luxembourg] 
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 (N.B.: Subordinated Notes must be governed by 

Luxembourg law)  

 

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION 

[Relevant third party information, for example in compliance with Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive 

Regulation in relation to an index or its components] has been extracted from [specify source].  The Issuer 

confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to 

ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the 

reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.] 

Signed on behalf of Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de 1'Etat, Luxembourg:  

By: ______________________  

Duly authorised 
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

 

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO 

TRADING 

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its 

behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on 

[specify relevant regulated market (for example, the 

Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the 

London Stock Exchange's regulated market or the 

Regulated Market of the Irish Stock Exchange) and, if 

relevant, listing on an official list (for example, the 

Official List of the UK Listing Authority)] with effect 

from [         ].]  

 [Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or 

on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on 

[specify relevant regulated market (for example, the 

Bourse de Luxembourg, the London Stock Exchange's 

regulated market or the Regulated Market of the Irish 

Stock Exchange) and, if relevant, listing on an official 

list (for example, the Official List of the UK Listing 

Authority)] with effect from [         ].] [Not Applicable]  

2. RATINGS  

Ratings: [Not Applicable]/[The Notes to be issued [[have 

been]/[are expected to be]] rated ]/[The following 

ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type 

issued under the Programme generally]: 

 [insert details]] by [insert the legal name of the 

relevant credit rating agency entity(ies) and associated 

defined terms].   

 Each of [defined terms] is established in the European 

Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 

1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation). As 

such each of [defined terms] is included in the list of 

credit rating agencies published by the European 

Securities and Markets Authority on its website 

(http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-

certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA 

Regulation. 

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of 

the ratings if this has been previously published by the 

rating provider] 

 (The above disclosure should reflect the rating 

allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the 

Programme generally or, where the issue has been 

specifically rated, that rating.)  
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3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE 

[Save for any fees payable to the Manager(s)/Dealer(s), so far as the Issuer is aware, no person 

involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest including any conflicting interest material to the 

issue.  The [Manager(s)/Dealer(s)] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in 

investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services 

for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business – Amend as appropriate if there 

are other interests] 

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters 

described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to 

the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)] 

4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES 

(a) [Reasons for the offer:  [        ] 

 (See "Use of Proceeds" wording in Offering Circular – 

if reasons for offer different from making profit and/or 

hedging certain risks will need to include those 

reasons here and then also complete (b) and (c)) 

below.)] 

(b) Estimated net proceeds:  [        ] 

 (If proceeds are intended for more than one use will 

need to split out and present in order of priority.  If 

proceeds insufficient to fund all proposed uses state 

amount and sources of other funding.) 

(c) Estimated total expenses:  [        ].   

 (Expenses are required to be broken down into each 

principal intended "use" and presented in order of 

priority of such "uses") 

(N.B. If the Notes are derivative securities to which 

Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation 

applies (a) above is required where the reasons for the 

offer are different from making profit and/or hedging 

certain risks and where such reasons are inserted in 

(a) disclosure of net proceeds and total expenses at (b) 

and (c) above are also required.) 

5. YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only) 

Indication of yield: [        ] [Not Applicable] 

 The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of 

the Issue Price.  It is not an indication of future yield. 

6. HISTORIC INTEREST RATES (Floating Rate Notes only) 

Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/CMS Reference Rate] rates can be obtained from [Reuters]. 
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7. PERFORMANCE OF INDEX/SHARE, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF 

INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING 

THE UNDERLYING 

[Not Applicable]/ 

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the index/share can 

be obtained.] 

[Name of the Issuer of the underlying security: 

 

[        ] 

[N.B. this shall not be the Issuer or an 

entity belonging to the Issuer’s group] 

ISIN: [         ] 

Index name: [         ] 

Relevant weightings of each underlying in the basket: [         ] 

Source of information relating to the 

[index/indices/share]: 

[         ] 

Place where information to the [index/indices/share] 

can be obtained: 

[         ] 

8. UNDERLYING DISCLAIMER
15

 

[For use in connection with Indices (including Inflation Indices)] 

[Not Applicable] 

[The issue of this series of Notes (in this paragraph, the Transaction) is not sponsored, endorsed, 

sold, or promoted by [NAME OF INDEX] (the Index) or [NAME OF INDEX SPONSOR] (the Index 

Sponsor) and the Index Sponsor does not make any representation whatsoever, whether express or 

implied, either as to the results to be obtained from the use of the Index and/or the levels at which 

the Index stands at any particular time on any particular date or otherwise.  No Index or Index 

Sponsor shall be liable (whether in negligence or otherwise) to any person for any error in the Index.  

No Index Sponsor is making any representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the 

advisability of purchasing or assuming any risk in connection with entering into any Transaction.  

The Issuer shall not have any liability for any act or failure to act by the Index Sponsor in connection 

with the calculation, adjustment or maintenance of the Index.  Except as disclosed prior to the Issue 

Date, neither the Issuer nor its affiliates have any affiliation with or control over the Index or Index 

Sponsor. 

9. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION  

(a) ISIN:  [         ] 

(b) Common Code:  [         ] 

(c) Any clearing system(s) other than 

Euroclear and Clearstream 

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

                                                   
15

  Include for Index Linked Redemption Notes and Inflation Linked Interest Notes. 
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Luxembourg and the relevant 

identification number(s):  

(d) Names and addresses of additional 

Paying Agent(s) (if any):  

[         ] [Not Applicable] 

(e) Intended to be held in a manner 

which would allow Eurosystem 

eligibility:  

[Yes.  Note that the designation "yes" simply means 

that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited 

with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does 

not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised 

as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy 

and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem 

either upon issue or at any or all times during their life.  

Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being 

satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been 

met.] 

 [No.  Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the 

date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that 

the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may 

then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 

safekeeper.  Note that this does not necessarily mean 

that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible 

collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-

day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time 

during their life.  Such recognition will depend upon 

the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility 

criteria have been met.] 

10. DISTRIBUTION 

(a) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

(b) If syndicated, names and addresses 

of Managers and underwriting 

commitments/quotas (material 

features): 

[Not Applicable/give names and addresses and 

underwriting commitments] 

 (Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to 

underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and 

names and addresses of entities agreeing to place the 

issue without a firm commitment or on a best efforts 

basis if such entities are not the same as the 

Managers.) 

(c) Date of Subscription Agreement:  [         ] 

(d) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):  [Not Applicable/give name(s)] 

(e) If non-syndicated, name and 

address of relevant Dealer:  

[Not applicable/give name and address] 

(f) Total commission and concession:  [         ]% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount  

(g) U.S. Selling Restrictions:  [Reg. S Category 2; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not 
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applicable]  

(h) Non-exempt Offer: [Applicable] [Not Applicable] (if not applicable, 

delete the remaining placeholders of this paragraph 

(h) and also paragraph 11 below).  

(i) Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions:  [Luxembourg] 

(j) Offer Period: [Specify date] until [specify date or a description of the 

date such as "the Issue Date" or "the date which falls 

[] Business Days thereafter"] 

(k) Financial intermediaries granted 

specific consent to use the 

Prospectus in accordance with the 

Conditions in it: 

[Insert names and addresses of financial 

intermediaries receiving consent (specific consent)] 

(l) General Consent: [Applicable] [Not Applicable] 

(m) Other Authorised Offeror Terms: [Not Applicable][Add here any other Authorised 

Offeror Terms]. 

 
(Authorised Offeror Terms should only be included 

here where General Consent is applicable.) 

 (N.B. Consider any local regulatory requirements 

necessary to be fulfilled so as to be able to make a 

non-exempt offer in relevant jurisdictions.  No such 

offer should be made in any relevant jurisdiction until 

those requirements have been met.  Non-exempt offers 

may only be made into jurisdictions in which the base 

prospectus (and any supplement) has been 

notified/passported) 

11. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER  

Offer Price:  [Issue Price][Not applicable][Specify]  

[Conditions to which the offer is subject:]  [Not applicable/give details] 

[Description of the application process:]  [Not applicable/give details]  

[Details of the minimum and/or maximum 

amount of application:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Description of possibility to reduce 

subscriptions and manner for refunding 

excess amount paid by applicants:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Details of the method and time limits for 

paying up and delivering the Notes:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Manner in and date on which results of 

the offer are to be made public:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Procedure for exercise of any right of [Not applicable/give details]  
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pre-emption, negotiability of subscription 

rights and treatment of subscription rights 

not exercised:]  

[Whether tranche(s) has/have been 

reserved for certain countries:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Process for notification to applicants of 

the amount allotted and the indication 

whether dealing may begin before 

notification is made:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Amount of any expenses and taxes 

specifically charged to the subscriber or 

purchaser:]  

[Not applicable/give details]  

[Name(s)] and address(es), to the extent 

known to the Issuer, of the placers in the 

various countries where the offer takes 

place:]  

[The Authorised Offerors identified in paragraph 10 

above and identifiable from the Prospectus/None/give 

details] 

[Name and address of the entities which 

have a firm commitment to act as 

intermediaries in secondary trading, 

providing liquidity through bid and offer 

rates and description of the main terms of 

their commitment:] 

[None/give details] 

12. U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

[The Notes are [not] Specified Notes for purposes of Section 871(m).] [The Notes will not be 

Specified Notes if they (i) are issued prior to January 1, 2017 or (ii) do not reference any U.S. equity 

or any index that contains any component U.S. equity or otherwise provide direct or indirect 

exposure to U.S. equities. If the Notes are issued after January 1, 2017 and reference a U.S. equity 

or an index that contains a component U.S. equity or otherwise provide direct or indirect exposure 

to U.S. equities, further analysis would be required.] 
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ANNEX 1 

SUMMARY OF THE NOTES 

[         ] 
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APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS (WHOLESALE) 

NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY OTHER 

CURRENCY) OR MORE, OTHER THAN EXEMPT NOTES 

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes which are not 

Exempt Notes and which have a denomination of at least EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other 

currency) or more issued under the Programme. 

[Date] 

BANQUE ET CAISSE D'EPARGNE DE L'ETAT, LUXEMBOURG 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 

under the U.S.$8,000,000,000 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the 

notes (the Conditions) set forth in the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016 [and the supplement[s] to the 

Prospectus dated [date[s]]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of 

the Prospectus Directive (the Prospectus).  This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes 

described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction 

with the Prospectus [as so supplemented].  Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only 

available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Prospectus.  The Prospectus is 

available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and copies may be obtained 

from the Issuer's registered office at 1-2 place de Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg and from Citibank, N.A., 

London Branch at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB. 

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was 

issued under a Prospectus with an earlier date. 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the 

notes (the Conditions) set forth in the Prospectus dated [30 June 2015]/[30 June 2014] which are 

incorporated by reference in the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016.  This document constitutes the Final Terms 

of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in 

conjunction with the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016 [and the supplement[s] to the Prospectus dated [date[s]] 

which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive 

(the Prospectus).  Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of 

the combination of these Final Terms and the Prospectus.  The Prospectus is available on the website of the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and copies may be obtained from the Issuer's registered 

office at 1-2 place de Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg and from Citibank, N.A., London Branch at 13th Floor, 

Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB.] 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable".  Note that the numbering should 

remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs 

(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted).  Italics 

denote directions for completing the Final Terms.] 

[When adding any other final terms or information consideration should be given as to whether such terms 

or information constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the 

Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.] 
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1. (a) Series Number:  [         ] 

(b) Tranche Number:  [         ] 

(c) Date on which the Notes will be 

consolidated and form a single 

Series: 

The Notes will be consolidated and form a single 

Series with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue 

Date/the date that is 40 days after the Issue 

Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for 

interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to 

in paragraph 27 below, which is expected to occur 

on or about [         ]][Not Applicable] 

2. Specified Currency or Currencies:  [         ] 

3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:   

(a) Series:  [         ] 

(b) Tranche:  [         ] 

(c) Units:  [         ] Units (being the equivalent of [insert 

currency]; [insert amount])] [Not Applicable] 

4. Issue Price: [         ]% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus 

accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)] 

5. (a) Specified Denominations:  [         ] 

(b) Calculation Amount (in relation to 

calculation of interest in global form 

see Conditions):  

[         ] 

 (If only one Specified Denomination, insert the 

Specified Denomination. If more than one Specified 

Denomination, insert the highest common factor.  

Note: There must be a common factor in the case of 

two or more Specified Denominations.) 

6. (a) Issue Date:  [         ] 

(b) Interest Commencement Date:  [specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]  

 (N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be 

relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon 

Notes.) 

7. Maturity Date: [Fixed Rate Note – specify date/Floating Rate Note 

or any other Note where the Interest Period end 

date(s) are adjusted – Interest Payment Date falling 

in or nearest to [specify month]]  

8. Interest Basis:  [[         ]% Fixed Rate] [subject to interest rate 

step-up as specified in subparagraph 13(h) below] 

 [[[         ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] +/- [         ]% 
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 Floating Rate]] 

 [Zero Coupon]  

 [[         ]% Fixed Rate] [[         ] month 

[LIBOR/EURIBOR] [+/-][         ] per cent. Floating 

Rate] Range Accrual/Dual Range Accrual] 

 [Inflation Linked Interest]  

 (see paragraph [13/14/15/16/17] below)  

9. Redemption/Payment Basis:  [Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early 

redemption, the Notes may be redeemed on the 

Maturity Date at [    ]% of their nominal amount] 

 [Index Linked Redemption]  

 [Equity Linked Redemption]  

 (N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 

100% of the nominal value the Notes will be 

derivative securities for the purposes of the 

Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex 

XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulation will 

apply.) 

10. Change of Interest or Redemption/Payment 

Basis:  

[Specify the date when any e.g. fixed to floating rate 

change occurs or cross refer to paragraphs 13 and 

14 below and identify there] [Not applicable] 

11. Put/Call Options:  
 

 [Investor Put] 

 [Issuer Call]  

 [(see paragraph 21/22 below)]  

 [Not Applicable] 

12. (a) Status of the Notes:  [Senior/Subordinated]  

 (issues of Subordinated Notes are subject to the 

prior written consent of the Ministry of Treasury of 

Luxembourg) 

(b) Date [Board] approval for issuance 

of Notes obtained:  

[[          ] [and [        ], respectively]] [Not 

Applicable] 

 (N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) 

authorisation is required for the particular tranche 

of Notes) 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 
(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Rate(s) of Interest:  [        ]% per annum payable in arrear on each 

Interest Payment Date 

 [For interest step-up Notes: [        ]% per annum 

commencing on (and including) the Interest 
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Commencement Date until (but not including) [date] 

 [        ]% per annum commencing on (and including) 

[date] until (but not including) [date]1 

 [        ]% per annum commencing on (and including) 

[date] until (but not including) the Maturity Date]] 

(b) Interest Payment Date(s):  [        ] in each year up to and including the Maturity 

Date 

 (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular 

coupons) 

(c) Interest Period End Date(s):  [        ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified 

Following Business Day Convention/Preceding 

Business Day Convention] specify any applicable 

Additional Business Centre(s) for the definition of 

Business Day]/[not adjusted] 

(d) Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for Notes 

in definitive form (and in relation to 

Notes in global form see 

Conditions):  

[        ] per Calculation Amount  

(e) [Initial/Final] Broken Amount(s) for 

Notes in definitive form (and in 

relation to Notes in global form see 

Conditions):  

[[        ] per Calculation Amount, payable on the 

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [        ]/[Not 

applicable] 

(f) Fixed Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/360, 30/360, 360/360, Bond Basis, 30E/360, 

Eurobond Basis, Actual/365 (Fixed), Actual/Actual 

(ICMA)] (Note that if interest is not payable on a 

regular basis (for example, if there are Broken 

Amounts specified) Actual/Actual (ICMA) will not be 

a suitable Fixed Day Count Fraction) 

(g) Determination Date(s):  [[        ] in each year] [Not Applicable] 

 (Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is 

Actual/Actual (ICMA).  In such a case, insert regular 

interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or 

maturity date in the case of a long or short first or 

last coupon.)  

(h) Interest rate step-up: [Applicable, for further details see paragraph 13(a) 

above/Not Applicable] 

14. Floating Rate Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Interest Period End Dates:  [         ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

                                                   
1
  Further periods to be inserted as necessary. 
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[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/not adjusted] 

(b) Interest Payment Dates:  [         ] 

(c) Additional Business Centre(s):   

(i) For fixing:  [         ] [Not Applicable] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates:  

[         ] [Not Applicable] 

(d) Manner in which the Rate of Interest 

and Interest Amount is to be 

determined:  

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA 

Determination/CMS Rate Determination]  

(e) Party responsible for calculating the 

Rate of Interest and Interest Amount 

(if not the Agent):  

[         ]  

(f) Screen Rate Determination:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Reference Rate:  [[         ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]/CMS Reference 

Rate] 

(ii) Interest Determination 

Date(s):  

[         ] 

 (Second London business day prior to the start of 

each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or 

euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if 

Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the 

TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 

Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR) 

(iii) Relevant Screen Page:  [         ] 

 (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters 

EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a 

composite rate or amend the fallback provisions 

appropriately) 

(g) ISDA Determination:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Floating Rate Option:  [         ] 

(ii) Designated Maturity:  [         ] 

(iii) Reset Date:  [         ] 

 (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, 

the first day of the Interest Period) 

(h) CMS Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
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(i) CMS Screen Page: [Condition 4.2(b)(iii) applies/[        ]] 

(ii) Interest Determination Date: [Condition 4.2(b)(iii) applies/[        ]/] 

(iii) Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States dollar/Yen] 

(iv) Designated Maturity: [[        ]] 

(v) Calculation Agent: [Agent/named Manager/other] 

(i) Linear Interpolation: [Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of interest for 

the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be 

calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for 

each short or long interest period)]  

(j) Margin(s):  [+/-] [         ]% per annum  

(k) Minimum Rate of Interest:  [[         ]% per annum ] [Not Applicable] 

(l) Maximum Rate of Interest:  [[         ]% per annum] [Not Applicable] 

(m) Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  

 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis]  

 [30E/360 (ISDA)] 

15. Zero Coupon Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Accrual Yield:  [         ]% per annum  

(b) Reference Price:  [         ] 

(c) Any other formula/basis of 

determining amount payable:  

[         ] 

(d) Day Count Fraction in relation to 

Early Redemption Amounts:  [30/360] 

[Actual/360] 

[Actual/365] 

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)] 

16. Inflation Linked Interest Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 
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(a) Screen Page: [        ] 

(b) Cap Level: [        ]% 

(c) Floor Level:  [        ]% 

(d) Multiplier:  [        ]% 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating the interest due: 

[        ] (N.B. Specify name and, if the Notes are 

derivative securities to which Annex XII of the 

Prospectus Directive Regulation applies, address) 

(f) Interest Period End Dates:  [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance 

with [FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/not adjusted] 

(g) Interest Payment Dates: [     ] 

(h) Interest Determination Date(s): [     ] 

(i) Additional Business Centre(s): [     ] 

(j) Minimum Rate of Interest: [     ]% per annum]/[Not Applicable] 

(k) Maximum Rate of Interest: [     ]% per annum]/[Not Applicable] 

(l) Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  

 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis ] 

 [30E/360 (ISDA)] 

(m) Cut-Off Date: [        ]/[Not Applicable] 

(n) Related Bond: [        ]/[Fall Back Bond] 

(o) Issuer of Related Bond: [        ]/[Not Applicable] 

(p) Fall Back Bond: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(q) Index Sponsor: [        ] 

(r) Related Bond Redemption Event: 

(s) Scheduled Trading Day: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

[        ] 

17. Range Accrual Note Provisions: [Fixed Rate Range Accrual Note] 
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[Floating Rate Range Accrual Note] 

[Fixed Rate Dual Range Accrual Note] 

[Floating Rate Dual Range Accrual Note] 

[CMS Range Accrual Note] 

[Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(The following is applicable in relation to Fixed Rate Range Accrual Notes, Fixed Rate Dual Range Accrual 

Notes or CMS Range Accrual Notes that bear fixed rate interest) 

(a) Fixed Rate: [         ]% per annum payable in arrear on each 

Interest Payment Date 

(b) Interest Payment Date(s): [  ] in each year up to and including the Maturity 

Date [adjusted in accordance with [Following 

Business Day Convention/Modified Following 

Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention] specify any applicable Additional 

Business Centre(s) for the definition of Business 

Day]/[not adjusted] 

 (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular 

coupons) 

(c) Interest Period End Date(s): [        ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified 

Following Business Day Convention/Preceding 

Business Day Convention] specify any applicable 

Additional Business Centre (s)/not adjusted] 

(d) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/360, 30/360, Bond Basis, 30E/360, 

Eurobond Basis, Actual/365 (Fixed), Actual/Actual 

(ICMA)] 

(e) Determination Dates: [[  ] in each year] [Not Applicable] (insert regular 

interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or 

maturity date in the case of a long or short first or 

last coupon.  N.B. only relevant where Day Count 

Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)) 

(The following is applicable in relation to Floating Rate Range Accrual Notes, Floating Rate Dual Range 

Accrual Notes or CMS Range Accrual Notes that bear floating rate interest) 

(f) Interest Period End Dates: [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/[not adjusted] 
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(g) Interest Payment Dates: [          ] 

(h) Additional Business Centre(s): [          ] 

(i) For fixing: [          ] [Not Applicable] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates: 

[          ] [Not Applicable] 

(i) Manner in which the Rate(s) of 

Interest and Interest Amount to be 

determined: 

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(j) Screen Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Reference Rate: [          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR][CMS Reference 

Rate] 

(ii) Interest Determination 

Date(s): 

[          ] 

 (Second London business day prior to the start of 

each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or 

euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if 

Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the 

TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 

Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR) 

(iii) Relevant Screen Page: [          ] 

 (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters 

EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a 

composite rate or amend the fallback provisions 

appropriately) 

(iv) Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(k) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Floating Rate Option: [          ] 

(ii) Designated Maturity: [          ] 

(iii) Reset Date: [          ] 

 (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, 

the first day of the Interest Period) 

(iv) Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(l) Margin(s): [+/-][          ]% per annum 

(m) Minimum Rate of Interest: [          ]% per annum 

(n) Maximum Rate of Interest: [          ]% per annum 
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(o) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  

 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis]  

 [30E/360 (ISDA)] 

(The following must be completed in relation to all Range Accrual Notes (other than Dual Range Accrual 

Notes)) 

(p) Additional Business Centre(s): [  ] [Not Applicable] 

(q) Upper Range: [  ]% 

 (If the Upper Range adjusts with various periods use 

the table below) 

 From and 

including 

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range 

 [    ] [     ] [  ]% 

(r) Lower Range: [  ]% 

 (If the Lower Range adjusts with various periods use 

the table below) 

 From and 

including 

To but excluding Lower Range 

 [     ] [     ] [  ]% 

(s) Range Accrual Reference Rate: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(i) Screen Rate Determination:  

 Reference Rate: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] 

 (The following is applicable only in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [         ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page: 

[          ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 
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 Range Accrual 

Reference Rate 

Determination 

Date(s): 

[Observation Date/specify other period] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(ii) ISDA Determination:  

 Floating Rate 

Option: 

[  ] 

 Designated 

Maturity: 

[  ] 

 Reset Date: 
 
[Observation Date/specify other] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: 
 
[ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(t) Calculation Agent:  [give name (and, if the Notes are derivative 

securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus 

Directive Regulation applies, address)] 

(u) Autoswitch: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs) 

(i) Target Rate: [        ]% 

(ii) Switch Rate: [        ]% 

(The following must be completed in relation to Dual Range Accrual Notes) 

(v) Upper Range1: [         ]% 

 (If the Upper Range1 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range1 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(w) Lower Range1: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range1 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range1 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(x) Upper Range2: [         ]% 
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 (If the Upper Range2 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range2 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(y) Lower Range2: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range2 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range2 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(z) Range Accrual Reference Rate: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(A) Screen Rate Determination:  

 Reference Rate1: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page for Reference 

Rate1: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Reference Rate2: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate/CMS Formula Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Formula Rate) 

 Reference Currency1: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity1: [          ] 
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 Reference Currency2: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity2: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page Reference 

Rate2: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Range Accrual 

Reference Rate 

Determination 

Date(s): 

[Observation Date/specify other period] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(B) ISDA Determination:  

 Floating Rate 

Option: 

[         ] 

 Designated 

Maturity: 

[         ] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(aa) Calculation Agent:  [give name (and, if the Notes are derivative 

securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus 

Directive Regulation applies, address)]  

(bb) Autoswitch: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs) 

(i) Target Rate: [         ]% 

(ii) Switch Rate: [         ]% 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

18. Index Linked Redemption Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Index/Indices: [        ] 

 (If more than one, refer to as Index1, Index2 etc.) 

(b) Screen Page: (Specify if applicable, or give the sources of 

observation for each index) 

(c) Component Transactions: [        ] 
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(d) Formula: [Autocall [In the case of Autocall specify Autocall 

Trigger Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, 

Percentage Multiplier: [         ]% for Observation 

Date (1), [         ]% for Observation Date (2) etc.  

Lower Threshold Level: [         ]% of the Initial 

Price, Lower Threshold Multiplier: [         ]%, 

Threshold Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, 

Threshold Multiplier: [         ]% and Final 

Percentage Multiplier: [         ]%.]/[Autocall with 

Spread [In the case of Autocall with Spread specify: 

Autocall Trigger Level: [         ]% of the Initial 

Price, Multiplier: [         ]% and Final Percentage 

Multiplier: [         ]%/[Lookback [In the case of 

Lookback specify Multiplier: [         ]%, Floor Level: 

[         ] and x: [         ]] [Short-term Lookback [In the 

case of Short-term Lookback specify Multiplier: 

[         ]%, Short-term Lookback Multiplier: 

[         ]%, Cap Level: [         ], Floor Level: [         ] 

and x:[          ]] [Double Win [In the case of Double 

Win specify. Barrier Level Multiplier: [         ]%, 

Cap Level: [         ]%, Floor Level: [         ] and 

Final Valuation Date: [         ]] [Triple Index [In the 

case of Triple Index specify Multiplier: [         ]%] 

[Asian Call [In the case of Asian Call specify 

Multiplier: [         ]%, Cap Level: [         ]% and 

Floor Level: [         ]%] 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating the redemption amount 

due: 

[        ] (N.B. Specify name and, if the Notes are 

derivative securities to which Annex XII of the 

Prospectus Directive Regulation applies, address) 

(f) Settlement Price: 

 

(g) Relevant Level: 

[        ] 

Index Currency: [         ] [The official closing level 

for the  Index/Indices] [the official fixing eventually 

calculated and/or published by the Index Sponsor] 

[the Valuation Method] 

(h) Valuation Date: [        ] 

(i) Valuation Method: [Highest]/[Average Highest]/[Market Value]  

(j) Quotation Method: [Bid]/[Mid]/[Ask] 

(k) Quotation Amount: [        ]/[As set out in Condition 19] 

(l) Averaging: Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes. 

 [The Averaging Dates are [        ]] 

 [In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted 

Day [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply] 
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 [Modified Postponement is applicable] 

 (only applicable if Modified Postponement is 

applicable as an Averaging election) 

 [Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to: [        ]/[eight]] 

 (if no Specified Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(m) Observation Date(s): [Observation Date(1): [         ], Observation Date (2): 

[         ] etc.] [Not Applicable].] [In the event that an 

Observation Date is a Disrupted Day 

[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply.] 

(n) Early Redemption Date(s) 

corresponding to Observation 

Date(s): 

[Early Redemption Date (1): [         ], Early 

Redemption Date (2): [         ] etc.] 

(o) Observation Period: [Specify/Not Applicable] 

(p) Exchange Business Day: [         ] 

(q) Scheduled Trading Day: [         ] 

(r) Exchange(s) and Index Sponsor: (i) the relevant Exchange[s] [is/are] [        ] and 

 (ii) the relevant Index Sponsor is [        ]. 

(s) Related Exchange: [Specify/Each exchange or quotation system on 

which option contracts or futures contracts relating 

such Index is traded/All Exchanges] 

(t) Relevant Time: [Scheduled Closing Time/Any time [on the 

Valuation Date/during the Observation Period.] [The 

relevant time is [        ], being the time specified on 

the Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the case 

may be, for the calculation of the Settlement Price.] 

(N.B. if no Relevant Time is specified, the Valuation 

Time will be the Scheduled Closing Time). 

(u) Additional Disruption Events: [(i)] The following Additional Disruption Events 

apply to the Notes: 

 (Specify each of the following which 

applies.) 

 [Change of Law] 

 [Hedging Disruption] 

 [Increased Cost of Hedging] 

 [Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] 

 [Loss of Stock Borrow] 
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 [(ii)] [The Trade Date is [        ].  [If no Trade 

Date is specified, Issue Date will be the 

Trade Date] 

 (N.B. only applicable if Change of Law 

and/or Increased Cost of Hedging is 

applicable)] 

 [(iii)] [The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect 

of [specify in relation to each 

security/commodity comprised in an Index] 

is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Loss of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)] 

 [(iv)] [The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of 

[specify in relation to each 

security/commodity comprised in an Index] 

is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Increased Cost of 

Stock Borrow is applicable)]] 

(v) Market Disruption:  Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to [        ]/[eight] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(w) Knock-in Event: [Not Applicable/[    ]/["greater than"/"greater than or 

equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to" Knock-in 

Level]] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 [In the event that a Knock-in Determination Day is a 

Disrupted Day, [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply.] 

(i) Knock-in Level: [Specify] 

(ii) Knock-in Determination 

Day(s): 

[Specify/Each Scheduled Trading Day in the 

Knock-in Determination Period] 

(iii) Knock-in Period Beginning 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(iv) Knock-in Period Ending 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(v) Knock-in Valuation Time: [Scheduled Closing Time]/[Any time on a Knock-in 



 

 109  

 

Determination Day.] 

(x) Knock-out Event:  
[Not Applicable/[        ]/["greater than"/"greater than 
or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to" 
Knock-out Level]] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 [In the event that a Knock-out Determination Day is 

a Disrupted Day, 

 [Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply] 

(i) Knock-out Level: [Specify] 

(ii) Knock-out Determination 

Day(s): 

[Specify/Each Scheduled Trading Day in the 

Knock-out Determination Period] 

(iii) Knock-out Period Beginning 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(iv) Knock-out Period Ending 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(v) Knock-out Valuation Time: [Scheduled Closing Time]/[Any time on a Knock-

out Determination Day] 

(y) Automatic Early Redemption Event: [Not Applicable/[       ]/["greater than"/"greater than 

or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to"] 

Automatic Early Redemption Level] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(i) Automatic Early 

Redemption Amount: 

[Specify/See definition in Condition 19] 

(ii) Automatic Early 

Redemption Date(s): 

 

[Specify] [adjusted in accordance with [Following 

Business Day Convention/Modified Following 

Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention] specify any applicable Additional 

Business Centre (s)/not adjusted] 

(iii) Automatic Early 

Redemption Level: 

[Specify] 

(iv) Automatic Early 

Redemption Rate: 

[Specify] 

(v) Automatic Early 

Redemption Valuation 

Date(s): 

 
[Specify] 
 
[In the event that Automatic Early Redemption Date 
is a Disrupted Day, 
[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 
will apply.] 
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19. Equity Linked Redemption Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

sub­paragraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Share(s): [        ] 

(b) ISIN of Share(s): [        ] 

(c) Strike: [         ]% of the Initial Price 

(d) Settlement Price: [        ] [As set out in Condition 20] 

 [Exchange Rate: [        ]] 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating any amount due under 

the Notes: 

[        ] (N.B. Specify name and address) 

(f) Valuation Date: [        ] 

(g) Averaging: 
 
Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes.  

[The Averaging Dates are [        ]] 

 [In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted 

Day [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply] 

 [Modified Postponement is applicable] 

 (only applicable if Modified Postponement is 

applicable as an Averaging election) 

 [Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to: [        ]/[eight]] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(h) Observation Date(s): [The Observation Date(s) is/are [        ]/Not 

Applicable] [In the event that an Observation Date is 

a Disrupted Date[Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply] 

(i) Observation Period: [   ] [Not Applicable] 

(j) Exchange Business Day:  [        ] 

(k) Scheduled Trading Day:  [        ] 

(l) Exchange(s): The relevant Exchange[s] [is/are] [        ] 

(m) Related Exchange(s): [   ]/[Each exchange or quotation system on which 

option contracts or futures contracts relating to such 
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Share(s) are traded/All Exchanges] 

(n) Relevant Time: [Scheduled Closing Time/Any time [on the 

Valuation Date/during the Observation Period.]  

[The relevant time is [        ], being the time specified 

on the Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the 

case may be, for the calculation of the Settlement 

Price.]  

 (N.B. if no Relevant Time is specified, the Valuation 

Time will be the Scheduled Closing Time). 

(o) Additional Disruption Events: [(i)] The following Additional Disruption Events 

apply to the Notes: 

 (Specify each of the following which 

applies.) 

 [Change of Law] 

 [Hedging Disruption] 

 [Insolvency Filing] 

 [Failure to Deliver] 

 [Increased Cost of Hedging] 

 [Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] 

 [Loss of Stock Borrow] 

 [(ii)] [The Trade Date is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Change of Law 

and/or Increased Cost of Hedging is 

applicable)] 

 [(iii)] [The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect 

of [specify in relation to each relevant 

Share] is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Loss of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)] 

 [(iv)] [The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of 

[specify in relation to each relevant Share] 

is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Increased Cost of 

Stock Borrow is applicable)] 

(p) Market Disruption: Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to [        ]/[eight] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption is 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(q) Delayed Redemption on Occurrence 

of Extraordinary Events: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(if not applicable, delete the remaining 
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subparagraph of this paragraph) 

 [Rate for accrual of interest [        ]/as specified in 

Condition 20.2(c)(iii)] 

(r) Delayed Redemption on Occurrence 

of Additional Disruption Event: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(if not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraph of this paragraph) 

 [Rate for accrual of interest [        ]/as specified in 

Condition 20.5(a)(iii)] 

20. Notice periods for Condition 6.2: Minimum period: [30] days  

 Maximum period: [60] days  

21. Issuer Call:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):  [         ] 

(b) Optional Redemption Amount:  [         ] per Calculation Amount  

(N.B: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other 

than a specified amount per Calculation Amount, the 

Notes will need to be Exempt Notes) 

(c) If redeemable in part:   

(i) Minimum Redemption 

Amount:  

[         ] [Not Applicable] 

(ii) Maximum Redemption 

Amount:  

[         ] [Not Applicable] 

(d) Notice Periods:  Minimum period: [15] days  

 Maximum period: [30] days  

 (N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is 

advised to consider the practicalities of distribution 

of information through intermediaries, for example, 

clearing systems (which require a minimum of five 

clearing system business days' notice for a call) and 

custodians, as well as any other notice requirements 

which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 

and the Agent) 

22. Investor Put:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):  [        ] 
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(b) Optional Redemption Amount:  [        ] per Calculation Amount  

 (N.B: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other 

than a specified amount per Calculation Amount, the 

Notes will need to be Exempt Notes) 

(c) Notice Periods:  Minimum period: [15] days  

 Maximum period: [30] days 

 (N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is 

advised to consider the practicalities of distribution 

of information through intermediaries, for example, 

clearing systems (which require a minimum of 15 

clearing system business days' notice for a call) and 

custodians, as well as any other notice requirements 

which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 

and the Agent)  

23. Final Redemption Amount:  [[see paragraph [18/19] above] [         ] per 

Calculation Amount] 

 (N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 

100% of the nominal value the Notes may be 

derivative securities for the purposes of the 

Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex 

XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulation will 

apply.)  

24. Early Redemption Amount payable on 

redemption for taxation reasons or on event 

of default:  

[An amount determined by the Calculation Agent, in 

its sole and absolute discretion, to be equal to the fair 

market value of the Notes immediately prior to the 

date of redemption, plus or minus any related 

hedging gains or costs/[           ] per Calculation 

Amount] 

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES  

25. Provisions applicable to Physical Delivery: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Asset Amount  [   ] 

(b) Relevant Asset(s): [As specified above]/The relevant asset[s] to which 

the Notes relate [is/are] [   ] 

(c) Settlement Business Day(s): [   ] 

26. Variation of Settlement: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 
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(a) Issuer’s option to vary settlement:  The Issuer [has/does not have] the option to vary 

settlement in respect of the Notes 

(b) Variation of Settlement of Physical 

Delivery Notes: 

[Notwithstanding the fact that the Notes are Physical 

Delivery Notes, the Issuer may make payment of the 

Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date/The 

Issuer will procure delivery of the Asset Amount in 

respect of the Notes] 

27. Form of Notes:   

(a) Form:  [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a 

Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any 

time/only upon an Exchange Event]]  

 [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]  

 [Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 

Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only 

upon an Exchange Event]]  

 (N.B. The exchange upon notice option should not be 

expressed to be applicable if the Specified 

Denomination of the Notes in paragraph 5 includes 

language substantially to the following effect: 

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in 

excess thereof up to and including [€199,000]." 

Furthermore, such Specified Denomination 

construction is not permitted in relation to any issue 

of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 

Notes.) 

(b) New Global Note:  [Yes][No]  

28. Additional Financial Centre(s):  [Not Applicable/give details] 

 (Note that this paragraph relates to the date of 

payment and not Interest Period end dates to which 

subparagraphs 14(c)) and 17(e) relate) 

29. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to 

Definitive Notes:  

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon 

payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange 

into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments 

are still to be made/No]  

30. Governing law:  [English/Luxembourg] 

 (N.B: Subordinated Notes must be governed by 

Luxembourg law)  
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THIRD PARTY INFORMATION 

[Relevant third party information, for example in compliance with Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive 

Regulation in relation to an index or its components] has been extracted from [specify source].  The Issuer 

confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to 

ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the 

reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.] 

Signed on behalf of Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de 1'Etat, Luxembourg: 

By: ______________________  

Duly authorised 
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

 

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO 

TRADING 

 

(i) Listing and Admission to trading [Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its 

behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on 

[specify relevant regulated market (for example, the 

Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the 

London Stock Exchange's regulated market or the 

Regulated Market of the Irish Stock Exchange) and if 

relevant, listing on an official list (for example, the 

Official List of the UK Listing Authority)] with effect 

from [         ].]  

 
[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or 

on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading 

on [specify relevant regulated market (for example 

the Bourse de Luxembourg, the London Stock 

Exchange's regulated market or the Regulated 

Market of the Irish Stock Exchange) and if relevant, 

listing on an official list (for example, the Official 

List of the UK Listing Authority)] with effect from 

[         ].] [Not Applicable]  

(ii) Estimate of total expenses related to 
admission to trading 

[ ] 

2. RATINGS  

Ratings:  [Not Applicable] [The Notes to be issued [[have 

been]/[are expected to be]] rated]/[The following 

ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type 

issued under the Programme generally]: 

 [insert details]] by [insert the legal name of the 

relevant credit rating agency entity(ies) and 

associated defined terms].   

 Each of [defined terms] is established in the 

European Union and is registered under Regulation 

(EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA 

Regulation). As such each of [defined terms] is 

included in the list of credit rating agencies 

published by the European Securities and Markets 

Authority on its website 

(http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-

and-certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA 

Regulation. 

 (The above disclosure should reflect the rating 

allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the 

Programme generally or, where the issue has been 
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specifically rated, that rating.)  

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE 

[Save for any fees payable to the [Manager(s)/Dealer(s)], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person 

involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest including any conflicting interest material to the 

issue.  The [Manager(s)/Dealer(s)] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in 

investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services 

for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business – Amend as appropriate if there are 

other interests] 

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters 

described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to 

the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)] 

4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES 

(a) Reasons for the offer:  [         ] 

(b) Estimated net proceeds:  [         ] 

(c) Estimated total expenses:  [         ] 

 (Expenses are required to be broken down into each 

principal intended "use" and presented in order of 

priority of such "uses") 

(N.B.: If the Notes are derivative securities to which 

Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation 

applies(a) above is required where the reasons for 

the offer are different from making profit and/or 

hedging certain risks and, where such reasons are 

inserted in (a), disclosure of net proceeds and total 

expenses at (b) and (c) above are also required.) 

5. YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only) 

Indication of yield:  [         ]  

 The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis 

of the Issue Price.  It is not an indication of future 

yield. 

6. PERFORMANCE OF INDEX/SHARE, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF 

INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING 

THE UNDERLYING 

[Not Applicable]/ 

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the index/share can 

be obtained.] 

[Name of the Issuer of the underlying security: [        ] 

[N.B. this shall not be the Issuer or an 

entity belonging to the Issuer’s group] 



 

 118  

 

ISIN: [        ] 

Index Name: [        ] 

Relevant weightings of each underlying in the basket: [        ] 

Source of information relating to the 

[index/indices/share]: 

[        ] 

Place where information to the [index/indices/share] 

can be obtained: 

[        ] 

7. UNDERLYING DISCLAIMER
2
 

[For use in connection with Indices (including Inflation Indices)] 

[Not Applicable] 

[The issue of this series of Notes (in this paragraph, the Transaction) is not sponsored, endorsed, 

sold, or promoted by [NAME OF INDEX] (the Index) or [NAME OF INDEX SPONSOR] (the Index 

Sponsor) and the Index Sponsor does not make any representation whatsoever, whether express or 

implied, either as to the results to be obtained from the use of the Index and/or the levels at which the 

Index stands at any particular time on any particular date or otherwise.  No Index or Index Sponsor 

shall be liable (whether in negligence or otherwise) to any person for any error in the Index.  No 

Index Sponsor is making any representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the 

advisability of purchasing or assuming any risk in connection with entering into any Transaction.  

The Issuer shall not have any liability for any act or failure to act by the Index Sponsor in connection 

with the calculation, adjustment or maintenance of the Index.  Except as disclosed prior to the Issue 

Date, neither the Issuer nor its affiliates have any affiliation with or control over the Index or Index 

Sponsor. 

8. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION  

(a) ISIN:  [         ] 

(b) Common Code:  [         ] 

(c) Any clearing system(s) other than 

Euroclear and Clearstream 

Luxembourg and the relevant 

identification number(s):  

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

(d) Names and addresses of additional 

Paying Agent(s) (if any):  

[         ] [Not Applicable] 

(e) Intended to be held in a manner 

which would allow Eurosystem 

eligibility:  

[Yes.  Note that the designation "yes" simply means 

that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited 

with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does 

not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised 

as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy 

and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem 

either upon issue or at any or all times during their life.  

Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being 

                                                   
2
  Include for Index Linked Redemption Notes and Inflation Linked Interest Notes. 
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satisfied that the Eurosystem eligibility criteria have 

been met]. 

 [No.  Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the 

date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that 

the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may 

then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 

safekeeper.  Note that this does not necessarily mean 

that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible 

collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-

day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time 

during their life.  Such recognition will depend upon 

the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility 

criteria have been met.] 

9. DISTRIBUTION  

(a) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

(b) If syndicated, names of Managers:  [Not Applicable/give names] (If the Notes are 

derivative securities to which Annex XII of the 

Prospectus Directive Regulation applies, include 

names and addresses of entities agreeing to 

underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and 

names of entities agreeing to place the issue without a 

firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such 

entities are not the same as the Managers.) 

(c) Date of Subscription Agreement:  [         ] 

(d) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):  [Not Applicable/give name(s)]  

(e) If non-syndicated, name of 

relevant Dealer:  

[Not Applicable/give name]  

(f) U.S. Selling Restrictions:  [Reg. S Category 2; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not 

applicable]  

 

10. U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

[The Notes are [not] Specified Notes for purposes of Section 871(m).] [The Notes will not be 

Specified Notes if they (i) are issued prior to January 1, 2017 or (ii) do not reference any U.S. equity 

or any index that contains any component U.S. equity or otherwise provide direct or indirect 

exposure to U.S. equities. If the Notes are issued after January 1, 2017 and reference a U.S. equity 

or an index that contains a component U.S. equity or otherwise provide direct or indirect exposure 

to U.S. equities, further analysis would be required.] 
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APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT 

EXEMPT NOTES OF ANY DENOMINATION 

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each Tranche of Exempt Notes, 

whatever the denomination of those Notes, issued under the Programme. 

NO PROSPECTUS IS REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVE 2003/71/EC (AS 

AMENDED) FOR THE ISSUE OF NOTES DESCRIBED BELOW. 

[Date] 

BANQUE ET CAISSE D'EPARGNE DE L'ETAT, LUXEMBOURG 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 

under the U.S.$8,000,000,000 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no 

obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus 

Directive or to supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in 

relation to such offer. 

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Notes described herein.  This document must be 

read in conjunction with the Prospectus dated 30 June 2016 [as supplemented by the supplement[s] dated 

[date[s]]] (the Prospectus).  Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the 

basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Prospectus.  Copies of the Prospectus may be 

obtained from the Issuer's registered office at, 1-2 Place de Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg and from Citibank, 

N.A., London Branch at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB. 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the Conditions) 

set forth in the Prospectus [dated 30 June 2015]/[30 June 2014] which are incorporated by reference in the 

Prospectus].1 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable".  Note that the numbering should 

remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs 

(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted).  Italics 

denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.] 

 

1. Issuer:  Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de 1'Etat, Luxembourg 

2. (a) Series Number:  [         ] 

(b) Tranche Number:  [         ] 

 (If fungible with an existing Series, details of that 

Series, including the date on which the Notes become 

fungible) 

(c) Date on which the Notes will be The Notes will be consolidated and form a single 

                                                   
1
  Only include this language where it is a fungible issue and the original Tranche was issued under a Prospectus with a differe nt date. 
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consolidated and form a single 

Series: 

Series with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue 

Date/the date that is 40 days after the Issue 

Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for 

interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to 

in paragraph 29 below, which is expected to occur 

on or about [date]][Not Applicable] 

3. Specified Currency or Currencies:  [         ] 

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount:   

(a) Series:  [         ] 

(b) Tranche:  [         ] 

(c) Units:  [         ] Units (being the equivalent of [insert 

currency]; [insert amount])] [Not Applicable] 

5. Issue Price:  [         ]% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus 

accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)] 

6. (a) Specified Denominations:  [         ] 

(b) Calculation Amount (in relation to 

calculation of interest in global form 

see Conditions):  

[         ] 

 (If only one Specified Denomination, insert the 

Specified Denomination. If more than one Specified 

Denomination, insert the highest common factor.  

Note: There must be a common factor in the case of 

two or more Specified Denominations.) 

7. (a) Issue Date:  [         ] 

(b) Interest Commencement Date:  [specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]  

 (N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be 

relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon 

Notes.) 

8. Maturity Date:  [Fixed Rate Note – specify date/Floating Rate Note 

or any other Note where the Interest Period end 

date(s) are adjusted – Interest Payment Date falling 

in or nearest to [specify month]]  

9. Interest Basis:  [[         ]% Fixed Rate] [Subject to interest rate 

step-up as specified below] 

 [[LIBOR/EURIBOR]/[CMS Reference Rate] +/- 

[         ]% Floating Rate]  

 [Zero Coupon]  

 [[    ]% Fixed Rate] [[         ] month 

[LIBOR/EURIBOR] [+/–][         ] per cent. Floating 

Rate] Range Accrual/Dual Range Accrual] 

 [Index Linked Interest]  
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 [Inflation Linked Interest] 

 [specify other]  

 (further particulars specified below)  

10. Redemption/Payment Basis:  [Redemption at par]  

 [Index Linked Redemption]  

 [Equity Linked Redemption] 

 [Partly Paid]  

 [Instalment]  

 [specify other]  

11. Change of Interest Basis or 

Redemption/Payment Basis:  

[Specify details of e.g. any provision for change of 

Notes into another Interest Basis or 

Redemption/Payment Basis] [Not Applicable] 

12. Put/Call Options:  [Investor Put]  

 [Issuer Call]  

 [(further particulars specified below)] 

 [Not Applicable] 

13. (a) Status of the Notes:  [Senior/Subordinated]  

 (issues of Subordinated Notes are subject to the 

prior written consent of the Ministry of Treasury of 

Luxembourg)] 

(b) Date [Board] approval for issuance 

of Notes obtained:  

[         ] [and [         ], respectively]] [Not Applicable] 

 (N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) 

authorisation is required for the particular tranche 

of Notes) 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

14. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 

(a) Rate(s) of Interest:  [        ]% per annum payable in arrear on each 

Interest Payment Date 

 (If payable other than annually, consider amending 

Condition 4) 

 [For interest step-up Notes: [        ]% per annum 

commencing on (and including) the Interest 

Commencement Date until (but not including) [date] 

 [        ]% per annum commencing on (and including) 

[date] until (but not including) [date]2 

                                                   
2
  Further periods to be inserted as necessary. 
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 [        ]% per annum commencing on (and including) 

[date] until (but not including) the Maturity Date]] 

(b) Interest Payment Date(s):  [         ] in each year up to and including the Maturity 

Date 

 (N.B. Amend appropriately in the case of irregular 

coupons) 

(c) Interest Period End Date(s):  [         ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[specify Business Day Convention and any 

applicable Additional Business Centre(s)/not 

adjusted] 

(d) Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for Notes 

in definitive forms (and in relation 

to Notes in global form see 

Conditions):  

[         ] per Calculation Amount  

(e) [Initial/Final] Broken Amount(s) for 

Notes in definitive forms (and in 

relation to Notes in global form see 

Conditions):  

[         ] per Calculation Amount, payable on the 

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [         ] 

(f) Fixed Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/360, 30/360, 360/360, Bond Basis, 30E/360, 

Eurobond Basis, Actual/365 (Fixed), Actual/Actual 

(ICMA) or [specify other]] 

(g) Determination Date(s):  [[         ] in each year] [Not Applicable] 

 (Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is 

Actual/Actual (ICMA) In such case, insert regular 

interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or 

maturity date in the case of a long or short first or 

last coupon.)  

(h) Interest rate step-up/Step-down: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs 

of this paragraph)] 

(i) Other terms relating to the method 

of calculating interest for Fixed Rate 

Notes which are Exempt Note:  

[None/Give details] 

15. Floating Rate Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Interest Period End Dates:  [         ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[specify Business Day Convention]/not adjusted] 

(b) Interest Payment Dates:  [         ] 
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(c) Additional Business Centre(s):   

(i) For fixing:  [         ] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates:  

[         ] 

(d) Manner in which the Rate of Interest 

and Interest Amount is to be 

determined:  

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA: 

Determination/CMS Rate Determination/specify 

other]  

(e) Party responsible for calculating the 

Rate of Interest and Interest Amount 

(if not the Agent):  

[         ] 

(f) Screen Rate Determination:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Reference Rate:  [[         ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR] specify other 

Reference Rate] 

 (Either LIBOR, EURIBOR, CMS Reference Rate or 

other, although additional information is required if 

other, including fallback provisions in the Agency 

Agreement) 

(ii) Interest Determination 

Date(s):  

[         ] 

 (Second London business day prior to the start of 

each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or 

euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if 

Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the 

TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 

Interest Period EURIBOR or euro LIBOR) 

(iii) Relevant Screen Page:  [         ] 

 (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters 

EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows 

composite rate or amend the fallback provision 

appropriately) 

(g) ISDA Determination:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Floating Rate Option:  [         ] 

(ii) Designated Maturity:  [         ] 

(iii) Reset Date:  [         ] 

 (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, 

the first day of the Interest Period) 

(h) CMS Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
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(i) CMS Screen Page: [Condition 4.2(b)(iii) applies/[        ]] 

(ii) Interest Determination Date: [Condition 4.2(b)(iii) applies/[        ]/] 

(iii) Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States dollar/Yen] 

(iv) Designated Maturity: [[        ]] 

(v) Calculation Agent: [Agent/named Manager/other] 

(i) Linear Interpolation: [Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of interest for 

the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be 

calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for 

each short or long interest period)]  

(j) Relevant Financial Centre: 

(k) Margin(s):  

[         ] 

[+/-] [         ]% per annum  

(l) Minimum Rate of Interest:  [         ]% per annum  

(m) Maximum Rate of Interest:  [         ]% per annum  

(n) Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  

 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis]  

 [30E/360 (ISDA)]  

 [Other]  

 (See Condition 4 for alternatives)] 

(o) Interest rate step-up/Step-down: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs 

of this paragraph)] 

(p) Fallback provisions, rounding 

provisions and any other terms 

relating to the method of calculating 

interest on Floating Rate Notes 

which are Exempt Note, if different 

from those set out in the Conditions:  

[         ] 

16. Zero Coupon Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Accrual Yield:  [         ]% per annum  
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(b) Reference Price:  [         ] 

(c) Any other formula/basis of 

determining amount payable for 

Zero Coupon Notes which are 

Exempt Notes:  

[         ] 

(d) Day Count Fraction in relation to 

Early Redemption Amounts and late 

payment:  

[30/360] 

[Actual/360] 

[Actual/365] 

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)] 

17. Inflation Linked Interest Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Index/Indices: [        ] 

(b) Screen Page/Exchange Code: [        ] 

(c) Formula: see Technical Annex – Part 3 

 Cap Level: [        ]% 

 Floor Level: [        ]% 

 Multiplier: [        ]% 

(d) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating the interest due: 

[        ] 

(e) Interest Period End Dates:  [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 

Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/not adjusted] 

(f) Interest Payment Dates: [          ]  

(g) Interest Determination Date(s): [          ]  

(h) Additional Business Centre(s): [          ]  

(i) Minimum Rate of Interest: [          ]% per annum]/[Not Applicable] 

(j) Maximum Rate of Interest: [          ]% per annum]/[Not Applicable] 

(k) Day Count Fraction:  [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  
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 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis]  

 [30E/360 (ISDA)] 

(l) Cut-Off Date: [        ]/[Not Applicable] 

(m) Related Bond: [        ]/Fall Back Bond 

(n) Issuer of Related Bond: [        ]/[Not Applicable] 

(o) Fall Back Bond: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(p) Index Sponsor: [        ] 

(q) Related Bond Redemption Event: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(r) Scheduled Trading Day: [        ] 

18. Index Linked Interest Note Provisions:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Index/Formula:  [give or annex details]  

(b) Calculation Agent:  [give name]  

(c) Party responsible for calculating the 

Rate of Interest (if not the 

Calculation Agent and (Interest 

Amount (if not the Agent)):  

[         ] 

(d) Provisions for determining Coupon 

where calculation by reference to 

Index and/or Formula is impossible 

or impracticable:  

[need to include a description of market disruption 

or settlement disruption events and adjustment 

provisions]  

(e) Interest Period End Dates:  [         ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[specify Business Day Convention]/not adjusted] 

(f) Interest Payment Dates:  [         ] 

(g) Additional Business Centre(s):   

(i) For Fixing:  [         ] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates:  

[         ] 

(h) Minimum Rate of Interest:  [         ]% per annum  

(i) Maximum Rate of Interest:  [         ]% per annum  

(j) Day Count Fraction:  [         ] 
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19. Range Accrual Note Provisions: [Fixed Rate Range Accrual Note] 

[Floating Rate Range Accrual Note] 

[Fixed Rate Dual Range Accrual Note] 

[Floating Rate Dual Range Accrual Note] 

[CMS Range Accrual Note] 

[Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(The following is applicable in relation to Fixed Rate Range Accrual Notes, Fixed Rate Dual Range Accrual 

Notes or CMS Range Accrual Notes that bear fixed rate interest) 

(a) Fixed Rate: [  ]% per annum payable in arrear on each Interest 

Payment Date 

(b) Interest Payment Date(s): [  ] in each year up to and including the Maturity 

Date [adjusted in accordance with [Following 

Business Day Convention/Modified Following 

Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention] specify any applicable Additional 

Business Centre(s) for the definition of Business 

Day]/[not adjusted] 

 (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular 

coupons) 

(c) Interest Period End Date(s): [        ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified 

Following Business Day Convention/Preceding 

Business Day Convention] specify any applicable 

Additional Business Centre (s)/not adjusted] 

(d) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/360, 30/360, 360/360, Bond Basis, 30E/360, 

Eurobond Basis, Actual/365 (Fixed), Actual/Actual 

(ICMA) or [specify other]] 

(e) Determination Dates: [[  ] in each year] [Not Applicable] (insert regular 

interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or 

maturity date in the case of a long or short first or 

last coupon.  N.B. only relevant where Day Count 

Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)) 

(The following is applicable in relation to Floating Rate Range Accrual Notes, Floating Rate Dual Range 

Accrual Notes or CMS Range Accrual Notes that bear floating rate interest) 

(f) Interest Period End Dates: [          ] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 

[FRN Convention/Following Business Day 

Convention/Modified Following Business Day 
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Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention]/[not adjusted] 

(g) Interest Payment Dates: [          ] 

(h) Additional Business Centre(s): [          ] 

(i) For fixing: [          ] [Not Applicable] 

(ii) For Interest Period End 

Dates: 

[          ] [Not Applicable] 

(i) Manner in which the Rate(s) of 

Interest and Interest Amount to be 

determined: 

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(j) Screen Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Reference Rate: [          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR] [CMS 

Reference Rate] 

(ii) Interest Determination 

Date(s): 

[          ] 

 (Second London business day prior to the start of 

each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or 

euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if 

Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the 

TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 

Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR) 

(iii) Relevant Screen Page: [          ] 

 (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters 

EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a 

composite rate or amend the fallback provisions 

appropriately) 

(iv) Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(k) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(i) Floating Rate Option: [          ] 

(ii) Designated Maturity: [          ] 

(iii) Reset Date: [          ] 

 (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, 

the first day of the Interest Period) 

(iv) Rate Cut-Off Date: [ ] / [Not Applicable] 

(l) Margin(s): [+/-][          ]% per annum 

(m) Minimum Rate of Interest: [          ]% per annum 
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(n) Maximum Rate of Interest: [          ]% per annum 

(o) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual]  

 [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]  

 [Actual/365 (Fixed)]  

 [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]  

 [Actual/360]  

 [30/360]  

 [360/360]  

 [Bond Basis]  

 [30E/360]  

 [Eurobond Basis]  

 [30E/360 (ISDA)] 

(The following must be completed in relation to all Range Accrual Notes (other than Dual Range Accrual 

Notes)) 

(p) Additional Business Centre(s): [  ] 

(q) Upper Range [  ]% 

 (If the Upper Range adjusts with various periods use 

the table below) 

 From and 

including 

To but 

excluding 

Upper range 

 [    ] [     ] [  ]% 

(r) Lower Range [  ]% 

 (If the Lower Range adjusts with various periods use 

the table below) 

 From and 

including 

To but 

excluding 

Lower range 

 [     ] [     ] [  ]% 

(s) Range Accrual Reference Rate: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(i) Screen Rate Determination:  

 Reference Rate: [[    ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS Reference 

Rate/Specify other] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [         ] 

 Relevant Screen [    ] 
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Page: 
(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Range Accrual 

Reference Rate 

Determination 

Date(s): 

[Observation Date/specify other period] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [  ] / [Not Applicable] 

(ii) ISDA Determination:  

 Floating Rate 

Option: 

[  ] 

 Designated 

Maturity: 

[  ] 

 Reset Date: [Observation Date/specify other] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [  ] / [Not Applicable] 

(t) Calculation Agent: [give name] 

(u) Autoswitch: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs) 

(i) Target Rate: [    ]% 

(ii) Switch Rate: [    ]% 

(The following must be completed in relation to Dual Range Accrual Notes) 

(v) Upper Range1: [         ]% 

 (If the Upper Range1 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range1 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(w) Lower Range1: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range1 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range1 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(x) Upper Range2: [         ]% 
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 (If the Upper Range2 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below) 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Upper Range2 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(y) Lower Range2: [         ]% 

 (If the Lower Range2 adjusts with various periods 

use the table below 

 From and 

including  

To but 

excluding 

Lower Range2 

 [         ] [         ] [         ]% 

(z) Range Accrual Reference Rate: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

(A) Screen Rate Determination:  

 Reference Rate1: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page for Reference 

Rate1: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Reference Rate2: [[          ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]]/[CMS 

Reference Rate/CMS Formula Rate] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Range Accrual Notes) 

 Reference Currency: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity: [          ] 

 (The following is applicable in relation to CMS 

Formula Rate) 

 Reference Currency1: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity1: [          ] 
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 Reference Currency2: [Euro/Sterling/United States 

dollar/Yen] 

 Designated Maturity2: [          ] 

 Relevant Screen 

Page Reference 

Rate2: 

[         ] 

(For example, Reuters EURIBOR 01) 

 Range Accrual 

Reference Rate 

Determination 

Date(s): 

[Observation Date/specify other period] 

 Rate Cut-Off Date: [  ] / [Not Applicable] 

(B) ISDA Determination:  

 Floating Rate 

Option: 

[         ] 

 Designated 

Maturity: 

[         ] 

(aa) Calculation Agent:  [give name (and, if the Notes are derivative 

securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus 

Directive Regulation applies, address)]  

(bb) Autoswitch: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs) 

(i) Target Rate: [         ]% 

(ii) Switch Rate: [         ]% 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

20. Index Linked Redemption Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Index/Indices: [        ] 

 [If more than one, refer to as Index1, Index2 etc.] 

(b) Screen Page: [Specify if applicable, or give the sources of 

observation for each index] 

(c) Component Transactions: [        ] 

(d) Formula: [Autocall [In the case of Autocall specify Autocall 

Trigger Level: [        ]% of the Initial Price, 
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Percentage Multiplier: [        ]% for Observation 

Date (1), [        ]% for Observation Date (2) etc.  Lower 

Threshold Level: [        ]% of the Initial Price, Lower 

Threshold Multiplier: [        ]%, Threshold Level: 

[        ]% of the Initial Price, Threshold Multiplier: 

[        ]% and Final Percentage Multiplier: 

[        ]%. ]/[Autocall with Spread [In the case of 

Autocall with Spread specify: Autocall Trigger 

Level: [         ]% of the Initial Price, Multiplier: 

[         ]% and Final Percentage Multiplier: 

[         ]%/[Lookback [In the case of Lookback 

specify Multiplier: [         ]%, Floor Level: [         ] 

and x: [         ]] [Short-term Lookback [In the case of 

Short-term Lookback specify Multiplier: [         ]%, 

Short-term Lookback Multiplier: [         ]%, Cap 

Level: [         ], Floor Level: [         ] and x:[          ]] 

[Double Win [In the case of Double Win specify. 

Barrier Level Multiplier: [         ]%, Cap Level: 

[         ]%, Floor Level: [         ] and Final Valuation 

Date: [         ]] [Triple Index [In the case of Triple 

Index specify Multiplier: [         ]%] [Asian Call [In 

the case of Asian Call specify Multiplier: [         ]%, 

Cap Level: [         ]% and Floor Level: [         ]%] 

 [Reverse Convertible [In the case of Reverse 

Convertible specify the Strike:[        ]% of the Initial 

price]/ 

(e) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating the redemption amount 

due: 

[give name] 

(f) Settlement Price: 

 

(g) Relevant Level: 

[        ] 

Index Currency: [         ] 

[The official closing level for the  Index/Indices] [the 

official fixing eventually calculated and/or published 

by the Index Sponsor] [the Valuation Method] 

(h) Valuation Date: [        ] 

(i) Valuation Method:   [insert calculation method]/[As set out in the 

Conditions] 

 N/B: If as set out in the conditions, specify: 

[Highest]/[Average Highest]/[Market Value] 

(j) Quotation Method:  [Bid]/[Mid]/[Ask] 

(k) Quotation Amount:  [        ]/[As set out in the Conditions] 

(l) Averaging: Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes. 

 [The Averaging Dates are [        ].] 
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 [In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted 

Day [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply.] 

 [Modified Postponement is applicable] 

 (only applicable if Modified Postponement is 

applicable as an Averaging election) 

 [Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to: [        ]/[eight]] 

 (if no Specified Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(m) Observation Date(s): [Observation Date(1): [        ] Observation Date(2): 

[        ] etc.] [Not Applicable]. [In the event that an 

Observation Date is a Disrupted Day 

[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply.] 

(n) Early Redemption Date(s) 

corresponding to Observation 

Date(s): 

[Early Redemption Date(1), Early Redemption Date(2) 

etc.)] [Not Applicable] 

(o) Observation Period: [Specify/Not Applicable] 

(p) Exchange Business Day: [        ] 

(q) Scheduled Trading Day: [        ] 

(r) Exchange(s) and Index Sponsor: the relevant Exchange[s] [is/are] [        ] and the 

relevant Index Sponsor is [        ]. 

(s) Related Exchange: [Specify/Each exchange or quotation system on 

which option contracts or futures contracts relating 

such Index is traded/All Exchanges] 

(t) Relevant Time: [Scheduled Closing Time/Any time [on the 

Valuation Date/during the Observation Period.] [The 

relevant time is [        ], being the time specified on 

the Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the case 

may be, for the calculation of the Settlement Price.] 

(N.B. if no Relevant Time is specified, the Valuation 

Time will be the Scheduled Closing Time). 

(u) Additional Disruption Events: [(i)] The following Additional Disruption Events 

apply to the Notes: 

 (Specify each of the following which 

applies.) 

 [Change of Law] 

 [Hedging Disruption] 

 [Increased Cost of Hedging] 
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 [Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] 

 [Loss of Stock Borrow] 

 [(ii)] [The Trade Date is [        ].  [If no Trade 

Date is specified, Issue Date will be the 

Trade Date] 

 (N.B. only applicable if Change of Law 

and/or Increased Cost of Hedging is 

applicable)] 

 [(iii)] [The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect 

of [specify in relation to each 

security/commodity comprised in an Index] 

is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Loss of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)] 

 [(iv)] [The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of 

[specify in relation to each 

security/commodity comprised in an Index] 

is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Increased Cost of 

Stock Borrow is applicable)]] 

(v) Market Disruption:  Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to [        ]/[eight] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(w) Knock-in Event: [Not Applicable/specify/["greater than"/"greater than 

or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to" Knock 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 [In the event that a Knock-in Determination Day is a 

Disrupted Day, [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply.] 

(i) Knock-in Level: [Specify] 

(ii) Knock-in Determination 

Day(s): 

[Specify/Each Scheduled Trading Day in the 

Knock-in Determination Period] 

(iii) Knock-in Period Beginning 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(iv) Knock-in Period Ending 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 
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(v) Knock-in Valuation Time: [Scheduled Closing Time]/[Any time on a Knock-in 

Determination Day.] 

(x) Knock-out Event:  [Not Applicable/specify/["greater than"/"greater than 

or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to" 

Knock-out Level]] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

 [In the event that a Knock-out Determination Day is 

a Disrupted Day, 

 [Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply] 

(i) Knock-out Level: [Specify] 

(ii) Knock-out Determination 

Day(s): 

[Specify/Each Scheduled Trading Day in the 

Knock-out Determination Period] 

(iii) Knock-out Period Beginning 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(iv) Knock-out Period Ending 

Date: 

[Not Applicable/specify] 

(v) Knock-out Valuation Time: [Scheduled Closing Time]/[Any time on a Knock-

out Determination Day] 

(y) Automatic Early Redemption Event: [Not Applicable/specify/["greater than"/"greater than 

or equal to"/"less than"/"less than or equal to"] 

Automatic Early Redemption Level] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(i) Automatic Early 

Redemption Amount: 

[Specify/See definition in Condition 19] 

(ii) Automatic Early 

Redemption Date(s): 

 

[Specify] [adjusted in accordance with [Following 

Business Day Convention/Modified Following 

Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day 

Convention] specify any applicable Additional 

Business Centre (s)/not adjusted] 

(iii) Automatic Early 

Redemption Level: 

[Specify]  

(iv) Automatic Early 

Redemption Rate: 

[Specify] [Not Applicable] 

(v) Automatic Early 

Redemption Valuation 

Date(s): 

[Specify] 

[In the event that Automatic Early Redemption Date 
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is a Disrupted Day, 

[Omission/Postponement/Modified Postponement] 

will apply.] 

21. Equity Linked Redemption Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

sub­paragraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Share(s): [        ] 

(b) ISIN of Share(s): [Specify] 

(c) Screen Page/Exchange Code: [Specify] 

(d) Strike: [         ]% of the Initial Price 

(e) Formula: [Reverse Convertible] 

(f) Settlement Price: The Settlement Price will be calculated [insert 

calculation method] [As set out in the Conditions] 

 [Exchange Rate: [        ]] 

(g) Calculation Agent responsible for 

calculating any amount due under 

the Notes: 

[        ] (N.B. Specify name and address) 

(h) Valuation Date: [        ] 

(i) Averaging: Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes.  

[The Averaging Dates are [        ].] 

 [In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted 

Day [Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply.] 

 [Modified Postponement is applicable] 

 (only applicable if Modified Postponement is 

applicable as an Averaging election). 

 [Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to: [        ]/[eight]] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption are 

stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(j) Observation Date(s): [The Observation Date(s) is/are [        ]/Not 

Applicable] [In the event that an Observation Date is 

a Disrupted Date[Omission/Postponement/Modified 

Postponement] will apply] 

(k) Observation Period: [Specify/Not Applicable] 
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(l) Exchange Business Day:  [        ] 

(m) Scheduled Trading Day:  [        ] 

(n) Exchange(s): The relevant Exchange[s] [is/are] [        ] 

(o) Related Exchange(s): [Specify/Each exchange or quotation system on 

which option contracts or futures contracts relating 

to such Share(s) are traded/All Exchanges] 

(p) Relevant Time: [Scheduled Closing Time/Any time [on the 

Valuation Date/during the Observation Period.]  

[The relevant time is [        ], being the time specified 

on the Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the 

case may be, for the calculation of the Settlement 

Price.] (N.B. if no Relevant Time is specified, the 

Valuation Time will be the Scheduled Closing Time). 

(q) Additional Disruption Events: [(i)] The following Additional Disruption Events 

apply to the Notes: 

 (Specify each of the following which 

applies.) 

 [Change of Law] 

 [Hedging Disruption] 

 [Insolvency Filing] 

 [Failure to Deliver] 

 [Increased Cost of Hedging] 

 [Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] 

 [Loss of Stock Borrow] 

 [(ii)] [The Trade Date is [        ] 

 (N.B. only applicable if Change of Law 

and/or Increased Cost of Hedging is 

applicable)] 

 [(iii)] [The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect 

of [specify in relation to each relevant 

Share] is [        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Loss of Stock 

Borrow is applicable)] 

 [(iv)] [The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of 

[specify in relation to each relevant Share] is 

[        ]. 

 (N.B. only applicable if Increased Cost of 

Stock Borrow is applicable)] 

(r) Market Disruption: Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will be 

equal to [        ]/[eight] 

 (if no Specific Maximum Days of Disruption is 
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stated, Specified Maximum Days of Disruption will 

be equal to eight) 

(s) Delayed Redemption on Occurrence 

of Extraordinary Events: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(if not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraph of this paragraph) 

 [Rate for accrual of interest [        ]/as specified in 

the Terms and Conditions] 

(t) Delayed Redemption on Occurrence 

of Additional Disruption Event: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(if not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraph of this paragraph) 

 [Rate for accrual of interest [        ]/as specified in 

the Terms and Conditions] 

22. Notice periods for Condition 6.2: Minimum period: [30] days 

 Maximum period: [60] days 

23. Issuer Call:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):  [         ] 

(b) Optional Redemption Amount and 

method, if any, of calculation of 

such amount(s):  

[[         ] per Calculation Amount/specify other/see 

Appendix]  

(c) If redeemable in part:   

(i) Minimum Redemption 

Amount:  

[         ] 

(ii) Maximum Redemption 

Amount:  

[         ] 

(d) Notice periods:  Minimum period: [15] days 

 Maximum period: [30] days 

 (N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is 

advised to consider the practicalities of distribution 

of information through intermediaries, for example, 

clearing systems (which require a minimum of 5 

clearing system business days' notice for a put) and 

custodians, as well as any other notice requirements 

which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 

and the Agent) 

24. Investor Put:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 
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subparagraphs of this paragraph)  

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):  [         ] 

(b) Optional Redemption Amount and 

method, if any, of calculation of 

such amount(s):  

[[         ] per Calculation Amount/specify other/see 

Appendix]  

(c) Notice periods:  Minimum period: [15] days 

 Maximum period: [30] days 

 (N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is 

advised to consider the practicalities of distribution 

of information through intermediaries, for example, 

clearing systems (which require a minimum of 15 

clearing system business days' notice for a put) and 

custodians, as well as any other notice requirements 

which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 

and the Agent)  

25. Final Redemption Amount:  [[         ] per Calculation Amount/specify other/see 

Appendix]  

26. Early Redemption Amount payable on 

redemption for taxation reasons or on event 

of default and/or the method of calculating 

the same:  

[An amount determined by the Calculation Agent, in 

its sole and absolute discretion, to be equal to the fair 

market value of the Notes immediately prior to the 

date of redemption, plus or minus any related 

hedging gains or costs/[         ] per Calculation 

Amount/specify other/see Appendix]  

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES  

27. Provisions applicable to Physical Delivery: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Asset Amount in relation to each 

Note: 

[Specify] 

(b) [Relevant Asset(s): [As specified above]/The relevant asset[s] to which 

the Notes relate [is/are] [specify]. 

(c) [Settlement Business Day(s): [Specify] 

28. Variation of Settlement: [Applicable / Not Applicable ] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Issuer’s option to vary settlement: The Issuer [has/does not have] the option to vary 

settlement in respect of the Notes.  

(b) Variation of Settlement of Physical 

Delivery Notes: 

[Notwithstanding the fact that the Notes are Physical 

Delivery Notes, the Issuer may make payment of the 
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Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date./The 

Issuer will procure delivery of the Asset Amount in 

respect of the Notes.] 

29. Form of Notes:   

(a) Form:  [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a 

Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any 

time/only upon an Exchange Event]]  

 [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 

Notes on and after the Exchange Date]  

 [Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 

Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only 

upon an Exchange Event]]  

(b) New Global Note:  [Yes][No]  

30. Additional Financial Centre(s):  [Not Applicable/give details] 

 (Note that this paragraph relates to the date of 

payment and not Interest Period end dates to which 

subparagraphs 15(c) and 19(e) relate) 

31. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to 

Definitive Notes:  

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon 

payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange 

into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments 

are still to be made/No] 

32. Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount 

of each payment comprising the Issue Price 

and date on which each payment is to be 

made and consequences of failure to pay, 

including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the 

Notes and interest due on late payment:  

[Not Applicable/give details.  N.B. A new form of 

Temporary Global Note and/or Permanent Global 

Note may be required for Partly Paid issues] 

33. Details relating to Instalment Notes:  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (If not applicable, delete the remaining 

subparagraphs of this paragraph) 

(a) Instalment Amount(s):  [give details]  

(b) Instalment Date(s):  [give details]  

34. Other terms or special conditions:  [Not Applicable/give details] 

35. Governing Law:  [English/Luxembourg] 

 (N.B: Subordinated Notes must be governed by 

Luxembourg law)  

RESPONSIBILITY 
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The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.  

[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source].  The Issuer confirms that such 

information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from 

information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 

information inaccurate or misleading.] 

Signed on behalf of Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de 1'Etat, Luxembourg:  

By: ______________________  

Duly authorised 
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

 

1. LISTING [Application [has been made/is expected to be made] 

by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be 

listed on [specify market – note this must not be a 

regulated market] with effect from [    ].] [Not 

Applicable] 

2. RATINGS 

Ratings:  [Not Applicable] [The Notes to be issued [[have 

been]/[are expected to be]] rated [insert details] by 

[insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating 

agency entity(ies)].]  

 (The above disclosure is only required if the ratings 

of the Notes are different to those stated in the 

Prospectus)  

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE 

[Save for any fees payable to the [Manager(s)/Dealer(s)], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person 

involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest including any conflicting interest material to the 

issue.  The Manager(s)/Dealer(s) and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in 

investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services 

for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business – Amend as appropriate if there 

are other interests] 

4. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 

(a) ISIN:  [         ] 

(b) Common Code:  [         ] 

(c) Any clearing system(s) other than 

Euroclear and Clearstream 

Luxembourg and the relevant 

identification number(s):  

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

(d) Delivery:  Delivery [against/free of] payment  

(e) Intended to be held in a manner 

which would allow Eurosystem 

eligibility:  

[Yes.  Note that the designation "yes" simply means 

that the Notes are intended upon issue to be 

deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 

safekeeper and does not necessarily mean that the 

Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for 

Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit 

operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at 

any or all times during their life.  Such recognition 

will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that the 

Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met] 

 [No.  Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at 
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the date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that 

the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes 

may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as 

common safekeeper.  Note that this does not 

necessarily mean that the Notes will then be 

recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem 

monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by 

the Eurosystem at any time during their life.  Such 

recognition will depend upon the ECB being 

satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have 

been met.] 

5. DISTRIBUTION  

(a) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

(b) If syndicated, names of Managers:  [Not Applicable/give names and addresses] 

(c) Date of Subscription Agreement:  [         ] 

(d) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):  [Not Applicable/give name]  

(e) If non-syndicated, name of relevant 

Dealer:  

[Not Applicable/give name]  

(f) U.S. Selling Restrictions:  [Reg. S Category 2; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA 

not applicable]  

(g) Additional selling restrictions:  [Not Applicable/give details]  

6. U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

[The Notes are [not] Specified Notes for purposes of Section 871(m).] [The Notes will not be 

Specified Notes if they (i) are issued prior to January 1, 2017 or (ii) do not reference any U.S. equity 

or any index that contains any component U.S. equity or otherwise provide direct or indirect 

exposure to U.S. equities. If the Notes are issued after January 1, 2017 and reference a U.S. equity 

or an index that contains a component U.S. equity or otherwise provide direct or indirect exposure 

to U.S. equities, further analysis would be required.] 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be issued by the Issuer which will be 

incorporated by reference into each Global Note (as defined below) and each definitive Note, in the latter 

case only if permitted by the rules of the relevant stock exchange (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the 

relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such definitive Note will have 

endorsed upon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions.  The applicable Pricing Supplement in 

relation to any Tranche of Exempt Notes may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so 

specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following Terms and Conditions, modify the following Terms 

and Conditions for the purpose of such Notes. The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions 

thereof) will be incorporated in, or attached to, each Global Note and definitive Note.  Reference should be 

made to "applicable Final Terms" above for a description of the content of Final Terms which will include 

the definitions of certain terms used in the following Terms and Conditions or specify which of such terms 

are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes. 

References to the Notes shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean: 

(a) in relation to Notes represented by a global Note (a Global Note), units of each Specified Denomination 

in the Specified Currency; 

(b) definitive Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note; and 

(c) any Global Note. 

The Notes, the Receipts (as defined below) and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an 

Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (such Agreement as amended and/or supplemented and/or 

restated from time to time, the Agency Agreement) dated 30 June 2016 made between the Issuer, Banque et 

Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg, as principal paying agent and agent bank (the Agent, which 

expression shall include any successor as agent) the other paying agents named therein (together with the 

Agent, the Paying Agents, which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents) and the 

Issuing Agent (the Issuing Agent, which expression shall include any successor Issuing Agent). 

The final terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms 

attached to or endorsed on this Note which supplement these Terms and Conditions (the Conditions) or, if 

this Note is a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic 

Area (EEA) nor offered in the EEA in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under 

the Prospectus Directive (an Exempt Note), the final terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in 

Part A of the Pricing Supplement and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so 

specified or to the extent inconsistent with the Conditions, replace or modify the Conditions for the purposes 

of this Note.  Any reference in the Conditions to applicable Final Terms shall be deemed to include a 

reference to applicable Pricing Supplement where relevant.  The expression Prospectus Directive means 

Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant 

implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the EEA. References to the applicable Final Terms 

are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or 

endorsed on this Note. 

Interest bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons (Coupons) and, in the case of Notes which, when 

issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further Coupons 

(Talons) attached on issue.  Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise 

requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons.  Exempt Notes in definitive form which are 

repayable in instalments have receipts (Receipts) for the payment of the instalments of principal (other than 

the final instalment) attached on issue. 
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Any reference to Noteholders or holders, shall mean the holders of the Notes and shall, in relation to any 

Notes represented by a global Note, be construed as provided below.  Any reference to Receiptholders shall 

mean the holders of the Receipts and any reference to Couponholders shall mean the holders of any 

Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of any Talons. 

As used herein, Tranche means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and 

admission to trading) and Series means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of 

Notes which (a) are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) have the same terms and 

conditions or terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first 

payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue. 

If this Note is governed by English law (as specified in the applicable Final Terms), the Noteholders, the 

Receiptholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of Covenant (such Deed of 

Covenant as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the Deed of Covenant) dated 

28 June 2013 and made by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by a common 

depositary on behalf of Euroclear (as defined below) and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as defined below).  If 

this Note is governed by Luxembourg law (as specified in the applicable Final Terms), references to the 

Deed of Covenant in these Terms and Conditions are not applicable. 

Under Luxembourg law, owners of interests in a global Note governed by Luxembourg law will, 

subject to proof of ownership of such interest, be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer either 

individually or, following the appointment of a Noteholder's representative, collectively through such 

representative, pursuant to articles 86 to 94-8 of the Companies Act 1915 and the law of 1 August 2001 

on the circulation of securities and other fungible instruments. 

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available during normal business hours at 

the specified office of each of the Agent and the other Paying Agents.  If the Notes are to be admitted to 

trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the applicable Final Terms will be 

published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).  If this Note is an Exempt 

Note, the applicable Pricing Supplement will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more Notes 

and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the relevant Paying Agent as to its 

holding of such Notes and identity.  The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are deemed 

to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of 

Covenant and the applicable Final Terms which are binding on them. 

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have 

the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless 

otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the 

applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail. 

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the currency 

(the Specified Currency) and the denomination (the Specified Denomination(s)) specified in the 

applicable Final Terms.  Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of 

another Specified Denomination. 

This Note is a Senior Note or a Subordinated Note, as indicated in the applicable Final Terms. 

Unless this Note is an Exempt Note, this note may be, to the extent specified in the applicable Final 

Terms, a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or a Note linked to the 

underlying reference asset(s) (an Underlying Reference(s)) specified in the applicable Final Terms 

such as an Inflation Linked Interest Note, a Range Accrual Note, a Dual Range Accrual Note, an 

Index Linked Redemption Note, an Equity Linked Redemption Note or any appropriate combination 

thereof. 
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If this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may also be an Index Linked Interest Note, an Instalment 

Note, a Partly Paid Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending on the 

Redemption/Payment Basis shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement. 

Notes in definitive form are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in 

which case references to Coupons and Couponholders in these Terms and Conditions are not 

applicable. 

In the case of any Equity Linked Redemption Notes the applicable Final Terms will specify whether 

the Notes are Cash Settled Notes or Physical Delivery Notes.  Save as otherwise specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, Cash Settled Notes will be redeemed by the payment to the Noteholders of 

such amount as is specified in the applicable Final Terms and Physical Delivery Notes will be 

redeemed by the delivery of the Relevant Asset(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms.  

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery.  The Issuer 

and any Paying Agent may, except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by 

law, deem and treat the bearer of any Note, Receipt or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof 

(whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of 

any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any global Note, without 

prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding paragraph. 

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank 

S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg) each person 

(other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records 

of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such 

Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be 

conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the 

Issuer and any Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes 

other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on the Notes, for which purpose the 

bearer of the relevant global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the holder 

of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant global Note (and the 

expressions Noteholder and holder of Notes and related expressions shall be construed 

accordingly).  Notes which are represented by a global Note will be transferable only in accordance 

with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the 

case may be. 

References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be 

deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

2. Status of the Notes 

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Senior Notes or Subordinated Notes. 

2.1 Status of Senior Notes 

If the Notes are specified as Senior Notes in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes and the relative 

Receipts and Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of 

Condition 3) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu among themselves and (save 

for certain debts required to be preferred by law) equally with all other unsecured obligations (other 

than subordinated obligations, if any) of the Issuer from time to time outstanding. 

Subject to the application of the Resolution Law or the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM) in 

Luxembourg, the Senior Notes may be subject to write-down or conversion by a relevant authority 
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which may result in the Noteholders and Couponholders losing some or all of their investment, as 

described in "Risk Factors - Bail-in tool under the BRRD". 

2.2 Status and Subordination of Subordinated Notes 

(a) Status of Subordinated Notes 

If the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes and the 

relative Receipts and Coupons relating to them constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated 

obligations of the Issuer and rank and will rank pari passu and without any preference among 

themselves.  The rights and claims of the holders of Subordinated Notes and the relative Receipts 

and Coupons against the Issuer in respect of such Subordinated Notes and the relative Receipts and 

Coupons (including any damages (if payable)) are subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors (as 

defined below). 

Notes that constitute Tier 2 Capital will have a minimum maturity of five years. 

(b) Subordination of Subordinated Notes 

In the event of the Liquidation of the Issuer, the rights of the holders of the Subordinated Notes and 

the relative Receipts and Coupons against the Issuer in respect of such Subordinated Notes and the 

relative Receipts and Coupons (including any damages) if payable)) shall: 

(i) be subordinated to the claims of all Senior Creditors; 

(ii) rank pari passu with the claims of all other subordinated creditors of the Issuer which in 

each case by law rank, or by their terms are expressed to rank, pari passu with the 

Subordinated  Notes; and 

(iii) rank senior to the claims of holders of the Issuer's ordinary shares, preference shares and any 

junior subordinated obligations or other securities of the Issuer which by law rank, or by 

their terms are expressed to rank, junior to the Subordinated Notes. 

Subject to the application of the Resolution Law or the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM), the 

Subordinated Notes may be subject to write-down or conversion by a relevant authority which may 

result in the Noteholders and Couponholders losing some or all of their investment, as described in 

"Risk Factors – Loss absorption at the point of non-viability" and "Bail-in tool under the BRRD". 

2.3 No set-off 

Where the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms, subject to 

applicable law, no Noteholder or Couponholder may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, 

compensation or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under, or in 

connection with, the Notes or Coupons and each Noteholder or Couponholder shall, by virtue of its 

holding of any Notes or Coupons (as the case may be), be deemed to have waived all such rights of 

set-off, compensation or retention. Notwithstanding the above, if any amounts due and payable to 

any Noteholder or Couponholder by the Issuer in respect of, or arising under, the Notes or Coupons 

are discharged by set-off, such Noteholder or Couponholder shall, subject to applicable law, 

immediately pay an amount equal to the amount of such discharge to the Issuer (or the liquidator or 

administrator of the Issuer as the case may be) and, until such time as payment is made, shall hold an 

amount equal to such amount in a fiduciary (fiduciaire) capacity, or where applicable law permits, in 

trust for the Issuer (or the liquidator or administrator of the Issuer, as the case may be) and, 

accordingly, any such discharge shall be deemed not to have taken place. 

2.4 Defined Terms 
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In this Condition: 

Liquidation means if an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the judicial liquidation 

(liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer in accordance with Articles 129ff. of the law of 18 December 

2015 on the default of credit institutions and certain investment firms (loi du 18 décembre 2015 

relative à la défaillance des etablissements de credit et de certaines  enterprises d'investissement) 

(the Resolution Law) or an effective resolution is passed for the voluntary liquidation (liquidation 

volontaire) of the Issuer in accordance with Article 128 of the Resolution Law; and 

Senior Creditors means creditors of the Issuer (i) who are depositors and/or other unsubordinated 

creditors of the Issuer; (ii) whose claims are or are expressed to be subordinated (whether only in the 

event of the Liquidation of the Issuer or otherwise) to the claims of unsubordinated creditors of the 

Issuer, other than those whose claims by law rank, or by their terms are expressed to rank, pari passu 

with, or junior to, the claims of the Noteholders and holders of the relevant Coupons. 

3. Negative Pledge in respect of Senior Notes 

If the Notes are specified as Senior Notes in the applicable Final Terms, so long as any of the Notes 

remain outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement), the Issuer will not create or permit to be 

outstanding any pledge, mortgage, charge or other security interest for the benefit of the holders of 

any Securities (as defined below) upon the whole or any part of the property or assets, present or 

future, of the Issuer to secure (a) any payment due in respect of any Securities (b) any payment 

under any guarantee of any Securities or (c) any payment under any indemnity or other like 

obligation relating to any Securities, in any such case in which: 

(a) either such Securities are by their terms originally denominated or originally payable, or 

confer a right to receive payment, in any currency other than euro or all such Securities are 

originally denominated or originally payable in euro and more than 50% of the aggregate 

principal amount thereof is initially distributed outside Luxembourg by or with the 

authorisation of the issuer thereof; and 

(b) such Securities are for the time being, or are intended to be, quoted, listed, ordinarily dealt in 

or traded on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or other similar securities market, 

without in any such case at the same time according to the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons the 

same security as is granted to or is outstanding in respect of such Securities or such guarantee, 

indemnity or other like obligation or such other security or arrangement as shall be approved by an 

Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders.  For the purposes of this Condition, Securities means 

bonds, debentures, notes or other similar securities of the Issuer or any other person with a stated 

maturity of more than one year from the creation thereof. 

4. Interest 

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate 

Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes, Range Accrual Notes, Dual Range 

Accrual Notes or, in the case of Exempt Notes, whether a different interest basis applies. 

4.1 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes 

This Condition 4.1 applies to Fixed Rate Notes only.  The applicable Final Terms contains 

provisions applicable to the determination of fixed rate interest and must be read in conjunction with 

this Condition 4.1 for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Fixed Rate 

Notes.  In particular, the applicable Final Terms will specify the Interest Commencement Date, the 

Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest Payment Date(s), the Maturity Date, the Fixed Coupon Amount, any 
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applicable Broken Amount, the Calculation Amount, the Day Count Fraction and any applicable 

Determination Date. 

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the 

rate(s) per annum equal to the fixed Rate(s) of Interest.  Interest will be payable in arrear on the 

Interest Payment Date(s) in each year and on the Maturity Date.  The first payment of interest will be 

made on the Interest Payment Date next following the Interest Commencement Date and, if the first 

anniversary of, or other relevant period following, the Interest Commencement Date is not an 

Interest Payment Date, in the case of Notes in definitive form will amount to the Initial Broken 

Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms.  In the case of Notes in definitive form, if the 

Maturity Date is not an Interest Payment Date, interest from and including the preceding Interest 

Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to the Maturity Date will amount to the Final 

Broken Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms.  If the Notes are in definitive form, except 

as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment 

Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon 

Amount. 

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken 

Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any 

period by applying the Rate of Interest to: 

(a) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a global Note, the aggregate 

outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes represented by such global Note (or, if 

they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or 

(b) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount; 

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Fixed Day Count Fraction, and rounding 

the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-

unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.  Where 

the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation 

Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of 

the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount 

by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any 

further rounding. 

In these Conditions: 

Determination Date(s) means the date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms; 

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to but 

excluding the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or 

the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first 

Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date); 

Fixed Day Count Fraction means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest for any 

Fixed Interest Period: 

(a) if Actual/360 is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the 

Interest Period divided by 360; 

(b) if 30/360, 360/360 or Bond Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of 

days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, 

the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such 
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number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) 

divided by 360. 

(c) if 30E/360 or Eurobond Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of 

days in the Interest Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis 

of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months, without regard to the date of the first day or 

last day of the Interest Period unless, in the case of an Interest Period ending on the Maturity 

Date, the Maturity Date is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of 

February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month); and 

(d) if Actual/Actual (ICMA) is specified in the applicable Final Terms: 

(i) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and 

including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest 

Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the Accrual 

Period) is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the 

Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the 

product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number 

of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur 

in one calendar year; or 

(ii) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination 

Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of: 

(A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination 

Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the 

number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of 

Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would 

occur in one calendar year; and 

(B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination 

Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such 

Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would 

occur in one calendar year. 

Fixed Interest Period means the period from and including an Interest Period End Date (or the 

Interest Commencement Date) to but excluding the next (or first) Interest Period End Date; and 

sub-unit means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency 

that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one 

cent. 

Fixed Rate Notes may also include an interest step-up provision whereby the Rate of Interest 

payable increases at pre-determined periods to a pre-determined percentage per annum (as specified 

in the applicable Final Terms for such Notes). 

4.2 Interest on Floating Rate Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes and Range Accrual Reference Rate 

Determination on Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes 

This Condition 4.2 applies to Floating Rate Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes and Reference 

Rate Determination on Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes only.  The applicable Final 

Terms must be read in conjunction with these Conditions for full information on the manner in 

which interest is calculated on Floating Rate Notes and Inflation Linked Interest Notes and how the 

Range Accrual Reference Rate is determined for Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes.  In 

particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify any Interest Payment Dates, any Interest Period 
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End Dates, the Interest Commencement Date, the Business Day Convention, any Additional 

Business Centres, whether ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination applies to the 

calculation of interest, the party who will calculate the amount of interest due if it is not the Agent, 

the Margin, any maximum or minimum interest rates and the Day Count Fraction.  Where ISDA 

Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also specify the 

applicable Floating Rate Option, Designated Maturity, Reset Date and Rate Cut-Off Date.  Where 

Screen Rate Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also 

specify the applicable Reference Rate(s), Interest Determination Date(s) and Relevant Screen Page. 

Each Floating Rate Note and each Inflation Linked Interest Note bears interest from (and including) 

the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment 

Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms and on the Maturity Date. 

(a) Interest Payment Dates 

The Final Terms in relation to each Series of Notes may specify one of the following 

business day conventions as being applicable, namely: 

(i) the FRN Convention, in which case interest shall be payable in arrear on each date 

(each an Interest Payment Date) which numerically corresponds to their Issue Date 

or such other date as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms or, as the case 

may be, the preceding Interest Payment Date, in the calendar month which is the 

number of months specified in the applicable Final Terms after the month in which 

such Issue Date or such other date as aforesaid or, as the case may be, the preceding 

Interest Payment Date occurred; provided that: 

(A) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in 

which an Interest Payment Date should occur, then the relevant Interest 

Payment Date will be the last day which is a Business Day (as defined 

below) in that month; 

(B) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a 

Business Day, then the relevant Interest Payment Date will be the first 

following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next 

calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a 

Business Day; and 

(C) if such Issue Date or such other date as aforesaid or, as the case may be, the 

preceding Interest Payment Date occurred on the last day in a calendar 

month which was a Business Day, then all subsequent Interest Payment 

Dates will be the last day which is a Business Day in the month which is the 

specified number of months after the month in which such Issue Date or 

such other date as aforesaid or, as the case may be, the preceding Interest 

Payment Date occurred; or 

(ii) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, in which case interest shall be 

payable in arrear on such dates (each an Interest Payment Date) as are specified in 

the applicable Final Terms; provided that, if any Interest Payment Date would 

otherwise fall on a date which is not a Business Day, the relevant Interest Payment 

Date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in 

the next calendar month, in which case the relevant Interest Payment Date will be 

the first preceding day which is a Business Day; or 

(iii) the Following Business Day Convention, in which case interest shall be payable in 

arrear on such dates (each an Interest Payment Date) as are specified in the 
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applicable Final Terms; provided that, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise 

fall on a date which is not a Business Day, the relevant Interest Payment Date will 

be the first following day which is a Business Day; or 

(iv) the Preceding Business Day Convention, in which case interest shall be payable in 

arrear on such dates (each an Interest Payment Date) as are specified in this 

applicable Final Terms; provided that, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise 

fall on a date which is not a Business Day, the relevant Interest Payment Date will 

be the first preceding day which is a Business Day; or 

(v) in relation to Exempt Notes only, such other convention as may be specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the applicable Final Terms specifies that the 

relevant business day convention is to be applied on an "unadjusted" basis, the 

Interest Amount (as defined below) payable on any date shall not be affected by the 

application of that business day convention. 

Each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and 

ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period End Date and each period 

beginning on (and including) an Interest Period End Date and ending on (but 

excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period End Date is herein called an Interest 

Period. 

In these Conditions, Business Day means a day which is both: 

(A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle 

payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign 

exchange and foreign currency deposits) in each Additional Business Centre 

specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(B) either (a) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than 

euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle 

payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign 

currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the 

relevant Specified Currency (any such centre, an Additional Business 

Centre and which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New 

Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or Auckland, respectively) or (b) in relation 

to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the Trans-European Automated 

Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System (the 

TARGET2 System) is open. 

(b) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes and Range Accrual Reference Rate Determination 

on Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes 

The (A) Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes or 

Floating Rate Range Accrual and Floating Rate Dual Range Accrual Notes; or (B) the Range 

Accrual Reference Rate in respect of Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes, will be 

determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms (which may be ISDA 

Determination, or Screen Rate Determination) as described below. 

(i) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes, Range Accrual and Dual Range 

Accrual Notes 
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Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner 

in which (I) the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each 

Interest Period, or (II) the Range Accrual Reference Rate for each Interest Period, 

will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final 

Terms) the Margin (if any).  For the purposes of this subparagraph (b), ISDA Rate 

for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be 

determined by the Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent were 

acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an 

agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions as published by International 

Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue 

Date of the first Tranche of the Notes (the ISDA Definitions) and under which: 

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms; 

(B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms;  

(C) the relevant Reset Date is the day specified in the applicable Final Terms; 

and 

(D) the relevant Rate Cut-Off Date is the day specified in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

For the purposes of this subparagraph (i), Floating Rate, Calculation Agent, 

Floating Rate Option, Designated Maturity, Reset Date and Rate Cut-Off Date 

have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions. 

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms the Minimum Rate of Interest 

shall be deemed to be zero. 

(ii) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes, Range Accrual and Dual Range 

Accrual Notes 

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms 

as the manner in which (I) the Rate of Interest or (II) the Range Accrual 

Reference Rate for each Interest Period is to be determined, the Rate of 

Interest for each Interest Period or Range Accrual Reference Rate will, 

subject as provided below, be either: 

I. the offered quotation; or 

II. the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal 

place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the offered 

quotations, 

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate(s) (being 

either LIBOR or EURIBOR, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) 

which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page 

(or such replacement page on that service which displays the information) as 

at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the 

case of EURIBOR) (I) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus 

or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all 

as determined by the Agent or (II) on such relevant determination date for 

Range Accrual or Dual Range Accrual Notes, as specified in the applicable 

Final Terms.  If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the 

Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest 



 

 156  

 

quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more 

than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be 

disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic 

mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations. 

If the Agent cannot determine the Rate of Interest or the Range Accrual 

Reference Rate as aforementioned, because the Relevant Screen Page is not 

published, or if the Agent cannot make such determination for any other 

reason, then the Rate of Interest or the Range Accrual Reference Rate (as 

applicable) for the respective Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean, 

(rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being 

rounded upwards) determined by the Agent of the interest rates which the 

Reference Banks (as defined in the Agency Agreement), quote to prime 

banks on the relevant Interest Determination Date for deposits in the 

Specified Currency for such Interest Period.  

Should two or more of the Reference Banks provide the relevant quotation, 

the arithmetic mean shall be calculated as described above on the basis of 

the quotations supplied.  

If less than two Reference Banks provide a quotation, then the Rate of 

Interest or the Range Accrual Reference Rate (as applicable) for the 

respective Interest Period shall be determined by the Agent.  If such 

determination cannot be made, the Rate of Interest or the Range Accrual 

Reference Rate (as applicable) shall be determined as at the last preceding 

Interest Determination Date. 

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms the Minimum Rate of 

Interest shall be deemed to be zero.  

(iii) CMS Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes, Range Accrual and Dual Range 

Accrual Notes  

Where CMS Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms 

as the manner in which (I) the Rate of Interest or (II) the Range Accrual 

Reference Rate for each Interest Period is to be determined, the Rate of 

Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be 

determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to the following formula: 

CMS Reference Rate + Margin 

If the CMS Screen Page is not available, the Calculation Agent shall request 

each of the CMS Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its 

quotation for the Relevant Swap Rate at approximately the Specified Time 

on the Interest Determination Date in question. If at least three of the CMS 

Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such quotation, the 

CMS Reference Rate for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean of 

such quotations, eliminating the highest quotation (or, in the event of 

equality, one of the highest) and the lowest quotation (or, in the event of 

equality, one of the lowest). 

If on any Interest Determination Date less than three or none of the CMS 

Reference Banks provides the Calculation Agent with such quotations as 

provided in the preceding paragraph, the CMS Reference Rate shall be 

determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith on such commercial basis 
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as considered appropriate by the Calculation Agent in its absolute discretion, 

in accordance with standard market practice. 

In these  Condition: 

CMS Reference Rate shall mean the applicable swap rate for swap 

transactions in the Reference Currency with a maturity of the Designated 

Maturity, expressed as a percentage, which appears on the CMS Screen Page 

as at the Specified Time on the Interest Determination Date in question, all 

as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

CMS Reference Banks means (i) where the Reference Currency is Euro, 

the principal office of five leading swap dealers in the Eurozone inter-bank 

market, (ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, the principal London 

office of five leading swap dealers in the London inter-bank market, (iii) 

where the Reference Currency is United States dollars, the principal New 

York City office of five leading swap dealers in the New York City inter-

bank market, or (iv) where the Reference Currency is Yen, the principal 

Tokyo office of five leading swap dealers in the Tokyo inter-bank market, in 

each case selected by the Calculation Agent. 

CMS Screen Page means (i) where the Reference Currency is Euro, Reuters 

Screen ISDAFIX2 Page under the heading "EURIBOR BASIS – EUR" and 

above the caption "11:00 AM FRANKFURT" or its successor display page; 

(ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, Reuters Screen ISDAFIX4 

Page or its successor display page; (iii) where the Reference Currency is 

United States dollar, Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1 Page or its successor display 

page; and (iv) where the Reference Currency is Japanese Yen, Reuters 

Screen 17143 Page as of or its successor display page, in each case unless 

otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Designated Maturity shall have the meaning given to this term in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Interest Determination Date means (i) where the Reference Currency is 

Euro, the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the 

start of each Interest Period; (ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, 

the first day of each Interest Period; (iii) where the Reference Currency is 

United States dollar, the day that is two U.S. Government Securities 

Business Days preceding the first day of each Interest Period; and (iv) where 

the Reference Currency is Japanese Yen, two Tokyo Business Days prior to 

the start of each Interest Period, in each case unless otherwise specified in 

the applicable Final Terms. 

Margin shall have the meaning given to this term in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Reference Currency means either Euro, Sterling, United States dollars or 

Japanese Yen, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Relevant Swap Rate means: 

(1) where the Reference Currency is Euro, the mid-market annual 

swap rate determined on the basis of the arithmetic mean of the bid 

and offered rates for the annual fixed leg, calculated on a 30/360 
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day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating euro interest rate swap 

transaction with a term equal to the Designated Maturity 

commencing on the first day of the relevant Interest Period and in a 

Representative Amount with an acknowledged dealer of good 

credit in the swap market, where the floating leg, in each case 

calculated on an Actual/360 day count basis, is equivalent to EUR-

EURIBOR-Reuters (as defined in the ISDA Definitions, as 

published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, 

Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first 

Tranche of the Notes (the "ISDA Definitions")) with a designated 

maturity determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to 

standard market practice and/or the ISDA Definitions; 

(2) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, the mid-market semi-

annual swap rate determined on the basis of the arithmetic mean of 

the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg, calculated 

on an Actual/365 (Fixed) day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating 

Sterling interest rate swap transaction with a term equal to the 

Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of the relevant 

Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with an 

acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market, where the 

floating leg, in each case calculated on an Actual/365 (Fixed) day 

count basis, is equivalent to GBP-LIBOR-BBA (as defined in the 

ISDA Definitions) with a designated maturity of six months; 

(3) where the Reference Currency is United States dollar, the mid-

market semi-annual swap rate determined on the basis of the mean 

of the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg, 

calculated on a 30/360 day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating 

United States dollar interest rate swap transaction with a term 

equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of 

the relevant Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with 

an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market, where 

the floating leg, calculated on an Actual/360 day count basis, is 

equivalent to USD-LIBOR-BBA (as defined in the ISDA 

Definitions) with a designated maturity of three months; and 

(4) where the Reference Currency is Japanese Yen, the mid-market 

semi-annual swap rate determined on the basis of the arithmetic 

mean of the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg, 

calculated on an Actual/Actual day count basis, of a fixed-for-

floating Japanese Yen interest rate swap transaction with a term 

equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of 

the relevant Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with 

an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market, where 

the floating leg, calculated on an Actual/360 day count basis, is 

equivalent to JPY-LIBOR-BBA (as defined in the ISDA 

Definitions) with a designated maturity of six months. 

Representative Amount means an amount that is representative for a single 

transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time. 

Specified Time means (i) where the Reference Currency is Euro, 11.00 a.m., 

Frankfurt time; (ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, 11.00 a.m. 

London time; (iii) where the Reference Currency is United States dollar, 
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11.00 a.m., New York City time; and (iv) where the Reference Currency is 

Japanese Yen, 3:00 p.m., Tokyo time. 

Tokyo Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on 

which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in 

Tokyo. 

U.S. Government Securities Business Day means any day except for 

Saturday, Sunday or a day on which The Bond Market Association or its 

successor recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be 

closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government 

securities. 

(iv) CMS Formula Rate for Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes 

Where CMS Formula Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the 

manner in which the Range Accrual Reference Rate for each Interest Period 

is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject 

as provided below, be determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to 

the following formula: 

CMS Reference Rate1 - CMS Reference Rate2 

CMS Reference Rate1 shall mean the applicable swap rate for swap 

transactions in the Reference Currency1 with a maturity of the Designated 

Maturity1, expressed as a percentage, which appears on the CMS Screen 

Page as at the Specified Time on the Interest Determination Date in 

question, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

CMS Reference Rate2 shall mean the applicable swap rate for swap 

transactions in the Reference Currency2 with a maturity of the Designated 

Maturity2, expressed as a percentage, which appears on the CMS Screen 

Page as at the Specified Time on the Interest Determination Date in 

question, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

Designated Maturity1 shall have the meaning given to this term in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Designated Maturity2 shall have the meaning given to this term in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Reference Currency1 means either Euro, Sterling, United States dollars or 

Japanese Yen, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Reference Currency2 means either Euro, Sterling, United States dollars or 

Japanese Yen, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

(c) Interest on Inflation Linked Interest Notes 

The Interest Amount payable for each Interest Period for Inflation Linked Interest Notes will 

be calculated in accordance with Part 3 of the Technical Annex. 

(d) Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest 
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If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, 

then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in 

accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) above is less than such Minimum Rate of 

Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.  

If the applicable Final Terms specify a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, 

then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in 

accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) above is greater than such Maximum Rate 

of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of 

Interest. 

(e) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts 

The Agent will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to 

be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period. 

The Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the Interest Amount) payable on the 

Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to: 

(i) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a global Note, the 

aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes represented by such global Note 

(or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or 

(ii) in the case of Floating Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount; 

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding 

the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any 

such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market 

convention.  Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note in definitive form is 

a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note 

shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the 

Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach 

the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding. 

Day Count Fraction means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in 

accordance with this Condition 4.2: 

(i) if Actual/Actual (ISDA) or Actual/Actual is specified in the applicable Final 

Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any 

portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of 

days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and 

(ii) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-

leap year divided by 365); 

(ii) if Actual/365 (Fixed) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number 

of days in the Interest Period divided by 365; 

(iii) if Actual/360 is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days 

in the Interest Period divided by 360; 

(iv) if 30/360, 360/360 or Bond Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the 

number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis 

as follows: 

360

)]D-(D)]M-(M x  [30   )]Y-(Y x [360
 Fraction Count Day 121212 
  
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where: 

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period 

falls; 

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day of the Interest Period falls; 

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Interest Period falls; 

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day of the Interest Period falls; 

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless 

such number is 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 

included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater 

than 29, in which case D2 will be 30; 

(v) if 30E/360 or Eurobond Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the 

number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis 

as follows: 

360

)]D-(D)]M-(M x  [30   )]Y-(Y x [360
 Fraction Count Day 121212 
  

where: 

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period 

falls; 

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day of the Interest Period falls; 

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Interest Period falls; 

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day of the Interest Period falls; 

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless 

such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 

included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 

will be 30; and 

(vi) if 30E/360 (ISDA) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in 

the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

360

)]D-(D)]M-(M x  [30   )]Y-(Y x [360
 Fraction Count Day 121212 
  
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where: 

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period 

falls; 

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the 

last day of the Interest Period falls; 

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 

Interest Period falls; 

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day of the Interest Period falls; 

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless 

(i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which 

case D1 will be 30; and 

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 

included in the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not 

the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30. 

(vii) if Actual/Actual (ICMA) is specified in the applicable Final Terms: 

(A) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from 

(and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the 

Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date 

(the Accrual Period) is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period 

during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual 

Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such 

Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as 

specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar 

year; or 

(B) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the 

Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:  

(1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the 

Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided 

by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination 

Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in 

the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; 

and 

(2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next 

Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of 

days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of 

Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year. 

(f) Linear Interpolation 

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the 

applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by 

the Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant 

Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the 
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applicable Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is 

specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), one of which shall be determined as if 

the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter 

than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as 

if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer 

than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate 

available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Agent 

shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines 

appropriate.  

Designated Maturity means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period of time 

designated in the Reference Rate. 

(g) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts 

The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period 

and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified (by no later than the first day of each 

Interest Period) to the Issuer and any stock exchange on which the relevant Notes to which 

this Condition 4.2 applies are for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in 

accordance with Condition 13 as soon as possible after their determination but in no event 

later than the fourth London Business Day thereafter.  Each Interest Amount and Interest 

Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative 

arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension 

or shortening of the Interest Period.  Any such amendment will promptly be notified to each 

stock exchange on which the relevant Notes to which this Condition 4.2 applies are for the 

time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.  For the purposes 

of this paragraph, the expression London Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday 

or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in 

London. 

(h) Certificates to be Final 

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and 

decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this 

Condition 4.2, whether by the Agent shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or 

manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agent, the Calculation Agent (if applicable), the 

other Paying Agents and all Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders and (in the 

absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the 

Couponholders shall attach to the Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by 

it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions. 

4.3 Interest on Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes 

(a) Fixed Rate Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual 

The Interest Amount payable on each Fixed Rate Range Accrual Note and Fixed Rate Dual 

Range Accrual Note on each Interest Payment Date up to (and including) the Maturity Date 

shall be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Determination Date 

in accordance with the following formula in respect of the Interest Period ending on or 

around such Interest Payment Date: 

Fraction)Count Day 

Days) tualAccrued/Ac (DaysRate (FixedonDenominati SpecifiedAmountInterest 
 

(b) Floating Rate Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual 
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The Interest Amount payable on each Floating Rate Range Accrual Note Floating Rate Dual 

Range Accrual Note on each Interest Payment Date up to (and including) the Maturity Date 

shall be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Determination Date 

in accordance with the following formula in respect of the Interest Period ending on or 

around such Interest Payment Date: 

Fraction)Count Day 

Days) tualAccrued/Ac (DaysRate (FloatingonDenominati SpecifiedAmountInterest 

 

(c) CMS Range Accrual 

The Interest Amount payable on each CMS Range Accrual Note on each Interest Payment 

Date up to (and including) the Maturity Date shall be an amount determined by the 
Calculation Agent on the relevant Determination Date in accordance with the following 
formula in respect of the Interest Period ending on or around such Interest Payment Date: 

Fraction)Count Day Days) tualAccrued/Ac (Days

Rate) Floatingor  Rate (FixedonDenominati SpecifiedAmountInterest 




 

(d) Autoswitch 

In addition, when Autoswitch is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, if the 

Accumulated Interest Rate reaches the Target Rate, the Rate of Interest applicable on any 

succeeding Interest Payment Date shall be the Switch Rate. 

(e) Definitions 

For the purposes of Range Accrual Notes, the terms set out below have the following 

meanings: 

Accumulated Interest Rate means the sum of each Rate of Interest paid or payable, as the 

case may be) from (and including) the first Interest Payment Date to and including the next 

Interest Payment Date which has yet to occur.  

Actual Days means, in relation to each Interest Period, the number of calendar days in such 

Interest Period. 

Cut off Date means the date 5 Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date for 

the relevant Interest Period. 

Day Count Fraction means the day count fraction as specified in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Days Accrued means, in relation to each Interest Period, the number of calendar days in 

such Interest Period at which the Range Accrual Reference Rate is: 

(i) (a) equal or greater than the Lower Range and (b) equal or less than the Upper Range (in 

respect of Range Accrual Notes); or 

(ii) (a) equal or greater than the Lower Range1 and (b) equal or less than the Upper Range1; 

and (a) equal or greater than the Lower Range2 and (b) equal or less than the Upper Range2 

(in respect of Dual Range Accrual Notes). 
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Fixed Rate means the fixed rate as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to any 

adjustment to the Fixed Rate for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the applicable 

Final Terms. 

Floating Rate means the floating rate as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to 

any adjustment to the Floating Rate for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Interest Period means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest 

Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period End Date and 

each period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period End Date and ending on (but 

excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period End Date. 

Lower Range means the Lower Range as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to 

any adjustment to the Lower Range for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Lower Range1 means the Lower Range1 as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject 

to any adjustment to the Lower Range1 for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Lower Range2 means the Lower Range2 as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject 

to any adjustment to the Lower Range2 for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each calendar day during the relevant Interest Period, provided 

that: 

(i) Prior to the Cut Off Date, the Range Accrual Reference Rate for a calendar day, 

which is not a Business Day or a day on which the Range Accrual Reference Rate is 

otherwise capable of being determined, shall be deemed to be the Range Accrual 

Reference Rate as observed on the previous day that was a Business Day and a day 

on which the Range Accrual Reference Rate was capable of being determined; and 

(ii) The Range Accrual Reference Rate for the period after the Cut Off Date through to 

the end of such Interest Period shall be deemed to be the Range Accrual Reference 

Rate as observed on the Cut Off Date for that Interest Period. 

Range Accrual Reference Rate means, for each Observation Date in the relevant Interest 

Period, such reference rate as specified in the applicable Final Terms, whereby such 

specified reference rate shall be determined (i) for a Fixed Rate Range Accrual Note, a Fixed 

Rate Dual Range Accrual Note, Floating Rate Range Accrual Note or a Floating Rate Dual 

Range Accrual Note by the Calculation Agent according to Condition 4.2(b)(i) (ISDA 

Determination for Floating Rate Notes, Range Accrual and Dual Range Accrual Notes) or 

4.2(b)(ii) (Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes, Range Accrual and Dual 

Range Accrual Notes), whichever is so specified in the applicable Final Terms, or (ii) for a 

CMS Range Accrual Note according to Condition 4.2(b)(iii).  

Switch Rate means the percentage rate specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Target Rate means the percentage rate specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Upper Range means the Upper Range as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to 

any adjustment to the Upper Range for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 
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Upper Range1 means the Upper Range1 as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject 

to any adjustment to the Upper Range1 for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Upper Range2 means the Upper Range2 as specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject 

to any adjustment to the Upper Range2 for subsequent Interest Periods, as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

4.4 Exempt Notes 

In the case of Exempt Notes which are also Floating Rate Notes, Range Accrual or Dual Range 

Accrual Notes where the applicable Pricing Supplement identifies that Screen Rate Determination or 

CMS Rate Determination applies to the calculation of interest or determination of the Range Accrual 

Reference Rate, if the Reference Rate or the Range Accrual Reference Rate from time to time is 

specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than LIBOR, EURIBOR or CMS 

Reference Rate, the Rate of Interest or the Range Accrual Reference Rate in respect of such Exempt 

Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement. 

The rate or amount of interest payable in respect of Exempt Notes which are not also Fixed Rate 

Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes, Range Accrual or Dual Range Accrual 

Notes shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, provided 

that where such Notes are Index Linked Interest Notes the provisions of Condition 4.2 shall, save to 

the extent amended in the applicable Pricing Supplement, apply as if the references therein to 

Floating Rate Notes and to the Agent were references to Index Linked Interest Notes and the 

Calculation Agent, respectively, and provided further that the Calculation Agent will notify the 

Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable after calculating 

the same. 

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), 

interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as 

specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. 

4.5 Accrual of Interest 

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will 

cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless, upon due presentation thereof, 

payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused.  In such event, interest will continue to 

accrue until whichever is the earlier of: 

(a) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and 

(b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable has been received 

by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given in accordance with Condition 13. 

5. Payments 

5.1 Method of Payment 

Subject as provided below: 

(a) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by transfer to an account in 

the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal 

financial centre of the country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency 

is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars, shall be Sydney or Auckland, respectively); 



 

 167  

 

(b) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account 

to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee. 

(c) References to Specified Currency will include any successor currency under applicable law. 

5.2 Payments subject to fiscal and other laws 

Payments will be subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto 

in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7, and (ii) any 

withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 

1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or 

(without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7) any law implementing an intergovernmental 

approval thereto, and (iii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to Section 871(m) of the 

Code. 

5.3 Presentation of Notes, Receipts and Coupons 

Payments of principal in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the 

manner provided in Condition 5.1 above only against surrender of definitive Notes, and payments of 

interest in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only 

against surrender of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the 

United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America and its 

possessions). 

Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form and save as provided in Condition 5.4 should be presented for 

payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this 

purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the 

amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the 

same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the 

sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment.  Each amount of principal so deducted 

will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any 

time before the expiry of ten years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) in respect of 

such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 8) 

or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in 

no event thereafter. 

Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive form becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, 

all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be 

issued in respect thereof. 

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note, Range Accrual Note, Dual Range Accrual Note or 

Inflation Linked Interest Note in definitive form becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons 

and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, 

as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof. 

If the due date for redemption of any definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) 

accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the 

case may be, the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the due date for redemption shall 

be payable only against surrender of the relevant definitive Note. 

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any global Note will 

(subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to definitive Notes 

and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant global Note (against presentation or surrender 

(as the case may be) of such global Note if the global Note is not intended to be issued in new global 
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note (NGN) form) at the specified office of any Paying Agent.  On the occasion of each payment, 

(a) in the case of any global Note which is not issued in NGN form, a record of such payment made 

on such global Note, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, 

will be made on such global Note by the Agent, and (b) in the case of any global Note which is a 

NGN, the Agent shall instruct Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to make appropriate entries 

in their records to reflect such payment. 

5.4 Specific provisions in relation to payments in respect of certain types of Exempt Notes 

Payments of instalments of principal (if any) in respect of definitive Notes, other than the final 

instalment, will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in Condition 5.1 above 

only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, 

endorsement) of the relevant Receipt in accordance with the preceding paragraph.  Payment of the 

final instalment will be made in the manner provided in Condition 5.1 above only against 

presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the 

relevant Note in accordance with the preceding paragraph.  Each Receipt must be presented for 

payment of the relevant instalment together with the definitive Note to which it appertains.  Receipts 

presented without the definitive Note to which they appertain do not constitute valid obligations of 

the Issuer.  Upon the date on which any definitive Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured 

Receipts (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall 

be made in respect thereof. 

Upon the date on which any Index Linked Interest Note in definitive form becomes due and 

repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall 

become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in 

respect thereof. 

The holder of a global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes 

represented by such global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, 

the holder of such global Note in respect of each amount so paid.  Each of the persons shown in the 

records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal 

amount of Notes represented by such global Note must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the 

order of, the holder of such global Note. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of the Notes is 

payable in U.S. dollars, such U.S. dollar payments of principal and/or interest in respect of the Notes 

will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the United States if: 

(a) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with 

the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. 

dollars at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and 

interest on the Notes in the manner provided above when due; 

(b) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such specified offices outside 

the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar 

restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. dollars; and 

(c) such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of 

the Issuer, adverse tax consequences for the Issuer. 

5.5 Payment Day 

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a Payment 

Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the 



 

 169  

 

relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay.  

For these purposes, Payment Day means any day which (subject to Condition 8) is: 

(a) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are 

open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency 

deposits) in: 

(i) in the case of Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation; 

(ii) each Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(b) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on 

which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for 

general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in 

the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which if the 

Specified Currency is New Zealand dollars shall be Auckland) or (2) in relation to any sum 

payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open. 

5.6 Interpretation of Principal and Interest 

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to 

include, as applicable: 

(a) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 7; 

(b) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes; 

(c) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes; 

(d) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes; 

(e) in relation to Exempt Notes redeemable in instalments, the Instalment Amounts;  

(f) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 6.6); 

and 

(g) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the 

Issuer under or in respect of the Notes. 

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to 

include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under 

Condition 7. 

5.7 Physical Delivery Notes 

(a) Physical Delivery 

(i) Asset Transfer Notices 

In relation to Physical Delivery Notes, in order to obtain delivery of the Asset Amount(s) in 

respect of any Note: 

(A) if such Note is represented by a Global Note, the relevant Noteholder must deliver 

to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as applicable) (each a relevant Clearing 

System), with a copy to the Issuer not later than the close of business in each place 

of reception on the Cut-Off Date, a duly completed Asset Transfer Notice; and 
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(B) if such Note is in definitive form, the relevant Noteholder must deliver to any 

Paying Agent with a copy to the Issuer not later than the close of business in each 

place of reception on the Cut-Off Date, a duly completed Asset Transfer Notice. 

For the purposes of this Condition: 

Asset Amount means the amount of Relevant Asset relating to each Note as set out in the 

Final Terms; 

Asset Transfer Notice means asset transfer notice in the form set out in the Agency 

Agreement duly completed in accordance with the provisions of this Condition; 

Cut-off Date means the date falling three Business Days prior to the Delivery Date; and 

Relevant Asset means the asset defined as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Copies of the Asset Transfer Notice may be obtained during normal business hours from the 

specified office of any Paying Agent. 

An Asset Transfer Notice may only be delivered (a) if such Note is represented by a Global 

Note in such manner as is acceptable to the relevant Clearing System, or (b) if such Note is 

in definitive form, in writing together with the Note. 

The Asset Transfer Notice shall: 

I. specify the name and address of the relevant Noteholder and the person from whom 

the Issuer may obtain details for the delivery of the Asset Amount and any details 

required for delivery of the Asset Amount set out in the applicable Final Terms; 

II. in the case of Notes represented by a Global Note, specify the nominal amount of 

Notes which are the subject to such notice and the number of the Noteholder's 

account at the relevant Clearing System to be debited with such Notes and 

irrevocably instruct and authorise the relevant Clearing System, as the case may be, 

to debit the relevant Noteholder's account with such Notes on or before the Delivery 

Date; 

III. include an undertaking to pay all Delivery Expenses and, in the case of Notes 

represented by a Global Note, an authority to debit a specified account of the 

Noteholder at the relevant Clearing System, as the case may be, in respect thereof 

and to pay such Delivery Expenses; 

IV. specify an account to which dividends (if any) payable pursuant to this Condition 

5.7 or any other cash amounts specified in the applicable Final Terms are being 

payable are to be paid; 

V. certify that the beneficial owner of each Note is not a U.S. person (as defined in the 

Asset Transfer Notice), the Note is not being redeemed within the United States or 

on behalf of a U.S. person and no cash, securities or other property have been or will 

be delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. 

person in connection with any redemption thereof; 

VI. authorise the production of such notice in any applicable administrative or legal 

proceedings, 
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For the purposes of this Condition, Delivery Expenses means all costs, taxes, duties and/or 

expenses, including stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or other costs, duties or taxes 

arising from the delivery of the Asset Amount. 

(ii) Verification of the Holder 

Upon receipt of an Asset Transfer Notice the relevant Clearing System shall verify that the 

person delivering the Asset Transfer Notice is the holder of the Notes described therein 

according to its records.  Subject thereto, the relevant Clearing System will confirm to the 

Agent the series number and number of Notes the subject of such notice, the relevant 

account details and the details for the delivery of the Asset Amount relating to each Note.  

Upon receipt of such confirmation, the Agent will inform the Issuer thereof. 

(iii) Determinations and Delivery 

Failure properly to complete and deliver an Asset Transfer Notice may result in such notice 

being treated as null and void.  Any determination as to whether such notice has been 

properly completed and delivered as provided in these Conditions shall be made, in the case 

of Notes represented by a Global Note, by the relevant Clearing System, after consultation 

with the Issuer and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer and the relevant Noteholder 

and, in the case of Notes in definitive form, by the relevant Paying Agent after consultation 

with the Issuer, and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer and the relevant 

Noteholder. 

If any Asset Transfer Notice deemed null and void in accordance with the foregoing 

paragraph is subsequently corrected to the satisfaction of the relevant Clearing System in 

consultation with the Agent, it shall be deemed to be a new Asset Transfer Notice submitted 

at the time such corrected Asset Transfer Notice was delivered to the relevant Clearing 

System (with a copy to the Agent). 

No Asset Transfer Notice may be withdrawn after receipt thereof by the relevant Clearing 

System or the Agent, as the case may be, as provided above.  After delivery of an Asset 

Transfer Notice, the relevant Noteholder may not transfer the Notes which are the subject of 

such notice. 

The Asset Amount will be delivered at the risk of the relevant Noteholder, in the manner 

provided below on the Maturity Date (such date, subject to adjustment in accordance with 

this Condition, the Delivery Date), provided that the Asset Transfer Notice is duly delivered 

to the relevant Clearing System (with a copy to the Agent), as provided above on or prior to 

the Cut-Off Date. 

If a Noteholder fails to give an Asset Transfer Notice as provided herein with a copy to the 

Agent, on or prior to the Cut-Off Date, then the Asset Amount will be delivered as soon as 

practicable after the Maturity Date, as defined in the Final Terms (in which case, such date 

of delivery shall be deemed the Delivery Date) at the risk of such Noteholder in the manner 

provided below.  In such circumstances the relevant Noteholder shall not be entitled to any 

payment, whether of interest or otherwise, and the Issuer shall have no liability whatsoever, 

as a result of the Delivery Date falling after the Maturity Date. 

The Issuer shall, at the relevant Noteholder's risk, deliver or procure the delivery of the 

Asset Amount relating to each Note, pursuant to the details specified in the Asset Transfer 

Notice or in such commercially reasonable manner as the Calculation Agent shall in its sole 

and absolute discretion determine and notify to the person designated by the Noteholder in 

the relevant Asset Transfer Notice.  No delivery of the Asset Amount shall be made until all 
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Delivery Expenses have been paid to the satisfaction of the Issuer by the relevant 

Noteholder. 

(iv) General 

Notes held by the same Noteholder will be aggregated for the purpose of determining the 

aggregate Asset Amount in respect of such Notes, provided that, the aggregate Asset 

Amount in respect of the same Noteholder will be rounded down to the nearest whole unit of 

the Relevant Asset or each of the Relevant Assets, as the case may be, in such manner as the 

Calculation Agent shall determine.  Therefore, fractions of the Relevant Asset or of each of 

the Relevant Assets, as the case may be, will not be delivered and no cash adjustment will be 

made in respect thereof. 

Following the Delivery Date of a share certificate all dividends on the relevant shares to be 

delivered will be payable to the party that would receive such dividend according to market 

practice for a sale of the shares executed on the Delivery Date and to be delivered in the 

same manner as such relevant Shares.  Any such dividends to be paid to a Noteholder will be 

paid to the account specified by the Noteholder in the relevant Asset Transfer Notice as 

referred to in Condition 5.7(a)(i). 

For such period of time after delivery of the Asset Amount as the Issuer or any person acting 

on behalf of the Issuer shall continue to be the legal owner of the securities comprising the 

Asset Amount (the Intervening Period), none of the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or any 

other person shall at any time (A) be under any obligation to deliver or procure delivery to 

any Noteholder any letter, certificate, notice, circular or any other document or, except as 

provided herein, payment whatsoever received by that person in respect of such securities or 

obligations, (B) be under any obligation to exercise or procure the exercise of any or all 

rights attaching to such securities or obligations or (C) be under any liability to a Noteholder 

in respect of any loss or damage which such Noteholder may sustain or suffer as a result, 

whether directly or indirectly, of that person being the legal owner during such Intervening 

Period of such securities or obligations. 

(v) Settlement Disruption 

If, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, delivery of the Asset Amount using the method 

of delivery specified in the applicable Final Terms, or such other commercially reasonable 

manner as the Calculation Agent has determined, is impracticable because a Settlement 

Disruption Event (as defined below) has occurred and is continuing on the Delivery Date, 

then it shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13 and the Delivery Date shall be postponed to the first following Settlement 

Business Day in respect of which there is no such Settlement Disruption Event, provided 

that, the Issuer may elect in its sole and absolute discretion to satisfy its obligations in 

respect of the relevant Note by delivering the Asset Amount using such other commercially 

reasonable manner as it may select and, in such event, the Delivery Date shall be such day as 

the Issuer deems appropriate (acting in a commercially reasonable manner).  Noteholders 

shall not be entitled to any payment, whether on account of interest or otherwise, and the 

Issuer shall have no liability whatsoever, as a result of the Delivery Date being postponed 

due to the occurrence of a Settlement Disruption Event. 

Where a Settlement Disruption Event affects some but not all of the Relevant Assets 

comprising the Asset Amount, the Delivery Date for the Relevant Assets unaffected by the 

Settlement Disruption Event will be the originally designated Delivery Date.  For so long as 

delivery of part of the Asset Amount is impracticable by reason of a Settlement Disruption 

Event, then in lieu of physical delivery of the affected Relevant Asset(s), and 

notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the Issuer may elect in its sole and absolute 
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discretion to satisfy its obligations in respect of the affected portion of the relevant Note(s) 

by paying the relevant Noteholder(s), the Disruption Cash Redemption Amount (as defined 

below) on the fifth Business Day following the date on which Noteholders are notified in 

accordance with Condition 13 of (A) such election having been made and (B) the manner in 

which the Issuer intends to pay the Disruption Cash Redemption Amount. 

For the purposes of this Condition: 

Disruption Cash Redemption Amount shall be, in respect of any Note, the fair market 

value of such Note (taking into account, where the Settlement Disruption Event affected 

some but not all of the Relevant Assets included in the Asset Amount and such unaffected 

Relevant Assets have been duly delivered as provided above, the value of such unaffected 

and delivered Relevant Assets), less the cost to the Issuer of unwinding any related hedging 

arrangements, all as determined by the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion; 

Settlement Business Day, in respect of each Note, has the meaning specified in the 

applicable Final Terms relating to such Note; and 

Settlement Disruption Event means an event that is beyond the control of the Issuer, 

including illiquidity in the market for the Relevant Assets as a result of which the Issuer 

cannot make delivery of the Relevant Asset(s) using the method specified in the applicable 

Final Terms, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

(b) Variation of Settlement 

If so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, elect 

(i) to deliver or procure delivery on the Maturity Date of the Asset Amount relating to each Note in 

lieu of its obligation to pay Noteholders the Early Redemption Amount or (ii) to pay Noteholders the 

Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date in lieu of its obligation to deliver or procure delivery of 

the Asset Amount. Notification of any such election will be given to Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13. 

(c) Rights of Noteholders and Calculations 

None of the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or any of the Paying Agents shall have any responsibility 

for any errors or omissions committed in connection with any of the calculations or determinations 

contemplated in this Condition 5. 

The purchase of Notes linked to one or more Relevant Assets does not confer on holders of such 

Notes any rights (whether in respect of voting, distributions or otherwise) in connection with the 

applicable Relevant Asset(s). 

For the purposes of these Conditions, Redemption Amount means the Final Redemption Amount, 

Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be. 

6. Redemption and Purchase 

6.1 At Maturity 

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note (including 

each Index Linked Redemption Note) will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption 

Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms or determined in the manner specified in these 

Conditions in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Final 

Terms. 
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6.2 Redemption for Tax Reasons 

Subject to Condition 6.9, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in 

part, at any time if, where the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final 

Terms, the Issuer obtains the prior approval of the Regulator and subject to compliance with 

Regulatory Procedures (in each case, if and to the extent so required by the Applicable Banking 

Regulations) (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note or an Inflation Linked Interest Note) or on any 

Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note or an Inflation Linked Interest Note), on 

giving not less than the minimum period and not nor more than the maximum period of notice 

specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 13, the 

Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if: 

(a) on the occasion of the next payment due under the Notes, the Issuer has or will become 

obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7 as a result of any 

change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Luxembourg or any political 

subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the 

application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or 

amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes 

and, where the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms, 

which change the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Regulator was material and 

was not reasonably foreseeable as at such Issue Date and in all cases such obligation cannot 

be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it; or 

(b) where the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms, the 

Issuer would not be entitled to claim a deduction in respect of any payments in computing its 

taxation liabilities or the amount of the deduction would be materially reduced,  

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest 

date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts or would not be entitled to 

claim a deduction were a payment in respect of the Notes then due.  Prior to the publication of any 

notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent to make 

available at its specified office to the Noteholders (i) a certificate signed by two Members of the 

Executive Committee of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and 

setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to 

redeem have occurred, and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the 

effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such 

change or amendment. 

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 6.2 will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount 

referred to in Condition 6.6 below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued (but unpaid) to (but 

excluding) the date of redemption. 

6.3 Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call) 

This Condition 6.3 applies to Notes which are subject to redemption prior to the Maturity Date at the 

option of the Issuer (other than for taxation reasons), such option being referred to as an Issuer Call.  

The applicable Final Terms contains provisions applicable to any Issuer Call and must be read in 

conjunction with this Condition 6.3 for full information on any Issuer Call.  In particular, the 

applicable Final Terms will identify the Optional Redemption Date(s), the Optional Redemption 

Amount, any minimum or maximum amount of Notes which can be redeemed and the applicable 

notice periods. 

If Issuer Call is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms and if, where the Notes 

are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer obtains the prior 

approval of the Regulator and subject to compliance with Regulatory Procedures (in each case, if 
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and to the extent so required by the Applicable Banking Regulations), the Issuer may, having given 

not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the 

applicable Final Terms to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (which notice shall be 

irrevocable), redeem all or, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, some only of 

the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption 

Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms 

together, if appropriate, with interest accrued (but unpaid) to (but excluding) the relevant Optional 

Redemption Date (including, if the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final 

Terms, any accrued but unpaid interest to the date fixed for redemption).  Any such redemption must 

be of a nominal amount not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount or not more than a 

Maximum Redemption Amount (in each case as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms).   

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed (Redeemed Notes) will (i) in 

the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, be selected individually by lot, not 

more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption and (ii) in the case of Redeemed Notes 

represented by a Global Note, be selected in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg (and if the global Note is intended to be issued in NGN form to be 

reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a 

reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion).  In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by 

definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in 

accordance with Condition 13 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption.   

6.4 Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders (Investor Put) (not applicable to Subordinated Notes) 

This Condition 6.4 applies to Notes which are subject to redemption prior to the Maturity Date at the 

option of the Noteholder, such option being referred to as an Investor Put.  The applicable Final 

Terms contains provisions applicable to any Investor Put and must be read in conjunction with this 

Condition 6.4 for full information on any Investor Put.  In particular, the applicable Final Terms will 

identify the Optional Redemption Date(s), the Optional Redemption Amount and the applicable 

notice periods. 

If the Notes are specified as Senior Notes in the applicable Final Terms and if Investor Put is 

specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Note giving to 

the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 not less than the minimum period nor more than the 

maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer will, upon the expiry of 

such notice, redeem, subject to, and in accordance with, the terms specified in the applicable Final 

Terms, in whole (but not in part), such Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional 

Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final 

Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued (but unpaid) to (but excluding) the Optional 

Redemption Date. 

If this Note is in definitive form and held outside Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, to 

exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must deliver such Note at 

the specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying 

Agent falling within the notice period, accompanied by a duly completed and signed notice of 

exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office of any Paying 

Agent (a Put Notice) and in which the holder must specify a bank account to which payment is to be 

made under this Condition and the Put Notice must be accompanied by, if this Note is in definitive 

form, this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent concerned that this Note will, following 

delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order or under its control. 

If this Note is represented by a global Note or is in definitive form and held through Euroclear or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this 

Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Agent of such exercise in accordance with the 

standard procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (which may include notice being 
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given on his instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common depositary or, as 

the case may be, common safekeeper for them to the Agent by electronic means) in a form 

acceptable to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg from time to time and, if this Note is 

represented by a global Note which has not been issued in NGN form, at the same time present or 

procure the presentation of the relevant global Note to the Agent for notation accordingly. 

Any Put Notice given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this paragraph shall be irrevocable except 

where prior to the due date of redemption an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing 

in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the notice 

given pursuant to this paragraph and instead to declare such Note forthwith due and payable 

pursuant to Condition 9. 

6.5 Capital Event Redemption 

The Subordinated Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, (but 

subject to consent thereto having been obtained from the Regulator and subject to compliance with 

Regulatory Procedures (in each case, if and to the extent so required by the Applicable Banking 

Regulations)), on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note or an Inflation 

Linked Interest Note) or at any time (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note or an Inflation Linked 

Interest Note), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders in 

accordance with Condition 13 (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption 

Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms (which, in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, shall be 

as provided in Condition 6.6(c) below) (together with any accrued but unpaid interest to the date 

fixed for redemption) if, there is a change (or a pending change which the Regulator considers to be 

sufficiently certain) in the regulatory classification of the Notes that occurs on or after the Issue Date 

that the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Regulator was not reasonably foreseeable as at 

the Issue Date, that would be likely to result in the exclusion of the Notes from own funds or their 

reclassification as a lower quality form of own funds (a Capital Event). Before the publication of 

any notice of redemption pursuant to a Capital Event, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent a 

certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer stating that a Capital Event has occurred and the 

Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption. 

6.6 Early Redemption Amounts 

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Final Terms, for the purpose of Condition 6.2 above and 

Condition 9 the Notes will be redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount calculated as follows: 

(a) in the case of Notes with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price of the first 

Tranche of the Series, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof; or 

(b) in the case of a Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note) with a Final Redemption Amount 

which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price of the first Tranche of the Series, at 

the amount specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such amount or manner is so 

specified in the Final Terms, at its nominal amount; or 

(c) in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, at an amount (the Amortised Face Amount) calculated 

in accordance with the following formula: 

y
AY)(1 x RP Amount  RedemptionEarly   

where: 

RP means the Reference Price; 

AY means the Accrual Yield expressed as a decimal; and 
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y is the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms which will be either 

(i) 30/360 (in which case) the numerator will be equal to the number of days (calculated on 

the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from (and including) 

the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for 

redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and 

repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (ii) Actual/360 (in which case the numerator 

will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue Date of the first 

Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) 

the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) 

or (iii) Actual/365 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days 

from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the 

date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes 

due and repayable and the denominator will be 365). 

6.7 Specific redemption provisions applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes 

For the purposes of Condition 6.2, Index Linked Interest Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest 

Payment Date. 

If the Notes are repayable in instalments, they will be redeemed in the Instalment Amounts and on 

the Instalment Dates specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.  In the case of early 

redemption, the Early Redemption Amount of Instalment Notes will be determined in the manner 

specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.  If the Notes are Partly Paid Notes, they will be 

redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with the provisions of 

this Condition and the applicable Pricing Supplement.  

6.8 Purchases 

Subject to Condition 6.9, the Issuer may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of 

definitive Notes, all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased 

therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise.  Such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, 

at the option of the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation. 

6.9 Redemption or Purchase of Subordinated Notes 

(a) Redemption or purchase prior to maturity 

Subject to Conditions 6.2, 6.3 and 6.5, subordinated Notes may not be redeemed prior to their stated 

maturity date (if any) or purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries without the 

prior consent of the Regulator. 

(b) Redemption at maturity 

Subordinated Notes may be redeemed at maturity (which cannot be less than five years) without the 

prior approval of the Regulator. 

6.10 Cancellation 

All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Receipts and 

Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption).  All Notes so 

cancelled and Notes purchased and cancelled pursuant to paragraph 6.9 above (together with all 

unmatured Receipts and Coupons cancelled therewith) shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot 

be reissued or resold. 

6.11 Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes 
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If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon 

Note pursuant to paragraph 6.1, 6.2, 6.3 or 6.4 above or upon its becoming due and repayable as 

provided in Condition 9 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect 

of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in Condition 6.6(c) above as 

though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero 

Coupon Note becomes due and payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier 

of: 

(a) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and 

(b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable has been received 

by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders either in accordance 

with Condition 13 or individually. 

6.12 Defined Terms 

In this Condition, 

Applicable Banking Regulation means the CRD IV Regulation, the CRD IV Directive, the 

Financial Sector Law, the Resolution Law, the CSSF Regulation N°14-01 on the implementation of 

certain discretions of the CRD IV Regulation, any laws, regulations or acts implementing CRD IV 

and, at any time, the laws, regulations, circular letters and other requirements, standards, guidelines 

and policies relating to capital adequacy for credit institutions of either (i) the Regulator and/or (ii) 

any other national or European authority, in each case then in effect in Luxembourg (or in such other 

jurisdiction in which the Issuer may have its home member state as defined in the CRD IV 

Regulation, the CRD IV Directive and the Financial Sector Law (Home Member State)) and 

applicable to the Issuer. 

CRD IV means the legislative package consisting of the CRD IV Directive and the CRD IV 

Regulation. 

CRD IV Directive means Directive 2013/36/EU on access to the activity of credit institutions and 

the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms of the European Parliament and 

of the Council of 26 June 2013, as the same may be amended or replaced from time to time. 

CRD IV Regulation means Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit 

institutions and investment firms of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013, as 

the same may be amended or replaced from time to time. 

Financial Sector Law means the Luxembourg law of 5 April 1993 on the financial sector, as 

amended. 

Group means consolidated group of which the Issuer is the parent entity. 

own funds has the meaning given to it in the CRD IV Regulation. 

Regulator means the European Central Bank, the European Banking Authority, the Commission de 

Surveillance du Secteur Financier (CSSF) or such other authority which assumes or performs the 

functions, as at the Issue Date, performed by such authority or such other or successor authority 

exercising primary supervisory authority with respect to prudential matters in relation to the Issuer. 

Regulatory Procedures means in respect of any redemption of the Notes: 
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(a) on or before such redemption of the Notes, the Issuer replaces the Notes with own funds 

instruments of an equal or higher quality on terms that are sustainable for its income 

capacity; or 

(b) the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Regulator that the own funds of the 

Group would, following such redemption, exceed its minimum capital requirements 

(including any capital buffer requirements) as set out in CRD IV by a margin that the 

Regulator may consider necessary on the basis set out in CRD IV for it to determine the 

appropriate level of capital of an institution. 

Resolution Law means the Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 on the default of credit 

institutions and certain investment firms. 

7. Taxation 

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the Issuer 

will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes or 

duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of Luxembourg or any political 

subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax unless such withholding or 

deduction is required by law.  In such event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as shall be 

necessary in order that the net amounts receivable by the holders of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons 

after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest 

which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons, as the 

case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional 

amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon: 

(a) presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder who 

(i) is liable for such taxes or duties in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of 

his having some connection with Luxembourg other than the mere holding of such Note, 

Receipt or Coupon or (ii) would not be liable or subject to such taxes or duties by making a 

declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax 

authority; or 

(b) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except 

to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on 

presenting the same for payment on such 30th day; or 

(c) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to (i) Section 871(m) of the Code or (ii) 

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder or any 

official interpretations thereof. 

As used herein, the Relevant Date means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except 

that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Agent on or prior to 

such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, 

notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

8. Prescription 

The Notes, Receipts and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of 

ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as 

defined in Condition 7) therefor. 

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the 

claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition or Condition 5.3 or 

any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 5.3. 
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9. Events of Default and Enforcement 

9.1 Provisions relating to Senior Notes 

If the Notes are specified as Senior Notes in the applicable Final Terms and if any one or more of the 

following events (each an Event of Default) shall occur: 

(a) default is made for more than seven days in the payment of any principal due under the 

Notes or any of them or for more than 14 days in the payment of any interest due under the 

Notes or any of them; or 

(b) the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under these Terms and 

Conditions and (except in any case where the failure is incapable of remedy when no 

continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the failure continues for 

the period of 30 days next following the service by a Noteholder on the Issuer of notice 

requiring the same to be remedied; or 

(c) any order is made by any competent court or resolution passed for the dissolution 

(dissolution) and liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer, save for the purposes of merger or 

reorganisation on terms previously approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the 

Noteholders; or 

(d) the Issuer ceases or threatens to cease to carry on the whole or a substantial part of its 

business, save for the purposes of merger or reorganisation on terms previously approved by 

an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, or the Issuer stops or threatens to stop 

payment of, or is unable to, or admits inability to, pay its debts (or any class of its debts) as 

they fall due, or is deemed unable to pay its debts pursuant to or for the purposes of any 

applicable law, or is adjudicated or found bankrupt or insolvent; or 

(e) the Issuer becomes insolvent within the meaning of Luxembourg bankruptcy law or applies 

for or consents to or suffers the appointment of a liquidator (liquidateur), an administrator in 

a regime of reprieve from payment (administrateur) of the Issuer or of the whole or a 

substantial part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or initiates 

proceedings under any applicable laws for a readjustment or deferral of its obligations or any 

substantial part thereof or makes or enters into a general assignment or an arrangement or 

composition with or for the benefit of its creditors or any court order is rendered or an 

effective voluntary resolution is passed for the dissolution (dissolution) and liquidation 

(liquidation) of the Issuer or to admit the Issuer to a regime of reprieve from payment (sursis 

de paiement); or 

(f) the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg ceases to own, directly or indirectly, at least fifty one per 

cent. (51%) of the share capital of the Issuer, as fixed in article 37 of the Law dated 

24 March 1989 on the Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg, as amended, of 

the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, 

then any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Agent, 

effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Agent, declare the Note held by the holder to be 

forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early 

Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6.6), together with accrued interest (if any) to the 

date of repayment, without presentation, demand, protest or other notice of any kind. 

9.2 Provisions relating to Subordinated Notes 

(a) If the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms and if: 
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(i) Liquidation 

a judgment is made or an effective resolution is passed for the Liquidation of the Issuer in 

Luxembourg (or such other jurisdiction in which the Issuer may be organised), save for the 

purposes of a merger or reorganisation on terms previously approved by an Extraordinary 

Resolution of the Noteholders, the holder of any Note may give written notice to the Agent 

at its specified office that such Note is due and payable, whereupon the same shall become 

forthwith due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6.6), 

together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment without presentation, 

demand, protest or other notice of any kind; or 

(ii) Non Payment 

default is made for more than seven days in the payment of any principal due under the 

Notes or any of them, or for more than 14 days in the payment of any interest due under the 

Notes or any of them, any Noteholder may ask the relevant authorities to institute 

proceedings in Luxembourg (but not elsewhere) in accordance with Part III of the 

[Resolution] Law for the Liquidation of the Issuer. 

Although the relevant authorities may take into account a request from a Noteholder to 

institute proceedings in Luxembourg for the Liquidation of the Issuer, they are not in any 

way bound to do so following the receipt of such a request or on any other basis.  In 

determining whether to institute any such proceedings against the Issuer, the relevant 

authorities will act solely on the basis of their own discretion and in accordance with 

Luxembourg law.  Subject to such request from a Noteholder as described in this Condition 

9.2(a)(ii), a Noteholder shall not be able to take proceedings for the Liquidation of the 

Issuer. 

(b) Breach of Other Obligations 

To the extent permitted by applicable law and by these Conditions, a Noteholder may at its 

discretion institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any obligation, 

condition, undertaking or provision binding on the Issuer under the Notes or the Coupons (other than 

any payment obligation of the Issuer under or arising from the Notes or the Coupons, including, 

without limitation, payment of any principal or interest; provided always that such Noteholder shall 

not enforce, and shall not be entitled to enforce or otherwise claim, against the Issuer any judgment 

or other award given in such proceedings that requires the payment of money by the Issuer, whether 

by way of damages or otherwise, except by proving in a Liquidation of the Issuer). 

(c) Other Remedies 

No remedy against the Issuer, other than the institution of the proceedings referred to in Condition 

9.2(a)(ii) or (b) and the proving or claiming in any Liquidation of the Issuer, shall be available to the 

Noteholders or the Couponholders whether for the recovering of amounts owing in respect of the 

Notes or the Coupons or in respect of any breach by the Issuer of any other obligation, condition or 

provision binding on it under the Notes or the Coupons. 

10. Replacement of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons 

Should any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may 

be replaced, subject to applicable law, at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg 

upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection 

therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.  

Mutilated or defaced Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements 

will be issued. 
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11. Agent and Paying Agents 

The names of the initial Agent, the initial Issuing Agent and the other initial Paying Agents and their 

initial specified offices are set out below.  If any additional Paying Agents are appointed in 

connection with any Series, the names of such Paying Agents will be specified in Part B of the 

applicable Final Terms. 

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent or the Issuing Agent 

and/or appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Issuing Agents, as the case may be, and/or 

approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that: 

(a) so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange, there will at all times be a Paying 

Agent with a specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations 

of the relevant stock exchange; 

(b) there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in a city in continental 

Europe, other than the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated; and 

(c) there will at all times be an Agent and an Issuing Agent. 

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York 

City in the circumstances described in the final paragraph of Condition 5.4.  Notice of any variation, 

termination, appointment or change given to the Noteholders promptly in accordance with Condition 

13. 

12. Exchange of Talons 

On and after the Interest Payment Date, on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet 

matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified 

office of the Agent, the Issuing Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon 

sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final 

date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, 

subject to the provisions of Condition 8.  Each Talon shall, for the purposes of these Terms and 

Conditions, be deemed to mature on the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised 

in the relative Coupon sheet matures. 

13. Notices 

All notices regarding the Notes shall be published (i) in a leading English language daily newspaper 

of general circulation in London and (ii) for so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on, and 

listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a daily newspaper of general 

circulation in Luxembourg and/or on Luxembourg Stock Exchange's website at www.bourse.lu.  It is 

expected that such publication will be made in the Financial Times in London and the Luxemburger 

Wort in Luxembourg.  If the Notes are governed by Luxembourg law (as specified in the applicable 

Final Terms), notices shall also be published in the Recueil électronique des sociétés et associations 

(the RESA), to the extent required by Luxembourg law.  The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are 

duly published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any other stock 

exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed.  Any such notice will be deemed to have 

been given on the date of the first publication or, where required to be published in more than one 

newspaper on the date of the first publication in each such newspaper or, where published in such 

newspapers on different dates, on the last date of such first publication. 

Until such time as any definitive Notes are issued, there may, so long as any global Notes 

representing the Notes are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg, be substituted for such publication in such newspaper(s) the delivery of the relevant 
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notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication by them to the holders of 

the Notes and, in addition, for so long as any Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of 

that stock exchange so require, such notice will be published in a daily newspaper of general 

circulation in the place or places required by the rules of that stock exchange.  Any such notice shall 

be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the seventh day after the day on which 

the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Notices to be given by any holder of the Notes shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, 

together with the relative Note or Notes, with the Agent.  Whilst any of the Notes is represented by a 

global Note, such notice may be given by any holder of a Note to the Agent via Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, in such manner as the Agent and Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose. 

14. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver 

14.1 Notes governed by English law 

If the Notes are governed by English law (as specified in the applicable Final Terms), the Agency 

Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider any matter 

affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of 

the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement.  Such a 

meeting may be convened by the Issuer or Noteholders holding not less than five per cent. in 

nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding.  The quorum at any such meeting for 

passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing a clear 

majority of the nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned 

meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the 

Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the 

modification of certain provisions of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons (including modifying the date 

of maturity of the Notes or any date for payment of interest thereof, reducing or cancelling the 

amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes or altering the currency of 

payment of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons), the quorum will be one or more persons holding or 

representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned such meeting not less than one-third, of the 

nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The Agency Agreement provides that 

(i) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the Agency 

Agreement by a majority consisting of not less than three-quarters of the votes cast on such 

resolution, (ii) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than three-

quarters in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding or (iii) consent given by way 

of electronic consents through the relevant clearing system(s) (in a form satisfactory to the Fiscal 

Agent) by or on behalf of the holders of not less than three-quarters in nominal amount of the Notes 

for the time being outstanding, shall, in each case, be effective as an Extraordinary Resolution of the 

Noteholders. 

An Extraordinary Resolution by Noteholders will be binding on all Noteholders, whether or not they 

are present at any meeting and whether or not they voted on the resolution, and on all Receiptholders 

and Couponholders. 

The provisions of articles 86 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg Company Law shall not apply to Notes, 

Receipts or Coupons governed by English law. 

14.2 Notes governed by Luxembourg law 

If the Notes are governed by Luxembourg law (as specified in the applicable Final Terms), 

Noteholders will belong to a masse (the Masse) created, among other things, for the representation 

of their common interests pursuant to the provisions of articles 86 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg act 

dated 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended (the Companies Act 1915).  The 
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following is a summary of the relevant provisions of the Luxembourg Company Law.  A general 

meeting of the Noteholders (the Masse Meeting) or a court order may appoint and determine the 

powers of one or more representatives (the Representatives).  Where Representatives have been 

appointed, Noteholders may no longer individually exercise their rights against the Issuer.  A Masse 

Meeting may be called at any time by the Representatives (if any), the Board of Directors of the 

Issuer or the auditors of the Issuer.  The Representatives of the Issuer, provided an advance on 

expenses has been paid to them by the Issuer, or the Board of Directors or the auditors of the Issuer 

must convene the Masse Meeting if called upon to do so by holders of Notes representing five per 

cent. or more of the Notes outstanding.  Meetings of Noteholders will be convened by notices 

published twice at least eight days' interval and eight days prior to the meeting in the RESA and in 

one Luxembourg newspaper.  All Masse Meetings shall be held at the place specified in the notice 

calling the meeting.  All Noteholders have the right to attend and vote at the Masse Meeting either 

personally or by proxy.  The voting rights attached to the Notes are equal to the proportion of the 

principal amount of the Notes represented by the principal amount of the Note or Notes held by the 

relevant holder.  Each Note gives the right to at least one vote.  A Masse Meeting may be called to 

approve certain changes in the rights of the Noteholders and may, generally, determine any measures 

designed to ensure the defence of interests or the exercise of the rights of the Noteholders in 

accordance with the provisions of the Luxembourg Company Law.  A Masse Meeting must be called 

when it is proposed that the corporate object or the legal form of the Issuer is amended.  A Masse 

Meeting may deliberate validly without a quorum and by vote of a simple majority of Noteholders 

attending or represented at such Masse Meeting on the appointment and revocation of the 

Representatives, the revocation of special representatives appointed by the Issuer and the approval of 

any measures of a conservatory nature in the general interests of the Noteholders.  On all other 

matters (except in respect of certain matters, including a change in the nationality of the Issuer, 

where unanimous consent is required) the Masse Meeting may deliberate validly on first 

convocation only if Noteholders present or represented hold at least 50% of the Notes then 

outstanding.  The Board of Directors of the Issuer or Noteholders representing 20% of the Notes 

then outstanding may require the adjournment of the meeting for four weeks.  A new meeting must 

be called for by convening notices to be published twice within a time period of 15 days and 15 days 

before the second meeting in two Luxembourg newspapers and in the RESA.  On second 

convocation no quorum is required (except in respect of certain matters, including a change in the 

nationality of the Issuer, where unanimous consent is required).  Decisions at such meetings shall be 

taken by a majority of 66
3

2 % of the votes cast by Noteholders attending such meetings or 

represented thereat. 

14.3 Minor Modifications and Corrections 

The Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or 

Couponholders, to: 

(a) any modification (except as mentioned above) of the Agency Agreement which is not 

prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or 

(b) any modification of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is of a 

formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with 

mandatory provisions of law.  Any such modification, waiver or authorisation shall be 

binding on the Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders and shall be notified to the 

Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter. 

15. Further Issues 

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders, 

Receiptholders or Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the 

same as the Notes or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of 
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interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue and so that the same shall be 

consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes. 

16. Substitution 

Subject to the provisions of this Condition, the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the 

Couponholders, by subscribing to or purchasing any of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons, expressly 

consent to the Issuer, or any previously substituted company, at any time, but where applicable with 

the prior authorisation of the Regulator, substituting for itself as principal debtor under the Notes, the 

Receipts or the Coupons any company in which the Issuer holds whether directly or indirectly in 

excess of a majority of the voting rights (the Substituted Debtor), whether or not incorporated in 

Luxembourg, provided that no payment in respect of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons is at the 

relevant time overdue, no steps have been taken to admit the Issuer to a regime of reprieve from 

payment (sursis de paiement) and no judgment has been rendered or effective voluntary resolution 

has been passed for the Liquidation of the Issuer.  Such substitution effected in accordance with this 

Condition will release the Issuer or any previously substituted company and the Noteholders, the 

Receiptholders and Couponholders expressly consent hereto on the terms of 16.1 below (in the case 

of English law governed Notes) and 16.2 below (in the case of Luxembourg law governed Notes): 

16.1 Notes governed by English law 

(a) a deed poll and such other documents (if any) shall be executed by the Substituted Debtor 

and the Issuer as may be necessary to give full effect to the substitution (the Documents) 

and (without limiting the generality of the foregoing) pursuant to which the Substituted 

Debtor shall undertake in favour of each Noteholder to be bound by these Conditions and 

the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant as fully as if the 

Substituted Debtor had been named in the Notes, the Agency Agreement and the Deed of 

Covenant as the principal debtor in respect of the Notes in place of the Issuer (or of any 

previous substitute under this Condition) and pursuant to which the Issuer shall 

unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee in favour of each Noteholder the payment of all 

sums payable by the Substituted Debtor as such principal debtor in respect of the Notes; 

(b) without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (a) above, if the Substituted Debtor is 

incorporated, domiciled or resident for taxation purposes in a territory (the New Residence) 

other than that in which the Issuer prior to such substitution was incorporated, domiciled or 

resident for taxation purposes (the Former Residence), the Documents shall contain a 

covenant and/or such other provisions as may be necessary to ensure that each Noteholder 

has the benefit of a covenant in terms corresponding to the provisions of Condition 7 above, 

with, where applicable, the substitution of references to the Former Residence with 

references to the New Residence; 

(c) the Documents shall contain a warranty and representation (i) that the Substituted Debtor 

and the Issuer have obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and 

consents for such substitution and for the issue by the Issuer of a guarantee in respect of the 

obligations of the Substituted Debtor (the Guarantee), that the Substituted Debtor has 

obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents for the 

performance by the Substituted Debtor of its obligations under the Documents and that all 

such approvals and consents are in full force and effect and (ii) that the obligations assumed 

by the Substituted Debtor in respect of the Notes and the Agency Agreement and the 

obligations assumed by the Issuer under the Guarantee are, in each case, valid and binding in 

accordance with their respective terms and enforceable by each Noteholder; 

(d) each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed shall have confirmed that, following the 

proposed substitution of the Substituted Debtor, such Notes will continue to be listed on 

such stock exchange; 
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(e) the Substituted Debtor shall have appointed a process agent as its agent in England to 

receive service of process on its behalf in relation to any legal action or proceedings arising 

out of or in connection with the Notes, Receipts or Coupons; and 

(f) legal opinions shall have been delivered to the Agent (from whom copies will be available) 

(in each case dated not more than three days prior to the intended date of substitution) from 

legal advisers of good standing selected by the Issuer in each jurisdiction in which the Issuer 

and the Substituted Debtor are incorporated and in England confirming, as appropriate, that 

upon the substitution taking place (A) the requirements of this Condition, save as to the 

giving of notice to the Noteholders, have been met and (B) the Guarantee is a legal, valid 

and binding obligation of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with its terms and (C) the 

Notes, Receipts and Coupons are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Substituted 

Debtor enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(g) Upon the execution of the Documents as referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above, the 

Substituted Debtor shall be deemed to be named in the Notes, the Agency Agreement and 

the Deed of Covenant as the principal debtor in place of the Issuer and the Notes shall 

thereupon be deemed to be amended to give effect to the substitution of a Substituted Debtor 

as principal debtor, operate to release the Issuer or the previous substitute as aforesaid from 

all of its obligations as principal debtor in respect of the Notes, the Agency Agreement and 

the Deed of Covenant. 

(h) The Documents shall be deposited with and held by the Agent for so long as any Notes 

remain outstanding and for so long as any claim made against the Substituted Debtor or the 

Issuer by any Noteholder in relation to the Notes or the Documents shall not have been 

finally adjudicated, settled or discharged.  The Substituted Debtor and the Issuer shall 

acknowledge in the Documents the right of every Noteholder to the production of the 

Documents for the enforcement of any of the Notes or the Documents. 

(i) Not later than 20 days after the execution of the Documents the Substituted Debtor shall 

give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

(j) At any time after a substitution pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (f) above, the Substituted 

Debtor may, without the consent of the Noteholders, effect a further substitution provided 

that all the provisions specified in paragraphs (a) to (i) above shall apply, mutatis mutandis, 

and, without limitation, references in the Conditions to the Issuer shall, where the context so 

requires, be deemed to be or include references to any such further Substituted Debtor. 

(k) At any time after a substitution pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (f) or (j) above, any Substituted 

Debtor may, without the consent of the Noteholders, reverse the substitution, mutatis 

mutandis. 

16.2 Notes governed by Luxembourg law 

The substitution will be made by a written undertaking (the Undertaking) and may take 

place only if: 

(a) the Substituted Debtor, by means of the Undertaking, agrees to indemnify each Noteholder, 

Receiptholder and Couponholder against any tax, duty, assessment, withholding, deduction 

or governmental charge which is imposed on it by (or by any taxing authority in or of) the 

jurisdiction of the country of the Substituted Debtor's residence for tax purposes and, if 

different, of its incorporation with respect to any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon (if any) 

and which would not have been so imposed had the substitution not been made, as well as 

against any tax, duty assessment or governmental charge, and any cost or expense, relating 

to the substitution; 
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(b) unless the Substituted Debtor is the successor company of the Issuer or one or more 

companies to whom the Issuer has transferred all of its assets and business undertakings 

each of whom are to be jointly and severally liable as principal debtor, the obligations of the 

Substituted Debtor under the Undertaking, the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons are 

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer (the Guarantor) by means of a 

guarantee contained in the Undertaking (the Guarantee); 

(c) all action, conditions and things required to be taken, fulfilled and done (including the 

obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Undertaking, the Notes, the Receipts, 

the Coupons and the Talons (if any) represent valid, legally binding and enforceable 

obligations of the Substituted Debtor and, in the case of the Guarantee of the Guarantor have 

been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force and effect; 

(d) the Substituted Debtor has become party to the Agency Agreement, with any appropriate 

consequential amendments, as if it had been an original party to it; 

(e) legal opinions addressed to the Noteholders have been delivered to them (care of the Agent) 

from a lawyer or firm of lawyers with a leading securities practice in each jurisdiction 

referred to in (a) above as to the fulfilment of the preceding conditions of this Condition 16 

and the other matters specified in the Undertaking; 

(f) the substitution does not affect adversely the rating of the Notes by Moody's Investors 

Service Limited and Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Division of the McGraw Hill 

Companies, Inc. or, if any such rating agency does not exist at the relevant time, any two 

existing internationally recognised rating agencies; and 

(g) the Issuer has given at least 14 days' prior notice to such substitution to the Noteholders, 

stating that copies of all documents (in draft or final form) in relation to the substitution 

which are referred to above, or which might otherwise reasonably be regarded as material to 

Noteholders, will be available for inspection at the specified office of each of the Paying 

Agents. 

(h) References in Condition 9 to obligations under the Notes shall be deemed to include 

obligations under the Undertaking and, where the Undertaking contains a Guarantee, the 

events listed in Conditions 9.1 and 9.2 shall be deemed to include such Guarantee not being 

(or being claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect.  In addition, the 

Guarantee shall contain: 

(i) in the case of Senior Notes, events of default in respect of the Notes in the same 

terms as Condition 9.1 relating to the Guarantor (except that references in 

Condition 9.1 to failure to pay principal and interest on the Notes shall be a 

reference to failure to pay under the Guarantee); and 

(ii) in the case of Subordinated Notes, the Guarantee shall contain rights of enforcement 

in the form of Condition 9.1. 

17. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 (Notes governed by English law only) 

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to 

enforce any term of the Notes, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which 

exists or is available apart from that Act. 

18. Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction 

18.1 Governing law 
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If the Notes are specified as being governed by English law in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes, 

the Receipts and the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection 

with the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance 

with, English law. 

If the Notes (including all Subordinated Notes) are specified as being governed by Luxembourg law 

in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be 

construed in accordance with, Luxembourg law. 

18.2 Submission to jurisdiction 

(a) If the Notes are specified as being governed by English law in the applicable Final Terms, subject to 

Condition 18.2(c) below, the English courts have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising 

out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, the Notes, the Receipts and/or the Coupons, 

including any dispute as to their existence, validity, interpretation, performance, breach or 

termination or the consequences of their nullity and any dispute relating to any non-contractual 

obligations arising out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, Notes, the Receipts and/or 

the Coupons (a Dispute) and accordingly each of the Issuer and the Agents, any Noteholders, 

Receiptholders or Couponholders in relation to any Dispute submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of 

the English courts. 

(b) For the purposes of this Condition 18.2, and where the Notes are specified as being governed by 

English law in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer waives any objection to the English courts on 

the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum to settle any Dispute. 

(c) To the extent allowed by law, the Agents, the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the 

Couponholders may, in respect of any Dispute or Disputes, take (i) proceedings in any other court 

with jurisdiction; and (ii) concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions. 

(d) If the Notes are specified as being governed by Luxembourg law in the applicable Final Terms, the 

Issuer agrees for the exclusive benefit of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders 

that the courts of Luxembourg, the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, are to have jurisdiction to settle 

any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with the Notes and the relative Receipts, Coupons 

and/or Talons and that accordingly any Proceedings arising out of or in connection with such Notes, 

Receipts, Coupons and Talons may be brought in such courts. 

18.3 Service of process 

Process in respect of any suit, action or proceedings relating to any Dispute shall be validly served 

on the Issuer by service on it at its registered office for the time being in Luxembourg or in any other 

manner from time to time permitted by law.  Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in 

any other manner permitted by law. 

18.4 Waiver of immunity 

The Issuer irrevocably and unconditionally with respect to any Dispute (i) waives any right to claim 

sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction, recognition or enforcement and any similar argument 

in any jurisdiction, (ii) submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts and the courts of any other 

jurisdiction in relation to the recognition of any judgment or order of the English courts or the courts 

of any competent jurisdiction in relation to any Dispute and (iii) consents to the giving of any relief 

(whether by way of injunction, attachment, specific performance or other relief) or the issue of any 

related process, in any jurisdiction, whether before or after final judgment, including, without 

limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its 

use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given in connection with any Dispute. 
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19. Additional Provisions Applicable to Index Linked Redemption Notes 

This Condition 19 applies to Index Linked Redemption Notes only.  The Technical Annex set out on 

pages 206 to 211 of this Prospectus contains provisions relating to the formula used to determine the 

payoff under Index Linked Redemption Notes and the applicable Final Terms contains provisions 

applicable to the determination of the performance of the relevant Index or Indices as well as other 

relevant provisions and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 19 and with the Technical 

Annex for full information on any Index Linked Redemption Notes.  In particular, the applicable 

Final Terms will identify the relevant Index or Indices, the relevant Screen Page, the Component 

Transactions, the applicable formula. 

19.1 Market Disruption 

Market Disruption Event means, in relation to Notes relating to a single Index or Basket of 

Indices, the occurrence or existence of (i) a Trading Disruption or, (ii) an Exchange Disruption, 

which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour 

period that (x) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins 

or ends at the time when the level of such Index triggers respectively the Knock-in Level or the 

Knock-out Level or (y) in all other circumstances ends at the relevant Valuation Time, or (iii) an 

Early Closure. 

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists at any time, if a Market 

Disruption Event occurs in respect of a security, a commodity, a contract or a Component 

Transaction included in such Index at any time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that 

security, that commodity, that contract or that Component Transaction to the level of such Index 

shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of such Index attributable to that 

security, that commodity, that contract or that Component Transaction and (y) the overall level of 

the Index, in each case immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event. 

The Calculation Agent shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13 of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day would have been an Averaging Date, an Observation Date, a Knock-in Determination 

Day, a Knock-out Determination Day or a Valuation Date. 

19.2 Adjustments to an Index 

(a) Successor Index Sponsor Calculates and Reports an Index 

If a relevant Index is (i) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated and 

announced by a successor sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent, or (ii) replaced by a 

successor index using, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially 

similar formula for and method of calculation as used in the calculation of that Index, then in each 

case that index (the Successor Index) will be deemed to be the Index. 

(b) Modification and Cessation of Calculation of an Index 

If (i) on or prior to the last Valuation Date, last Observation Date, last Averaging Date, the last 

Knock-in Determination Day or the last Knock-out Determination Day, the relevant Index Sponsor 

makes or announces that it will make a material change in the formula for or the method of 

calculating a relevant Index or in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a 

modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in 

constituent stock and capitalisation, contracts, commodities or Component Transaction and other 

routine events) (an Index Modification), or permanently cancels a relevant Index and no Successor 

Index exists (an Index Cancellation), or (ii) on a Valuation Date, an Observation Date, an 

Averaging Date, a Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day, the Index 
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Sponsor or (if applicable) any successor to the Index Sponsor (the Successor Index Sponsor) fails 

to calculate and announce a relevant Index (an Index Disruption and, together with an Index 

Modification and an Index Calculation, each an Index Adjustment Event), then, 

(i) the Calculation Agent shall determine if such Index Adjustment Event has a material effect 

on the Notes and, if so, shall calculate the relevant Settlement Price using, in lieu of a 

published level for that Index, the level for that Index as at the Valuation Time on that 

Valuation Date, Observation Date, Averaging Date, Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-

out Determination Day, as the case may be, as determined by the Calculation Agent in 

accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to 

the change, failure or cancellation, but using only those 

securities/contracts/commodities/Component Transactions that comprised that Index 

immediately prior to that Index Adjustment Event; or 

(ii) on giving notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13, the Issuer shall redeem all 

but not some only of the Notes, each Note being redeemed by payment of an amount equal 

to the fair market value of a Note taking into account the Index Adjustment Event, less the 

cost to the Issuer and/or its Affiliates of unwinding any underlying related hedging 

arrangements, all as determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion.  

Payments will be made in such manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance 

with Condition 13. 

(c) Notice 

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable, notify the relevant Agent of any determination 

made by it pursuant to paragraph (b) above and the action proposed to be taken in relation thereto 

and such Agent shall make available for inspection by Noteholders copies of any such 

determinations. 

19.3 Correction of Index 

With the exception of any corrections published after the day which is three Exchange Business 

Days prior to the due date for any payment of a Redemption Amount, if the Index published on a 

given day and used or to be used by the Calculation Agent to determine any Redemption Amount is 

subsequently corrected and the correction published by the relevant Index Sponsor within 30 days of 

the original publication, the level to be used shall be the level of the Index as so corrected.  

Corrections published after the day which is three Exchange Business Days prior to the relevant 

redemption date will be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purposes of determining any 

redemption amount. 

19.4 Additional Disruption Events 

(a) If an Additional Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may take the 

action described in (i) or (ii) below: 

(i) require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the appropriate 

adjustment, if any, to be made to the multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these 

Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for the Additional Disruption Event 

and determine the effective date of that adjustment; or 

(ii) redeem the Notes by giving notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.  If 

the Notes are so redeemed the Issuer will pay an amount to each Noteholder in respect of 

each Note held by him which amount shall be the fair market value of a Note taking into 

account the Additional Disruption Event less the cost to the Issuer and/or its Affiliates of 

unwinding any underlying related hedging arrangements, all as determined by the 



 

 191  

 

Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion.  Payments will be made in such 

manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as 

practicable to the holders in accordance with Condition 13 stating the occurrence of the Additional 

Disruption Event, as the case may be, giving details thereof and the action proposed to be taken in 

relation thereto. 

19.5 Knock-in Event and Knock-out Event 

If Knock-in Event is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, then payment under the relevant 

Notes subject to a Knock-in Event shall be conditional upon the occurrence of such Knock-in Event. 

If Knock-out Event is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, then payment under the relevant 

Notes subject to a Knock-out Event shall be conditional upon the occurrence of such Knock-out 

Event. 

If the Knock-in Valuation Time or the Knock-out Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final 

Terms is the Valuation Time and if any Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination 

Day is a Disrupted Day, then such Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day 

will be deemed not to be a Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day for the 

purposes of determining the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event. 

If the Knock-in Valuation Time or the Knock-out Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final 

Terms is any time or period of time during the regular trading hours on the relevant Exchange and if 

on any Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day and at any time during the 

one hour period that begins and/or ends at the time on which the level of the Index triggers the 

Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, a Market Disruption Event occurs or exists, then the 

Knock-in Event or the Knock-out Event shall be deemed not to have occurred. 

For the purposes of this Condition 19: 

Knock-in Event means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) (A) in the case of 

a single Index, that the level of the Index determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Knock-in 

Valuation Time on any Knock-in Determination Day is and (B) in the case of a Basket of Indices, 

that the amount for the Basket determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the sum of the values of 

each Index as the product in respect of each Index of (i) the level of such Index as of the Knock-in 

Valuation Time on any Knock-in Determination Day and (ii) the relevant weighting is and for both 

(A) and (B) as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal 

to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-in Level. 

Knock-in Level means (A) in the case of a single Index, the level of the Index specified and (B) in 

case of a Basket of Indices, the level per Basket specified and for both (A) and (B) as such or 

otherwise determined in the applicable Final Terms, subject to adjustment from time to time in 

accordance with the provisions of Market Disruption set out in Condition 19.1 above. 

Knock-in Determination Day means, in the case of a single Index and in the case of a Basket of 

Indices, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, or each Scheduled Trading Day during the 

Knock-in Determination Period subject to, in either case, the provisions of Market Disruption set 

out in Condition 19.1 above.  For the purposes of a Market Disruption, any Knock-in Determination 

Day will be treated as a Valuation Date and the provisions contained in the definition of Valuation 

Date set out below shall apply.  If any such day is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions relating to 

"Omission", "Postponement" or "Modified Postponement", as the case may be, contained in the 

definition of "Averaging Date" shall apply mutatis mutandis as if references in such provisions to 

"Averaging Date" were to "Knock-in Determination Day". 
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Knock-in Determination Period means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices the 

period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date and ends on, and 

includes, the Knock-in Period Ending Date. 

Knock-in Period Beginning Date means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices the date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the 

next following Scheduled Trading Day. 

Knock-in Period Ending Date means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices, the date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the 

next following Scheduled Trading Day. 

Knock-in Valuation Time means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices, the time or 

period of time on any Knock-in Determination Day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms 

or in the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-in Valuation Time, the 

Knock-in Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time. 

Knock-out Event means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) (A) in the case 

of a single Index, that the level of the Index determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Knock-

out Valuation Time on any Knock-out Determination Day is and (B) in the case of a Basket of 

Indices, that the amount for the Basket determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the sum of the 

values of each Index as the product in respect of each Index of (i) the level of such Index as of the 

Knock-out Valuation Time on any Knock-out Determination Day and (ii) the relevant weighting is, 

and for both (A) and (B) as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater 

than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-out Level. 

Knock-out Level means, in the case of a single Index, the level of the Index specified and in the 

case of a Basket of Indices, the level per Basket specified as such or otherwise determined in the 

applicable Final Terms, subject to adjustment from time to time in accordance with the provisions of 

Market Disruption set out in Condition 19.1 above. 

Knock-out Determination Day means, in respect of a single Index and in relation to a Basket of 

Indices, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, or each Scheduled Trading Day during the 

Knock-out Determination Period subject to, in either case, the provisions of "Market Disruption" set 

out in Condition 19.1 above.  For the purposes of a Market Disruption, any Knock-out 

Determination Day will be treated as a Valuation Date and the provisions contained in the definition 

of Valuation Date set out below shall apply.  If any such day is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions 

relating to "Omission", "Postponement" or "Modified Postponement", as the case may be, contained 

in the definition of Averaging Date shall apply mutatis mutandis as if references in such provisions 

to "Averaging Date" were to "Knock-out Determination Day". 

Knock-out Determination Period means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices, the 

period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date and ends on, and 

includes, the Knock-out Period Ending Date. 

Knock-out Period Beginning Date means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices, the 

date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, 

the next following Scheduled Trading Day. 

Knock-out Period Ending Date means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices, the date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the 

next following Scheduled Trading Day. 

Knock-out Valuation Time means, in respect of a single Index or a Basket of Indices, the time or 

period of time on any Knock-out Determination Day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms 
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or in the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-out Valuation Time, the 

Knock-out Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time. 

19.6 Automatic Early Redemption Event 

If Automatic Early Redemption Event is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, then unless 

previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, if on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation 

Date, an Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, then the Notes will be automatically redeemed 

in whole, but not in part, on the Automatic Early Redemption Date immediately following such 

Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date and the Early Redemption Amount payable by the 

Issuer on such date upon redemption of each Note shall be an amount equal to the relevant 

Automatic Early Redemption Amount. 

For the purposes of these Conditions: 

Automatic Early Redemption Amount means (a) an amount in the Specified Currency specified in 

the applicable Final Terms specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or if such amount is not 

specified, (b) the product of (i) the denomination of each Note and (ii) the relevant Automatic Early 

Redemption Rate relating to that Automatic Early Redemption Date. 

Automatic Early Redemption Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms, subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

Automatic Early Redemption Event means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final 

Terms) (A) in the case of a single Index, that the level of the Index determined by the Calculation 

Agent as of the Valuation Time on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date is, and (B) in 

the case of a Basket of Indices, the amount for the Basket determined by the Calculation Agent equal 

to the sum of the values of each Index as the product of (i) the level of such Index as determined by 

the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date 

and (ii) the relevant weighting is, and for both (A) and (B) as specified in the Final Terms (i) 

"greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the 

Automatic Early Redemption Level. 

Automatic Early Redemption Level means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise 

determined in the applicable Final Terms, subject to "Adjustments to an Index" set forth in 

Condition 19.2 above. 

Automatic Early Redemption Rate means, in respect of any Automatic Early Redemption Date, 

the rate specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading 

Day unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any such day is a Disrupted Day.  If any such 

day is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions relating to "Omission", "Postponement" or "Modified 

Postponement", as the case may be, contained in the definition of Averaging Date shall apply 

mutatis mutandis as if references in such provisions to "Averaging Date" were to "Automatic Early 

Redemption Valuation Date". 

19.7 Additional Definitions 

For the purposes of this Condition 19: 
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Additional Disruption Event means any of Change of Law, Hedging Disruption, Increased Cost of 

Hedging, Increased Cost of Stock Borrow and/or Loss of Stock Borrow, in each case if specified in 

the applicable Final Terms. 

Affiliate means in relation to any entity (the First Entity), any entity controlled, directly or 

indirectly, by the First Entity, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the First Entity or any 

entity directly or indirectly under common control with the First Entity.  For these purposes control 

means ownership of a majority of the voting power of an entity. 

Average Highest means the unweighted arithmetic mean of the highest Quotations obtained by the 

Calculation Agent with respect to each Valuation Date. 

Averaging Date means each date specified as an Averaging Date in the applicable Final Terms or, if 

any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately following Scheduled Trading Day 

unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent any such day is a Disrupted Day.  If any such day is a 

Disrupted Day, then: 

(a) If Omission is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, then such date will be 

deemed not to be an Averaging Date for the purposes of determining the relevant Settlement 

Price provided that, if through the operation of this provision no Averaging Date would 

occur, then the provisions of the definition of Valuation Date will apply for purposes of 

determining the relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date as if such 

Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day; or 

(b) if Postponement is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, then the provisions 

of the definition of Valuation Date will apply for the purposes of determining the relevant 

level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation 

Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of whether, pursuant to such determination, that 

deferred Averaging Date would fall on a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging 

Date; or 

(c) if Modified Postponement is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms then: 

(i) where the Notes are Index Linked Redemption Notes relating to a single Index, the 

Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date (as defined below).  If the 

first succeeding Valid Date has not occurred for consecutive Scheduled Trading 

Days equal in number to the Specified Maximum Days of Disruption (up to the 

Valuation Time on the last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day) immediately 

following the original date that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or 

Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date, then (A) that last such 

consecutive Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date 

(irrespective of whether that last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day is already 

an Averaging Date), and (B) the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant 

level, price or amount for that Averaging Date in accordance with subparagraph (b) 

of the definition of Valuation Date below; 

(ii) where the Notes are Index Linked Redemption Notes relating to a Basket of Indices, 

the Averaging Date for the Index not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day 

shall be the originally designated Averaging Date (the Scheduled Averaging Date) 

and the Averaging Date for an Index affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day 

shall be the first succeeding Valid Date (as defined below) in relation to such Index.  

If the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index has not occurred for 

consecutive Scheduled Trading Days equal in number to the Specified Maximum 

Days of Disruption (up to the Valuation Time on the last such consecutive 

Scheduled Trading Day) immediately following the original date that, but for the 
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occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final 

Averaging Date, then (A) that last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day shall be 

deemed the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether that last such consecutive 

Scheduled Trading Day is already an Averaging Date) in respect of such Index, and 

(B) the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level, price or amount for that 

Averaging Date in accordance with subparagraph (b) of the definition of Valuation 

Date below; and 

(iii) for the purposes of these Conditions Valid Date means a Scheduled Trading Day 

that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date does not or is not 

deemed to occur. 

Change of Law means that, on or after the Trade Date (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) 

(A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without 

limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any 

court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation 

(including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Issuer determines in its sole and absolute 

discretion that (x) it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of relevant 

security/commodity/contract/Component Transaction comprised in an Index or (y) it will incur a 

materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes (including, without limitation, 

due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position). 

Component Transaction means each and any combination of any security and/or derivative 

(including interest rates) contracts composing the Index as determined from time to time by the 

Relevant Dealers and as defined in the applicable Final Terms. 

Disrupted Day means any Scheduled Trading Day on which the Exchange or the Related Exchange 

fails to open for trading during their regular trading session or a Market Disruption Event has 

occurred. 

Early Closure means the closure on any Exchange Business Day with respect to such Index of any 

relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities, commodities, contracts or Component Transactions that 

comprise 20% or more of the level of such Index or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled 

Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such Exchange(s) or Related 

Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading 

session on such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the 

submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related Exchange system for 

execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day. 

Exchange means in respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes and in relation to an Index each 

exchange or quotation system or over the counter exchange specified as such for such Index in the 

applicable Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute 

exchange or quotation system to which trading in the securities/commodities/contracts comprising 

such Index has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there 

is comparable liquidity relative to the securities/commodities/contracts/Component Transactions 

comprising such Index on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original 

Exchange). 

Exchange Business Day means the relevant Exchange Business Day specified in the applicable 

Final Terms.  If no Exchange Business Day is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, 

Exchange Business Day shall mean any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and each 

Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, 

notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing 

Time. 
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Exchange Disruption means any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as 

determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants and Relevant Dealers in 

general (A) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for on any relevant Exchange(s) in 

securities/commodities/contracts/Component Transactions that comprise 20% or more of the level of 

the relevant Index, or (B) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures, options or 

any derivative contracts relating to the relevant Index on any relevant Related Exchange. 

Full Quotation means, in accordance with the Quotation Method, any firm quotations obtained from 

Relevant Dealers at the Valuation Time, to the extent reasonably practicable, for an amount of less 

than the Quotation Amount; that in aggregate are approximately equal to the Quotation Amount. 

Hedging Disruption means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates is unable, after using 

commercially reasonable efforts, to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind 

or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the equity, credit, interest 

rates, foreign currency exchange, or other price risk of the Issuer issuing and performing its 

obligations with respect to the Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such 

transaction(s) or asset(s). 

Hedging Components means the number of securities/commodities/contracts comprised in an Index 

that the Issuer deems necessary to hedge the equity, credit, interest rates, foreign currency exchange 

or other price risk of entering into and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes. 

Highest means the highest Quotation obtained by the Calculation Agent with respect to the 

Valuation Date. 

Increased Cost of Hedging means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates would incur a 

materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, 

duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, 

substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge 

the risks (including, without limitation, equity and credit price risk, foreign exchange risk, interest 

rate risk, and any other price risks) of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect 

to the Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s), 

provided that any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of 

the creditworthiness of the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates shall not be deemed an Increased Cost 

of Hedging. 

Increased Cost of Stock Borrow means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates would incur a 

rate to borrow any security/commodity/contract/Component Transaction comprised in an Index that 

is greater than the Initial Stock Loan Rate. 

Index Currency means the currency specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Index Sponsor means, in relation to an Index, the corporation or other entity that (a) is responsible 

for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if 

any, related to such Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of such Index 

on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day, which as of the Issue Date of the Notes is the 

index sponsor specified for such Index in the applicable Final Terms. 

Indices and Index mean, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 19.2, the indices or 

index specified in the applicable Final Terms and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. 

Initial Stock Loan Rate means, in respect of a security/commodity/contract/Component 

Transaction comprised in an Index, the initial stock loan rate specified in relation to such security, 

commodity, contract or Component Transaction in the applicable Final Terms. 
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Loss of Stock Borrow means that the Issuer and/or any Affiliate is unable, after using commercially 

reasonable efforts, to borrow (or maintain a borrowing of) any 

securities/commodities/contracts/Component Transactions comprised in an Index in an amount equal 

to the Hedging Components at a rate equal to or less than the Maximum Stock Loan Rate. 

Market Value means, with respect to the Index level being valued on a Valuation Date, (a) if more 

than three Full Quotations are obtained, the arithmetic mean of such Full Quotations, disregarding 

the Full Quotations having the highest and lowest values (and, if more than one such Full Quotations 

have the same highest value or lowest value, then one of such highest or lowest Full Quotations shall 

be disregarded); (b) if exactly three Full Quotations are obtained, the Full Quotation remaining after 

disregarding the highest and lowest Full Quotations (and, if more than one such Full Quotations have 

the same highest and lowest value, then one of such highest or lowest Full Quotations shall be 

disregarded); (c) if exactly two Full Quotations are obtained, the arithmetic mean of such Full 

Quotations; (d) if fewer than two Full Quotations are obtained and a Weighted Average Quotation is 

obtained, such Weighted Average Quotation; (e) if fewer than two Full Quotations are obtained and 

no Weighted Average Quotation is obtained, an amount as determined by the Calculation Agent on 

any of the next ten Business Days thereafter on which two or more Full Quotations or a Weighted 

Average Quotation is obtained; and (f) if two or more Full Quotations or a Weighted Average 

Quotation are not obtained within this additional ten Business Days' period, any one Full Quotation 

on such tenth Business Day, or if no Full Quotation is obtained, the Market Value shall be the 

weighted average of any firm quotations obtained from Relevant Dealers on such tenth Business Day 

with respect to the aggregate portion of the Quotation Amount for which such quotations were 

obtained and a quotation deemed to be zero for the balance of the Quotation Amount for which firm 

quotations were not obtained on such day. 

Maximum Stock Loan Rate means, in respect of a security/commodity/contract comprised in an 

Index, the Maximum Stock Loan Rate specified in the applicable Final Terms.  

Observation Date means each date specified as an Observation Date in the applicable Final Terms, 

or if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately following Scheduled Trading 

Day unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any such day is a Disrupted Day.  If any such 

day is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions relating to "Omission", "Postponement" or "Modified 

Postponement", as the case may be, contained in the definition of Averaging Date shall apply 

mutatis mutandis as if references in such provisions to "Averaging Date" were to "Observation 

Date". 

Observation Period means the period specified as the Observation Period in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Quotation means each Full Quotation, the Weighted Average Quotation obtained and expressed as a 

percentage with respect to a Valuation Date as follows: the Calculation Agent shall attempt to obtain 

Full Quotations with respect to each Valuation Date from five or more Relevant Dealers.  If the 

Calculation Agent is unable to obtain two or more such Full Quotations on the same Business Day 

within three Business Days of a Valuation Date, then on the next following Business Day (and, if 

necessary, on each Business Day thereafter until the tenth Business Day following the relevant 

Valuation Date) the Calculation Agent shall attempt to obtain Full Quotations from five or more 

Relevant Dealers, and, if two or more Full Quotations are not available, a Weighted Average 

Quotation.  If two or more such Full Quotations or a Weighted Average Quotation are not available 

on any such Business Day, the Quotations shall be deemed to be any Full Quotation obtained from a 

Relevant Dealer on such tenth Business Day, or if no Full Quotation is obtained, the weighted 

average of any firm quotations obtained from Relevant Dealers on such tenth Business Day with 

respect to the aggregate portion of the Quotation Amount for which such quotations were obtained 

and a quotation deemed to be zero for the balance of the Quotation Amount for which the firm 

quotations were not obtained on such day. 



 

 198  

 

Quotation Amount shall be as specified in the applicable Final Terms or otherwise shall be deemed 

to be, an amount equal to the amount necessary to unwind the hedge of the Issuer in relation with the 

Notes. 

Quotation Method means the applicable quotation method which may be specified in the Final 

Terms as being one of the following: 

(a) Bid means that only bid quotations shall be requested; 

(b) Mid means that the bid and offer quotations shall be requested and averaged for the 

purposes of determining a relevant Dealer's quotation; or 

(c) Ask means that only offer quotations shall be requested. 

Relevant Dealers means official bank dealers (other than the Issuer or an affiliate of the Issuer) of 

the Index as appointed by the relevant Index Sponsor, or three financial institutions, selected by the 

Calculation Agent, that significantly deals or invests in the Index or Component Transactions for 

which Quotations are to be obtained.  The Calculation Agent shall select the Relevant Dealers in 

good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.  Upon a selected Relevant Dealer no longer 

being in existence (with no successors), or not being an active dealer in the Index or Component 

Transactions of the type for which Quotations are to be obtained, the Calculation Agent may 

substitute any other Relevant Dealer(s) for one or more of the foregoing.  Any bid quotation 

provided by the Issuer shall be deemed to be a firm quotation that it would provide to a counterparty 

in the market. 

Relevant Level means the level of the Index as determined by the Calculation Agent at Valuation 

Time on any Valuation Date, using as specified in the applicable Final Terms, either (a) the official 

closing level for such Index, or (b) the official fixing eventually calculated and/or published by the 

Index Sponsor; or, if nothing is specified in the Final Terms, the Valuation Method as set out therein. 

Scheduled Closing Time means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the scheduled weekday customarily accepted closing time of such Exchange or Related 

Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading outside 

of the regular trading session hours. 

Scheduled Trading Day means the relevant Scheduled Trading Day specified in the applicable 

Final Terms.  If no Scheduled Trading Day is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, 

Scheduled Trading Day shall mean any day on which each Exchange and each Related Exchange in 

respect of each such Index are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading 

sessions, and for which and with respect to each relevant over the counter exchange, Relevant 

Dealers are scheduled to be opened for business, to bid for the relevant Index and Component 

Transactions. 

Scheduled Valuation Date means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing 

a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date. 

Screen Page means the page specified in the applicable Final Terms, or any successor page or 

service thereto. 

Settlement Price means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, in relation to 

Index Linked Redemption Notes and as referred to in Valuation Date below or Averaging Date 

above, as the case may be: 

(a) in the case of Index Linked Redemption Notes relating to a Basket of Indices, an amount 

(which shall be deemed to be a monetary amount in the Index Currency) equal to the sum of 
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the values calculated for each Index as the Relevant Level for each Index as determined by 

the Calculation Agent or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the level of each 

Index determined by the Calculation Agent as set out in the applicable Final Terms at the 

Relevant Time on (A) if Averaging is not specified in the applicable Final Terms, the 

Valuation Date or (B) if Averaging is specified in the applicable Final Terms, an Averaging 

Date and, in either case, multiplied by the relevant multiplier; and 

(b) in the case of Index Linked Redemption Notes relating to a single Index, an amount (which 

shall be deemed to be a monetary amount in the Index Currency) equal to the Relevant Level 

of the Index as determined by the Calculation Agent or, if so specified in the applicable 

Final Terms, the level of the Index determined by the Calculation Agent as set out in the 

applicable Final Terms at the Relevant Time on (A) if Averaging is not specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, the Valuation Date or (B) if Averaging is specified in the applicable 

Final Terms, an Averaging Date. 

Specified Maximum Days of Disruption means eight (8) Scheduled Trading Days or such other 

number of Scheduled Trading Days specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Trading Disruption means (1) any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant 

Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price 

exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (a) relating 

to securities, commodities, contracts or Component Transactions that comprise 20% or more of the 

level of such Index on any relevant Exchange(s) or (b) in futures, options or derivatives contracts 

relating to such Index on any relevant Related Exchange; and, (2) in case of Component 

Transactions scheduled to be quoted on a relevant over the counter exchange, any time or day on a 

Scheduled Trading Day during which the Calculation Agent is unable to obtain a Quotation, as 

provided by the Valuation Method. 

Valuation Date means the Valuation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if such day is 

not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately succeeding Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the 

opinion of the Calculation Agent, such day is a Disrupted Day.  If such day is a Disrupted Day, then: 

(a) where the Notes are Index Linked Redemption Notes relating to a single Index, the 

Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted 

Day, unless each of the consecutive Scheduled Trading Days equal in number to the 

Specified Maximum Days of Disruption immediately following the Scheduled Valuation 

Date is a Disrupted Day.  In that case, (A) the last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day 

shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a 

Disrupted Day, and (B) the Calculation Agent shall determine the Settlement Price in the 

manner set out in the applicable Final Terms or, if not set out or if not practicable, determine 

the Settlement Price by determining the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on the 

last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day in accordance with the formula for and 

method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted 

Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the last such 

consecutive Scheduled Trading Day of each security/commodity/derivatives contracts 

comprised in the Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect 

of the relevant security/commodity/derivatives contracts on the last such consecutive 

Scheduled Trading Day, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant 

security/commodity/derivatives contracts as of the Valuation Time on the last such 

consecutive Scheduled Trading Day); or 

(b) where the Notes are Index Linked Redemption Notes relating to a Basket of Indices, the 

Valuation Date for each Index, not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be 

the Scheduled Valuation Date, and the Valuation Date for each Index, affected, as the case 

may be, (each an Affected Item) by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first 
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succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day relating to the Affected Item 

unless each of the consecutive Scheduled Trading Days equal in number to the Specified 

Maximum Days of Disruption immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a 

Disrupted Day relating to the Affected Item.  In that case, (A) the last such consecutive 

Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the Affected Item, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (B) the Calculation Agent 

shall determine the Settlement Price using, in relation to the Affected Item, the level or value 

as applicable, determined in the manner set out in the applicable Final Terms, or, if not set 

out or if not practicable, using the level of that Index as of the Valuation Time on the last 

such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day in accordance with the formula for and method of 

calculating that Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using 

the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the last such consecutive 

Scheduled Trading Day of each security/commodity/derivatives contracts comprised in that 

Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant 

security/commodity/derivatives contracts on the last such consecutive Scheduled Trading 

Day, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security/commodity/derivatives 

contracts as of the Valuation Time on the last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day), 

and otherwise in accordance with the above provisions. 

Valuation Method shall be as specified in the applicable Final Terms as (a) Highest, (b) Average 

Highest, or (c) Market Value. 

Valuation Time means: 

(a) the Relevant Time specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

(b) if Calculation Agent is specified in the applicable Final Terms, any time (as selected by the 

Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion) on the Valuation Date or the 

Averaging Date, as the case may be, during the hours that Relevant Dealers customarily bid 

for the relevant Index or any of its Component Transactions; and 

(c) the Scheduled Closing Time on the Exchange on the Valuation Date or the Averaging Date, 

as the case may be.  If the Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the 

specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time  for its regular trading session, then 

the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time. 

Weighted Average Quotation means, in accordance with the Quotation Method, the weighted 

average of firm quotations obtained from Relevant Dealers at the Valuation Time, to the extent 

reasonably practicable, for an amount of less than the Quotation Amount, that in aggregate are 

approximately equal to the Quotation Amount. 

20. Additional Provisions Applicable to Equity Linked Redemption Notes 

This Condition 20 applies to Equity Linked Redemption Notes only.  The Technical Annex set out 

on pages 211 to 212 of this Prospectus contains provisions relating to the formula used to determine 

the pay-off under Equity Linked Redemption Notes and the applicable Final Terms contains 

provisions applicable to the determination of the performance of the relevant Share(s) as well as 

other relevant provisions and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 20 and with the 

Technical Annex for full information on any Equity Linked Redemption Notes.  In particular, the 

applicable Final Terms will identify the relevant Share(s). 

20.1 Market Disruption 
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Market Disruption Event means, in relation to Notes relating to a single Share, the occurrence or 

existence of (a) a Trading Disruption, (b) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the 

Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion, determines is material, at any time during the 

one hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, or (c) an Early Closure. 

The Calculation Agent shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13 of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day, would have been an Averaging Date, an Observation Date or a Valuation Date. 

20.2 Potential Adjustment Events, Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation and 

Insolvency 

(a) Potential Adjustment Event means any of the following: 

(i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of relevant Shares (unless resulting in a 

Merger Event) or a free distribution or dividend of any such Shares to existing Noteholders 

by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue; 

(ii) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing Noteholders of the relevant Shares of (I) such 

Shares or (II) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends 

and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Share Company equally or proportionately with 

such payments to Noteholders of such Shares or (III) share capital or other securities of 

another issuer acquired or owned (directly or indirectly) by the Share Company as a result of 

a spin-off or other similar transaction or (IV) any other type of securities, rights or 

certificates or other assets, in any case for payment (in cash or in other consideration) at less 

than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; 

(iii) an extraordinary dividend as determined by the Calculation Agent; 

(iv) a call by a Share Company in respect of relevant Shares that are not fully paid; 

(v) a repurchase by the Share Company or its subsidiaries of relevant Shares whether out of 

profits or capital and whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or 

otherwise; 

(vi) in respect of a Share Company an event that results in any shareholder rights being 

distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the 

capital stock of such Share Company pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or arrangement 

directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence of certain events for a 

distribution of preferred stock, certificates, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below 

their market value as determined by the Calculation Agent, provided that any adjustment 

effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any redemption of such rights; 

or 

(vii) any other event having, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, a diluting or concentrative 

effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Shares. 

(b) Following the declaration by the Share Company of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, the 

Calculation Agent will, in its sole and absolute discretion, determine whether such Potential 

Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the Shares and, if 

so, will (A) make the corresponding adjustment, if any, to any one or more of any Relevant Asset 

and/or the Asset Amount (in each case with respect to Physical Delivery Notes) and/or any of the 

other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent in its sole 

and absolute discretion determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect 

(provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected 
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dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant Share) and (B) determine the effective 

date of that adjustment.  The Calculation Agent may, but need not, determine the appropriate 

adjustment by reference to the adjustment in respect of such Potential Adjustment Event made by an 

options exchange to options on the Shares traded on that options exchange. 

Upon the making of any such adjustment by the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent shall give 

notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 stating the 

adjustment to any Relevant Asset and/or the Asset Amount (in each case with respect to Physical 

Delivery Notes) and/or the multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the 

applicable Final Terms and giving brief details of the Potential Adjustment Event. 

(c) De-Listing means, in respect of any relevant Shares, the Exchange announces that pursuant to the 

rules of such Exchange, such Shares cease (or will cease) to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on 

the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Tender Offer) and are not immediately 

re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange or quotation system located in the same country as 

the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is within the European Union, in a member state of the 

European Union). 

Insolvency means that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency, 

dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous proceeding affecting the Share Company (a) all the 

Shares of that Share Company are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar 

official or (b) Noteholders of the Shares of that Share Company become legally prohibited from 

transferring them. 

Merger Date means the closing date of a Merger Event or, where a closing date cannot be 

determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as determined by 

the Calculation Agent. 

Merger Event means, in respect of any relevant Shares, any (a) reclassification or change of such 

Shares that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such Shares 

outstanding to another entity or person, (b) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share 

exchange of a Share Company with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, 

amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange in which such Share Company is the continuing 

entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Shares outstanding), (c) 

takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or 

person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100% of the outstanding Shares of the Share Company that 

results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such Shares (other than such 

Shares owned or controlled by such other entity or person), or (d) consolidation, amalgamation, 

merger or binding share exchange of the Share Company or its subsidiaries with or into another 

entity in which the Share Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a 

reclassification or change of all such Shares outstanding but results in the outstanding Shares (other 

than Shares owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively 

representing less than 50% of the outstanding Shares immediately following such event, in each case 

if the Merger Date is on or before (a) in the case of Cash Settled Notes, the last occurring Valuation 

Date or where Averaging is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the final Averaging Date in 

respect of the relevant Note or (b) in the case of Physical Delivery Notes, the relevant Maturity Date. 

Nationalisation means that all the Shares or all or substantially all the assets of the Share Company 

are nationalised, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental 

agency, authority, entity or instrumentality thereof. 

Tender Offer means a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other 

event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining 

or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 50% and less than 100% 

(the Percentage Range) of the outstanding voting shares of the Share Company as determined by 
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the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory 

agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent deems relevant. 

Tender Offer Date means, in respect of a Tender Offer, the date on which the voting shares in the 

amount of the Percentage Range are actually purchased or otherwise obtained, as determined by the 

Calculation Agent. 

If a Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or Insolvency (each, an Extraordinary 

Event) occurs in relation to a Share, the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may take the action 

described in (A), (B), (C) or (D) below: 

(i) require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the appropriate 

adjustment, if any, to be made to any one or more of any Relevant Asset and/or the Asset 

Amount (in each case with respect to Physical Delivery Notes) and/or the multiplier and/or 

any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for 

the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may 

be, and determine the effective date of that adjustment.  The relevant adjustments may 

include, without limitation, adjustments to account for changes in volatility, expected 

dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Notes.  The Calculation 

Agent may (but need not) determine the appropriate adjustment by reference to the 

adjustment in respect of the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or 

Insolvency made by any options exchange to options on the Shares traded on that options 

exchange; or 

(ii) unless Delayed Redemption on Occurrence of Extraordinary Events is specified as being 

applicable in the applicable Final Terms, on giving notice to Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13, redeem all but not some only of the Notes, each Note being redeemed by 

payment of an amount equal to the fair market value of a Note taking into account the 

Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may be, 

less the cost to the Issuer and/or its Affiliates of unwinding any underlying related hedging 

arrangements (unless provided for in the applicable Final Terms), all as determined by the 

Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion.  Payments will be made in such 

manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; or 

(iii) if Delayed Redemption on Occurrence of Extraordinary Event is specified as being 

applicable in the Final Terms, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the fair market value of 

each Note taking into account the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-Listing, Nationalisation 

or Insolvency, as the case may be, less the cost to the Issuer and/or its Affiliates of 

unwinding any underlying related hedging arrangements (the Calculated Amount) as soon 

as practicable, following the occurrence of the Extraordinary Event (the Calculated 

Amount Determination Date) and on the Maturity Date shall redeem each Note at an 

amount calculated by the Calculation Agent equal to the Calculated Amount plus interest 

accrued from and including the Calculated Amount Determination Date to but excluding the 

Maturity Date at a rate specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no such specification, at 

a rate equal to Issuer's funding cost at such time. 

(iv) following such adjustment to the settlement terms of options on the Shares traded on such 

exchange(s) or quotation system(s) as the Issuer in its sole discretion shall select (the 

Options Exchange), require the Calculation Agent to make a corresponding adjustment to 

any one or more of any Relevant Asset and/or the Asset Amount (in each case with respect 

to Physical Delivery Notes) and/or the multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these 

Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms, which adjustment will be effective as of the 

date determined by the Calculation Agent to be the effective date of the corresponding 

adjustment made by the Options Exchange.  If options on the Shares are not traded on the 

Options Exchange, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment, if any, to any one or 
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more of any Relevant Asset and/or the Asset Amount (in each case with respect to Physical 

Delivery Notes) and/or the multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions 

and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion 

determines appropriate, with reference to the rules and precedents (if any) set by the Options 

Exchange to account for the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or 

Insolvency, as the case may be, that in the determination of the Calculation Agent would 

have given rise to an adjustment by the Options Exchange if such options were so traded. 

(d) Upon the occurrence of a Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or Insolvency, the 

Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the holders in accordance with Condition 13 stating 

the occurrence of the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the 

case may be, giving details thereof and the action proposed to be taken in relation thereto. 

20.3 Correction of Share Price 

With the exception of any corrections published after the day which is three Exchange Business 

Days prior to the due date for any payment of any Redemption Amount, if the price of the relevant 

Share published on a given day and used or to be used by the Calculation Agent to determine any 

Redemption Amount is subsequently corrected and the correction published by the relevant 

Exchange or Related Exchange, as the case may be, within 30 days of the original publication, the 

price to be used shall be the price of the relevant Share as so corrected.  Corrections published after 

the day which is three Exchange Business Days prior to the relevant redemption date will be 

disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purposes of determining any Redemption Amount. 

20.4 Issuer's Option to substitute Assets or to pay the Alternate Cash Redemption Amount 

If prior to the redemption of Physical Delivery Notes, the Calculation Agent determines, in its sole 

and absolute discretion, that the Relevant Asset(s) comprise(s) Shares which are not freely tradable, 

the Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, elect either (i) to substitute for such Shares freely 

tradable shares with a value equivalent to the Shares (as determined by the Calculation Agent in its 

sole and absolute discretion) (the Substitute Asset(s)) or (ii) not to deliver or procure the delivery of 

the Asset Amount or the Substitute Asset(s), as the case may be, but in lieu thereof to pay to the 

Noteholders on the Maturity Date an amount equal to the fair market value of the Asset Amount on 

the Valuation Date as determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion by 

reference to such sources as it considers appropriate (the Alternate Cash Redemption Amount).  

Notification of any such election will be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

For the purposes hereof, a freely tradable share shall mean (i) with respect to the United States, a 

share which is registered under the Securities Act or not restricted under the Securities Act and 

which is not purchased from the issuer of such share and not purchased from an affiliate of the issuer 

of such share or which otherwise meets the requirements of a freely tradable share for the purposes 

of the Securities Act, in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent, in its sole and absolute 

discretion or (ii) with respect to any other jurisdiction, a share not subject to any legal restrictions on 

transfer in such jurisdiction. 

20.5 Additional Disruption Events 

(a) If an Additional Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may take the 

action described in (A) or (B) below: 

(i) require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the appropriate 

adjustment, if any, to be made to any one or more of any Relevant Asset and/or the Asset 

Amount (in each case with respect to Physical Delivery Notes) and/or the multiplier and/or 

any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for 

the Additional Disruption Event and determine the effective date of that adjustment; or 
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(ii) unless Delayed Redemption on Occurrence of Additional Disruption Event is specified as 

being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, redeem the Notes by giving notice to the 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.  If the Notes are so redeemed the Issuer will 

pay an amount to each Noteholder in respect of each Note held by him which amount shall 

be the fair market value of a Note taking into account the Additional Disruption Event less 

the cost to the Issuer and/or its Affiliates of unwinding any underlying related hedging 

arrangements, all as determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion.  

Payments will be made in such manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance 

with Condition 13. 

(iii) if Delayed Redemption on Occurrence of Additional Disruption Event is specified as being 

applicable in the Final Terms, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the fair market value of 

each Note taking into account the Additional Disruption Event less the cost to the Issuer 

and/or its Affiliates of unwinding any underlying related hedging arrangements (the 

Calculated Additional Disruption Amount) as soon as practicable, following the 

occurrence of the Additional Disruption Event (the Calculated Additional Disruption 

Amount Determination Date) and on the Maturity Date shall redeem each Note at an 

amount calculated by the Calculation Agent equal to the Calculated Additional Disruption 

Amount plus interest accrued from and including the Calculated Additional Disruption 

Amount Determination Date to but excluding the Maturity Date at a rate specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, or if no such specification, at a rate equal to Issuer's funding cost at 

such time. 

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as 

practicable to the holders in accordance with Condition 13 stating the occurrence of the Additional 

Disruption Event, as the case may be, giving details thereof and the action proposed to be taken in 

relation thereto. 

20.6 Additional Definitions 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms: 

Additional Disruption Event means any of Change of Law, Failure to Deliver, Hedging Disruption, 

Increased Cost of Hedging, Increased Cost of Stock Borrow, Insolvency Filing and/or Loss of Stock 

Borrow, in each case if specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Affiliate means in relation to any entity (the First Entity), any entity controlled, directly or 

indirectly, by the First Entity, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the First Entity or any 

entity directly or indirectly under common control with the First Entity.  For these purposes control 

means ownership of a majority of the voting power of an entity. 

Averaging Date means each date specified as an Averaging Date in the applicable Final Terms or, if 

any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately following Scheduled Trading Day 

unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent any such day is a Disrupted Day.  If any such day is a 

Disrupted Day, then: 

(a) If Omission is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, then such date will be 

deemed not to be an Averaging Date for the purposes of determining the relevant Settlement 

Price provided that, if through the operation of this provision no Averaging Date would 

occur, then the provisions of the definition of Valuation Date will apply for purposes of 

determining the relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date as if such 

Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day; or 

(b) if Postponement is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, then the provisions 

of the definition of Valuation Date will apply for the purposes of determining the relevant 
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level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation 

Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of whether, pursuant to such determination, that 

deferred Averaging Date would fall on a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging 

Date; or 

(c) if Modified Postponement is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms then the 

Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date (as defined below).  If the first 

succeeding Valid Date has not occurred for consecutive Scheduled Trading Days equal in 

number to the Specified Maximum Days of Disruption (up to Valuation Time on such last 

consecutive Scheduled Trading Day) immediately following the original date that, but for 

the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final 

Averaging Date, then (A) that last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed 

to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether the last such consecutive Scheduled 

Trading Day is already an Averaging Date), and (B) the Calculation Agent shall determine 

the relevant level, price or amount for that Averaging Date in accordance with subparagraph 

(B) of the definition of Valuation Date below.  For the purposes of these Conditions, Valid 

Date means a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another 

Averaging Date does not or is not deemed to occur.  

Change of Law means that, on or after the Trade Date (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) 

(a) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without 

limitation, any tax law), or (b) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any 

court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation 

(including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Issuer determines in its sole and absolute 

discretion that (x) it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of any relevant Share or (y) it will 

incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes (including, without 

limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its 

tax position). 

Disrupted Day means any Scheduled Trading Day on which a relevant Exchange or any Related 

Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or on which a Market Disruption 

Event has occurred. 

Early Closure means the closure on any Exchange Business Day of relevant Exchange(s) or any 

Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is 

announced by such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of (a) 

the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) 

on such Exchange Business Day and (b) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the 

Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange 

Business Day. 

Exchange means, in relation to a Share, each exchange or quotation system specified as such for 

such Share in the applicable Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any 

substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the Share has temporarily relocated 

(provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to 

such Share on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange). 

Exchange Business Day means the relevant Exchange Business Day specified in the applicable 

Final Terms.  If no Exchange Business Day is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, 

Exchange Business Day shall mean any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and each 

Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, 

notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing 

Time. 



 

 207  

 

Exchange Disruption means, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as 

determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (a) to effect 

transactions in, or obtain market values for, the Shares on the relevant Exchange or (b) to effect 

transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures or options contracts relating to the relevant Share 

on any relevant Related Exchange. 

Failure to Deliver means failure of the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates to deliver, when due, the 

relevant Shares under the Notes, where such failure to deliver is due to illiquidity in the market for 

such Shares. 

Hedging Disruption means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates is unable, after using 

commercially reasonable efforts, to (a) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind 

or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the equity or other price risk 

of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes, or (b) realise, recover 

or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s). 

Hedging Shares means the number of Shares that the Issuer deems necessary to hedge the equity or 

other price risk of entering into and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes. 

Increased Cost of Hedging means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates would incur a 

materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, 

duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (a) acquire, establish, re-establish, 

substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge 

the market risk (including, without limitation, equity price risk, foreign exchange risk and interest 

rate risk) of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes, or (b) realise, 

recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s), provided that any such materially 

increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer 

and/or any of its Affiliates shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of Hedging. 

Increased Cost of Stock Borrow means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates would incur a 

rate to borrow any Share that is greater than the Initial Stock Loan Rate. 

Initial Stock Loan Rate means, in respect of a Share, the initial stock loan rate specified in relation 

to such Share in the applicable Final Terms. 

Insolvency Filing means that a Share Company institutes or has instituted against it by a regulator, 

supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction 

over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home 

office, or it consents to a proceeding seeking a judgement of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other 

relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a 

petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar 

official or it consents to such a petition, provided that proceedings instituted or petitions presented 

by creditors and not consented to by the Share Company shall not be deemed an Insolvency Filing. 

Loss of Stock Borrow means that the Issuer and/or any Affiliate is unable, after using commercially 

reasonable efforts, to borrow (or maintain a borrowing of) any Share in an amount equal to the 

Hedging Shares at a rate equal to or less than the Maximum Stock Loan Rate. 

Maximum Stock Loan Rate means, in respect of a Share, the Maximum Stock Loan Rate specified 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as an Observation Date in the applicable Final Terms, 

or if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately following Scheduled Trading 

Day unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any such day is a Disrupted Day.  If any such 

day is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions relating to "Omission", "Postponement" or "Modified 
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Postponement", as the case may be, contained in the definition of Averaging Date shall apply 

mutatis mutandis as if references in such provisions to "Averaging Date" were to "Observation 

Date". 

Observation Period means the period specified as the Observation Period in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Related Exchange means in respect of Equity Linked Redemption Notes and in relation to a Share, 

each exchange or quotation system on which option contracts or futures contracts relating to such 

Share are traded, or each exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Share in the 

applicable Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute 

exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to such Share 

has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is 

comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to such Share on such 

temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Related Exchange), provided 

that where "All Exchanges" is specified as the Related Exchange in the applicable Final Terms, 

Related Exchange shall mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material 

effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts 

relating to such Share. 

Scheduled Closing Time means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related Exchange on such 

Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading outside of the regular 

trading session hours. 

Scheduled Trading Day means the relevant Scheduled Trading Day specified in the applicable 

Final Terms.  If no Scheduled Trading Day is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, 

Scheduled Trading Day shall mean any day on which each Exchange and each Related Exchange are 

scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions. 

Scheduled Valuation Date means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing 

a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date. 

Settlement Currency means the currency specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Settlement Price means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, in relation to each 

Cash Settled Note in respect of Equity Linked Redemption Notes, and as referred to in Valuation 

Date below or Averaging Date above, an amount equal to the official closing price (or the price at 

the Relevant Time on the Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the case may be, if so specified in 

the applicable Final Terms) quoted on the relevant Exchange for such Share on (a) if Averaging is 

not specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Valuation Date or (b) if Averaging is specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, an Averaging Date and (or if, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any 

such official closing price (or the price at the Relevant Time on the Valuation Date or such 

Averaging Date, as the case may be, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms) cannot be so 

determined and the Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be, is not a Disrupted Day, 

an amount determined by the Calculation Agent to be equal to the arithmetic mean of the closing fair 

market buying price (or the fair market buying price at the Relevant Time on the Valuation Date or 

such Averaging Date, as the case may be, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms) and the 

closing fair market selling price (or the fair market selling price at the Relevant Time on the 

Valuation Date or such Averaging Date, as the case may be, if so specified in the applicable Final 

Terms) for the Share based, at the Calculation Agent's discretion, either on the arithmetic mean of 

the foregoing prices or middle market quotations provided to it by two or more financial institutions 

(as selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion) engaged in the trading of 

the Share or on such other factors as the Calculation Agent shall decide, such amount to be 

converted, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, into the Settlement Currency at the 
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Exchange Rate and such converted amount to be the Settlement Price, all as determined by or on 

behalf of the Calculation Agent. Shares and Share mean the shares specified in the applicable Final 

Terms and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. 

Share Company means the company that has issued the Share. 

Specified Maximum Days of Disruption means eight (8) Scheduled Trading Days or such other 

number of Scheduled Trading Days specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Trading Disruption means, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant 

Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price 

exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (a) relating 

to the Share or (b) in futures or options contracts relating to such Share on any relevant Related 

Exchange. 

Valuation Date means the Valuation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if such day is 

not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately succeeding Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the 

opinion of the Calculation Agent, such day is a Disrupted Day.  If such day is a Disrupted Day, then 

the Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, 

unless each of the consecutive Scheduled Trading Days equal in number to the Specified Maximum 

Days of Disruption immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day.  In that 

case, (A) the last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (B) the Calculation Agent shall 

determine the Settlement Price in the manner set out in the applicable Final Terms or, if not set out 

or if not practicable, determine the Settlement Price in accordance with its good faith estimate of the 

Settlement Price as of the Valuation Time on that the last such consecutive Scheduled Trading Day; 

and otherwise in accordance with the above provisions. 

Valuation Time means the Relevant Time specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no Relevant 

Time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on the relevant Valuation 

Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be, in relation to each Share to be valued provided that if 

the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time 

is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such 

actual closing time. 

21. Additional Provisions Applicable to Inflation Linked Interest Notes 

This Condition 21 applies to Inflation Linked Interest Notes only.  The Technical Annex set out on 

page 212 of this Base Prospectus contains provisions relating to the formula used to determine the 

pay-off under Inflation Linked Interest Notes and the applicable Final Terms contains provisions 

applicable to the determination of the performance of the relevant inflation index as well as other 

relevant provisions and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 21 and with the Technical 

Annex for full information on any Inflation Linked Interest Notes.  In particular, the applicable Final 

Terms will identify the relevant Screen Page, the various levels and other factors required to apply 

the formula. 

21.1 Delay in Publication 

If the Calculation Agent determines that, in relation to Notes relating to an Index, a Delayed Index 

Level Event in respect of an Index has occurred with respect to any Interest Determination Date, 

then the Relevant Level with respect to any Reference Month which is to be used in any calculation 

or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent with respect to such Interest Determination 

Date (the Substitute Index Level) shall be determined by the Calculation Agent (subject to 

Condition 21.3(a) “Adjustments - Substitute Index Level” below), as follows: 
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(a) if Related Bond is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation 

Agent shall determine the Substitute Index Level by reference to the corresponding index 

level determined under the terms and conditions of the Related Bond; or 

(b) if A) Related Bond is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms, or (B) the 

Calculation Agent is not able to determine a Substitute Index Level under (a) above, the 

Calculation Agent shall determine the Substitute Index Level by reference to the following 

formula: 

 Level ReferenceLevelLatest Level BaseLevelIndex  Substitute   

(c) otherwise in accordance with any formula specified in the applicable Final Terms, 

where: 

Base Level means the level of the Index (whether definitive or provisional) published or announced 

by the Index Sponsor in respect of the month which is 12 calendar months prior to the month for 

which the Substitute Index Level is being determined. 

Latest Level means the latest level of the Index (whether definitive or provisional) published or 

announced by the Index Sponsor prior to the month in respect of which the Substitute Index Level is 

being calculated. 

Reference Level means the level of the Index (whether definitive or provisional) published or 

announced by the Index Sponsor in respect of the month that is 12 calendar months prior to the 

month referred to in Latest Level above. 

The Issuer shall promptly give notice to the holders of the Notes in accordance with Condition 13 of 

any Substitute Index Level. 

If the Relevant Level is published or announced at any time on or after the relevant Cut-Off Date 

specified in the applicable Final Terms, such Relevant Level will not be used in any calculations.  

The Substitute Index Level so determined pursuant to this Condition 21.1 will be the definitive level 

for that Reference Month. 

21.2 Successor Index 

If in relation to Notes relating to the Index, the Calculation Agent determines that the level of the 

Index is not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor for two consecutive months and/or the 

Index Sponsor announces that it will no longer continue to publish or announce the Index and/or the 

Index Sponsor cancels the Index then the Calculation Agent shall determine a successor index (a 

Successor Index) (in lieu of any previously applicable Index) for the purposes of the Notes as 

follows: 

(a) if Related Bond is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation 

Agent shall determine a Successor Index by reference to the corresponding successor index 

determined under the terms and conditions of the Related Bond; 

(b) if Related Bond is specified as not applicable in the Final Terms or a Related Bond 

Redemption Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent shall ask five leading independent 

dealers to state what the replacement index for the Index should be.  If between four and five 

responses are received, and of those four or five responses, three or more leading 

independent dealers state the same index, this index will be deemed the Successor Index.  If 

three responses are received, and two or more leading independent dealers state the same 

index, this index will be deemed the Successor Index; 
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(c) If no Successor Index has been deemed under (a) above or if fewer than three responses are 

received under (b) above by the Cut-Off Date the Calculation Agent will determine an 

appropriate alternative index for the relevant Payment Date, and such index will be deemed 

a Successor Index; or 

(d) if the Calculation Agent determines that there is no appropriate alternative index, there will 

be deemed to be no Successor Index and an Index Cancellation will be deemed to have 

occurred. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the Calculation Agent shall determine the date on which the Successor 

Index shall be deemed to replace the Index for the purposes of the Notes.  Notice of the 

determination of a Successor Index, the effective date of the Successor Index or the occurrence of an 

Index Cancellation will be given to holders of the Notes by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 

13. 

21.3 Adjustments 

(a) Substitute Index Level 

If the Calculation Agent determines a Substitute Index Level in accordance with Condition 21.1 

"Delay in Publication" above, the Calculation Agent may make any adjustment or adjustments 

(without limitation) to (A) the Substitute Index Level determined in accordance with Condition 21.1 

"Delay in Publication" above and/or (B) interest payable under the Notes (if any) and/or any other 

relevant term of the Notes, in each case, as the Calculation Agent deems necessary.  The Issuer shall 

give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such adjustment in accordance with Condition 13. 

(b) Successor Index 

If a Successor Index is determined in accordance with Condition 21.2 "Successor Index" above, the 

Calculation Agent may make any adjustment or adjustments (without limitation) to the interest 

payable under the Notes (if any) and/or any other relevant term of the Notes as the Calculation 

Agent deems necessary.  The Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such 

adjustment or amount in accordance with Condition 13. 

(c) Index Level Adjustment Correction 

(i) If, within 30 days of publication or at any time prior to an Interest Determination Date in 

respect of which a Relevant Level will be used in any calculation or determination in respect 

of such Interest Determination Date, the Calculation Agent determines that the Index 

Sponsor has corrected the Relevant Level to correct a manifest error, the Calculation Agent 

may make any adjustment to interest payable under the Notes (if any) and/or any other 

relevant term of the Notes as the Calculation Agent deems appropriate as a result of such 

correction and/or determine the amount (if any) that is payable as a result of that correction.  

The Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such adjustment and/or 

amount in accordance with Condition 13. 

(ii) If a Relevant Level is published or announced at any time after the Cut-Off Date in respect 

of an Interest Determination Date in respect of which a Substitute Index Level was 

determined, the Calculation Agent may either (I) determine that such Relevant Level shall 

not be used in any calculation or determination under the Notes and that the Substitute Index 

Level shall be deemed to be the definitive Relevant Level for the relevant Reference Month, 

or (II) make any adjustment to the interest payable under the Notes (if any) and/or any other 

relevant term of the Notes as it deems appropriate as a result of the announcement or 

publication of the Relevant Level and/or determine the amount (if any) that is payable as a 

result of such publication or announcement.  The Issuer shall give notice to the holders of 
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the Notes of any determination in respect of (I) or (II), together with any adjustment or 

amount in respect thereof, in accordance with Condition 13. 

(iii) Currency 

If the Calculation Agent determines that any event occurs affecting the Specified Currency 

(whether relating to its convertibility into other currencies or otherwise) which the 

Calculation Agent determines necessitates an adjustment or adjustments (without limitation) 

to interest payable under the Notes, (if any) and/or any other relevant term of the Notes 

(including the date on which any amount is payable by the Issuer), the Calculation Agent 

may make such adjustment or adjustments to interest payable under the Notes (if any) and/or 

any other relevant term of the Notes as the Calculation Agent deems necessary.  The 

Calculation Agent shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such adjustment in 

accordance with Condition 13. 

(d) Rebasing 

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Index has been or will be rebased at any time, the Index 

as so rebased (the Rebased Index) will be used for purposes of determining the Relevant Level from 

the date of such rebasing; provided, however, that the Calculation Agent may make (A) if Related 

Bond is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, any adjustments as are made pursuant 

to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, if any, to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the 

Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as before the rebasing, and/or (B) if Related 

Bond is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms or a Related Bond Redemption 

Event has occurred, the Calculation Agent may make adjustments to the levels of the Rebased Index 

so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased, 

and in each case the Calculation Agent may make any adjustment(s) to interest payable under the 

Notes (if any) and/or any other term of the Notes as the Calculation Agent may deem necessary.  If 

the Calculation Agent determines that neither (A) nor (B) above would produce a commercially 

reasonable result, the Calculation Agent may redeem each Note on a date notified by the Issuer to 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 at its fair economic value as determined by the 

Calculation Agent as at the date of redemption taking into account the rebasing, less the cost to the 

Issuer of unwinding or amending any related underlying hedging arrangements.  Notice of any 

adjustment, redemption of the Notes or determination pursuant to this paragraph shall be given to 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

(e) Index Modification 

(i) If, in relation to Notes relating to the Index on or prior to the Cut-Off Date in respect of any 

Interest Determination Date, the Calculation Agent determines that an Index Modification 

has occurred the Calculation Agent may (I) if Related Bond is specified as applicable in the 

applicable Final Terms, make any adjustments to the Index, any Relevant Level and/or any 

other relevant term of the Notes (including, without limitation, interest payable under the 

Notes (if any)), consistent with any adjustments made to the Related Bond as the Calculation 

Agent deems necessary, or (II) if Related Bond is specified as not applicable in the Final 

Terms or a Related Bond Redemption Event has occurred, make only those adjustments to 

the relevant Index, any Relevant Level and/or any other term of the Notes (including, 

without limitation, the interest payable under the Notes (if any)), as the Calculation Agent 

deems necessary for the modified Index to continue as the Index and to account for the 

economic effect of the Index Modification. 

(ii) If the Calculation Agent determines that an Index Modification has occurred at any time 

after the Cut-Off Date in respect of any Interest Determination Date, the Calculation Agent 

may determine either to ignore such Index Modification for the purposes of any calculation 

or determination made by the Calculation Agent with respect to such Interest Determination 
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Date, in which case the relevant Index Modification will be deemed to have occurred with 

respect to the immediately succeeding Interest Determination Date such that the provisions 

of subparagraph (i) above will apply, or, notwithstanding that the Index Modification has 

occurred following the Cut-Off Date, to make any adjustments as the Calculation Agent 

deems fit in accordance with subparagraph (i) above. 

(f) Index Cancellation 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Index Cancellation has occurred, the Issuer may redeem 

each Note on the date notified by the Issuer to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 at its 

fair economic value (as determined by the Calculation Agent) as at the date of redemption taking 

into account the Index Cancellation, less the cost to the Issuer of unwinding or amending any related 

underlying hedging arrangements.  Notice of any redemption of the Notes pursuant to this paragraph 

shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

(g) Change in law 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Change in Law has occurred, the Issuer may redeem each 

Note on the date notified by the Issuer to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 at its fair 

economic value (as determined by the Calculation Agent) as at the date of redemption taking into 

account the Change in Law, less the cost to the Issuer of unwinding or amending any related 

underlying hedging arrangements.  Notice of any redemption of the Notes pursuant to this paragraph 

shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

(h) Additional Definitions 

Change in Law means that, on or after the Issue Date (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) 

(a) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without 

limitation, any tax law), or (b) due to the promulgation of any change in the interpretation by any 

court, tribunal or regulatory authority), the Issuer determines that in its sole and absolute discretion 

that it is unable to perform its obligations in respect of the Notes or it has become illegal to hold, 

acquire or dispose of any relevant hedge positions in respect of the Notes. 

Cut-Off Date means, in respect of an Interest Determination Date, five Business Days prior to such 

Interest Determination Date, unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms. 

Delayed Index Level Event means, in respect of any Interest Determination Date, that the Index 

Sponsor fails to publish or announce the level of the Index (the Relevant Level) in respect of any 

Reference Month which is to be used in any calculation or determination to be made by the 

Calculation Agent in respect of such Interest Determination Date, at any time on or prior to the Cut-

Off Date. 

Fallback Bond means a bond selected by the Calculation Agent that is a debt obligation of one of 

the governments (but not any government agency) of France, Germany, Italy or Spain, and which 

pays a coupon or redemption amount which is calculated by reference to the level of inflation in the 

European Monetary Union.  The Calculation Agent will select the Fallback Bond from those 

inflation-linked bonds issued on or before the Issue Date and, if there is more than one inflation-

linked bond maturing on the same date, the Fallback Bond shall be selected by the Calculation Agent 

from those bonds.  If the Fallback Bond redeems the Calculation Agent will select a new Fallback 

Bond on the same basis, but selected from all eligible bonds in issue at the time the original Fallback 

Bond redeems (including any bond for which the redeemed bond is exchanged). 

Index means the HCIP, as defined in Part 3 of Technical Annex and related expressions shall be 

construed accordingly. 
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Index Cancellation means a level for the Index has not been published or announced for two 

consecutive months and/or the Index Sponsor cancels the Index and/or the Index Sponsor announces 

that it will no longer continue to publish or announce the Index and no Successor Index exists. 

Index Modification means the Index Sponsor announces that it will make (in the opinion of the 

Calculation Agent) a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating the Index or in 

any other way materially modifies the Index. 

Index Sponsor means in relation to an Index, the corporation or entity that (a) is responsible for 

setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if 

any, related to the Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of such Index on 

a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day which as of the Issue Date of the Notes is the 

index sponsor in the applicable Final Terms. 

Rebased Index has the meaning given to it under Condition 21.3(d) "Rebasing" above. 

Reference Month means the calendar month for which the level of the Index was reported, 

regardless of when this information is published or announced.  If the period for which the Relevant 

Level was reported is a period other than a month, the Reference Month shall be the period for 

which the Relevant Level was reported. 

Related Bond means, if specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, means the bond 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.  If the Related Bond specified in the applicable Final 

Terms is "Fallback Bond", then for any Related Bond determination, the Calculation Agent shall use 

the Fallback Bond.  If no bond is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Related Bond and 

"Fallback Bond: Not Applicable" is specified in the applicable Final Terms there will be no Related 

Bond.  If a bond is selected as the Related Bond in the applicable Final Terms and that bond redeems 

or matures before the relevant Maturity Date, unless "Fallback Bond: Not Applicable" is specified in 

the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent shall use the Fallback Bond for any Related Bond 

determination. 

Related Bond Redemption Event means, if specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, at 

any time prior to the Maturity Date, (i) the Related Bond is redeemed, repurchased or cancelled, (ii) 

the Related Bond becomes repayable prior to its stated date of maturity for whatever reason, or (iii) 

the issuer of the Related Bond announces that the Related Bond will be redeemed, repurchased or 

cancelled prior to its stated date of maturity. 

Relevant Level has the meaning given to it in the definition of Delayed Index Level Event. 

Scheduled Trading Day means the relevant Scheduled Trading Day specified in the applicable 

Final Terms.  If no Scheduled Trading Day is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, 

Scheduled Trading Day shall mean any day on which the Index Sponsor is scheduled to be open for 

trading. 

Successor Index has the meaning given to it in under Condition 21.2 "Successor Index" above. 

Substitute Index Level means, in respect of a Delayed Index Level Event, the index level 

determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 21.3(a) "Substitute Index Level" 

above. 
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TECHNICAL ANNEX 

1. Pay Off Formulae for Index Linked Redemption Notes 

This Part 1 of the Technical Annex applies to Index Linked Redemption Notes. For the purposes of 

this Part 1 of the Technical Annex, Underlying shall mean an Index or Indices.  The Early 

Redemption Amount or Final Redemption Amount for Index Linked Redemption Notes shall be 

determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the below. 

(a) Autocall 

When Autocall is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final Terms: 

(i) if, on any Observation Date(t), the closing price of the Underlying is greater than or 

equal to the Autocall Trigger Level, the Notes will be automatically redeemed on 

the Early Redemption Date(t) at their nominal amount multiplied by the Percentage 

Multiplier which is specified as being applicable to the Observation Date(t) (where t 

= 1, 2, 3 etc.) in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(ii) if the Notes have not been redeemed early as provided in paragraph (i) above and, 

(A) on the final Observation Date, the closing price of the Underlying is greater 

than or equal to the Lower Threshold Level, the Notes will be redeemed on 

the Maturity Date at their nominal amount multiplied by the Lower 

Threshold Multiplier; or 

(B) on the final Observation Date, the closing price of the Underlying is greater 

than or equal to the Threshold Level, the Notes will be redeemed on the 

Maturity Date at their nominal amount multiplied by the Threshold 

Multiplier; or 

(C) otherwise, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at the Final 

Redemption Amount determined in accordance with the following formula: 

Price) ial Price/Init (Final  )Multiplier   Percentage (Finalion Denominat   Specified   

Where: 

Autocall Trigger Level means the percentage of the Initial Price specified 

as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Early Redemption Date means each date specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Final Price means the closing price of the Underlying on the Maturity Date. 

Final Percentage Multiplier means the multiplier specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Initial Price means the closing price of the Underlying on the Issue Date. 

Lower Threshold Level means the percentage of the Initial Price specified 

as such in the applicable Final Terms. 
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Lower Threshold Multiplier means the multiplier specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Percentage Multiplier means, for each Observation Date, the multiplier 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Threshold Level means the percentage of the Initial Price specified as such 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

Threshold Multiplier means the multiplier specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

(b) When Autocall with Spread is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final 

Terms: 

(i) if, on any Observation Date(t), the closing price of the Underlying is greater than or 

equal to the Autocall Trigger Level (as defined in 1(a) above), the Notes will be 

automatically redeemed on the Early Redemption Date(t) (as defined in 1(a) above) 

(where t = 1, 2, 3 etc.) at the Early Redemption Amount in accordance with the 

following formula: 

  tMultiplierMultiplier100%on Denominati Specified =Amount  RedemptionEarly   

; or 

(ii) if the Notes have not been redeemed early as provided in (i) above and, 

(A) on the final Observation Date(t), the Spread(t) is equal to or greater than the 

Autocall Trigger Level, the notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at 

the Final Redemption Amount in accordance with the following formula: 

  tMultiplierMultiplier100%on Denominati Specified =Amount  Redemption Final  ; 

or 

(B) otherwise the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at their nominal 

amount multiplied by the Final Percentage Multiplier. 

Where: 

A Index0 means the closing price of the Underlying on the Issue Date. 

A Index(t) means the closing price of the Underlying on the Observation Date(t). 

B Index0 means the closing price of the Underlying on the Issue Date. 

B Index(t) means the closing price of the Underlying on the Observation Date(t). 

Final Percentage Multiplier means the multiplier specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 



 

 217  

 

Spread(t) is calculated using the following formula: 

Spread
00 B Index

B Index

A Index

A Index tt
(t)   

(c) Lookback 

When Lookback is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final Terms, unless 

previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Final Redemption Amount payable by 

the Issuer on the Maturity Date will be an amount determined in accordance with the 

following formula: 

   EnitialEinitialEmeanx /IndexIndexIndexLevel;Floor ΜaxMultiplier100%onDenominati Specified   

Where: 

Floor Level means the percentage value which defines the lower threshold for the purposes 

of the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.  

Index x Emean means the arithmetic mean of the x highest closing levels of the Index out of all 

of the Observation Dates; 

Index Einitial means the closing level of the Index on the Issue Date. 

Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

x has the value ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms. 

(d) Short-term Lookback 

When Short-term Lookback is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final 

Terms, unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Final Redemption 

Amount payable by the Issuer on the Maturity Date will be the amount determined in 

accordance with the following formula: 

)MultiplierbackLook term-Shorte);PerformancIndex Level;(Floor   Level(CapMultiplieron Denominati Specified MaxΜin 

 

Where: 

Cap Level means the percentage value which defines the upper threshold for the purposes of 

the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Floor Level means the percentage value which defines the lower threshold for the purposes 

of the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.  

IndexAverage means the arithmetic mean of the monthly closing levels of the Index for the last 

x months, as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Observation Date. 

IndexInitial means the closing level of the Index on the Issue Date. 
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Index Performance means 









1

Index

Index

Initial

Average
 

Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Short-term Lookback Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. 

x has the value ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms. 

(e) Double Win 

When Double Win is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final Terms 

unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Final Redemption Amount 

payable by the Issuer on the Maturity Date will be the amount determined as follows: 

(i) If during the Observation Period the Index has never gone below the Barrier Level 

and on the Final Valuation Date the IndexFinal is greater than or equal to IndexInitial, 

then the Final Redemption Amount per Specified Denomination will be: 
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 1Level CapLevel;Floor 1 on Denominati Specified

InitialIndex
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MinMax Final  

(ii) If during the Observation Period the Index has never gone below the Barrier Level 

and on the Final Valuation Date the IndexFinal is less than IndexInitial, then the Final 

Redemption Amount per Specified Denomination will be: 
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Index
11 on Denominati Specified  

(iii) If during the Observation Period the Index has gone below the Barrier Level and on 

the Final Valuation Date the IndexFinal is less than IndexInitial, then the Final 

Redemption Amount per Specified Denomination will be: 

100% on Denominati Specified   

(iv) If during the Observation Period the Index has gone below the Barrier Level and on 

the Final Valuation Date the IndexFinal is greater than IndexInitial, then the Final 

Redemption Amount per Specified Denomination will be: 


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Barrier Level means the Barrier Level Multiplier multiplied by the IndexInitial. 

Barrier Level Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. 

Cap Level means the percentage value which defines the upper threshold for the 

purposes of the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 
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Final Valuation Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Floor Level means the percentage value which defines the lower threshold for the 

purposes of the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

IndexInitial means the closing level of the Index on the Issue Date. 

IndexFinal means the closing level of the Index on the Final Valuation Date. 

Observation Period means the period specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

(f) Triple Index 

(i) Where Triple Index is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

(A) If on any Observation Date(t) the Relevant Pricei
t is greater than or equal to 

Relevant Pricei
0, (for i = 1 to 3), then the Notes will be redeemed on the 

Early Redemption Date(t) at the amount determined as follows: 

  txMultiplier100%on xDenominati Specified    

where t = (1, 2, 3 etc.) 

(B) If the Notes have not been redeemed early as provided in paragraph (A) 

above and: 

I. on the final Observation Date(t), the Relevant Pricei
t ≥ Relevant 

Pricei
0, (for i = 1 to 3), then the Notes will be redeemed as follows: 

  txMultipler 100%on Denominati Specified   

II. otherwise, the Notes will be redeemed at 100% 

Where: 

Early Redemption Date(t) means each date specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

Relevant Price(t) means a value based on the closing level of Index(i) on the 

Observation Date(t). 

Relevant Pricei
t
 means the closing level of Index(i) on the Observation 

Date(t). 
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Relevant Pricei
0 means the closing level of the Index(i) on the Issue Date. 

(g) Asian Call 

When Asian Call is specified as applicable as a formula in the applicable Final Terms, 

unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Final Redemption Amount 

payable by the Issuer on the Maturity Date will be an amount determined in accordance with 

the following formula: 
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
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
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 1MultplierLevel;Floor   + 100%

Initial

Average

Index

Index
Max  

Where: 

Cap Level means the percentage value which defines the upper threshold for the purposes of 

the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.  

Floor Level means the percentage value which defines the lower threshold for the purposes 

of the relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.  

IndexInitial means the closing level of the Index on the Issue Date. 

IndexAverage means the arithmetic mean as determined by the Calculation Agent of the 

closing level of the Index on each Observation Date. 

Multiplier means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Observation Date means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

2. Pay Off Formula for Equity Linked Redemption Notes 

This Part 2 of the Technical Annex applies to Equity Linked Redemption Notes.  For the purposes of 

this Part 2 of the Technical Annex, Underlying shall mean a Share or Shares.  The Final Redemption 

Amount shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as follows: 

(a) If on the final Observation Date, the closing price of the Underlying is greater than or equal 

to the Strike, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at 100% of their nominal 

amount; or 

(b) If on the final Observation Date, the closing price of the Underlying is lower than the Strike, 

the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date by delivery of a number of Shares 

determined in accordance with the following formula: 

Specified Denomination/Initial Price 

Where: 

Initial Price means the closing price of the Underlying on the Issue Date. 

Share(s) means the share(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms, which, in the 

case of Notes other than Exempt Notes, will not be shares in the Issuer or in an 

entity belonging to the Issuer’s group. 

Strike means the percentage of the Initial Price specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. 
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3. Pay Off Formula for Inflation Linked Interest Notes 

This Part 3 of the Technical Annex applies to Inflation Linked Interest Notes. 

The Interest Amount for each Interest Period shall be calculated on the Interest Determination Date 

(specified in the applicable Final Terms) by the Calculation Agent in accordance with following 

formula: 

Level} Cap ];Inflation) Perf Annual Level;(Floor  [ { MultiplierPercentageon Denominati Specified MaxMin  

Where: 

Annual Perf Inflation means 

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Initial
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Initial
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Cap Level means the percentage value which defines the upper threshold for the purposes of the 

relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Euro-zone means the region comprised of those member states of the European Union that have 

adopted or will have adopted from time to time, the single currency in accordance with the Treaty 

establishing the European Community (signed in Rome on March 25, 1957), as amended by the 

Treaty on European Union (signed in Maastricht on February 7, 1992) and the Amsterdam Treaty of 

October 2, 1997, as further amended. 

Floor Level means the percentage value which defines the lower threshold for the purposes of the 

relevant calculation, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

HICP means the Unrevised Harmonised Indices of Consumer Prices (excluding tobacco) of the 

Euro-zone (HICP), as published for every month by EUROSTAT (Eurostat, Statistical Office of the 

European Communities) and displayed on the Bloomberg screen page CPTFEMU or any successor 

page thereto. 

HICPInitial means the HICP fixing level for each month which is 15 months prior to the Interest 

Payment Date relating to such Interest Period. 

HICPFinal means the HICP fixing level for each month which is 3 months prior to the Interest 

Payment Date relating to such Interest Period. 

Multiplier means the percentage multiplier specified as such in the applicable Final Terms.  
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes, 

which include making a profit.  If in respect of an issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds this 

will be stated in the applicable Final Terms. 
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DESCRIPTION OF BANQUE ET CAISSE D'EPARGNE DE L'ETAT, LUXEMBOURG 

Description of the Issuer 

The Issuer (also referred to herein as BCEE and the Bank) is a public autonomous establishment having a 

legal personality (établissement public autonome doté de la personnalité juridique) created for an indefinite 

period pursuant to the Luxembourg act dated 21 February 1856 concerning, inter alia, the creation of a 

savings bank, as amended and presently governed by the Luxembourg act dated 24 March 1989 relating to 

Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg, as amended.  The Issuer is registered with the trade and 

companies register at the district court in Luxembourg under number B.30775.  Its registered office is at 1-2 

Place de Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg; Tel: 00 352 4015-1. 

The history of Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat, Luxembourg – the State and Savings Bank, 

Luxembourg (BCEE) – is inextricably linked to that of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg (Luxembourg).  

Created in 1856 to meet the people's needs in the areas of savings and the development of credit, BCEE has 

made a major contribution to the economic expansion and improved standard of living of Luxembourg. 

Today, BCEE is the only major financial establishment in Luxembourg whose equity capital is entirely and 

directly owned by the State.  Ultimate responsibility for the institution lies with the Government Minister 

who heads the Treasury.  The competent minister exercises supreme supervision over the Bank's activities of 

public interest, in particular those specified in Article 5 of the Law dated 24 March 1989, in accordance with 

the following provisions: 

(a) by having all decisions taken by the Board communicated directly to him; and 

(b) by deciding on those decisions which are subject to his approval.  Furthermore, a post of Supervisory 

Commissioner is established, whose procedure for appointment and powers are laid down in 

Article 28 of the above-mentioned Law. 

As far as the Issuer is aware there are no arrangements which may result in a change of control of BCEE.  In 

addition, BCEE promotes economic growth by providing financing for business development and public 

infrastructure. 

Over the past decades, BCEE has developed mainly in a European and international context.  As a "universal 

bank", covering the whole range of banking activities, it plays an active part in the Euromarkets.  It has 

developed a network of correspondent banks worldwide. 

BCEE is also a member of the "Institut Mondial des Caisses d'Epargne" (World Savings Bank Institute) and 

the "Groupement Européen des Caisses d'Epargne" (European Savings Bank Group), whose offices are in 

Brussels. 

In the field of international clearing, BCEE is a member of the two international systems for clearing 

negotiable securities, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the Euroclear clearing system.  Since the establishment 

of the latter, BCEE has played a very active role as a depositary bank. 

BCEE offers its national and international clients a full range of banking services through a network of  72 

branches and 112 automated teller machines. 

The Group 

BCEE is the parent company of the Group.  The consolidation scope comprises BCEE as the parent 

company, its subsidiaries and ad hoc entities over which the Group directly or indirectly exercises effective 

control over financial and operational policies. Subsidiaries are consolidated from their date of acquisition, 
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when the Bank, as the parent company, has the power to direct their financial policies. They are 

deconsolidated on the date such control ceases. 

Fully consolidated subsidiaries 

A subsidiary is a company in which the Group holds at least a 50% stake of the voting rights or any company 

over which the Group directly or indirectly has the power of control regarding management and financial and 

operational policies. 

List of subsidiaries included in the consolidation scope: 

 

Name % of voting rights 

Lux-Fund Advisory S.A. 89.16 

BCEE Asset Management S.A.   90.00 

Bourbon Immobilière S.A. 99.90 

Luxembourg State and Savings Bank Trust Company 

S.A. 

100.00 

Spuerkeess Ré S.A.   100.00 

 

Investments in associates 

Associates are companies over which the Group exercises significant influence and are accounted for using 

the equity method. Significant influence means the Group has the power to direct a company’s financial and 

operating policies in order to obtain a substantial share of the economic benefits. Significant influence is 

presumed when the Group holds, directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, 20% or more of the voting 

rights.  

Investments in associates are recognised at cost, and the book value is subsequently adjusted to reflect the 

investor’s share of the net profit or loss of the associate after the acquisition date. 

The Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss is recognised in the income statement.  

Equity-method consolidation ceases when the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, unless the Group has 

incurred legal or constructive obligations to assume or guarantee commitments on behalf of the associate. 

Investments in associates of the Group: 

 

Associates % of capital held 

 
Direct interests  

Société Nationale de Circulation Automobile S.à r.l.  20.00  

Luxair S.A.        21.81  

Société de la Bourse de Luxembourg S.A.    22.75  

Europay Luxembourg S.C.     25.40  

FS-B S.à r.l        28.70  

FS-T S.à r.l        28.70  

Visalux S.C.        36.26  
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La Luxembourgeoise S.A.      40.00  

La Luxembourgeoise-Vie S.A.      40.00  

BioTechCube (BTC) Luxembourg S.A.     50.00  

 

Indirect interests  

Pecoma International S.A.      33.33  

EFA Partners S.A.       29.05 
 

Banking Licence 

The Issuer is regulated by the Law of 24 March 1989 on Banque et Caisse d'Epargne de l'Etat which states in 

its article 4 that the object of the Issuer is to carry out, alone or jointly, either for itself or on behalf of third 

parties, all financial and banking activities with any person, whether physical or legal, as well as all 

analogous, related or ancillary transactions. 

Shareholder Structure 

The Issuer has an issued capital of €173,525,467, revaluation reserves of €760,854,618  and consolidated 

reserves of €2,942,127,352  as at 31 December 2015.  The own funds of the Bank consist of the capital and 

the reserves. The capital belongs to the State. No shares have been issued.  Any modifications can only be 

made by a Grand Ducal regulation adopted following an opinion of the State Council and the agreement of 

the relevant commission of the Parliament. 

Employees 

As of 31 December 2015, the number of BCEE employees was approximately 1,800. 

Business Activities 

BCEE is entitled to carry out, alone or jointly, either on behalf of itself or for third parties, with any physical 

or legal person, any financial or banking operations as well as all operations analogous, connected or 

accessory thereto. 

In addition, BCEE is entitled to carry out any other operations directly or indirectly related to its purpose or 

intended to facilitate the achievement thereof. 

As well as being the state bank, BCEE aims to contribute, by way of its activities, particularly its financing 

activities, to the economic and social development of the country and the promotion of saving in all its 

forms.  As well as being a universal bank, BCEE offers both its national and international clients the banking 

services which they are entitled to expect today from a financial intermediary. 

It has been the traditional objective of BCEE to promote the construction of housing and to facilitate the 

acquisition of real estate.  In the context of its mission of promoting savings in all possible forms, BCEE 

offers numerous savings instruments, including private banking facilities such as foreign currency accounts, 

precious metal and custody accounts.  BCEE is also active in the sector of investment funds and offers its 

services both as a custodian bank for funds and as a promoter and manager. 

The activities of the Bank are focused on the retail market, the wealth management market, as well as the 

property market, and on small and medium-sized corporate customers in Luxembourg and the surrounding 

regions.  These activities include the traditional banking business areas of loans, deposits, investment in 

securities, payments handling (both in Luxembourg and abroad) and guarantees. 
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Retail and Professional 

The Bank continues to pursue its strategy for this segment of investing simultaneously in modernising and 

optimising its branch network and in developing digital banking solutions. It has thus opened two new 

branches, one in the building on boulevard J.-F. Kennedy in Kirchberg and the other in the centre of 

Niederanven. These new locations were designed to give customers the best possible welcome, and they 

reflect the Bank's current strategy of serving the local community and offering the highest level of 

convenience. They are equipped with the most modern banking technologies, providing customers with self-

service banking kiosks in multipurpose reception areas, Wi-Fi connections and tablets for optimum access to 

information. 

BCEE manages the largest number of automated teller machines (ATMs) in the country. These were 

extensively modernised, and customers now have access to new functionalities, such as choice of banknote 

denomination and higher withdrawal limits. A number of ATMs offering the deposit/payment function have 

been installed around the country, significantly facilitating cash transactions. Mobile ATMs were supplied to 

several major events and supplemented this infrastructure in 2015. 

The Bank equipped all the teller windows in its branch network with signing pad tablets. This new banking 

technology allows transactions to be signed electronically and accounting documents to be archived 

automatically. 

In an effort to modernise its communications with its customers, BCEE continued the roll out of digital 

displays with dynamic screens placed both inside branches and in windows. During 2015, six branches were 

equipped with screens used for advertising and informational purposes. 

The excellent commercial results show that the branch network continues to improve customer loyalty, 

develop a long-term relationship of trust and offer a comprehensive range of banking solutions. Extensive 

training gives the sales force a high level of knowledge of the most recent banking techniques and current 

regulations. 

Despite rising housing prices, BCEE has grown its home loan business, with a net 6.8% increase in the 

portfolio over 2014. A rising share of new home loans were granted at a fixed rate, which protects the 

customer against future interest rate hikes. 

Savings deposits continued to increase as customers seek security amid financial market uncertainty. On the 

other side, the decrease in exposure to conventional time deposits, which earn very little interest, continued. 

The Bank began to market the new fixed-rate deposit, a fixed-term account targeting private customers and 

offering a principal guarantee at maturity with a predetermined rate of return. 

The encouraging growth in Private Banking can be attributed to the loyalty of the existing customer base and 

the continual addition of new customers seeking a stable and skilled banking partner. 

Returns on money-market investments remained very low as the European Central Bank (ECB) continued to 

pursue its highly accommodative monetary policy. On the other hand, BCEE was able to successfully 

allocate assets to offer its customers attractive investment solutions within its range of funds, as well as 

dedicated discretionary portfolio management solutions. This latter service grew at a steady pace. 

In 2015, the Bank launched a new sub-fund of the Luxbond SICAV (open-end investment fund), invested 

chiefly in bonds, as well as a new sub-fund of the Lux-Portfolio SICAV, characterised by its flexible 

weighting of different asset classes. This flexibility allows it to take advantage of interest-rate or stock-

market opportunities. 

Multiple training sessions give Private Banking Advisors and Investment Advisors a high level of skills in 

financial market operations and regulations. 
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Through customised support from advisors, customer conferences and financial publications, customers have 

the economic and financial information they need to closely monitor Private Banking's investment strategies 

and incorporate them into their investment decisions. 

In electronic banking services, BCEE completely revamped its S-net Mobile application for smartphones and 

tablets in 2015. It now perfectly meets customers' expectations for features offered and ease of use. This 

application was hugely successful with customers as soon as it was launched and strengthened the perception 

of the Bank as the standard-bearer in electronic banking. The Bank made these significant investments with 

the aim of offering its full range of products and services online in the near term. 

Corporate and Public Sector 

Based on the most recent estimates, domestic economic growth exceeded 3.2% in 2015. Public investment 

continued at a high level while private spending remained soft. The investment trend was positive, but varied 

by sector. Fundamentals remained favourable in construction. Private investment in housing remained 

buoyant compared with non-residential construction, which slowed slightly. The increase in investments in 

machinery and equipment was encouraging. 

Financing activity volumes for corporate and public sector customers reached a record level, with business 

up more than 7%. All credit products combined, funding granted to professional and public sector customers 

was well above EUR 2 billion. This momentum drove more than 8% growth in the professional customer 

loan portfolio alone. Experienced, motivated and accessible client relationship managers are the key to 

successfully serving, guiding and advising companies in the face of increasingly strict and demanding 

banking regulations governing documentation. 

BCEE held on to its leading position in the highly coveted public sector customer financing segment. 

BCEE was selected as the preferred banker to support major multi-sector economic diversification projects 

in logistics and communications. It was able to position itself as the leading banker in the financing of 

renewable energy investments, in partnership with Etika, a non-profit organisation whose purpose is to 

promote ethical financing. 

Capital Markets 

Treasury activity volume was steady in 2015. Customer deposits performed well and the Bank intentionally 

reduced the volume of its international refinancing programmes due to the lack of attractive investment 

opportunities. 

In reinvestments, a significant share of the funds was directed to government securities and other securities 

eligible for refinancing with the ECB, especially a low-risk, high-liquidity bond portfolio that reached EUR 

10.0 billion. Loans and advances to credit institutions remained stable at EUR 5.6 billion as at 31 December 

2015. 

 In order to improve the performance of cash transactions and reduce their interest rate risk, BCEE made 

extensive use of derivatives. At the end of 2015, outstanding foreign exchange swaps and forward 

transactions amounted to more than EUR 12.9 billion. At the same date, outstanding interest rate swaps 

(IRS) and cross currency interest rate swaps (CIRS) totalled EUR 12.9 billion. Note that EUR 1.6 billion in 

loans was guaranteed by eurozone public debt securities as part of repurchase agreements.  

In 2015, in addition to lowering its key interest rates, the ECB decided to launch its own quantitative easing 

(QE) programme, supplementing the asset-backed securities (ABS) and covered bonds it began to purchase 

in 2014 with government and supranational bonds, semi-public bonds and even debt. Given the risks of 

deflation and low growth, combined with concerns about China and emerging countries, the ECB began in 

October to prepare the market for additional measures. On 3 December 2015, the ECB thus announced that it 

would reinvest proceeds from maturing bonds for as long as necessary. 
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The real surprise in 2015 was the Swiss National Bank's (SNB) abandonment of the currency exchange floor. 

Two days after providing assurance that the floor would remain firm at CHF/ EUR 1.20, on 15 January 2015 

the SNB abandoned a floor that had been described as unbreakable since 2011 and also cut its deposit rate to 

-0.75%. 

The Federal Reserve (Fed) blew hot and cold in 2015. After laying the groundwork for a hike in key rates 

since the spring, it then backpedalled due to concerns about risks outside the US economy, from emerging 

countries in general and from China in particular. In light of the job numbers and close-to-potential growth, 

on 16 December 2015 the Fed finally raised rates for the first time since 2006 with a 25-basis-point increase 

in the Fed funds rate. This change was particularly successfully communicated to the markets, which was not 

the case in the fall of 2015 and 2014. It remains to be seen whether communications on the gradual shift 

signalled for 2016 will be equally successful. 

Against this uncertain backdrop, the year 2015 was characterised by a sharp widening of credit spreads. 

Between March 2015 and January 2016, the ITRAXX Europe 5-year index, made up of 125 European 

investment-grade corporate credit default swaps (CDS), almost doubled from 48 basis points of risk 

premium to nearly 90 basis points. Constraints associated with lower liquidity on the secondary market 

worsened the impact of the imbalance between supply and demand on the euro credit markets, particularly 

for the corporate debt segment. 

In line with its investment portfolio management approach, BCEE once again remained true to its prudent 

policy of generating returns appropriate to the risks incurred while preserving invested capital. With interest 

rates at an all-time low, the Bank took advantage of widening credit spreads to invest in high-quality bonds 

that are eligible for the liquidity buffer, and to take selective positions in corporate and senior bank issues. 

The Bank was therefore able to generate a satisfactory level of profitability on a high-quality investment 

portfolio. 

Investment Fund Administration and Management 

At 31 December 2015, there were 13 open-end investment funds (SICAV) in the in-house range, composed 

of 38 sub-funds, representing EUR 3.4 billion in total assets, up 10.9% compared with 31 December 2014. S-

Pension, BCEE’s private pension scheme product, the underlyings of which are the sub-funds of the Lux-

Pension open-end investment fund, continued to find favour with customers eager to have additional income 

for retirement while currently enjoying tax benefits granted by the legislator. 

Benefiting from BCEE’s confirmed financial soundness and the quality of services for Financial Sector 

Professionals (FSP), the investment fund custodian bank business grew very dynamically. With a total of 

some EUR 22.2 billion in assets under management, BCEE was again among the leading service providers 

for Luxembourg investment vehicles. The exposure of third-party promoter funds, for which BCEE ensures 

the administrative management and the function of custodian bank, amounted to some EUR 18.8 billion at 

the end of 2015, a 19.4% increase compared with 2014. 

Other Activities 

Other activities include back office and support activities, which play an essential role in supporting the 

Bank’s strategic and development goals. Back office activities make it possible to process the growing 

volumes of payment, credit and securities transactions from the commercial units and ensure control and 

security in processing these transactions in accordance with the laws in force. BCEE is continuing its efforts 

to improve productivity in order to adapt to changing markets. Support activities cover a wide variety of 

areas, such as Bank finances, legal and regulatory matters, organisation, marketing, logistics and IT. 

Regulatory activities 

The Bank remained very active on the regulatory front because of the large number of ongoing projects and 

the work associated with the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) whose aim is to ensure the safety and 
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soundness of the European banking system and to increase financial stability in Europe. The SSM is one of 

the three pillars of the banking union, along with the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM) and the Deposit 

Guarantee Scheme (DGS). 

The aim of the SRM is to minimise the cost for taxpayers and the real economy of resolving banks that are 

part of the banking union and would face serious financial challenges. This mechanism has been fully 

operational since 1 January 2016 and was transposed into Luxembourg law by the law of 18 December 2015. 

The DGS, also introduced in Luxembourg with the law of 18 December 2015, requires that each EU 

Member State establish a deposit guarantee scheme that protects customers' bank deposits up to EUR 

100,000 per bank. In Luxembourg, this responsibility has been given to the Fonds de garantie des dépôts 

luxembourgeois (FGDL, Luxembourg Deposit Guarantee Fund), which replaced the Association pour la 

Garantie des Dépôts Luxembourg (AGDL, Luxembourg deposit guarantee association) on 1 January 2016. 

At the end of 2015, BCEE made its first annual payment for its contribution to the single bank resolution 

fund established by the SRM. BCEE expects to make its first contribution to the FGDL over the course of 

2016. 

In the context of the European tax transparency objective, the automatic exchange of tax information was 

incorporated into Luxembourg legislation with the adoption of Directive 2014/107/ EU, in force since 1 

January 2015. During the first quarter of 2016, BCEE will, for the first time, provide information for the year 

2015 to the competent Luxembourg authority. 

At the international level, the OECD has developed the Common Reporting Standard (CRS) which manages 

the automatic exchange of tax information at the global level between states that have adopted the standard. 

The European Union has adopted the CRS and in 2015 BCEE began the work of complying with the 

recommendations of Directive 2014/107/EU. BCEE's first transmission will be in 2017 and will cover the 

tax information for 2016. 

Real estate infrastructure 

Renovation work on the former “ARBED” building, which BCEE acquired in January 2015, is underway 

and will continue through the first half of 2016. This work will preserve the overall appearance of the 

building, which has been declared a national monument, but will improve its energy efficiency and interior 

before the Bank's commercial units move in. 

Recent Developments and New Business 

Main developments in 2015:  

 Strong financial and commercial results 

  Increase in the balance sheet to EUR 42,811.5 million (+3.9%). 

 Net profit virtually stable (-0.2%). • Steady growth in the home loan portfolio (+6.8%). 

 Rise in private sector deposit volumes (+7.0%) in an environment of very low interest rates and 

volatile financial markets. 

 Strong common equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio: 17.8% 

 Acquisition of a stake in Enovos International S.A. 
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 Opening of two new branches, one in the building on boulevard J.-F. Kennedy in Kirchberg and the 

other in the centre of Niederanven. These new locations were designed to give customers the best 

possible welcome and are also equipped with the most modern banking technologies.  

 Creation of a new sub-fund of the Luxbond SICAV (open-ended investment fund), invested chiefly 

in bonds, and a new sub- fund of the Lux-Portfolio SICAV, characterised by its flexible weighting of 

different asset classes to take advantage of interest-rate or stock-market opportunities. 

 Marketing of fixed-rate deposits, a fixed-term account targeting private customers and offering a 

principal guarantee at maturity with a predetermined rate of return. 

 Development of a new version of S-net Mobile (for iOS and Android), which has been completely 

redesigned for a smooth and intuitive browsing experience. 

 Assigned an excellent AA+ rating with a stable outlook by Standard and Poor’s and an Aa2 Long 

Term Deposit Rating with a stable outlook by Moody’s. 

 Awarded the “Best Bank 2015 - Luxembourg” and “Safest Bank 2015 - Luxembourg” prizes with 

confirmation of BCEE’s ranking among the world’s 10 safest banks by Global Finance magazine. 

 Very active on the regulatory front due to the large number of ongoing projects associated with the 

CRR and MiFIR, the 4th AML Directive, MiFID II, UCITS V, the mortgage credit and DGS 

directives, and the SSM and the SRM. 

  Hiring of 73 new employees. 

 

Outlook 

The European Central Bank (ECB) announced that it would further strengthen its quantitative easing and 

negative interest rate policy in an effort to lift inflation towards the medium-term target of 2% and first and 

foremost to avoid the danger of deflation. 

The result is a decrease in money-market and capital-market rates to levels that are having a significant 

adverse impact on the income of banks, insurance companies, social security schemes and other investors. 

At the same time, declining demand for commodities, mostly as a result of the slowdown in China's 

economy, has severely hampered the ability of companies in this sector to generate a profit. This has led to a 

sharp deterioration in credit risk for most companies in the sector, and the question was immediately raised 

of banks' involvement in financing commodity sector players. 

In 2016, BCEE expects ongoing pressure on its interest margin as assets mature and are replaced at less 

favourable conditions. However, unless an acute economic crisis returns in Europe, the cost of credit risk 

should not see any significant negative changes. In the medium term, a prolonged policy of extremely low 

rates could create bubbles in certain asset classes. 

The Bank will monitor these developments extremely closely and will assume its roles and responsibilities as 

a bank serving its customers and the country’s economy in general, in accordance with its missions under the 

law of 24 March 1989 on BCEE, and in line with the Bank’s history. 

As in previous years, financial year 2016 will be characterised by a host of regulatory changes brought about 

by the CRR, the 4th AML directive, UCITS V, the mortgage credit directive, the Single Supervisory 

Mechanism (SSM) and the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM), the new Deposit Guarantee Scheme 

(DGS), MiFID II or MiFIR, and other projects that will have to be incorporated in 2016 and beyond. 
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  

No significant events that could impact the normal course of the BCEE Group’s business occurred after the 

close of financial year 2015. 
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GOVERNING BODIES OF THE ISSUER 

The organisation of BCEE, the country's leading financial institution established in 1856, was updated by the 

Law of 24 March 1989 which defines the respective powers of the Board of Directors and the Executive 

Committee.  According to Article 8 of this constitutional law, "the Board of Directors shall define the 

general policy of the Bank and supervise the management of the Executive Committee.  All administrative 

acts and arrangements necessary or conducive to the attainment of the Bank's objects shall be the 

responsibility of the Executive Committee, subject to the authorisations required hereunder". 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

CHAIRMAN Mr Victor ROD Honorary Director of the "Commissariat aux 

Assurances", Howald 

VICE-CHAIRMAN Mr Patrick GILLEN Director Financial Control, Ministry of Finance, 

Dudelange 

MEMBERS Mr Georges DENNEWALD Staff Representative, Kehlen 

 Mr Paul ENSCH Honorary Director, Chamber of Commerce, 

Mersch 

 Mr Manuel NICOLAS Ministry of the Economy, Luxembourg 

 Mr Nico RAMPONI Staff Representative, Luxembourg 

 Mrs Betty SANDT Ministry of Finance, Luxembourg 

 Mrs Elisabeth  

 MANNES-KIEFFER Ministry of the Economy, Luxembourg 

 Mr Jean-Claude REDING President of the Chamber of Employment  

SUPERVISORY COMMISSIONER 

  

Mr Raoul WIRTZ 

Ministry of Finance, Luxembourg  

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

PRESIDENT Mrs Françoise THOMA Chief Executive Officer, Luxembourg (from 

01.06.2016) 

MEMBERS Mr Michel BIREL Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Moutfort 

 Mr Gilbert ERNST Executive Vice-President, Luxembourg (until 

30.04.2015) 

 Mr Aly KOHLL Executive Vice-President, Luxembourg (from 

01.06.2016) 

 Mr Guy ROSSELJONG Executive Vice-President, Moutfort 

The business address of each of the Directors and members of the Executive Committee is 1-2 Place de 

Metz, L-2954 Luxembourg. 

The Issuer is not aware of any potential conflicts of interest between the duties to the Issuer of the persons 

listed under "Board of Directors", "Supervisory Commissioner" and "Executive Committee" above and their 

private interests or other duties. 
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TAXATION 

1. Grand Duchy of Luxembourg 

General 

The following information is of a general nature only and is based on the laws in force in 

Luxembourg as of the date of this Prospectus. It does not purport to be a comprehensive description 

of all tax implications that might be relevant to an investment decision. It is included herein solely 

for preliminary information purposes.  It is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal 

or tax advice.  Prospective investors in the Notes should consult their professional advisers with 

respect to particular circumstances, the effects of state, local or foreign laws to which they may be 

subject and as to their tax position. 

Please be aware that the residence concept used under the respective headings below applies for 

Luxembourg income tax assessment purposes only.  Any reference in the present section to a tax, 

duty, levy impost or other charge or withholding of a similar nature refers to Luxembourg tax law 

and/or concepts only.  Also, please note that a reference to Luxembourg income tax encompasses 

corporate income tax (impôt sur le revenu des collectivités), municipal business tax (impôt 

commercial communal), a solidarity surcharge (contribution au fonds pour l'emploi), personal 

income tax (impôt sur le revenu) as well as a temporary equalisation tax (impôt d’équilibrage 

budgétaire temporaire).  Investors may further be subject to net wealth tax (impôt sur la fortune) as 

well as other duties, levies or taxes.  Corporate income tax, municipal business tax as well as the 

solidarity surcharge invariably apply to most corporate taxpayers resident in Luxembourg for tax 

purposes.  Individual taxpayers are generally subject to personal income tax, the solidarity surcharge 

and to the temporary equalisation tax. Under certain circumstances, where an individual taxpayer 

acts in the course of the management of a professional or business undertaking, municipal business 

tax may apply as well. 

Taxation of the holders of Notes 

Withholding Tax 

 Non-resident holders of Notes 

 

Under the Luxembourg tax laws currently in force, there is no withholding tax on payments 

of interest (including accrued but unpaid interest) made to a Luxembourg non-resident 

holder of the Notes.  There is also no Luxembourg withholding tax, upon repayment of the 

principal, or upon redemption or exchange of the Notes. 

Resident holders of Notes 

The term “interest”, “paying agent” and “residual entity” used hereafter have the same 

meaning as in the Luxembourg laws dated 21 June 2005 as amended from time to time. 

Under the amended Luxembourg law dated 23 December 2005 (the Law), a 10% 

withholding tax is levied on interest payments (or similar income) made by a Luxembourg 

paying agent to or for the immediate benefit of Luxembourg resident individual holders of 

Notes.  This withholding tax also applies on accrued interest received upon sale, redemption 

or repurchase of the Notes.  Such withholding tax will be in full discharge of income tax if 

the beneficial owner is an individual acting in the course of the management of his/her 

private wealth.  Responsibility for the withholding tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg 

paying agent. 
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Furthermore, Luxembourg resident individuals, acting in the course of the management of 

their private wealth who are the beneficial owners of interest payments (or similar income) 

made by a paying agent established outside Luxembourg in a Member State of the European 

Union or the EEA or in a jurisdiction having concluded an agreement with Luxembourg in 

connection with the Directive, may opt for a final 10% levy.  In such case, the 10% levy is 

calculated on the same amounts as for the payments made by Luxembourg paying agents.  

The option for the 10% final levy must cover all interest payments made by paying agents to 

the beneficial owner during the entire civil year. 

On 29 February 2016, the Luxembourg Government announced a  further coming tax reform 

that should be introduced in Luxembourg law by year-end, applicable as from 2017. The tax 

reform provides that the 10 per cent. withholding tax levied on savings income as described 

above would be increased to 20 per cent. where the annual interest income received exceeds 

EUR 250 per taxpayer. 

Taxation of the holders of Notes 

 Tax residence 

A holder of Notes will not become resident, or be deemed to be resident in Luxembourg by 

reason only of the holding of the Notes, or the execution, performance, delivery and/or 

enforcement of the Notes. 

 Income tax 

For the purposes of this paragraph, a disposal may include a sale, an exchange, a contribution, a 

redemption and any other kind of transfer of the Notes. 

 Non-resident holders of Notes 

A non-resident holder of Notes, not having a permanent establishment or a permanent 

representative in Luxembourg to which or whom the Notes are attributable, is not subject to 

Luxembourg income tax on interest received or accrued on the Notes, on payments upon 

redemption or repayment of principal.  A gain realised by such non-resident holder of Notes, 

on the sale or disposal, redemption, repurchase or exchange, in any form whatsoever, of 

Notes is also not subject to Luxembourg income tax. 

Holders of Notes who are not resident and who have a permanent establishment or a 

permanent representative in Luxembourg to which or whom the Notes are attributable, must 

include any interest accrued or received on the Notes, any reimbursement premium received 

at maturity as well as any gains realised upon the disposal, in any form whatsoever, of the 

Notes, in their taxable income for Luxembourg tax assessment purposes. 

 Resident individual holders of Notes 

An individual holder of Notes acting in the course of the management of his private wealth 

is subject to Luxembourg income tax in respect of interest received, redemption premiums 

or issue discounts under the Notes, except if a final withholding tax has been levied thereon 

by a Luxembourg paying agent on such payments or, in case of a non-resident paying agent, 

if such individual holder of the Notes has opted for the 10% levy, in accordance with the 

Law. 

Under Luxembourg domestic tax law, gains realised upon the disposal of the Notes by an 

individual holder of the Notes, who is a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes and who 

acts in the course of the management of his private wealth, on the disposal of the Notes are 
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not subject to Luxembourg income tax, provided the disposal takes place more than six 

months after the acquisition of the Notes and the Notes do not constitute Zero Coupon 

Notes. Gains realised by an individual holder of Zero Coupon Notes who acts in the course 

of the management of his private wealth and who is a resident of Luxembourg for tax 

purposes must include the difference between the sale, repurchase, exchange or redemption 

price and the issue price of a Zero Coupon Note in his taxable income. 

An individual holder of the Notes, who acts in the course of the management of his private 

wealth and who is a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes, has further to include the 

portion of the gains realised on the Notes corresponding to accrued but unpaid income in 

respect of the Notes in his taxable income, insofar as the accrued but unpaid interest is 

indicated separately in the agreement. 

Gains realised upon a disposal of the Notes by an individual holder of the Notes acting in the 

course of the management of a professional or business undertaking and who is a resident of 

Luxembourg for tax purposes are subject to Luxembourg income taxes. 

 Corporate resident holders of Notes 

Luxembourg resident corporate holders of Notes must include any interest received or 

accrued, as well as any gain realised on the sale, disposal or redemption of the Notes, in their 

taxable income for Luxembourg income tax assessment purposes.  Taxable gains are 

determined as being the difference between the sale, repurchase or redemption price 

(including accrued but unpaid interest) and the lower of the cost or book value of the Notes 

sold or redeemed. 

 Luxembourg residents benefiting from a special tax regime 

Luxembourg resident holders of Notes who benefit from a special tax regime, such as, for 

example, (a) undertakings for collective investment subject to the amended law of 17 

December 2010, (b) specialised investment funds governed by the amended law of 13 

February 2007, or (c) family wealth management companies governed by the amended law 

of 11 May 2007, are exempt from income and wealth taxes in Luxembourg and, therefore, 

income derived from the Notes, as well as gains realised thereon, is not subject to 

Luxembourg income taxes. 

Other Taxes 

 Registration taxes and stamp duties 

There is no Luxembourg registration tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable 

in Luxembourg by the holders of Notes as a consequence of the issuance of the Notes, nor 

will any of these taxes be payable as a consequence of a subsequent transfer, redemption or 

repurchase of the Notes unless evidenced by notarial deed or otherwise registered in 

Luxembourg. 

 Value added tax 

There is no Luxembourg value added tax payable in respect of payments in consideration for 

the issuance of the Notes or in respect of the payment of interest or principal under the Notes 

or the transfer of the Notes.  Luxembourg value added tax may, however, be payable in 

respect of fees charged for certain services rendered to the Issuer of the Notes if, for 

Luxembourg value added tax purposes, such services are rendered or are deemed to be 

rendered in Luxembourg and an exemption from Luxembourg value added tax does not 

apply with respect to such services. 
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 Net wealth tax 

Luxembourg resident holders of Notes and non-resident holders of Notes who have a 

permanent establishment or a permanent representative in Luxembourg to which or whom 

the Notes are attributable, are subject to Luxembourg net wealth tax on such Notes unless 

such holders are (a) individuals, (b) a family wealth management company governed by the 

amended law of 11 May 2007, (c) an undertaking for collective investment subject to the 

amended law of 17 December 2010, (d) a securitisation company subject to the amended 

law of 22 March 2004 on securitisation, or (e) a specialised investment fund subject to the 

amended law of 13 February 2007. 

 Inheritance and gift taxes 

No estate or inheritance taxes are levied on the transfer of the Notes, upon death of an 

individual holder of Notes in cases where the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourg 

for inheritance tax purposes at the time of his death.  Gift tax may be due on a gift or 

donation of Notes, if the gift is recorded in a deed passed in front of a Luxembourg notary or 

registered in Luxembourg. 

2. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (FATCA) impose a 30 per 

cent. withholding tax with respect to certain payments to any non-U.S. financial institution (a 

"foreign financial institution", or FFI (as defined by FATCA)) that does not become a Participating 

FFI by entering into an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) to provide the IRS 

with certain information in respect of its account holders and investors or is not otherwise exempt 

from or in deemed compliance with FATCA. The Issuer is classified as an FFI. 

The new withholding regime is now in effect for payments from sources within the United States 

and will apply to foreign passthru payments (a term not yet defined) no earlier than 1 January 2019. 

This withholding would potentially apply to payments in respect of (i) any Notes characterised as 

debt (or which are not otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax 

purposes that are  issued after the  grandfathering date, which(A) with respect to Notes that give rise 

solely to foreign passthru payments, is the date that is six months after the date on which final U.S. 

Treasury regulations defining the term foreign passthru payment are filed with the Federal Register 

and (B) with respect to Notes that give rise to a dividend equivalent pursuant to Section 871(m) of 

the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, is July 1, 2017, or which are materially modified after the 

grandfathering date and (ii) any Notes characterised as equity or which do not have a fixed term for 

U.S. federal tax purposes, whenever issued. If Notes are issued on or before the grandfathering date, 

and additional Notes of the same series are issued after that date, the additional Notes may  not be 

treated as grandfathered, which may have negative consequences for the existing Notes, including a 

negative impact on market price. 

The United States and a number of other jurisdictions have entered into intergovernmental 

agreements to facilitate the implementation of FATCA (each, an IGA). Pursuant to FATCA and the 

"Model 1" and "Model 2" IGAs released by the United States, an FFI in an IGA signatory country 

could be treated as a "Reporting FI" not subject to withholding under FATCA on any payments it 

receives. Further, an FFI in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under 

FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA) (any such withholding being FATCA 

Withholding) from payments it makes. Under each Model IGA, a Reporting FI would still be 

required to report certain information in respect of its account holders and investors to its home 

government or to the IRS. The United States and Luxembourg have entered into an IGA (the US-

Luxembourg IGA) based on the Model 1 IGA. 
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If the Issuer is treated as a Reporting FI pursuant to the US-Luxembourg IGA it does not anticipate 

that it will be obliged to deduct any FATCA Withholding on payments it makes. There can be no 

assurance, however, that the Issuer will be treated as a Reporting FI or that it would in the future not 

be required to deduct FATCA Withholding from payments it makes. Accordingly, the Issuer and 

financial institutions through which payments on the Notes are made may be required by FATCA 

Withholding if any FFI through or to which payment on such Notes is made is not a Participating 

FFI, a Reporting FI or otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with FATCA. 

Whilst the Notes  are in global form and held within Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg 

(together, the ICSDs), it is expected that FATCA will not affect the amount of any payments made 

under, or in respect of, the Notes  by the Issuer, any paying agent and the common depositary / 

common safekeeper, given that each of the entities in the payment chain between the Issuer and the 

participants in the ICSDs is a major financial institution whose business is dependent on compliance 

with FATCA and that any alternative approach introduced under an IGA will be unlikely to affect 

the Notes. The documentation expressly contemplates the possibility that the Notes may go into 

definitive form and therefore that they may be taken out of the ICSDs. If this were to happen, then a 

non-FATCA compliant holder could be subject to FATCA Withholding. However, definitive Notes 

will only be printed in remote circumstances. 

FATCA is particularly complex and its application is uncertain at this time. The above description is 

based in part on regulations, official guidance and Model IGAs, all of which are subject to change or 

may be implemented in a materially different form. Prospective investors should consult their tax 

advisers on how these rules may apply to the Issuer and to payments they may receive in connection 

with the Notes.  

3. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act 

 The U.S. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act introduced Section 871(m) of the U.S. 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 which treats a "dividend equivalent" payment as a dividend from 

sources within the United States. Under Section 871(m), such payments generally would be subject 

to a 30 per cent. U.S. withholding tax that may be reduced by an applicable tax treaty, eligible for 

credit against other U.S. tax liabilities or refunded, provided that the beneficial owner timely claims 

a credit or refund from the IRS. A "dividend equivalent" payment is (i) a substitute dividend 

payment made pursuant to a securities lending or a sale-repurchase transaction that (directly or 

indirectly) is contingent upon, or determined by reference to, the payment of a dividend from 

sources within the United States, (ii) a payment made pursuant to a "specified notional principal 

contract" that (directly or indirectly) is contingent upon, or determined by reference to, the payment 

of a dividend from sources within the United States, and (iii) any other payment determined by the 

IRS to be substantially similar to a payment described in (i) and (ii). Recently published final U.S. 

Treasury regulations issued under Section 871(m) (the Section 871(m) Regulations) will, when 

effective, require withholding on certain non-U.S. holders of the Notes with respect to amounts 

treated as attributable to dividends from certain U.S. securities. Under the Section 871(m) 

Regulations, only a Note that has an expected economic return sufficiently similar to that of the 

underlying U.S. security, as determined on the Note's issue date based on tests set forth in the 

Section 871(m) Regulations, will be subject to the Section 871(m) withholding regime (making such 

Note a Specified Note). The Section 871(m) Regulations provide certain exceptions to this 

withholding requirement, in particular for instruments linked to certain broad- based indices  

Withholding in respect of dividend equivalents will generally be required when cash payments are 

made on a Specified Note or upon the date of maturity, lapse or other disposition by the non-U.S. 

holder of the Specified Note. If the underlying U.S. security or securities are expected to pay 

dividends during the term of the Specified Note, withholding generally will still be required even if 

the Specified Note does not provide for payments explicitly linked to dividends. If the Issuer or any 

withholding agent determines that withholding is required, neither the Issuer nor any withholding 

agent will be required to pay any additional amounts with respect to amounts so withheld. 
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The Section 871(m) Regulations generally apply to Specified Notes issued beginning 1 January 

2017. If the terms of a Note are subject to a "significant modification" such that the Note is treated as 

retired and reissued, it could lose its "grandfathered" status and might become a Specified Note 

based on economic conditions in effect at that time. 

Upon the issuance of a series of Notes, the Issuer will state in the applicable Final Terms or Pricing 

Supplement if it has determined that they are Specified Notes, in which case a non-U.S. holder of the 

Notes should expect to be subject to withholding in respect of any dividend-paying U.S. securities 

underlying those Notes. The Issuer's determination is binding on non-U.S. holders of the Notes, but 

it is not binding on the IRS. The Section 871(m) Regulations require complex calculations to be 

made with respect to Notes linked to U.S. securities and their application to a specific issue of Notes 

may be uncertain. 

Prospective investors should consult their tax advisers regarding the potential application of 

Section 871(m) to the Notes. 

4. Common Reporting Standard 

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development has developed a new global standard 

for the annual automatic exchange of financial information between tax authorities (the CRS). 

Luxembourg is a signatory jurisdiction to the CRS and intends to conduct its first exchange of 

information with tax authorities of other signatory jurisdictions in September 2017, as regards 

reportable financial information gathered in relation to fiscal year 2016. The CRS has been 

implemented in Luxembourg via the law dated 18 December 2015 concerning the automatic 

exchange of information on financial accounts and tax matters and implementing the EU Directive  

2014/107/EU (the CRS Law). The regulation may impose obligations on the Issuer and the holders  

of Notes, if the Issuer is actually regarded as a reporting Financial Institution under the CRS Law, so 

that the latter could be required to conduct due diligence and obtain (among other things) 

confirmation of the tax residency (through the issuance of self-certifications forms  by the holders of 

Notes), tax identification number and CRS classification of the holders of Notes in order to fulfil its 

own legal obligations from 1 January 2016. 

Each prospective investor and each holder of Notes should consult its own tax advisors regarding the 

requirements under CRS with respect to its own situation as well as the determination of its tax 

residence. 

Each holder of Notes and each transferee of a Note shall furnish (including by way of updates) to the 

Issuer, or any third party designated by the Issuer (a Designated Third Party), in such form and at 

such time as  is reasonably requested by the Issuer (including by  way of electronic certification) any 

information, representations, waivers and forms relating to the holders of Notes (or the holders' 

direct or indirect owners or account holders) as shall reasonably be requested by the Issuer or the 

Designated Third Party to assist it in complying with the relevant CRS requirements.  

As mentioned above, self-certification forms would need to be provided by  some  of  the holders of 

Notes. In this respect, the self-certification forms can be provided in any form but in order for them 

to be valid it must be (i) signed by the relevant holder of Notes itself (where an individual) or a 

person authorised to sign on behalf of the holder of Notes (where an entity as defined by the CRS 

Law), (ii) dated and (iii) include: 

• where the holder of Notes is an individual: its name, residence address, 

jurisdiction(s) of residence for tax purposes, tax identification number(s) and its date of 

birth; or 

• where the holder of Notes is an entity (as defined by the CRS Law): its name, 

address, jurisdiction(s) of residence for tax purposes and tax identification number(s).  
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Concurrently, if the relevant holder of Notes is regarded as a passive non- financial entity under the 

CRS Law, separate individual self-certification forms would be needed for each of their Controlling 

Persons. 

In this context, the term Controlling Person corresponds to the term "beneficial owner" as elaborated 

under recommendation 10 of the Financial Action Task Force recommendations dated February 

2012 (the Recommendation) and translated accordingly into Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering 

regulation dated 12 November 2004, as amended. According to the Recommendation, a controlling 

ownership interest depends on the ownership structure of the entity. It may be based on a threshold, 

e.g. any person owning more than a certain percentage of the company (e.g. 25 per cent.). In case of 

a legal person/partnership (and equivalent arrangement), may be regarded as the Controlling Person 

any natural person who exercises control through direct or indirect ownership  of  the capital or 

profits of the legal person/partnership (and equivalent arrangement), voting rights in the legal 

person/partnership (and equivalent arrangement). If there are no natural person(s) who exercise 

control of the entity by ownership or other means, then the Controlling Person will be the natural 

person(s) who otherwise exercises control over the management of the entity (e.g. the senior 

managing official of the entity). 

The Issuer or the Designated Third Party may disclose information regarding any holder of Notes  

(including any information provided by the holder of Notes pursuant to this section) to any person to 

whom information is required or requested to be disclosed by any taxing authority or other 

governmental agency including transfers to jurisdictions which do not have strict data protection or 

similar laws, to enable the Issuer to comply with any applicable law or regulation or agreement with 

a governmental authority. 

By subscribing for the Notes, each holder of Notes irrevocably waives all rights it may have under 

applicable bank secrecy, data protection and similar legislation  that would otherwise prohibit any 

such disclosure and warrants that each person whose information it provides (or has provided) to the 

Issuer or the Designated Third Party has been given such  information, and has given such consent, 

as may be necessary to permit the collection, processing, disclosure, transfer and reporting of their 

information as set out in this section and this paragraph. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

The Dealers have in an amended and restated programme agreement dated 30 June 2016 (such Agreement, as 

amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, the Programme Agreement) agreed with the Issuer a 

basis upon which they or any of them may from time to time agree to purchase Notes.  Any such agreement 

will extend to those matters stated under "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" 

above.  In the Programme Agreement, the Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their 

expenses in connection with the establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes under the 

Programme. 

Notes issued under the Programme may be issued to any investor subject to selling restrictions – United 

States, EEA and Japan (please see below). 

United States 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold 

within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions 

exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.  Terms used in this paragraph have the 

meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 

required to represent and agree that, except as permitted by the Programme Agreement, it will not offer, sell 

or deliver Notes (a) as part of their distribution at any time and (b) otherwise until 40 days after the 

completion of the distribution of all Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part within the United 

States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells 

Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions 

on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.  

Terms used in the preceding paragraph and in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation 

S under the Securities Act. 

In addition, until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of all Notes of the Tranche of which such 

Notes are a part, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating 

in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the 

United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. 

Treasury regulations.  Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations promulgated thereunder.   

The applicable Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) will identify whether 

TEFRA C rules or TEFRA D rules apply or whether TEFRA is not applicable. 

Each issue of Exempt Notes which are also Index Linked Interest Notes shall be subject to such additional 

U.S. selling restrictions as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer shall agree as a term of the issue and purchase 

of such Notes, which additional selling restrictions shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.  

Each relevant Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to 

agree that it will offer, sell or deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling 

restrictions. 

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive 

In relation to each Member State of the EEA which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a 

Relevant Member State), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under 

the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which 
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the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the Relevant Implementation 

Date) it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated 

by the Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant Member 

State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of 

such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State: 

(a) if the final terms in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes may be made other than 

pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a Non-exempt 

Offer), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been 

approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved 

in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member 

State, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the final terms 

contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period 

beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the 

Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Non-exempt Offer; 

(b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; 

(c) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the 

Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers 

nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or 

(d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, 

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to 

publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 

Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision: 

 the expression an offer of Notes to the public in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member 

State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms 

of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe 

the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the 

Prospectus Directive in that Member State; and 

 the expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by 

Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member 

State. 

United Kingdom 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 

required to represent and agree that: 

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 

communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 

Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the FSMA)) received by it in connection 

with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA would not, 

if the Issuer was not an authorised person, apply to the Issuer; and 

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 

done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 
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Japan 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of 

Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended; the FIEA) and each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer 

appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or 

indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, 

Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as amended)), or to others 

for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan except 

pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA 

and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan. 

General 

Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree 

that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations 

in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes 

this Prospectus and any additional written information provided or authorised by the Issuer and will obtain 

any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Notes 

under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such 

purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and neither the Issuer nor any other Dealer shall have any responsibility 

therefor. 

Neither the Issuer nor any of the Dealers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in 

compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any 

exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

Authorisation 

The establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes have been duly authorised by resolutions of the 

Board of Directors of the Issuer held on 26 October 1994 and 11 December 1996 and a resolution of the 

Executive Committee of the Issuer held on 4 September 1997.  The increases in the Programme limit were 

authorised pursuant to resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer on 10 December 1997 and 

2 December 1999 and by resolutions of the Executive Committee of the Issuer on 28 January 1999 and 

25 January 2000.  The update of this Programme has been authorised by a resolution of the Executive 

Committee of the Issuer held on 14 June 2016. 

Approval, Listing and Admission to Trading 

This document has been approved by the CSSF as a base prospectus.  Application has also been made to the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange. 

The Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in 

Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC). 

An application for admission to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and for 

listing on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange is without prejudice to the Issuer's right to 

apply for admission to trading, as the case may be, on such other or further stock exchange(s) or markets as 

may be agreed upon between the Issuer and the relevant dealer. 

Documents Available 

For the period of 12 months following the date of this Prospectus, copies of the following documents (in 

physical form) are or will be, when published, available from the registered office of the Issuer and from the 

specified offices of the Paying Agents for the time being in London and Luxembourg: 

(a) the constitutional documents of association (in English) of the Issuer;  

(b) the audited consolidated annual accounts of the Issuer in respect of the financial years ended 

31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 in French, in each case together with the independent 

auditor's report in French prepared in connection therewith; 

(c) an English translation of the original version in French of the consolidated annual accounts of the 

Issuer in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 together with 

the independent auditor's report thereon; 

(d) the most recently available published audited consolidated annual accounts of the Issuer and the 

most recently available published non-consolidated interim annual accounts (if any) of the Issuer (in 

English) in each case together with any audit or review reports prepared in connection therewith; 

(e) the Programme Agreement, the Agency Agreement (which includes the forms of the Temporary 

global Notes, the Permanent global Notes, the Definitive Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the 

Talons) and the Deed of Covenant; 

(f) a copy of this Prospectus; 
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(g) any future prospectuses, offering circulars, information memoranda, supplements, Final Terms and 

Pricing Supplements (in the case of Exempt Notes) (save that Pricing Supplements will only be 

available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory 

to the Issuer and the Paying Agent as to its holding of Notes and identity) to this Prospectus and any 

other documents incorporated herein or therein by reference; and 

(h) in the case of each issue of Notes admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's 

regulated market subscribed pursuant to a subscription agreement, the subscription agreement (or 

equivalent document). 

Clearing Systems 

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (which are 

entities in charge of keeping the records).  The appropriate Common Code and ISIN for each Tranche 

allocated by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be specified in the applicable Final Terms (or 

Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes).  If the Notes are to clear through additional or alternative 

clearing system, the appropriate information will be specified in the relevant Final Terms or Pricing 

Supplement. 

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., 1 boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, 

Belgium. The address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 avenue J.F. Kennedy, 

L-1855 Luxembourg. 

Yield 

In relation to any Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes, an indication of the yield in respect of such Notes will be 

specified in the applicable Final Terms.  The yield is calculated at the Issue Date of the Notes on the basis of 

the relevant Issue Price.  The yield indicated will be calculated as the yield to maturity as at the Issue Date of 

the Notes and will not be an indication of future yield. 

Index 

In respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes, the underlying may not be an Index composed by the Issuer 

or any legal entity belonging to the same group, nor an Index provided by a legal entity or a natural person 

acting in association with, or on behalf of, the Issuer. 

Significant or Material Change 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 31 December 

2015 and there has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer since 

31 December 2015. 

Conditions for Determining Price 

The price and amount of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and each 

relevant Dealer at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions. 

Litigation 

The Issuer (whether as defendant or otherwise) is not nor has been engaged in any governmental, legal, 

arbitration, administrative or other proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or 

threatened of which the Issuer is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this document which may 

have or have in such period had a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer. 
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Independent Auditors 

The independent auditors of the Issuer are PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative (member of the 

Institut des Réviseurs d'Entreprises) who have audited the Issuer's annual consolidated and non-consolidated 

accounts without qualification in accordance with IFRS (in the case of the consolidated annual accounts) and 

the Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the preparation of the annual accounts (in the 

case of the non-consolidated annual accounts) for each of the two financial years ended on 31 December 

2014 and 31 December 2015. 

The reports of the independent auditors of the Issuer are incorporated in this Prospectus by reference along 

with the related consolidated and non-consolidated annual accounts. 

Post-issuance Information 

The Issuer does not intend to provide post-issuance information in relation to any assets underlying issues of 

Notes constituting derivative securities, except if required by any applicable laws and regulations.  

Dealers Transacting with the Issuer 

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking 

and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services to, the Issuer and its affiliates in the 

ordinary course of business. Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates may have positions, deal or make 

markets in the Notes issued under the Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including 

(but not limited to) entering into hedging strategies on behalf of the Issuer and its affiliates, investor clients, 

or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk, or other trading activities. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make or 

hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative 

securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of 

their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the 

Issuer or its affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer 

routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. 

Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which 

consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including 

potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely affect future trading 

prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment 

recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or 

financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in 

such securities and instruments. 

Expenses Charged to the Investor by the Issuer 

The Issuer may charge expenses to investors.  Such expenses (if any) will be determined on a case by case 

basis but would be expected to be in the range of between 1% and 5% of the nominal amount of the Notes to 

be purchased by the relevant investor unless specified below with respect to a specific issue of Notes. 
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